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Our ability to generate Our operational expertise ' A devcelopment pipeline
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income to support ' Ielping us understand capitalise on market
sustainable sharcholder | evolving needs and opportunities and
returns and fund | driving enduring “generate future income

investiment s demand for our space



At British Land we create Places People Prefer.

By understanding the evolving needs of the
businesses, people and communities who use

our places, we help them to thrive. Sustainability
and long term thinking are central to our purpose
— to deliver outstanding places and positive
outcomes for all of our stakeholders, through

our placemaking expertise.

¢18.2bn

assets owned or under
management (our share
of which is £13.7bn) with
exposure to a broad

mix of uses

809%

of our assets, including our
three London campuses and
our multi-fet retail portfolio.
are in environments where
we can put our placemaking
skills to work

10m sq ft

development pipeline. focused
on London including 5m sq it
at Ganada Water
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BRITISH LAND AT A GLANCE

We are focused on creating
Places People Prefer, curating
the environment inside and out

Total portfolio in 2018

80% of our assets are wihin our campuses or .
multi-let environments, where we can curate wanaged eVIrOnMents g,
the bulldings and the spaces between them

¢18.2bn f
24 8m sq ft

ottt act spdce

Q4L 4 ¢13.7bn

Lo Ipancy rale British Land owned
4. d years
W gniled Ve age e IEXD Te0 - e TerTn

Carcoplages #x7 ao=
Lanata Water and Rositgeriz)

We have proactively repositioned our portfolio

Retail: more multi-let assets Office: more West End exposure

B MLt -lat B WestEnd
B Cerietal & Cy
W Nooonden
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1,200 different customers
occupy our space, generating
£588m of rental income

London Offices Retail

All of our offices are in Londen, ef which Multi-tet retail centres account for 81%
78% are located on our three central London  of cur Retail portfolio Our space reflects
campuses These provide a diverse mix of ! consumers demands for experience

space, with a broadening range of uses This 1 and convenrence-led shopping as well
makes them attractive and engaging places | as the changing way retailers use physical
te work and spend time, designed to help stores to engage with customers

our customers attract the best talent

&9 Obn &8 7bn

Tioo Lo ine ’ LRI

54.000 60%

[ S TR

Regent’s Place 1
Our 310,000 sq ft pre-let

to Dentsu Aegis Network ‘
at t Triton Square 1s the 1
largest West End pre-let |
In over 20 years ‘

Ealing

Aconvenient, local retait
destination benehtting
from access to Crossratl
in2019

PG ad e e matan L e
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L B A LY (I O B DA R
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Canada Water

I A urmgue 53 acre mixed use opporturity

in central London, one stop on the Jubilee
tine from Canary Wharf Cur masterplan
envisages a genuine mix of uses including

i offices, retail, leisure, residential and

i

British Land

community space

53 dCl‘e

alr e Tpncrt ey

3.500

ks B -V Shatlol = LR TG

Canada Water

in May 2018 we signed
a Master Devetopment
Agreement with
Southwark Council and
submitted an outline
planning application
for our masterplan

faCanadaWaterMasterplan

www canadawatermasterplan.com

Antidal Repon Cend Acconmts 2018 )



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Another year of progress
for British Land

We are increasingly
seeing our cumpus
strategy confirmed as «

clear and differentiared
attraction.”
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This has been another year of progress for British Land, despite
the ongoing politicat and econormic volatility we have seen since the
EU referendurn Business and consumer uncertainty was further
compounded by the snap General Election i June 2017, which
delivered a hung Parliament Also of note was the decision by the
Bank of England fo increase interest rates for the tirst time i over
adecade, with the prospect of more nses to come Encouragingly,
UK economic growth has remained relatively resiient, albeit at
levels lower than other major economies, and one thing that remains
unchanged s London s status as a global city in which the world s
leading organisations want to do business

In this context Britsh Land has performed well The value of our
portfolio was up 2 2% with EPRA NAV up 5 7% to 967 pence as
occupier and investor demand continued through the year,
particularly in the London office market Underlying earmings per
share was however down 1 1% to 37 4 pence, driven primarily by
reductions due to the significant asset disposals we have undertaken
over the last couple of years and lease expiries an properties that we

 have freed up for development The Board has recommended a

fourth intenim dividend of 7 52 pence per share, making a total of
30 08 pence for the year which, together with the movement i NAY,
brings total accounting return to 8 9% for 2018

In London Oifices, we are increasingly seeing our campus strategy
confirmed as a clear and differentiated attraction to potential
occuplers Sophisticated businesses foday understand that the way
thetr people want to tive their lives 1s changing and that the worlds

of work and leisure are blurnng They also understand that in order
to atiract the best talent they need to prowide high quality, well
connected offices in places peopte want to spend tme before, during
and after the working day This is exactly what our mixed use London
campuses deliver

Evidence of the success of this strategy this year included the targest
pre-letin the traditional West End for over 20 years at 1 Triton Square
0 Regent's Place, to the media company Dentsu Aegis Clsewhere,
Sumitorno Mitsui Banking Corporation, Europe ISMBCE) signed &
pre-let for the lower three floors of 100 Liverpeol Street, where we
are developing what we believe to be one of the best connected and
smartest new bulldings in London, right next door to @ new Crossrait
station This development s part of cur broader transformation at
Broadgate where progress this year has been sigmificant - you can
read more about this on page 18 Overall, this has been an excellent
year for leasing, our London Office porifolio 15 97% occupied and
valuations improved 4 3% - evidence that we continue to provide

our cusiomers with the space they need
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There 15 no doubt the retail sector continues to go through a period
of challenge and rapid change The structural reasons for this are
comptex and well documented, not teast the rapid growth of online
shopping This year thaugh, these challenges have come into sharper
focus as a number of operators have entered into company voluntary
arrangements In many cases, retailers have seen the challenges
caused by long term structural changes compounded by shorter
term operational i1ssues such as cost inftation, business rates
increases and more fragiie consumer confidence As an owner

of physical retail space, British Land has beenfocused on
understanding these long term changes tor several vears We help
our customers o respond to changes and seek to provide the space
that helps them succeed. and this year we continued to be proactive
For example, we completed the substantial refurbishiment of
Meadowhall, enhancing its status as a regional retail destination
centre which s fit for the future, and disposed of £412 million of retail
properties that we did not feel could play a role in the future shape
of our portfolio The overall shape and size of the Retall portfolio

1s something we reman focused on gong forward as this market
continues tc evolve

Despite these chaltenges, leasing activity 1n our Retail business this
year has been good, with 1 2 million sq ft of space iet or renewed,

at rates well ahead of estimated rentat value {(ERV] In addition, our
Retail portfolio remains virtualily full with 98% occupancy These
trmpressive rental and occupancy levels are testament to the quality
of our offer and our belie! that the best physical refail space continues
to play animportant role in enabling retaiters to succeed We are not
compiascent however, and remain tocused on how we continue to
respond to the ongoing evelution of the retail market

We continually assess how best to deploy our capital based on
the cenditions pravailing at the time We do this in the context of
shareholder valye and the need to fund cur development pipeline,
manage leverage and undertake appropriate acquisition and
drsposal actiity

The NAV discount that emerged tn cur share pricer the period after
the EU referendum has persisted This was a key factor influencing
our decision to undertake a £300 million share buyback following
the sale of The Leadenhatl Bullding The buyback was completed in
February This disciplined approach to shareholder returns and the
use of capital will remain a focus for the Board gomng forward

Inthese more volatile times, this level of thoughtful activity, the
resitience of our strateqy and our diverse, high guality portfolio set
British Land apart We are mindful of our short term operating
environment, but our strategy s atigned to long term trends Our
experienced management team, the experttse of cur people and the
increasingly complex insights we cotiect about how people use our
places allow us to continually evolve our approach to meet custermer
needs and work to position British Land to thrive in the future

As aresutt of our confidence in our strategc direction and outlock
we have proposed a first quarter dividend of 775 pence per share
and 3100 pence for the year ending 31 March 2019, representing a

: further 3% increase on our 2018 dividend

We continue to be recognised for our leading stance on sustainability,
awarded five starsin the Global Real Estate Sustainability Benchmark
for the second year and ranked in the MSCIESG Leaders Index for
the 11th year We have a 2020 sustainability strategy which s aligned
to our corporate strategy, outiined both in this Report fon page 24]
and in our separately published Sustainability Accounts As part

of our core purpose, we preoactively design and enhance buildings
and spaces for the health, wellbeing and productivity of everyone
who uses thern, Including cur employees, customers and

tocal communities

We cupport the recommendations of the Task Force an Climate-
related Financial Disclesures and manage our portfclio for climate
resilience Carbon intensity across our portfolio has reduced by 546%
versus our 2009 baseline, through the National Grid s decarbomisation
and our own efficiency improvements With this 2020 target atmost
achieved, we have also gone further, committing to source altl our
electricity from renewable sources and partnering with RE100

Throughout the year Beard members visited a number of key assels
and held a strategy offsite with key members of the executive team
focused on opportunities which witl drive our business in the future
We welcomed three new Non-Executive Directors who bring a
wealth of varied experience to our Board, they are profiled on pages
5810 91 along with more detail about the structure and activity of cur
Board and Comrittees Durmg the year Lucinda Bell stepped down
from the Board and from her role as Chief Financial Otticer Lucinda
had been with Briish Land for ever 25 years, and her achievernents
and cortribution to our business over that time are significant She
will be rnissed and | and the Board wish her well in the future We are
delighted to welcome Sirnon Carter back to Briish Land as our Chief
Financial Officer Simon has a wealth of experience in property and
will make a real contribution to our business

Finally, { would Uike to extend my thanks to the people at British Land,
cur partners and everyone whe contributes te the success of our
business They have all played a role in our progress this year, much
of which1s covered in this Report - | hope you find 1t useful

John Gildersleeve
Non-Executive Chairman

T 1\ L B
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Strategic Report

Strategic Report

Chief Executive s review

Our business model

Market trends and how we are responding
Our strategy

Case study - Broadgate

Case study — Meadowhall

Development pipeline

How sustainabiiity creates value

Our key performance indicaters

Social and environmental reporting
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Frnancial review

Financial policies and principles
Managing nsk in delivering our strategy
Principal risks

The Strategic Report was approved by the Board

on 16 May 2018 and signed on its behalf by

Chiris Grigg

Chief Executive
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Gus, athree-metre gorilla sculpture, was exhibited as
part of WILD LIFE, atech-inspired mnteractive exhibition
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Strategic Report

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REVIEW

Owr good results demonstrate the

consistent strategic progress we
have made across the business

This has been another good year across our business We let four
times as much London office space as last year - a clear demonstration
of the attractiveness of our unique campuses In Retail, we let or
renewed over 1 million sq ft of space, well ahead of ERV and at 8%
occupancy our portfolio s effectively full All of this helped drive

NAY up 5 7% with values up 2 2%

Qur financial perforrmance was robust with profits down 2 6%
following £1 5 bition net sales of ncome producing assets over the
last two years, of which £0 8 bitlion completed this year We have
maintained our capital discipline, completing a £300 million share
buyback and smereasing our dividend agamn by 2% while reducing
LTV to 28%, further strengthening our financial position At the
same Hime, we have completed our super-prime Clarges Mayfair
residenttal development and the £606 miliion refurbishment of
Meadowhall, while doubling our comrmitted development pipeline
All of this was done on a carefully risk managed basis, with 55%
of comnutted developments already pre-tet or under offer Thisis
g great achievernent at an early stage and gives us confidence in
both our strategy and in the quality of the space we are delivering

Future British Land: continming to cvolve our business
The current strength of British Land 1s underpinned by the consistent
strategic actions we have pursued over several years We identify
and invest behind the attractive long term trends which are driving
our core business inrecent years this has included the development
of our campus strategy, investments :nto locations which benefit
from Crossrall, and most recently the launch of Storey, our flexible
workspace offering

Gowng farward, we are focused on building an increasingly mixed use
business and continuing to evolve our model and respond to changing
customer needs Indicatively, future British Land will comprise

- Acampus-focused London Office business with a blend of core
and flexible space, including the further build out of Storey,
ihtegrated alongside a strong retail and letsure offermg at
our campuses,

- Afurtherrefined Retail business ncluding high quality, well
{ocated Regional and t.ocal assets but focused on & smaller
nummber of larger, multi-let places with mixed use potential,

- Residential, primarily Build to Rent will play an increasingly
important role (n our mixed use business It 1s a structural
growth market which 1s compiementary to our core modet
We will progress existing epportunities within our portfolio
such as Canada Waler and explore ways to build further
meaningful exposure

Aswe do this, we will rernain disciplined regarding our use of capital,
Investing in our business and progressing development, while
rermaiing mindful of the importance of shareholder returns

8
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Outlook

Businesses rernain cautious but continue te cornmit to London and
the supply of high quaiity new office space 1s relatively constrained,
so we expect demand for our space to remam hirm In Retai, the
market 1s more challenging with many occupiers facing short term

" headwinds Polarisation 1s accelerating but we are confident that the
guality and range of our space meets retailers’ evolving needs in the
omni-channel retait world

| We are mindful of the current market envirenment, but the strengths
| of our business, including the scale. balance and quabty of our

" porticlio, the opportunities we have created and our strong balance

1‘ sheet mean we look to the future with confidence

(
London Offices

[ Our Offices business had a streng year with values up 4 5% Leasing

f activity covered more than 1 Z mittion sq ft, detivering €40 million of

, future rent - 5 strong endorsement of our carnpus strategy

ﬁ



Our priorities in building the future
of British Land

Further refine the shape of our portfolio and retative mix
of exposures including expansion of Sterey and our flex
office offering, further refining our Retall assets and
explore options in attractive market segments which are
complementary to our existing model, such as residential,
principally buld to rent

Continue to invest in technology innovations and msights
and build our operationat expertise to understand and
respond te changing customer needs and 1dentity the key
trends m our industry

Further enhance the resilience of our Retail business,
ensuring the future shape of our portfolio s optimised and
focused on assets which we believe will be successiulin
an pomni-channet retail world and meet the changing
needs of our customers

Continue to progress our developrnent projects, focusing
on our London campuses, and further imcrease the mix

of uses and occupiers across cur assets, reflecting the
evolving demands of customers ta drive enduring demand
for our space

Continue to enhance the diversity within our busines
promoting inclusion across cur operations and our a
and emibed our new corporate valuas

S,
sset

We secured several major lettings at Broadgate, including SMBCE
at 100 Liverpool Street, dermonstrating the continued appeal of
London te global financialinstitutrons Mimecast, the technology
businese, tock space at 1 Finsbury Avenue [1FA), and Eataly, the
ftatian marketplace, will open their first UK site at 135 Bishopsgate
This broad range of activity dermonstrates our focus on enhancing
the mix of uses and occupters on the campus to create a seven-day-
a-week destination for London Elsewhere, we signed the largest
West End pre-letin 22 years at Regent s Place and cur development
at Paddington, 4 Kingdormn Street was nearly 20% let ahead of launch
in June 2017, sigrificantly ahead of ERV

We are also pleased with the progress of Storey, our flexible
workspace offer launched in June 2017 it now covers 114,000 sq ft,
with space at each of our three campuses and 1s now 77% let We
have ailocated additional space at 1FA, 4 Kingdom Street and Wells
Street, so total space will reach more than 230,000 sg ft in the short
term with further long term plans for expansion

Retail

in Retail, values were up D 3%, with positive ERY growth offsetting
yield expansion Our leasing activity covered 1 2 miltion <q ft
generating £7 million in additional rent, with incentives unchanged
At 98% occupancy, our portfolio s effectively full and 15
outperforming benchmarks on both foottall and cales

We delivered this strong operating performance in the context of
ongoing, long term structural changes in the market As cnline
retait grows, many operators are evolving their models to focus on
the optimal size, shape and nature of their physical store network
This year, these challenges were cornpounded by short term trading
headwinds, and several highty leveraged operators with challenged
models applied for company voluntary arrangements {CVAs)

We recogrise these trends, and so for a number of years we have
been actively repcsitioning our portfolio to focus on well located,
high quality space that reflects people s changing tifestyles and
drives enduring dernand for our ascete We have sold £2 3 tutlion of
retall assets over the last four years, including £41% million this year,
primarily single use assets but also multi-let space that does not fit

i
| Trusyear we updated our values to reflect the way our
l business s changing

Bring vour Listen and
whole self understand
i
|
Be smarter Build for

together the future

|
|
|
i
[ Ko 132 o www britishland com/values
\
i
|

; our strategy However, Retall remains a core part of our business

i This year we made acquisitions In Woolwich, south east London

, and:n Babing, adjacent to our existing Ealing Broadway shopping

. centre, both are well-connected mixed use assets with development
| potential In addition, we completed the £60 million refurbishment

. of Meadowhall to ensure it 1s well positicned to meet the changing
demands of consumers into the future

Developmertt activity
Development 1s an important part of how we deliver value This year we
made strong progress on our pipeline of opportuniies, with committed
developments more than doubling to 1 6 million sg ft, and risks carefully
managed 55% of the future rent from these developments, estimated

| at £63 mutlion, 15 pre-let or under offer and our speculative exposure

I remazins low at & 3% of the portfolio value Committed construction

I casts of £427 million are substantially covered by £272 ritlion of

| Clarges Mayfarr residential receipts to come post year end

|

* Looking further ahead, we have created a range of opportunitiesin

I our near and medium term pipelines, which we have the ftexibility

"o progress when the time s night This includes Canada Water,
where our masterplan will create a new urban centre for London
We signed the Master Developrnent Agreement with Southwark
Councit and subrmtted our outline plannung application for the
rmasterplan in May 2018

Sustainability

This was our second year holding the Quesen’s Award for Enterprise,
the UK s highest business accolade recognising our economic,
social and environmental achieverents Our activity this year has
supportad 228 people into work, through Bright Lights, cur skitts
and employment programme 35 of our retail and leisure occupiers
participated in Starting cut in Retall, helping 100 young people find
emptoyment, and building on this, we will be intreducing Starting Out
in Construction n 2019 In support of the Living Wage Foundation,
we pay all Group employees at least the voluntary living wage rate
and encourage our suppliers to do the same This year, our three
London campuses became Living Wage Accredrted Employers,
with everyone we empioy to manage and maintam the campuses,
including contractors, paid at least the Londen Living Wage

Chris Grigg
Chief Executive

vi- 1 www britishland com/CEOblog

-1
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Strategic Report

OUR BUSINESS MODEL

We apply our placemaking expertise
to create Places People Prefer

Inputs: what malkes our model work

Our relationships Our operational expertise Our finances

— Our customers and partners -

- The locat communities inand around -
our places

- The suppliers and contractors who builg, -

manage and mamntain our assets

Our expert people -
Cur broad range of insights and

information -
The people, systems and insights to

interpret information and inform actions -

Leverage rnanaged for our current
needs and future plans

Diverse and flexble finances with a mix
of maturities

Partnerships to rmitigate nisks, bring
expertise and help finance projects

1 Invest and

develop

- Sourcing new opportunities

- Creating opportunities
within eur portfolio

- Allocating our capital to
deliver growth and returns

Places

Applyving oyr ~y Managing our
Placemaking - CHYIirONnments
CxXpoertise

Onour ass

Qutputs:

Shareholders Cominunities Customers Partners

Sustainable long term
income and value creation

ortedtrire daaul b ow e Lngage
T 1 ot 554

10

Inclusive pltaces which foster
opportunities and contribute
positively to their neighbourhcod

witn stadshiode s, wota page 68
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High quatity environments
which help our custorners
succeed today and in the future

Access to hugh quality projects
and British Land expertise,
while managing risk



What sets

us apart

Invest and develop

- Our unigue office-led campuses,
each benefitiing from excellent
transport connections

- Our 10 million sq ft development pipeline,
facused on London, including 5 rmillion
sq ft at Canada Water

- The options we have created within our
portiolio for future development,
focusing on mixed use space

- Qur strong and flexible batance sheet,
enabling us to fund developments when
the time 1s night on arisk managed basis

Applying our placemaking expertise

- Relationships across the business we
can leverage to support our mixed use
plans, which this year hetped us sign
global retait brand Eataly at our
Breadgate offices campus

- Enbivenment actvities which drive footiall,
including Villa Walals at Broadgate, and the
Craig David concert at Meadowhall

- Forging links with local communities,
working with sugpliers and other partners
through Bright Lights, to support 92
apprenticeships at our places and in cur
local communities

Our placentaking framework Managing our environments
Our practical appreach to creating - Abroeader mix of uses at our campuses
Places People Prefer with 15% of the space being developed
at Broadygate to be retail and leisure
= We — = We — - Storey, our flexible workspace business
Gonmct Ernhance launched last year, providing additional

flexibility to our customers
- Abroader mix of uses at our Retall assets
We — = We = with 778,000 oq ft teisure extensions i our

BES’ig Enliven development pipeline

Britishtand  Anntsl Repor b and Adcounts 7018



Stratepic Report

MARKET TRENDS AND HOW WE ARE RESPONDING

We recognise the short term
backdrop while our strategy
is focused on long term trends

UK market backdrop

Coutinued political uneertainty

The June 2017 general electicn delivered s hung Parliament
As aresult, an already volatile potitical backdrop was further
destabilised, heightering uncertainty particularly with respect
to Brexit

Resilience of London

The most recent estimates for Brexrt-related job tosses i the
tinancial sector are lower than mitially feared Technology ang
media sectors have been particularly restlient, with Google and
Facebook committing to Landon, while overseas investment
has remained strong

Sonsumer and business confidence
Consumer confidenca remains fragite with real wages squeezed
by inflation, altheugh there are tentative signs that the outlock 1
improving GDP forecasts reduted over the year, and are below
leading global economies reflecting Brexit-related uncertainty

Retailer and restaurant operator challenges

This year has seen a number of operators apply for company
voluntary arrangement [CVAs] as a result of challenges in their
markets These nclude the impact of online and cost pressure
as a result of hugher input prices as well as lower consumer

confidence Casual diving operations have been similarly affected

Interest rate expectations

The Bank of England increased base rates for the hirst time

in 10 years m November 2017, from all-tirme record low levels,
and has indicated that the pace of interest rate increases could
accelerate f tugh rates of inftation persist

12 British Land | Annual Report and Ace ounts 7018

| Long term trends driving our strategy

| London’s ehanging role in global markets

The ease of doing business and access to a diverse mix of talent and
/ culture have established London as & leading global city 1ts proven
ability to adapt and prosper means it 1s well-placed to withstand
today s Brexit-related headwinds, and continue to attract inward
business investiment

Population change and urbanisation

London s population continues to change, for example moere than
20% of Londoners are expected to be over 60 by 2040, changing the
type of space reguired There is more demand for higher density
development with exceilent connections as well as a focus on
promohing wellbeing with green and open spaces and a mux of uses

Aceelerating technology-driven change

Technology 15 disrupting conventional ways of doing business,
changing how people and organisations interact with phystcal
space, but providing opporturities for those gquick to leverage new
capabilities In certain sectors such as retail change is fundamental
and businesses are having fo respond to remain successful

Evolvitig worker and consumer expectations
People expect more from the places where they spend time
. They want to move searmnlessly between work and leisure, they
want more flexibility and value added services and they want
space 1o be well connected

Wellbeing and sustainabilicy

There ts a broad consensus that growth and development should
be sustamable, with the benefits shared more equally across
society, promoting a more inclusive cuiture with the surrounding
communities There s a growing recegnition of the role that places
| can play in promoting mertal and physical wellbeing



We have four
strategic priorities

Customier Orientation

Responding to changing lifestyles

- Custemer insight based on a range of
information hetps us to deliver Places
People Prefer

- Expand the use of technotogy to reflect
its role 1n the way people work and shop

Wellheing

~ Create places that promote health,
productivity and enjoyment, enabling
our customers to be more successful

Right Places

Creating great environuents

- Investin well-connected places, where there
is potentia! for arowth and regeneration

- Broaden the mix of uses to appeal to a wider
range of cccuplers and locat communities

- Enhance and enlivers cur spaces through
placemaking

- Understand and respond fo the changing needs
of the people who use our spaces

Community Capital Efficiency
- Make a positive contribution locally and behave
50 our places are considered part of their Disciplined use of capital
local cornmunity — Actlivelyrecycle capital to maximise
- Premote sonialinciusion, interaction and risk-adjusted returns
accessaibility, embedding our places in their - Maintain an appropriate balance of risk in bath
nelghbourhoods and local community networks development exposure and financial {everage

Futureproofing

- Protect and enhance asset value through
emviranrmental stewardship, including energy
generation and efficiency, materals innovation
and ftood risk reduction

Expert People

The knowledge and skills to deliver
- Enhance key skill sets, including in more
opel gtional areas
- Share expertise through collaborative working
~ Promote a diverse and inclusive culture

Skills and opportunity

- Help local people and businesses to grow

- Further develop training and development
schemes for people at all levels of our orgarisation

British Land | Annual Repor L andd Accounts 2018



Strategic Report

OUR STRATEGY

Customer Orientation —
responding to changing lifestyles

Our customers are the organisations
located at our assets To make our places
successful and sustainable however, we
also focus on the needs of 3 broader range
of people, including the people who shop or
waork in them and the communities who

live in and around them We are focused

on understanding and responding to their
changing needs To do this we have developed
a deep understanding of how people use our
space, based on what our custemers tell us
This informs our approach to managing our
assets and guides aur investment activity, to

How we work

Technology 15 changing the way businesses
and therr people use office space, enabling
people to work more flexibly or remotely and
providing the infrastructure for smaller
companies to compete with larger, well
established businesses

There is a growing focus on places that
foster coliaboration and networking and
reflect the overlap between work and leisure
time, with a diverse retail, lelsure and foad
and beverage offering close by, and regutar
soclal events and activities

14

Delivering space which reflects the way

people want to work also heilps emptoyers
attract and retain talent and promote
productivity The types of businesses
demandimg space are also changing

We are meeting the need for greater
Tlexibiity, particularty from the growing
small and medium sized business segment,
by providing space on more Hexble terms,
through Storey, our flexible workspace
offer Launched this year, Storeyis an
important and growing part of our campus

. propostlien ltis complementary fo our core
ensure we are always focused onthe customer

offering, providing our custorners with
flexible space for short term requirements
After a positive start, we have plans to grow
this business further

Wellbeing
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How we shop

" The retall sector continues to see sigmificant

/

structural change, with the impact of online
fundamentally changing the way people
shop Desprte this, our insights demonstrate
that physical retail remains core to the retail
proposiion, with physicat stores playing a
rolen 87% of retail sales This may be at the
‘discovery phase of the consumer journey,
where stores act as a showroom, the
‘transaction’ phase, when the goods are
actually purchased, or the fulfilment

phase, when they change hands

The role of the physical store 1s changing,

to support and enhance these phases of the
customer experience We are responding by
evolving the nature of our spaces to perform
the showrooming role as effectively as
possible By improving the food, beverage
and leisure offer at our centres, shoppers
are encouraged to stay longer and spend
rmore Our surveys show that when customers
engage with our catening offer, retall spend
increases by an average of 27% Our Retail

. centres also play an impertant role in the

fulfiment of ontine purchases, with 27%
of shoppers having used click and collect,
up from 19% three years ago
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Right Places — creating great
environments inside and out

Regional

fesdatza el a0 gustva

R TR el

TR (RO

Local

Jeaellel o dres tono ot

LR SN 1 T ]

NNt -

Tl e v

Right Places 15 aboutidentifying pizces with
the petential to evolve In ling with chanaing
lHestyles Increasingly we are focused on
places with a broad mix of uses, allowing
people tointegrate thewr work and leisure
time within attractive and engaging
environments We use our placemsaking
framework to achieve this, and 1t supporis
growth and returns across our business

Focusing on London

Our entire Office portfolio and nearly 90%
of our devetopment pipeline 15 focused on
London, including our three office-led
campuses and Canads Water, our 23 acre
mixed yse regeneration project London
consistently ranks amongst the world's
teading cities as a place to live, work and
do business, reflecting its diverse pool

of international talent, culture and
entertainment as well as its tegal and
firanciat intrastructure Despite the

Gz 10

£4.6bn

Brexit-retated uncertainties, Londons

 proven ability 10 adapt and prosper has
" ensured its continued attraction to

International business and capital

Our London campuses each benehit from
excetlent transport infrastructure,

' Broadgate and Paddington Centrat wilt

have Crossrail stations immediately
adiacent to the campuses and Regent

" Place has conventent access to six London

underground lines as well as King s Cross
and Euston mainline stations

Places which are curated to respond to
changing Ufestyles have the potential to

- deliver growth and returns long term

This underpins our growing tocus on
mixed use development which prroritises
placemaking from the start

British Land |, Annual Keport and Accoounts 2018
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Canada Water 1s the sirongest example of
this, but our ptans at Eden Walk, Ealing and
The Woolwich Estate will also regenerate
significant areas of London

Focusing on omni-channel retail
Our Retarl portfolio s focused on centres
which support retailers omni-channet
appreoach Our Regional assets are
destinations, which attract visitors from
a wide catchment who come to shop,

. relax and be entertained, and our Logal

assets provide convenience shopping
for local communities

" Qur placemaking framework provides
" astructure to deliver these ditterent

expertences Our investrment m cur Reglonal
assets has focused on attractive, well-
decigned lersure extensions, enabling us

to expand our leisure and catering offer,
providing people with more reasons to visit
and to stay longer We are enhancing this
space with events and activities and
improved customer service

At our Local assets, our activity has focused
on connecting more with local communities,
forging strong Links which encourage repeat
vIsits, tor example through our work with
the National Literacy Programme, helping
young children to read. and our Bright
Lights Starting Out in Retail course,
supporting local skilts and employment



Strategic Repore

OUR STRATEGY

Capital Efficiency -
disciplined use of capital

£8.5on

samn avactivily rocfe fast
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Capital allocation

We have a disciplined appreach to capital
allocatiorn OQur activity covers a range of
options including funding acquisitions,
investing In our development pipeline to
drive future growth and shareholder returns
We rigorously evaluate the relative merits of
each based on therr risk-adjusted returns
and prevaiiing market conditions

The starting pomnt ts cur annusl IRR process,
which forecasts the prospective returns of
each of our assets We sell assets with the
lowest prospective returns, reallocating
capital to hugher growth opportunities [n
recent years, disposal activity has focused
on mature and off strategy assets, mcluding
supermarkets and solus retail, or offices
which are fully let with lower prospective
returns Acquisitions have focused on
properties with significant growth or
ptacemaking potential which, In rnany
cases, are adiacent to existing assels,
generating washover benefits across the
combined space

Developments have delivered some of
our strongest returns, but are inherently
higher risk, particularly when pursued on
a speculative basts We seek to imit our
development exposure to 15% of the total
investment portfolio by value, witha
maximum of 8% to be developed
speculatively [« & without a pre-tet or
agreed salel at any time The current
level 1s & 5%, well withun this Limit

Through this approach we have created
attractive development opportunities within
our portfolio, and our balance sheet provides
the flexibility to progress these, with costs on
our committed pipeline substantially covered
by residential receipts This is animportant
advantage, which we balance against the
benefits to shareholders of a more immediate
capitat return This year we have completed
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[
| @ €300 miliion share buyback whilst doubling

" the size of our development pipeline and

further reducing leverage

© Debt and cquity

We manage our debt and equity financing
1o balance the benefits of leverage,
including higher returns to shareholders,
against the risks of a more highly geared
portfolio Our primary measure of
teverage s ioan to value LTV op a
proporticnally consolidated basis which
we aim to manage through the property
cycle such that our tinancial position would
vermain robust in the event of a significant
fattin property vaiues The scale of our
business, quality of our assets and
security of our rental streams enabte

us to access a broad range of debt finance
on attractive terms At a Group level, our
approach s to raise funds predommantly
on an unsecured basis, with a diversified

British Land | Annuat Repat L and Accounts 2018
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Strategic partnerships

We have a strong irack record of working
with partners to achieve benefits of scale
while managing risk 36% of our owped
assets are held injoint ventures and tunds,
including Broadgate and Meadowhall Within
these structures we typicatly earn fees by
providing asset management, development,
corperate and finance services These
expertences, and the relationships we have
developed, position us well to progress
same of our larger opportunitres, ncluding
Canada Water

Sormare informatio” o debd ard leverage
grlocar i ranaial review on page 47 and
Tiravalpoicrsacdo oples o Taqeet



Expert People - the
knowledge and skills to deliver

Investing in our people

Qur people strategy focuses on creating a
team which can deliver Places People Prefer
To do this we will continue to enhance the
diversity of our business, further benefitting
from a broad range of skills, backgrounds

and experience

We support atl employees with career
progresson through personal development
ptans and by providing opportunities for
everyone to develop and excel This year,

we invested more than £550,000 0 staff
deveiopment and professional qualifications,
including a range of online resources available
to all employees, customer focused sales
traiing which has been rolled out across
Eritish Land, and our residential Leadership in
Real Estate programme which has benefitted
57 of our tearn since launchin 2014

inview of our increasing focus on mixed
use property and development, we encourage -
cross-tearn collaboration so that expertise
in one part of the business benefits other
areas We are also buillding our marketing
capabilities to help ensure customer
ortentation Is at the core of what we de and
investing in technelogy, upgrading our core
aperational systems and processes, whilst
enhancing our tyber and data i
security processes i
|
|

Supporting wellbeing and inelusion

To support the wellbeing of our team and :
as part of our commitment to bultding an ‘
inclusive culture, this year we established ‘

. our LGBT and Allies Network and our

This year British Land was awarded our first
Twao Star accreditation in the Best Companies’
survey published by The Sunday Times, with
particular progress in flexibte working and
perscnal growih Broadgate Estates [our
property management subsidiary] also
achieved its second One Star accreditation
Management engages regularly with

_ ernployees, including threugh twice monthty

i our Ethnic Diversity Network and our

Parents and Carers Network, alongside
our successful Women s Network, BL Pride,

Wellbeing Committee To help people
balance thair working bves with the interests
and responsibilities they have outzide work,
we provide everyone with the technotogy
they need to work flexibly, with circa 20%
doing s on a formal basis

We encourage all of our peopte to support
local communities through volunteering and
are pleased that 16% of the British Land team
was Involved in skitls-based volunteering this
year, including roles as chanty trustees and
school governors Since autumn 2017,

20 employees have signed up to the Step

cn Board programme, an external service
that supports employees te volunteer as
non-execufive directers and trustees of
charities and voluntary organisations

llth

staff meetings and specific results and
strategy updates Colleagues at all levels:
can participate in our ali-employee share
schemes, gligning ther interests with those
of shareholders with 95% of ernployees
participating 1in our Share Incentive Plan

Tomorrow's team

We recogrise the impertance of investing
in tomorrow s workforce, both for British
Land and our custorners and partners
Alongside our long-standing internship
scheme, our graduate scheme 1s now in its
second year with six graduates recruited
Three are joining this year, of whom one
came through Pathways to Property, an
inttiative led by the University of Reading
to promote property in UK state schoots,
which we have supported for five years
Another three are joining next year
Across our portfolic, 20,114 people
benefitted from our skiils, employment
and educational inttiatives 1n the year
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Strategic Report

CASE STUDY - BROADGATE

Broadgate —
where tnnovation
and finance play

Broatigate is the Largest asset by value
within the British Land portfolio.ltisa !
mixed use campus comprising offices, [
restaurants, retail and leisure set across
four Landscaped squares. [
I
I

Covering 32 acres, it 1s central London's
largest pedestrianised area Broadgate

1s adjacent to Liverpool Street Station, a I
Crossrail station from 2019, and connects
the creatve, tech-focused communities
of Spitalfields, Shoreditch and Old Street |

with the City |
“ ' [

1 m 20111 \'
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! Tivesting in our places

I
64(%) i We have mare than 1 million sq ft of space
ate

LWL AR e under development at Broadgate, across
RTINS 100 Liverpool Street, 1 Finsbury Avenue
and 135 Bishopsgate, of which 32% 15

let or under offer, sigruficantly reducing

| our development risk

BEVETAge Ot et v Eame 3 onour soveys

La-_fdar o survevs i

Our plans enhance cur bulldings and

the shared spaces between themn to appeal
to a broader range of customers and better
connect Broadgate 10 1ts surrounding
netghbourhoods

www_broadgate.co.uk

Sustainability
in action

3. 4m
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A lifestvle neighbourhood

15%
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A place for innovation

230000 sq ft
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Enhanced connectivity

Crossrail launches in 2019, transforming London s
connectivity. and bringing cur customers to withim
10 minutes of the West End and 30 minutes of Heathrow

Our partners

Our joint venture partners GiC
are fully committed to our vision
for Broadgate, enabling us to

progress our development pipeline

in addition to the buildings we are
already delivering. our medium
term pipeline covers a further

1 rillion sq ft

Sharing experience

Construction workers who
helped build some of the first
Broadgate buildings worked
alongside new recruits to the
industry on the construction
of 100 Liverpool Street

Introducing Storey

During the year we introduced our flexible
werkspace brand. Storey, to Breadgate
at Appold Studios and 2 Finsbury Avenue

Storey has attracted a new, different type

of occupier to the campus, including smaller,
innovative businesses and divisions of larger,
established occupiers Thisis additive to the overall
campus offer and environment, benefits targer
occupters and further diversifies cur customer mix

300y RrLy g e

60, 000 sq ft

.o

SR DLW “v * fu-:-.

At RERERTE Cbutal

www storey co uk

British Land have delivered a
forward thinking, creative and
fexible product with digital
conneetivity that aligns well
with our business needs.”

Wiiliam Newton
President & EMEA MD WiredScore

British Land . Annial Repor tand Account= 2018 19



Stratesic Reporr

CASE STUDY - MEADOWHALL

Meadowhall -
a vibrant destination
Jor today and tomorrow

Meadowhall, located on the outskirts of I
Sheffield, is Yorkshire's premier shopping

destination and one of only six out-of-town ‘
super-regional shopping centres in the UK,

It provides 1 5 millian sg ft of high quality
retail and tetsure space to around 280
occuprers Our planned teisure extension will |
transform the leisure offer; which currently
comnprises an 11-screen Vue cinema and

more than 50 restaurants and cafes [

3111 24111 ;
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This year our surveys showed. |

4% 12%
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www meadowhall co uk - Attracting new occupicrs

82 000 sq ft
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Improving the experience

£O0m

returtishimert completed withr g rartl e w48 muhion
IPyested 'rsiore upgradas by nearly 88 branas,
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the tenilre
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IParatdmng hoots Jur cusinmnrs we re noredibly
Taoperat ve aad taded a3 nacr g, ensuntr g shape.rs
Jeatmuzdte eney e vt

20 BritishLand Annual Reportand Accounts 2018



Supporting fulfilment as retail evolves
Dur most recent survey found that 7% of wisitors had used

click and collect facilities on the day of theirvisit, more than
double the proportion from the same period in 2016

Broadening our target market

Following the successful completion of the redevelopment,

and having attracted a broader range of aspirational brands,

the shopper profile has become more affluent, with 15 3%

now from the three most wealthy consumer groups {as per Supporting local

employment

the Acorn classthcation), compared to 13 3% a year ago

Strengthening community links

7% ncrease 10 routine top up shopping missions demonstrating
Meadowhall s role as a town and commurity centre

Enlivening our space

£15,000

raised for charity by Chnstmas concert - o7 ng
Crang Daved .

Sustainability
in action

£36m

TG the e ara 2 oy
=M
“ab wth % At
Towideat

atowhs

The area is lighter, brighter and
more aspirational. Sales at Yo! Sushi
have jumped, we're up 20% since

the refurbishment and it'’s growing.”

Richard Hodgson
CEO Yol Sushi

British Land  Annual Beporl and Account- 2018



Strategic Report

DEVELOPMENT PIPELINE

Our significant development pipeline
positions us well to capitalise on
future market opportunities in a risk
managed way

Committed B ' Medium term B

Five developmenis covering 1 6 mittion sg ft 1 10 developments, totaling nearly 3 mullion
with a currentvalue of €572 millionand an | sq ftin addition to eur plans at Canada Water,
ERV of £63 mutlion 55% of this space 15 (et a & mitlion sq ft London regeneration project

or under offer, signitftcantly reducing our
speculative risk which stands at 4 3% of the |

porticlio value Costs associatedwithour 1+ 133 Bishopsgate
commitied developments total €427 mdlion,

which are substantially covered by residenual | Office-led development on our
receipts to come at our recently completed Broadgate campus, at Bishopsgate,
Ciarges development of £373 mitlion I where footfatlis amongst the huighest

n London ltalian marketplace Eataly
are taking 42,00GG sg ft for their first
sver UK store, and we are under
offer or in negotiations on a further
269,000 sq ft

328000 sq ft

Near term i [
Four developments which we expect to start i
in the coming year covering 378,000 sq ft of |
space with an ERV of €30 million i

Calendar year* l

[ 2019

[ar az [as Q4
1 Finsbury Avenue Plymouth Leisure
Office-led refurbishment, at our Leisure extensien at Drake Circus
Broadgate campus, with sigreficant including a 12-screen Cineworld,
retail and [evsure eferent on lower 13 restaurants and a 412-space
iloors and flexible workspace on car park

upper ftoors 32% let to technology

company Mimecast 107000 sq ft
291000 s ft

" T rcune basd on prachical ramp et on

For mare infor mat er g1 daveicprie s, soe
www britishland.com/development

22 British Land | Annual Report and Accaunts 7018



Mcadowhall Leisure

Leisure extension which will add
a new cinema, café court, gym,
open-air terrace and space for
leisure, event and community

5 Kingdom Strecet

Office led development, at the
western end of Paddington Centrat,
with potential for a broader mix of
uses, Including retail and restaurants

use at our Meadowhall centre
We have receved a resolution
to grant planning

330.000 s«

332,000 sq it

1 Triton Square

Office-led development at Regent s
Place which s fully pre-let to
Dentsu Aeaqis Metwork, an existing
occupier onithe campus, ona 20
year lease At 310,000 sq ft, this s
the largest pre-let in the West End
for 20 years and 1s a strong

2020

endorsement of the campus

366.000 s ft

Qz

100 Liverpool Street

Oftice-led development. with
90,000 sq ft of retail and leisure space

Adjacent to Liverpool Streat Station,

at the gateway to our Broadgate
campus 37% of office space let to
SMBCE, who are taking the lower
three floors of the building on a
20 year lease

522000 sq ft

a3

[¢1

2021 & bevond...

lanada Water

Phase 1 of cur mixed use regeneration scheme
at Canada Water covers 1 8 million sq ft, of a
total of 3 million sg ft This phase envisages

1 rnillion g ft of cormmercial space, 250 000
saft of leisure and retail space and 650 new
hornes, with 35% affordabie housing provision
Our outhine ptanning application for the overall
masterplan was submitted in May 2018

8 million sq ft

@CanadaWaterMastierplan

www canadawatermasterplan com
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Strategic fleport

HOW SUSTAINABILITY CREATES VALUE

We continue to deliver strong economic,
social and environmental performance

Aligned to the corporate strategy, our 2020 sustainability strategy
is built around four focus areas, which address major social,
economic and environmental trends to create value far our

stakeholders and the business.

Customer Orientation

Wellbeing

We provide clear guidance on the high soaial, envirenmental and
ethical standards we expect of emnployees and suppliers through
policies such as our Supplier Code of Conduct, Local Charter and
Sustainability Brief for Developments The effectiveness of our strategy
and policies can be seen 1 our strong social and environmental
performance, which reduces risks and creates positive oulcomes

Right Places

Commuunity

Customers
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Communities
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Capital Efficiency

Futureproofing
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2018 highlights include

We design for wellbeing 1n
everything we do This includes
collaborating with suppliers to
promote a culture of wellbeing
at our places New facilities
launched at Broadgate support
the wellbeing of construction
workers, designed by local
students at the University of
East London

(13

There's real enthusiasm
from the team for their new
Saeilities. wihiclh heve the feel
of a high street restaurant.”

Jeff Tidmarsh
Broadgate Framework Design
Manager at Sir Robert McAtpme

24

7,580 chiidren participated in our
Young Readers Programme with
the National Literacy Trusf and
custorners, across 25 retail centres
and three London campuses

(19

We know that when children
enjoy reading cond have books
of their own at home, they do
better at school. at work and in
tife: vet g third of children left
primary school lust vear unable
to read well. Our purtnership
with British Luand takes us to
the very heart of this issue.”

Jonathan Douglas
Director of the National
Literacy Trust

BritishLand  Annugl Report and Accounts 2018

Expert People

skills and opportunity
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17% mncrease In renewable
energy generated by solar
panels at sur places this year
to 800,000 kwh, with more
installations planned We also
procured 97% of all electricity
from certified renewable
sources, as an REM00 partner

19

It is encouraging fo see large
commerceial reud estate
investors like British Land
seeking to reduce their carbon

Jootprints and futureproaf

their assets.”

John Macdonald-Brown
CED of Syzygy Renewables

742 1local people progressed
into jebs and 159 emplaoyers
recrusted through Fart Kinnaird
Recrustrnent & Skills Centre,
including our customers We
support this as part of Bright
Lights, our skilts and
employment pragramme

[19

Excellent service. We are able
0 turn recruitinent urournd
very quickly due to filling our
interview slots immediately
follorring advertising our
sacancies.”

HR Manager
Marks & Spencer, Fort Kinnaird



Case studies: sustainability in action

Meadowhall
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Strategic Repory

OUR KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

How we performed over
the past year against

our Strategy

P - - . = - —

Links to remuneration
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Custonicr Orientation

Responding to changing lifestyles

We recognise and respond to our
customers’ changing needs, based

on our Insights about how people use

our spaces and our operational expertise

Our operational prigrities in the year
— Further develop customer insights
- Deliver technology driven innovations

KPPt

Customer satisfaction
We extensively survey our customers
and other users of our places to assess
our performance and identify
opportunties for improvement.

Insights
~ 43,000 surveys were conducted across

our Retail porifobio including 12,000 online
surveys completed at 14 of our Retail
centres, 3,000 surveys were completed
ON OUF CAMpPUSes

~ Qur data shows that consumers who

engage with our catering offer spend 27%
more on retail than those using retail
alone and the addition of leisure, food
and beverage offerings increases dwell
tme to 20 minutes versus >4 minutes

for a retail-only user

- Our campus surveys showed that more

retail was the most requested area of
improvement with more green spaces
also animportant priority

Our response

15% of space under development at
Broadgate will be retail, teisure or food
and beverage including a cinema at

1 Finsbury Avenue and Mattan
marketplace Eataly at 135 Bishopsgate

- Public realm improvements including &

woodiand walk completed at Paddington
Central and six independent cafes signed

- Successfui year at Pergola, an 850 ¢over

pop up dining concept al Paddington with
179,000 visitorsin 2017

- 130,000 sq ft of fond, beverage and lejsure

lettings at our Retail centres

Total accounting return (TAR)
Delivering sustainable long term value
Total accounting return is our overall
measure of performance itisthe
dividend paid plus the growth in EPRA
NAV per share

- Our 100 Liverpool Street development wall

benefit from smart technologies, including
biormetric scresning, environmental
optimisation of ighting, temperature and
ar quality and people flow analysis
Technical solutions implemnented at Storey
include super-fast and resiient internet
connectivity, taldored to occuper
requirements and a Storey customer
portal to assistin day-to-day management
of the space

Wellbeing

- Progress towards cur WELL Gold
target at 100 Liverpool Street,
designing for wellbeing and
productivity

~ 83% shopper score for perception
of wellbemng at our Retail assets
{2017 84%]

- Embedding wellbemngirnprevements,
including greenery, social spaces,
games areas, improved watkways
and traiming

Out ot 10

201 8.1

Risk indicators we monitor
- Consumer conhidence
- Employment forecasts for relevant

sectors

- Market letting risk [vacancies, expiries,

speculative developrment]

26
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Total accounting return (TAR)

2018 8.9%

TR 7%

Right Placcs

2018 performance

This year we generated a TAR of 8 9%
comprising a dwvidend increase of 3 0% to
30 08 pence per share and a EPRANAV
growth of 5 7% to 967 pence per share

Risk indicators we monitor

- Forecast GDP

- The marqin between property yields
and long term borrowing costs

- Property capital growth and ERV
growth forecasts

Creating great environments
inside and out

We invest in places with potentiat and use
our placemaking framework to deliver
growth and returns

Our operational priorities in the year

- Deliver next steps of the Broadgate
masterplan

- Submit Canada Water planning

- Deliver flexible workspace offer

KPI

|nvesimg In potential
Committed development pipeline more
than doubled to 1 & million sq ft,
development risk well managed with
35% of the ERV pre-let or under offer

- On site on more than 1 mitlion sq ft of
developments at Broadgate, with 32%
pre-let or under offer

- Onateat ? Triton Square, fully pre-let
on the office space covering 310,000 =g {t

- Planming achieved at the Gateway
Building, for & hotel at Paddington Central,
covering 105000 sg ft

- £60 million refurbishment of Meadowhall
comnpleted, with a further £4& mullion
invested by nearly 80 custemers

- Resotution to grant ptanning achieved on
320,000 sg ft Leisure hall at Meadowhall,
in total planming approvals on nearly
800,000 sq ft across the Retail portfolio

- Master develepment agreernent with
Southwark Council at Canada Water,
outline planming application submitted
on the overall masterplan in May 2018

- 180.000 people have attended events
at the Printworks, our events space at
Canada Water, which was named the
Best New Venue 2017 in the London
Venue Award

- Storey, our branded Hlexible workspace
offer, taunched and now active across
114,000 sg ft, with space at each of our
campuses, now 77% let

ommunity

- £2 1 million community programrne
benefitting 29.798 people through
our Local Charter activity (2017
£17 million and 25,600]

- British Land emplovee volunteering
79% and skills-based volunteering
16%, with @ new programme
launched to increase more impactful
skills-based volunteering from 2019
{2017 90% and 16%, 2020 targets
20% and 20%)

Total property returns
We have underperformed the IPD
. benchmark this year by -210bps,
reflecting our lack of exposure
to Industrizl, the strongest
performing category

2018 7.0%

»;,&W‘ 3.1%

Speculative development commitment
Development supports value and future
income growth, but adds rick We keep our
committed development exposure at less
than 15% of our investment portfolio, with a
maxirnum of 8% developed speculatively

Yool slandimg mvestinents

2018 £0.4bn 4.5%
i "’“ﬁmﬁﬁﬁ("‘%@% b 3 7%
SRR 3 8%

Risk indicators we monitor

- Property capital return and ERV
growth forecasts

- Total developrnent exposure

- Progress of developments againsi plan

- Speculative development exposure

Briish Land | Annual Repon Cand Acoounts

2018



Strategic Report

OUR KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

oo —
| Links to remuneration
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lapital Efficiency

Disciplined use of capital

We make risk-adjusted decisions to invest
in acquisitions and development whilst
preserving our balance sheet strength

Our eperational priorities in the year

- Beat budget and achieve leasing targets
~ Recycle caprtat to improve returns

KPl

Sustainability performance

We use industry-recognised indices to

track our sustamabiity performance

and Uink this to remuneration

- Dow Jones Sustamability Index
World and Europe 2017 2ist
percentile

- FTSE4Good 2016 9oth percentile

- Global Real Estate Sustainability
Benchmark 2017 Five Star rating

Robust financial performance

- Marginal decline in profits, down 2 6% to
£280 million, despite net sales of iIncorne
preducing assets of £1 5 billion over the
past two years and properties moving
into development

~ Dwidend increase of 3% proposed for
2018/19, supported by our actions to
increase cover, desprte asset sales

- 2 4 million sq 11 of leasing across Retail
and Offices, 8 2% ahead of ERV

- 53% let or under offer on committed
development pipeline with commutted
Costs substantially covered by
residential receipts

- Further diversifying sources of finance
wath £300 million Sterling bend 1ssued

~ LTV reduced to 28 4% despite £206 million
of acquisitions and a £300 mutiion share
buyback

~ Senior unsecured credit rating upgraded
to A’ by Fitch

- Weighted average interest rate reduced
to anall ime low of 2 8%

Capital recycling

- €419 muttion of retai sales, making good
progress against target of £500 rmillion
by November 2018 and bringing total
disposals to £2 3 bilhion over four years

- £163 million acquisition of The Woolwich
Ectate, a 4 9 acre retail-anchored
scheme 1n south east London benefitting
from Crossrail

- Commitrnent to develop 1 Finsbury
Avenue and 135 Bishopsgate triggering
£117 milbion investment intc our
Broadgate campus

- E3D0 mallion returned to shareholders via
a buyback, completed shead of schedute

Futureproofing

-~ 92% of developments on track
to achieve BREEAM Excellent
for offices and Excellent or
Very Good for retail [2017 100%,
20201arget 100%]

- 34% reduction i carbon intensity
and 40% reduction in landlord
energy intensity versus 2009,
index scored (2017 44% and 35%

respectively, 2020 target 55%}

Loan to value (LTV)

- proportionally consolidated

We manage our LTV through the property
cycle such that our financial position would
remain robust in the event of a sigmificant
fall i property values

201

Weighted average interest rate
~ proportionaliy consolidated
We have reduced our cost of finance to
an all time low supporting our financial

parformance
2018 2.8%
501

Risk indicators we monitor

- Financial covenant headroom

- Period untilrefinancing 1s required

- Percentage of debt with interest
rate hedgmg

- Execution of debt financings

British Land | Annual Repoi tand Accounls 2018



Risk indicators we monitor

We continued to perform strongly on - Health and safety

sustainability indices have almost achieved - Energy Performance Certificates
our 2020 carbon reduction target, ang - Flood risk

launched a Supplier Code of Conduct for - Public trust in business

ethical, social and environmental 1ssues

2018 performance

Expert People

The knowledge and skills to deliver

Our team has the expertise to deliver
Ptaces People Prefer

Our operational priorities in the year

- Promote aninclusive, performance
driven culture

- Create a more customer focused
organisation

KPi

An open culture

Rarnked in the top 10 of FTSE 100
companies in the 2017 Hampton-
Atexander Review with 40% fermaie
representation across the Executive
Commuttee and direct reports

Circa 20% of employees now formally
work flexibly with technology avatlable
to everyone to do so

Successful years for BL Pride, our LGBT
and Allies network, our Women s
Committee and Wellbeing Committee,
with a Parents and Carers network
and Ethnic Diversity network formed
inthe year

Policy on enhanced shared parental
{eave well received

Enhancing customer focus

Customer-focused sates tratning rotled
out to everyene in client-facing roles
Further cross-tear coltaboration
between British |.and and Broadgate
Estates with cornmon platforms
established for messaging, calendar,
document management, customer
relations and HR systems

Significant investment in technical
security measures and Group wide
employee training and awareness
on cyber security and GDPR

WorldHost customer service training
rotled out to 21 of 23 of our major centres,
with 18 centres receiving trainmg in
dementia awareness and a range of site
appropriate tratining across the portfolio
including Autism Awareness, Mental
Health Firet Atd Tramming and Supported
Guide traming, helping people with

sight less

Further investment in our data and
analytics capabthities inctuding improved
technology at our centres, a data and
analytics platform and a central Insights
team operating across Retaill and Offices
ensures that data and insights are an
important factor nour deciston making

Skills and opportunity

- 278 people supported into Jobs
through Bright Lights, our skills
and employment programme,
working with supptiers, customers
and local partners

- 100% of employees and 70% of
supplier workforce at managed
properties paid the Living Wage
Foundation rate {2017 100% and
72% respectivety)

Best Companics survey
The Best Cornpanies survey published
by The Sunday Times provides
an extensive and objective measure
of employee engagement

2018 Two star
2017 One to watch
S AT One star

Risk indicators we monitor
- Unplanned executive departures

t R NI BT A N SR L

R I | R O BT A
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Strategic Report

SCCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL REPORTING

Building a supportive and
inclusive culture for our people

and our key stakecholders

Diversity and equality

We are focused on creating diverse and inclusive places and
recogtise that to deltver this strategy successfully, we need a
businese and culture which promote these vatues By creating an
environment where our people feel fully supported, we empower
the whole organisation to be more productive

Our Inclustve Cutture Steering Commuttee. headed by a mernber
of our Executive Committee, promotes diversity and inclusion
at all levels of the business

tnitiatives include

— Dwversity ang unconscious bias trainimg completed and 15 now
implemented for all new starters

- internship and graduate schemes targeting young peeple
from diverse backgrounds |see page 25}

- Ensuring that potential employee shortlists reflect the Group s
diversity criteria

~- Dwversity networks empowering people 1o drive change
fsee page 17]

- Shared parental pay providing equal enhancad benefits
to all parents

- Diversity and inclusien forum for key suppliers to discuss
challenges and share best practice

- Diversity and inclusion survey, which we have also shared
with key suppliers to support their activities

- Updating our values to reflect the changing way we work
together as a business {see page 9]

We are signatories to

- People in Property’s guidelines on diversity and inclusion
nrecrutment

- The 30% Club, which targets a minimum 30% female
representation cn FTSE 100 Boards

- EW Group s Inclusive Culture Pledge to develop diversity
across leadership, people, brand, dats and future

- Real Estate Balance s CED Commutments for Diversity

Our performance

- 49% of Group employees are femate, including three Directors
on the Board and three of our Executive Committee [as at
March 2018)

- Ranked sixth in the Hampton-Alexander Review Report, with 40%
fermale representation across the Executive Committee and their
direct reports las at November 2017)

- Chnis Grigg ranked in the top 20 Ally Executives by OUTstanding
and the Financial Times for the third year running frank 11]

- Fuwrstlisted property company to achieve National Equality
Standard accreditation

Dowvers ty ana inclusion www britishtand.com/finclusive-culture
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| Gender pay gap and balance
As at 5 April 2017 British Land had 237 ermployees and 322 employees
{ in Broadgate Estates Currently the mean difference in gender pay at
+ British Land 15 37 4% which is in line with the average for our peer
group. reflecting the legacy structure of the real estate industry The
average gap for bonuses (s 68 8% Our workforce s made up almast
egually of men and women and men and women doing the same job
are paid the same, so we look at this as a difference in opportunity,
_rather than pay The Brnitish Land Board i1s comrmitfed to achieving
betier gender balance across all positicns in the Company and has
in place recruitment and development practices that 1t betieves waill
lead to a material change to this position over time

Cendert. an o www.britishiand com/gender-pay-gap
: 2018 A7
} M F M i
Briish Land 115.20 124.70 11920 10853
I Ofwhichaie Board 9.00 3.00 10 00 300
" Ofwhichare Sonor Managers 646,200 32.90 6420 28720
Broadgate Estates 243.50 213.41 22729 20418
Group total 358.70 338.11 34649 31271

bige =ouxp -~ ~2dast o Uneegr vaen

Supply chain

We ask suppliers to work in a way we believe 1s best practice to achieve
our soctal, environmental and ethical standards The effectiveness of
our palicies in this area can be seen in cur sustainabibity performance
measures on pages 175to 176 This year, we launched our Supplier
Code of Conduct, where we set out supplier cbligations in areas

such as health and safety, humnan rights, fair working conditions,
anti-bribery and corruption, community engagement,
apprenticeships and environmental management

| Tuopy nan www.bnitishtand comfsuppliers

Human rights

Our respect for human rights 16 embedded in how we do business
We are a signatory to the UN Global Compact which supports a core
set of values, Including human rights, and have made appropriate
disclosuresn respect of the Modern Slavery Act We are alsoa member
of APRES, an action programme on responsible and ethical sourcmg
across the construction industry For our perfermance on aspects
including fair wages and diversity, see pages 1750 176

Mader 1 Slaviiy Azt dinc s 1o www britishland com/MSA

‘ Anti-bribery and corruption
" We are committed to the highest legal and ethical standards in every
“ aspect of our business {t 15 our policy te conduct business in g farr,
honest and open way, without the use of bribery or corrupt practices
to obtain an unfair sdvantage We provide clear guidance for suppliers
and employees, Including policies on anti-bribery and corruption,
anti-fraud and code of conduct All employees receve training on
these 1ssues appropriate to their roles and responsibitities

Ant-br noryand Lo rapt 07 www.britishland.com/antibribery



Carbon reporting

Carbon intensity across our portfolio has reduced by 54% versus
our 200% baseline, through the National Grid's decarbonisation
and our own efficiency improvernents With this 2020 target almost
achieved, we have also gone further, committing to source all cur
electricity from renewable sources and partnering arth RE100,
supporting further decarbonisation ef the Natienal Grid

Absolute emissions Scope [ and 2

2018 34,269

BT
in RIS

gt ado ey B Matke beews veteodelogy

Scope T and 2 emissions intensity {tonnes COLe)t

Year ended 31 March 2018 207 ERN LS
Perm - Offices [net lettable areal 0.055 0 06% 0ng
Perrm - Retall enclosed 0.056 0047 0174
Per parking space - Retail open air 0.062 0064 0106

Per £m - Gross rental and related

income from managed porttotio- 58.03 6739 -

costs Larsige

IR ERE b R ST IS LS O ARV T s N1
Gur ervironmental impacts include carbon emissIons across our
portfelic This year, combustion of fuel ernissions reduced by 6%,
largely due to changes in our portfolio Operatior of facilities
ermtssions reduced by 75%, targely due to fluctuations in air
conditioning ptant 1Issues Location based emissions from purchased
energy decreased by 20%, largely due to Grid decarkonisation and
changes in our portfclio Market based emissions decreased by 72%,
largely due to more glectricity purchased from renewable sources

and changes in our portiolio

Absolute Scope 1 and 2 emissions (tonmes COse)

Year ended 31 March 2018 A7 PANY]
Combustion of fuel: Managed portfolio
gas use and fuel use in British Land
owned vehicles 6,701 7348 2,156
Operation of facilities: Managed portfolio
refrigerant loss from air conditioning 66 261 -
Purchase of electricity, heat, steam
and cooling: Managed portfolio
electricity use
Lacation based 27,301 34149 41386
Mar ket rased 1,875 6,630 -

Task Foree on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD)

We support the recommendations of the Task Force
and continue to actively manage climate issues.

Governance

Our Risk Commitiee, which reports to the Board, monttors and
aversees climate 1ssues Clirate risks are ydent:thed through 2
processinvolving trend analysis and stakeholder engagement
They are then icorporated into our risk framework and
managed by the appropriate business areas

Strategy
We actively manage climate 1ssues across our business
This inctudes

- Upgrading assets with EPC ratings of Fand G

- improving flood risk assessment and protection

- Procuring electricity from REGO certified renewable
sources, asan RE100 partner (2018 97%]

- Installing low carben energy generation sources, where viable

Risks
We reviewed climate nisks in 2018 as part of our wider
materality review Thay include

- Rizing energy costs

- E£nergyand carbon taxation, such as the CRC Eneray
Efficiency Scheme

- Climate and energy regulation, such as Minmmum Energy
Efficiency Standards (2018 3% of portfolio at risk)

- Fleod risks impacting on asset value and insurance
costs [2018 of the 3% of portfolto at high risk, 106%
has flood managernent ptans]

- Costincreases finked with carben-intensive
construction matenals

Opportunities
- Apticipating occupler demand for climate resibient properties
- Delivering energy and carbon cost savings for us and our
customers (2018 £14 millien gross and €6 milion net
since 2012]
- Generating on site energy (2018 1,664 MWHh)
- Butperforming Butlding Regulations {2018 26% better
on average)

More information
v -
par < aMan

Foeona o ke

U ER T v A T N

TR PR 4
3 S S L T A [T IS S
www britishland com/sustammabilityreport

Clraate Al o v Ol s epLr s wwwebritishland comfsustamnabilityreport

Mot d yreview www britishland com/materiality

Yoleoen 1900 v Jones L www britishland cem/policies
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Strategic Report

FERFORMANCE REVIEW

Against an uncertain backdrop
we remain focused on our strategy

£13.7bn

acrifehove ua or

riy years

woich et averact case | - th

tr firstprrak
40% 97 49%
e pronsry L e Looapdaryra
1.8% 2.2%
PRV g wir VAU a7 TN v =Tt

Market backdrop

The economic environment remamed uncertam across the year,
with consumer spending more subdued, as inflation [measured by
CPl]l reached a hugh of 3 1% i November The impact of politcal and
economic uncertainty relating to the ongoing Brexit negotizitons
weighed on investment decisions for UK businesses and in
November 2017, we saw the firstinterest rate rise in 10 years
However, at 4 2%, unemployrnent is at its lowest in more than

40 years and inflation s slowing, as the impact of Sterling weakness
moderates So while UK GDP growth forecasts remain below other
major economies, the retative strength of the global economy is
supportive for UK businesses

The investment market
The London investrnent market proved resilient, with real estate
continuing to offer good relaiive returns, and the unique attractions

of London remaining persuasive, particularly for overseas investors.

Haowever, buyers have become more selective, with wel(-let,
best-m-class assets sult generating good interest white pricing on
other assets has softened, driving further polarisstion The picture

15 similar in retail, where higher quality assets, both large and small,

contne to see demand, although the market remains cautious with
investors generally demanding a higher yield to compensate for a
perceived increase N risk

|

The Office occupational market

Dermand for the best quality space has rernained firm, with
businesses continuing to make long term commutments to London
despite wider uncertainly Inittal estimates for Brexit-related job
losses in the financial sector have been substantislly lowered and
financial services companies have continued 1o take space, although
media and technology companies are now a more significant source
of demand Flexible workspace was another important driver, with
its share of take up increased from an average of 7% 1n 2012-16 to
21% 11 2017 This represents a shift towards more collaborative
workplaces on more flexible terms This is largely driven by the
growth of small and rediurn sized businesses, but atse many larger
corporates, who increasingly require flexible workspace in addition
to their core office space

The supply pipeline has moderated substantially since the

, referendum, and nearly 50% of zll space under construction is

currently pre-iet, ncluding nearly 60% ot space due for completion in
2018 As a result, occupiers with relatively targe space requirements
have imited options in the corning years, which shoutd support rents
on the best quality space

. The Retail occupational market
" In Retail, the occupational market became more challenging as the

year progressed The tong term structuralimpact of online continues
to affect operators, and these 1ssues have been exacerbated by short
term factors, notably rising costs and subdued consumer confidence
Retaders continue to rationalise therr store networks, and several
highly leveraged operators with challenged models have applied tor
CVAs [company voluntary arrangements) However, this negative
sentiment obscures healthy performances from operators with
strong and differentiated offerings, who are evolving the role of

i their stores ta reflect the changing way people shop

Inthe caswal dining sector, operators who over-expanded in recent
years have been similarty impacted by short term cost pressures,

" although the overall leisure market rematns strong Spending on

letsure has continued to grow and this year 15 expected to reach
nearty £130 billion, a 17% increase compared to five years ago

As a result, polarisation s accelerating rapidly The best quality retail
schemes, which meet a much broader mux of uses, Including leisure
and entertainment, and which support the irmpertant role physical
retall can play in an omni-channel strategy are stil generating good
rental tension and delivering income growth



Our strategy !

Cur sirategy 1s to treate outstanding places, which reflect the
changing lifestyles of the people who work, Live or spend time 1In

our space —we call this creating Places People Prefer We do this by
understanding and responding to the evolving needs and expectations
of our customers Increasingly people want to combing working,
shopping, secialising and entertainment 1n a single place Across our
business we are responding to this trend by curating the environment
inside and outside our buildings to create more of these opportunities,
which inctude a mix of activities As our markets evolve, we will
continue 1o position our business to benefit from the long term
trends to drive enduring demand for our space

London Offices

Our campus approach enables us to successfully ddferentiate our
space by créating neighbourhoods we can enhance and enliven
through placemaking 78% of our offices are located on our three
central London campuses at Broadgate, Paddington Central and
Regent s Place At each, we are delivering a growing mix of uses
alongside cur offices including diming, shopping, lersure and
entertamnment as well as events and activities people can enjoy seven
days a week Our newest bulldings reflect the changing ways peopie
are working, with mere collaborative space, distinctive features such
as roof terraces and smart technelogy, and sustainable characteristics,
all of which 1s driving geod demand frorm a wide range of occuprers

Storey, our flexible workspace business, 1s an integral part of that
appreach, helping to attract new occupiers to our campuses and
allowing us to meet the evelving needs of existing custemers !
impertantly, our campuses beneht from excellent connectivity and
transport infrastructure, which will be further enhanced by Crosseral
at Broadgate and Paddington Central This makes them accessible
and convenient, and will drive footfall, providing a strong rationale
for extending the retail and teisure offer

Retail

We believe thal physical stores have a key role as a part of

a successtul omni-channel retall strategy, but that the market s
polarising towards the best locations Size should be appropriate
to the catchment and quality of space and services are key
Placemaking 1s animportant part of how we can add value as
owners and managers of property by curating our space to meet
the neads of cur customers, we can support the way the role of
the store 1s changing This is where our investment s focused

There are typically three phases to & modern consumer journey
‘discovery, transaction and fulfilment Our Regional centres
typically supportthe discovery phase, they attract visitors from
awide catchment 5o we are enhancing the nature of this space to
encourage people to stay longer and spend rere by enlivening our
space with more lersure and entertainment Cur data shows that

when custormers engage with our catering offer. their retail spend '
is typically 27% higher

The second stage i the actual transaction’, which may take

place in store or online For retailers, transactions which are |
made for tulfilled} in store are preferred, as they do not incur the

cost of last mile delivery, reducing pressure on marging

1
The third stage 1 fulfiment Retailers are focused on rightsizing ‘
their store networks, but are committed to mamtaining good \
coverage, with afores increasingly playing a rote in{ogistics and ‘
distribution Acress eur portfolio 27% of shoppers now use click and
coltect, up from 19% three years ago, and here, our Local centres, |
which provide convenient shopping for local communities, have a
particular role te play ‘
|
|
\

Broadgate Estates

of Broadgate Estates, our property management business, to
international real estate adviser Savilis This transaction enables
us to focus exclusively on our own assets and enhance the cervice
we provide 1o our customers as our business becomes increasingly

mixed use

¢ Portfolio performance

| InMay 2018, we announced the sate of the third-party portfolio

Twal

e’ 1T Y Yo arepe by

Year ended Voroctor o rent qrowe o shnt et
31 March 2018 Lne ' “Le i
Dffices 6,705 ) 21 17 20
Retail 6,996 03 16 [ 57
Residential 132 16 nfa nfa 46

Canada Water 283 (70] n/a n/a 39}
Total 13,716 22 18 ] 70

The portfolio value was up 2 2%, driven primaniy by our leasing
activity, in particular the pre-letimg of our developments which saw
avaluation gain of 3 6% ERV growth was positive in Retail and Offices,
but was stronger in the first half, particularly in Retall Office yields
contracted 7 bps mostly in the first half reflecting our leasing
success, whilsl Retail saw yield expansion of 6 bps, which was more
pronounced in our Local centres Overall, the portfolio equivalent
yield was broadly Hat at 4 8%

" The pertfotic underperformed the IPD all property total return index

ty 310 bps over the year, largely reflecting the continued strength of

. the industrial sector within the index, where we have no expesure

Offices outperformed the sector benchmark by 70 bps on a total
returns basis while Retail underperformed by 30 bps

. We have completegd the first phase of our valuer appointment policy,

which restricts the engagement of valuers on indvidual assets to
10 years As aresult, this year, 43% of the porifolio was subjectioa
change invaluer Despite some variations on individual assets, there

was no matenat impact at a subsector level and theretfore overall
All ef these changes were reported at half year and full details on
our policy can be found in the Governance section of our website

Investment and development

| AR ot # Tat
Frem 1 Aprit 2017 | n Lir o T
Purchases 199 - - 7 206
Sales (419 15771 [312] - [1,308]
Development spend e 82 54 23 190
Capital spend 57 ) - - 62
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

¢1.8bn 24m sq ft
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The gross value of our investrnent activity ssnce 1 April 2017, as
measured by our share of acquisttions, disposals, capital spend
on developments and other capital projects, was £1 8 billion This
includes our share from the sale of The Leadenhall Building of
€575 mutlion {100% £1 15 billion] which completed in the year,
£419 million retail sales in line with book value and more than
£200 mullion of asset purchases

We exchanged or completed residential sales of £112 mitlion in the
year, on average 16% ahead of most recent valuations In addition,
we have completed on £123 million of Clarges sates which exchanged
prior to 1 April 2017, of which £168 million completed post year end
This brings total completed and exchanged sales at Clarges to

£344 mullion to date

This year, development spend has totalled £ 190 muilion, with the
majority relating to Broadgate developments and Clarges Capital
expenditure of £62 multion relates to income enhancing vestment
and more general asset enhancement intiatives including at
Meadowhall, Glasgow Fort, Peterborough and Teesside

Development activity
Bt lLana ek s

Across our portfolio, we have created attractive develepment

" opportunities iIn Line with our strategy, giving us the optionality
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to progress whenthe time 1s right This s a unigue advantage in
the current environment, where we see limited opporturity to
make accretive acquisihons, given the contbinuing strength of
investrnent markets

We believe that space which meets a broader range of needs
will be most successful tong term, so cur development pipeline
focuses on our London campuses where we see the potential to
further enhance the mix of uses, with retail and residential in
additron to our core office space

Intine with our disciplined approach to capital allecation, we
carefully manage our development risk, and pre-tetting cur space

1s animpoertant part of that approach 53% of the £63 mitlion ERV In
our committed pipeline i1s already pre-let or under offer and our total
speculative exposure 1s just 4 5% of portfolio gross asset value [BAV),
well below our internal nisk threshold for speculative development

of 8% In addition, costs to come on our committed pipeline of

€427 million are substantially covered by residential receipts to
come of £373 millien from our Clarges Mayfair devetopment

Looking forward, our medium term pipeline comprises a broad mix
of opportunities mctuding mixed use schemes at Eden Walk, Kingston
and Ealing where we see potential to deliver sizeable residential
schemes alongside an improved retail offer At Canada Water, we are
creating a new urban centre for London, which will comprise offices,
retail and Leisure as well as residential We signed a Master
Development Agreement with Southwark Council and submitted our
outline plannming application for the masterplan in May 2018 Intotal,
our medium term pipeline covers 4 B million sq ft, with the majority
of projects currently income producing or held at low cost

Construction cost forecasts continue to suggest that the rate of
growth has moderated from the level (n recent years However,
pressure on labour costs and timited capacity in the industry indicate
the rate of costinflation will increase yn 2019/20 back to closer to
3-4% per annum To manage this, 89% of the costs on our
committed development programme have been fixed

T

DO PTOROT Y PR 0T an T, Y G
o daETgqaren o g Eyear can




LONDGN QFFICES

Strong leasing activity driven
by our campus strategy and

good market demand

Highlights
- Portiolio value up 4 5%, with the West End up 5 8% and the

Ciyup 2 8%

Yield contraction of 7 bps averall, with 13 bps contraction
inthe West End, weighted towards the first hall. and 2 hps
expansion in the City

ERV growth of 2 1%, with the West End up 2 5% and the City
up 1 5%

70 bps ahead of IPD on a total return basis, 100 bps ahead
on a capital basis, with ERV growth 100 bps ahead

Leasing actvity covered 1 2 rmillion sq ft, four tires the area
achieved last year, adding £40 million to future rents, under
cffer or in negotiations on a turther 548 000 sg ft

Rent reviews covered 226,000 sq ft, 10% ahead of passing rent
Actinty generating like-for-tike incorne growth of 2 4%

£664 million lexcluding recidential sales at Clarges) of gross
caprtal activity, including our share of The Leadenhall
Building [£573 ritlion)

Timn Roberts
Head of Offices

Campus review

78% of our offices arelocated on our three central London

campuses, Broadgate, Regent s Place and Paddington Central
Each benefit from excellent transport Links as well as vibrant tocal

" neighibourhoods, which supports our ptacemaking mitiatives and

makes them maore dynanic and interesting places to work and visit

Broadgate

At Broadgate, our leasing actiity covered nearty 530,000 sq ft,
including 100,000 sq ft at 100 Liverpool Street, to SMBCE. the
European subsidiary of SMBC [Surritorme Mitsui Banking
GCorperation) Having cornmutted to this building on a speculative
basis at the end of 2016, we are now 37% let on the office space by
area, and are seeing good levels of interest on the remaining space
A key focus remains increasing the mix of uses at our campuses, and
this year we signed a3 major deal with Eataty, the italian marketplace

* at 135 Bishopsgate, where they will open their first UK location

covering 42,000 sq ft This s animportant tetting for the campus,
in ine with our objective to make Broadgate an internationally
recognised centre for new food, retail and culture We are under
offer orin negotiations on a further 269,000 «q ft of office space at

" this developrnent, together accounting for around B0% of the space

At 1 and 2 Finsbury Avenue [TFA and 2FA), we are building
Broadgate s reputation as a centre for innovation and finance

We have let 72,000 sg ft to Mimecast at 1FA and are under offer on

a cinema {11,000 sq ft), together representing more than ona third
of the bullding At 2FA, we have let 14,500 sg ft on a short term basis
to Starling Bank, as well as a host of lettings in the technology and
creative sectors through Storey, our flexible workspace business
which covers 60,000 <q ft at Broadgate at ZFA and Appold Street

This year, we were pleased that Broadgate was the winner of two
Revo Opal Awards The tirst recognised how our commercialisation
strategy had helped transform snd positively enhance the
environment at Broadgate, and the second recognising our Winter
Forest as a bestinclass build, execution and visitor experience

" Regent's Place

At Regent < Place, our leasing activity covered 411,000 sq ft, with

our pre-let to Dentsu Aegis of all the office space at 1 Tniton Square
accounting for 310,600 sq ft, the largest pre-letin the West End for
22 years As part of this letting, Dentsu Aegis have an option to return
their existing space at 10 Triton Street in 2021, which 1f exercised,
would have a compensating adjustment covering the rent free

period of the letting at 1 Triton Square
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LONDON OFFICES CONTINUED

Our Offices portfolio in London

£0.4bn
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Facebook reaffirmed their commitment to the campus, taking Storey
a further 39,400 =q ft at 10 Brock Street, bringing their total Since its launch in June 2017, Storey, our flexible workspace brand,
occupation to 213,000 sq ft across two buitdings, doubling their has made good progress We introduced the cencept inresponse to

changing customer needs, and to broaden the range of services we

inttial reguirernent This 1s a good example of how we have been
able to accommodate the needs of our occupiers as their business offer campus occuplers it 1s now operational st all three of our
expands or needs change, so we are pleased that Storey 1s now campuses, as well as International House, Ealing, covering a totat of
operational across 23,000 sq ft a1 338 Euston Road We also signed 114,000 sq ft, of which 77% 1s now let We are differentiating our offer
Flykick. a new kick-boxing gym at 350 Euston Road, which opened to appeal to Innovative businesses that have outgrown conventional
in March 2018, in tine with our focus on enlivening our spaces and co-working space, as well as larger organisations seeking addibional
diversifying the mix space on more flexible terms in addition to their core requirement
Marketing and fit out are taillored accordingly, so our occupiers are
The Regent s Place Comrmunity Fund 15 also entering its second year,  able to create thewr own brand within our space, but benefit from
bringing together occupiers to support local charities and make a shared facilities in the building as well as the advantages that our
positive local difference inits first year, over 2,600 people benefitted | campuses provide
from pirojects addressing employability, social cohesion and health

and wellbeing The average =ize of occupier is 52 employees and the average tease
length 15 27 months {21 months term certainl, with existing occupiers

Paddington Central from our campuses accounting for more than half of the space taken

Paddingten was our best performing campus, up invalue " AlM-listed robotic software company Blue Prism have taken space

more than 7% in the year as we benefitted from the placemaking at 338 Eusten Road and at Broadgate our activity 1s supporting the

achwities we have undertaken across our five years of ownership campus s emergence as a centre of techrology ang innovation,

This has delivered a total unlevered return of 12% per annum with lettings to Wipro's strategic and digrtal arm, Digital ~Designit,

4 Kingdem Street 47,000 sq ft), reached prachical completion in Tantalum, an automotive technology innovator, and Rotageek,

April 2017 and was nearly 90% let ahead of launch in June 2017, which offers data-driven employee scheduling services

to occupiers including Vertex, Sasol and Mars, whose activities

span pharmaceuticals, energy and food products Storeyis now The premiurn to ERV we are achieving is at or above target, and

operational across 15,060 sq ft and a further 25000 5q ft has . we have allocated a further 119,000 sq ft to Storey from within the

portfolio, of which 73, 000 sq ft will be at 1FA 10,000 sq ft will be
‘club’ space at 4 Kingdom Streetf, where customers will be able
Pergola, an outdoor drinking and dining experience which welcomed | to host events and meetings and benetit from cotlaboration with
179,000 people in 2017, reopened for the summer season at the end fellow Storey and other campus occupiers This brings total space
of Aprit We are continuing to improve the food, beverage and leisure | commmitted to Storey te more than 230,000 sq ft

offering at Paddington with six operators, including a gym, barbers
and a number of independent cafés, together covering 12 500 sq ft,
signed in the pertod We completed stage one of our public realm
improvement programme and are now underway with stage two,
which will enhance and enliven the canal-side space

been allocated

Residential

Clarges Mayfair, our super prime residential development, reached
practical completion in December 2017 To date we have completed
or exchanged on 24 residentizl urits totalling £344 rmilhion and will
commence marketing of the rematning 10 valued at £141 mutlion,
this summer This scheme, which has delivered profits of more
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than £200 rmillion to date, [of which residential accounts for over
£150 mithion] demonstrates our expertise in residential The offices
element of this scheme reached practical completion in June 2016
and s nearly 90% let

Offices devclopment

Over the year, we have committed to nearly 1 million sq ft of
developrnent opportunities on our London campuses, more than
doubling our devetopment commitments, but without 2 material
increase m our speculative exposure 56% of the ERV i our
committed office developments s pre-let or under offer

We achieved planning consents covering more than 1 mittion sq ft
across our three campuses, and are already on site on more than
0% of this space

Comimitted pipeline !
Our commutted pipeling covers 153 mitlion sq ft Thisincludes 366,000

sqftat 1 Triton Square, Regent’s Place, but the majority i1s at Broadgate

We are making good pragress at 100 Liverpool Street, our 522,000 sq ft |
development adjacent to the Crossrail station at Liverpool Street
Station The bullding targets the Platinum WiredScere certification
for connectivity, a BREEAM Excellent rating for sustainability and the
WELL Gold certification for wellbeing. our plans include 20,000 sq ft
of outdoor terraces on five levels providing cutside spaces for office
workers to come together We have pre-let 37% of the office space to
SMBCE and are seeing good mterest on the 90,000 sq ft of retail space
here Alsc at Broadgale, we are on site at 1FA 291,000 sq ft] which
will include a cinerna and roof terrace, and 135 Bishopsgate (228,000
sq ftl with 42 000 sq ft of retail pre-let to ltalian marketplace Eataly
In total we are delivering more than 1 mitlicn sq ft at Broadgate, of
which 13% of the space will be retail or leisure, with 32% of the total
ERV pre-let or under offer

Near term pipeline

Looking ahead, our near term pipeline covers 445 000 5q ft of
opportunities we would {ook to pregress 1n the next 12 months
It includes the Gateway Building at Paddington Central, and our
opticn at Blossom Streetin Shoreditch

i ezt
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At Blossorn Street, Shoreditch, we have an eption over two acres
of tand which expires in February 2019 We have consent for a
340,000 sg tt mixed use development, integrating 228,000 sq ft of
character office space, with retall and residential, to create a mixed
use development that buitds onthe historic fabric of the area Our
plans envisage a rmix of floorplates, to appeal to small and growing

_ businesses, particularly in the technelogy and creative sectors, with

the potential for some space to be atlocated to Storey We will make
a decision on this development betore the end of this calendar year

Medium term pipeline

Looking further ahead, we have created options across our portfolio,
which provide opportuntties to grow and develop our business well
nto the future Our medium term office pipeline covers 14 mulliensg ft,
of which three-quarters 15 at Broadgate

. AL 2-3 Finsbury Avenue |2FA and 3FA}, we have consent for

a 563,000 sq ft development, adding 374,000 sq ft to the existing
space, but would seek a significant pre-let before making any
commitment inthe meantime, the space 1s generating a good income
through short terrm more flexible tets and 1s proving particularty
successful amongst technology and creative occupiers 20,000 sq ft
has been let to TMT and creative occupiers through our core business
at 2FA, and a further 60,000 sq ft by Storey at 2FA and Appold Street
We recently achieved vacant possession at 3FA, and the space s
enjoying similar success, with 44,000 sq it of short term lets agreed
aswell as 1,700 sq ft of events space which we expect to launchin
the coming months This shortterm activity provides us with options
over when we comrnence development We are progressing our
plans at 1-2 Broadgate, in total covering 507,000 5g ft, including a
significant retait, leisure and dining elerment Vacant possessian s
not expected until the end of 2019 but we expect to make a ptanning
application towards the end of this year

At 5 Kingdom Street, at Paddington Central, we have existing
consent for a 240,000 sg ft office-led scheme, our plans wilt increase
this to more than 332,000 sq ft and we expect Lo submit a revised
application [ater this year The site sits above the Box, a 70,000 sq ft

. site which will become redundant on the completion of Crossrail,
| when ownership reverts to British Land This represents an

| interesting opportunity to create an alternative use, potentially retail,

In bine wath our strategic focus on expanding the mix of uses at our |
campuses, we were pleased to achieve planning consent tor the
Gateway, a 105,000 sq ft premum hotel at Paddington Central !

leisure, conference or events space, which wall further differentiate
our campus offering

British Land 1 Anmoal Reporband Accaimts 2018
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RETAIL

Quality space driving

operational outperformance

in polarising markets

Hightights

- Portfolio value up 0 3%, with the mulhi-let portfolio down 0 5%
offset by positive movernents on our solus and Lleisure assets

- Inthe mutti-let portfolio, Regionats were marginally up in
value whitst Locats were down 1 5%

- Yield expansion of 6 bps overall, wath 9 bps expansion inthe
rutti-let portfolio, more pronounced in the Local portfolio

- ERVgrowth of 1 6%, with 1 %% growth in the multi-let
portfolio reflecting our successtul leasing activity

- Underperformed IPD by 50 bps on a totat return basis and
70 bps below on a capital basis, ERV growth was 70 bps
ahead of the index

- Leasing activity covered 1 2 mitlion sq ft, adding £7 mitlion
to future rents

- Virtualty full with occupancy at 98%

- Completed more than 100 rent reviews, 4 2% ahead of
passing rent

- Nearly ?0% of teases reaching exptry were either retained or
replaced onterms ahead of ERV, with a further 3% re-let in
the short term

- Activity generating Like-for-like income growth of 1 2%

- Footfall up 0 3%, 340bps ahead of benchmark, retader sales
down 1 6%, 130bps ahead of benchmark

- Brossnvestment activity of £7046 mmillion, with sales of
€419 million, overail in Line with book value, £19% million
of acquisitions, including £152 mitlion of regeneration
oppertunities in London, benefitting from Crossrail
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Charles Maudsley
Head of Retall, Leisure & Residential

Operational review

| We have a focused teasing strategy, informed by our insights,

which keeps our offer relevant in today s market, this means we
are targeting growth subsectors and meeting customer needs

. Compared with 2015, we have undertaken 8 8% more leasing to

health and beauty operators, and 5 6% more in outdoor ang sporis
clothing At the same time, we have reduced leasing to sectors
where sales have declined, notably general fashion s down more
than 10%

We are also leveraging our msights to demonstrate the attractions
of our assets to potential occupiers This year for example, we
signed Decathlon at Ealing after providing compelling research

on the strategic fit between its demographic profile and the local
catchment, and at Broughton, Chester, Footasylum opened its
first out of town store, having demonstrated to the occupier that a
physical store was an opportunity to enhance their previously low
brand awareness to over one rrullion residents in the catchment
Early indications are that it 1s trading well This approach s integral
to our leasing strategy across the portfolio and instrumental in
encouraging operators to open out of town stores, with recent
examples including Lush, Ann Summers, Disney and Joules all
opening at Glasgow Fert, and Hotel Chocolat at Teesside, Stockton
In addition, our rent to sales ratio rerains attractive at 11%

At Meadowhall, we have seen a strong response to our £60 mittion
refurbishment, with nearly 80 occupiers investing £46 rmitlion

" upgrading their stores We have signed 28 new occupiers, including

online retailer Joe Browns' first physical store, and Australian
homewares brand House, who opened one of their first UK stores
here We have strengthened the premium offering to reflect the
improving catchment, with Godiva, Michael Kors, Flannels,

Tag Heuer, Neal s Yard, Joules and Nespresso all signing We have
relocated or upsized a further 21 occupiers and renewed or re-geared
{eases on another 14 This year, deals were signed 13% ahead of ERV,
and our activity has generated ERY growth of 2 8% We are also
pleased that our investment has benefitted the local community,

" with 69% of construction spend gomg to local businesses and

24 people supported into apprenticeships



Our Retail portiolio

£6.6bn 98.0%
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Across the market, sales and footfall are down but our assets have
continued to outperform Footfall was up 0 3% across the multi-let
portfolio, outperforming the market by 340 bps with the scale of

our sutperformance continuing to grow A number of our centres
performed particutariy well, including Stockton, Teesside, where we
are on site with a £30 million refurbishment, and SouthGate, Bath,
where the dining offer has been revitalised, introducing new brands
like Cornptoir Libanais, Thaikhun, Franco Manca and Absurd Bird
Retaiter sales iwhich only capture in store sales| were down 1 6%

at our centres, but were ahead of market by 130 bps

inwhat has been a more challenging occupier market, we are
canfident In the relative strength of cur portfolio The combined
impact of admimistrations and CVAs during the year was 0 6% of total
gross income or £3 7 million and the portfolio s virtually full with
occupancy of 8%

Capital activity
We are commutted to reshaping our Retait portfohio to focus on
ets which best align with our strategy This has been ongoing
for some time 1 the tast four years, we have made £2 2 billion of
retarl asset disposals This year, we seld £419 mutlion of assets
{£642 million on a gross basis), in Line with book value, of which
£122 mullion were made in the secend half, 7 6% ahead of book
value, and we are now under ofter on a further £72 milion

Acquisitions of £199 mullion in the period mcluded a Tesco JV swap,
which resulted in a net £72 myllion of superstore disposals We also
acquired The Woolwich Estate and 10-40 The Broadway in Ealing for
a total of £152 miliion These acquisttions are in line with our focus on
well-connected assets with mixed use potential, strong or improving

local demographics and where we can put cur placemaking expertise |

towork Both areas benefit from Crosaralt, and have already seen
significant regeneration ahead of that This brings total gross activity,
ncluding development and capital spend, to more than £700 rmullion

' We have invested £88 millior inte the portfolio, of which 70% 1s ncome
' producing capex, and the remainder focusing on improvements to

' the public realm We have a strong track record of delivering value

with assets benefitting from material investment Imore than 3% of
value) delivering a total return outperformance of ¢ 80 bps, cver the
last three years, driven by ERV growth

Retail development
Across the Retail portfolio, we achieved 44 planning consents
covermng nearly 800,000 sg #t

. We completed our 66,000 sg ft leisure extension at New Mersey,
. Speke, which added an il1-screencinema, pre-let to Cineworld, and

six restaurant enits Overall, the scheme 15 80% let or under offer,
and will open in surnrer 2018

Committed pipeline

We are on site with a 107,000 sqg ft leisure extension at Drake Circus,
Plymouth, which wall add a 17-screen cinema and 15 restaurants
We expect to reach practical completion towards the end of 2019
and are already 38% let or under oifer

Near term pipeline
Our near term pipeline includes leisure extensions a! Stockten,
Teesside 184,000 sg 1t] and Forster Square, Bradiord (49,000 sq ft)

., At Teesside, we received a resolution to grant planning for our

masterplan, which includes a redevelopment ot the existing
terrace, the introduction of smaller retall and restaurant units

+ and improvements to the public realm, overalt adding 51,000 =g ft,

but we will seek a significant pre-let before cormnmitting to this
development We expect to submit a planning application for our
plans at Bradford this year

British Land ' Annual BepotCend Accopunis 2018 30
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Medjum term pipeline

Our medium term pipeline includes our 330,000 <q ft {eisure
extension at Meadowhall, where we secured a resolution to grant
plannming consent Qur plans will transform the centre s tersure offer
wilh pew dining andg entertainment options, a new cinema, café
court, gym, open-air terrace and space for tersure, event and
commurity use We also submitied planning for a 208,000 sq ft
teisure extension at Serpentine Green, Peterborough, which will add
139,000 sq ft Qur mixed use opportuntties include a £400 million
redevelopment of Eden Walk, Kingston, where we have consent for
380 new homes, 28 new retall umits, 12 restaurants and cafés and
35,000 sq ft of flexible office space At Ealing, we are working up
plans for & wider rmixed use developmient

Canada Water

At Canada Water, we are working with the London Borough of
Southwark on one of London s most sigruficant development projects
Qur leng term vision tor the area, spanning 53 acres, will deliver

a major new mixed use urban centre tor this part of London,

just one stop on the Jubilee Line from Canary Wharf, inZone 2

In March 2018, we were delighted to receive Southwark Cabinet
approval to enter into a Master Development Agreement with
Southwark Council, which was signed in May 2018 Under the terms
of the agreerment, we have negotiated a new headlease, which
consolidates our holdings hincluding the Printworks, the Surrey
Quays Shopping Centre and the Mast Leisure Centre] into a single
500 year headlease, with Southwark Council as the tessar This
structure effectively aligns the ownership of these assets, with
8ritish Land owning 80% and Southwark Council ownimg the
remaining 20% Southwark Council witl have the opportunity to
participate in the development of the indwvidual plots, uptoa
maximum of 20%, and returns wilt be pro-rated accordingty

40 British Land | Annual Repor t and Accounts 2018

This agreement enabled us to subrmut our planming applicatienin
May 2018, whichincluded a detailed apptication for the project's
first three buddings, comprising workspace, retail, homes [of which
35% will be affordable] and a new teisure centre These buildings
are part of a major first phase of the development covering a total
of 18 million sq ft of muxed use space This includes one mittion sq ft
of workspace, 250000 sq fi of retail and lersure space and 650
homes The overall masterpian, of which phase 1{orms part, 1
expected Lo deliver up to 3 000 new homes, two milion sq it of
workspace and one million sq ft of retail, leisure, entertainment
and community space

Subject 1o planming approvals, construction of the first detailed plots
could beginin spring 2019 Potential structures will be explored
when we have greater vistbility on iming, but we are already seeing
nterest in the space from a range of sectors and discussions are

, underway on several burldings

nthe meantime, the success of the Printworks, our award-winning
entertainment space m the old Daly Mail Printworks, is building
awareness of the area With capacity for 5,000, it has welcomed
mare than 250,000 visitors since launch, and has hosted bands
ncluding So Solid Crew and Django Django as well as the
Beavertown Brewery Extravaganza, bringing over 70 of the

world s best breweries together The space has proved to be such

a comrnercial success, as well as an effective driver of foottall,

that it has now been incorporated inte our development plans

While the gross valuation of Canada Water was marginally up to
£283 mutlion, the net valuation was down 7%, reflecting feasibility
costs incurred over the year which were not recoverable through
the valuation, pending achievernent of planning



FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial performance
for the yvear was robust
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Overview

Financial performance for the year was rebust with underlving
earnings per share down 11% at 37 4 pence and Underlying Profit
down 2 6% at £380 mullion, despite significant sales EPRA net asset
value per share [NAV] Increased by 5 7% reflecting a portfotio
valuatier gain of 2 2% on a proportionally consolidated basis and
the impact of the £300 mullion share buyback programme

We have continued to reposition the pertiolio with £1 8 bithon of gross
capital achivity [E0 8 brllon of net capital actmityl since 1 April 2017
This comprises £1 0 bitlion of disposals of income producing assets
representing 7% of the total portfotio, primarily single-let Retail
assets and our 50% interest in The Leadenhall Building wiich
exchanged in the previous financial year Sales were made at an
average yield of 4% We compteted or exchanged on residential sates
of £0 1 bilhion during the year and completed £0 2 billion of further
residential sates at Clarges post year end

The net proceeds from this activity provide capacity for reinvestment
inte cur portfolio, particularly threugh the development opportunities
we are now progressing with a forecast yield ori cost of sround 6%
We have maintained a disciplined approach to capital and completed
our £300 mithon share buyback programme in February 2018,
purchasing 47 & million ordinary shares at an average price of

630 pence This hasincreased NAV by 15 pence and added

0 4 pence to EPS this year During the peried we have also remnvested
£0 3 bitlion in cur developmenis and capital expenditure across
the portfolio, and made £0 2 bithion of acquisitions

Underlying Profit was down 2 6% reflecting the impact of net sales
over the past two years and lease expiries at properties going mto
development This has been largely offset by leasing success at our
developments, Like-for-hke rental growth and financing activity, as
well as one-off surrender premia received IFRS profit before tax
was £501 rmillion, up from £195 million in the prior year, primarily
due to the positive property valuation movement in the period

Our financial metrics reman strong LTV has decreased 150 bps

to 28 4% trom 29 9% at 31 March 2017, primarily through net sales,
offset by the share buyback Our weighted average interest rate s
at its lowest level at 2 8% Thic financtal strength provides us with
the capacity to progress opportunities, including our development
pipeline, whilst retairing sigrificant headroom to our covenants We

_ have been active in debt markets, inctuding issuing our £306 mullion

Sterling unsecured bond Our semor unsecured credit rating has

' been upgradedto A by Fitch

Shareholder returns remain a priority We increased the dividend
3% to 30 08 pence for the year ended 31 March 2018, resulting in a
dmidend payoul ratio of 80% The Board propose a further increase
of 3% next year to 31 00 pence, a quarterly dividend of 775 pence

Presentation of financial information

The Group financial statements are prepared under IFRS where the
Group s Interests in joint ventures and funds are showin as a single
line item on the income statement and balance sheet and all
subsidiaries are consolidated at 100%

Managernent considers the business principally on a proportionally
censolidated basis when setting the sirateqy, determinmg annual
prionties, making investment and financing decisions and reviewing

" performance This includes the Group s share of joint ventures and

funds on a line-by-line basis and excludes non-controlling interests
in the Group s subsidharies The financial key performance indicators
are also presented on this basis

A sumrnary Income statement and surnmary balance sheet which
reconclie the Group mncome statements to British Land's interests on
a proporticnally consolidated basis areincbided in Table A withun the
supplementary disclosures

Management momitors Underlying Profit as this more accurately
reflects the Group s financial performance and the underlying
recurring performance of our core property rental activity, as
opposed to IFRS metrics which include the non-cash valuation
movement on the property pertfolic Itis based onthe Best
Practices Recommendations of the European Public Real Estate
Acsociation |EPRA) which are widely used alternate metrics to their
IFRS equivalents
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Management also monttors EPRANAY as this provides a transparent
and consistent basis to enable comparison between European
property companies Linked to this, the use of Total Accounting
Return allows management to monitor return to shareholders based
on movernents in a consistently applied metric, being EPRA NAV, and
dividends pald

Loan to value lproportionally consclidated] 1s alse monitored by J
management as a key measure of the levet of debt employed by the
Group to meet its strategic objectives, aleng with a measurement of
nsk It alse allows comparison to other property companies who
simitarly monitor and report this measure

Income statement

1. Underlying Profit

Undertying Profit is the measure that 1s used internally to assess
income performance No company adjustments have been made in
the current or prior year and therefore this 1 the same as the pre-tax
EPRAearnings measure which includes a number of adjustrnents

to the IFRS reported profit betore tax Thus 1s presented below on

a proportionally consolidated basis

i 2018
St oo e £m |
Groess rental iIncome 643 613
Property operating expenses 133) (37
Net rental income IR 610 576
Net fees and other incormne 17 15 J
Adrinistrative expenses 12 185) (833
Net financing costs 13 {151 {128} !
Underlying Profit 300 380
Non-controlling inferests f
i Underlying Prohit i4 14
EPRA adjustments! (209] 107
iFRS profit before tax 7 195 501
Underlying EPS 14 378p 3T4p ’
IFRS basic EPS 2 188p 48.7p

Dividend per share

LPRAad ustrisms con- -t
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The £34 million decrease in net rental income during the year was
the result of divestment achivity and development expiries partially
offset by surrender premia, leasing of developments and Like-for-lLike
rentat growth

MNet sales of income producing assets of £1 3 bilion over the last two
years have reduced rents by £44 million in the year

Lease expiries relating to properties in our development pipeline
reducad net rents by £22 rmullion, inclyding £6 milkson at 100
Liverpool Street where we are on site and progressing well with
development, £5 million ai the substantially pre-tet 1 Triton Square
scheme, £5 million at 1FA where we started on site in August 2017,
and £6 mullion at 135 Bishopsgate where we are now committed
having let 42,000 sq ft to Eataly These are partiatly offset by one
oftf surrender premia recetved, the majority being a £15 mullion
surrender premium received from Royal Bank of Scotland in

June 2017

Developrnent lettings, notably at 4 Kingdom Street and Ctarges,
have contributed £6 mitlion to rents in addilion 1o Like-for-lLike rental
growth of 1 8%, excluding the impact of surrender premia Retail
growth was 1 2% driven by asset management activities, such as
sphtting units, as well as leasing of vacant space In Offices,
like-for-like growth was 2 4% driven by fixed uplifts at rent reviews
as wetl as leasing of completed developments that are now in

. the lke-for-tike portfolio

1.2 Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses decreased by a further £3 milbion this year
as a result of lower variable pay Due to theimpact of sales onrents,
the Group’s operating cost ratio increased by 130 bps to 16 9%
{2016/17 15 &%)

1.3 Net financing costs

—_""—'—
(2}
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Financing costs have come down by £23 mullion this year

Debt transactions undertaken over the last two years reguced
financing costs by £19 million in the year This includes repayment of
BLT debt following the net sales of five properties and exit from the
jeint venture in April 2017, and early redemption of our 6 75% and
?125% 2020 debentures in December 2017 we also successfully
tendered and repaid £84 million of our 5 357% 2028 and 5 0055%
0325 Debentures Prior year actraty includes early repayment of the
£295 rmullion TBL Properties Limited secured loan and close-out

of related swaps



In September 2017, the 1 5% converuble bond was cash settled using
existing bank facilities This has proven to be tughly efficient financing ;
since Its 1ssue in Septernber 2012 we estimate that it has saved

€40 mithon in financing costs compared to a fixed rate Sterling bond

at the e

Alscin September we 1ssued a £300 million unsecured Sterting bond
for 12 years at a coupon of 2 375%  the lowest for a UK real estate
company inthis market As well as diversifying both our sources of
funding and our matunity profile, it also established a benchmark for
us inthe unsecured Steriing market '

During the year we agreed & new £100 rullion hilateral bank revolving
unsecured credit facility | RCF | and extended £225 miliion of existing
facihities In May, following the year end, we completed an amendment
and extension of our largest syndicated RCF at £735 rmutlion, with

12 banks, at an initial margin of 90 bps and new maturity of five years,
which may be extended by a further two years at our request and en
each bank s approvat This facility. together with the bilaterals,

adds further iquidity and flexibility to our debt portiolio

MNet divestment activity reduced casts by a further £15 million,
the impact of which1s partially offset by development spend

AL 31 March 2018 we had interest rate hedging on 80% of cur debt
Ispotl, and on 60% of our projected debt on average over the next
five years

1.4 Underlying Earnings Per Share

Underlying EPS1s 37 4 pence based on Underlying Protit after tax of
£380 million EPS decline of 1 1% against the Underlying Profit decline
of 2 6% was driven by the 0 4 pence benefit of the share buyback
pregramme, which would be 14 pence onan annualised basis

2. IFRS profit before tax

The main difference between IFRS profit before tax and Underlying
Profit 1s that it includes the valuation movernent on investment and
development properties and the far value movernents on financial
instruments In addition, the Group s investments 1n joint ventures

and funds are equity accounted in the tFRS income statement but \
are included on a proportionally consolidated basts within I
Underlymng Profit

|
The IFRS profit before tax fer the year was £301 million, compared !
with a profit before tax for the prior year of £195 million This reflects 1
the pesitive vatuation movemeant on the Group's properties which |
was €346 million more than the prior year and the valustion ‘
movernent on the propetties held in joint ventures and funds which ;
was £145 million more than the pricr year, resutting from ERY |
growth of 1 8% in the current year This was partially offset by higher ‘
capital financing costs of £174 mitlion more than the prior year
primarily due to recycling of cumulative losses within the hegging ‘
and translation reserve i relation to a hedging instrument which 1
1s no tonger hedge accounted The recogmition of these amounts in ‘
capital financing charges mthe income statement has a bimited

impact on EPRA NAV, with financing and debt management activity
undertaken in the year leading to a 3 pence reduction in EPRA NAV

per share

IFRS basic EP5 was 48 7 pence per share, compared to 18 8 pence
per share in the prior year, driven principally by posttive property
vatuation movements The basic weighted average number of shares
inissue during the year was 1,012 mdiion [2016/17 1,029 mullion}

3. Dividends

The fourth interim dividend payment for the quarter ended 31 March
2018 will be 7 532 pence to give a full year dvidend of 30 08 pence,

an increase of 3 0% Payment will be made on 3 August 2018 to
shareholders on the register at close of business on 29 June 2018
The fimal drividend witl be a Property Income Distribution and no
SCRIP alternative will be offered

This results in anincrease in the dividend pay-out ratto to 80% for
the year [2016/17 77%I

The Board proposes to ncrease the dividend by 3 0% i 2018/19 to
31 0 pence per share with a quarterly dividend of 775 pence per
share The Beard has taken into account future profit shape,

our preferred payout range and the external emvironment

Balanee sheet

AT 2018

Sxoan P £m

" Properties at valuation 13,940 13,716
Dther non-current assets 158 185
140% 13,901

Other net current Labilities {364)  [348)
Adjusted net debt & [4,223) (3,973)
Other non-current liabilities {11 -
EPRA net assets 9498 9,560
EPRA NAY per share 4 915p 967p
Non-centrotling interests 235 254
Other EPRA adjusiments! 277} (308}
IFRS net assets 5 2476 9,506
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EPRA NAV per share has increased 3 7%, reflecting a valuation
ncrease of 2 2% forthe year [H1 +14%, H2 -0 9%] This s the result

- of stable yietds and ERY growth of 1 8% resulting irom healthy

leasing activity and investor appetite for long term, secure income
streams Inaddition, property performance includes the benefit of
completing the sale of The Leadenhall Building ahead of book value,
which contributed £32 mitbion to capital prefit, and an uphift of

£5% million following completion of Clarges
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Retail valuations are up 8 3% with marginal outward yield movernent [ 7 Financing

of 6 bps and ERV growth of 1 8% the mulhi-let portfolio, which Criut Crepadcraily Lol aetd
accounts for 81% of our Retall assets, was down 0 5% but saw ERY A 17 2018 7 2018
growth of 1 9% driven by leasing success net debt/

S ! . . €3,973

Office valuations were up 4 5% driven by inward yield movement adjusted net debt £3.0%m  €3,046m £4.223m 773m
of 7 bps and ERV growth of 2 1% Valuation increases are driven Principat amount .

by successful leasing, developments tup 10 6% and strong sales of gross debi £3.009m  €3,007m  £4,520m  £4,265m
activity The campuses account for 78% of the Offices portfolio and Loanto value 22 6% 221% 299% 28.4%
all delivered strong performance, reflecting the atiractiveness of Weighted average

our campus approach interest rate 2 4% 2.0% 3I1% 2.8%
interest cover 45 5.2 36 4.0

Werghted average

The 5 pence impact of financing and debt management costs
primarily retates to early repayment of debentures, term debt and

termination of interest rate swaps Gur share buyback programme + matunity of
has contributed 15 pence to EPRA NAV drawn debt 6 9years 8.1years 77years 8.6years

mrogar all T7alibe f-an. of -tate ni2
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5.IFRS net assets | Py
IFRS net assets at 31 March 2018 were £9.504 million, an increase
of £30 ritlien from 21 March 2017 This was primarily due to IFRS
profit before tax of £501 million and other comprehensive Income
of £141 mullion, partially offset by £302 million of dividends paid

as well as £300 million of share purchases under the share
buyback scheme

Qur balance sheet remains strong LTV and weighted average
interest on drawn debt have been reduced since 31 March 2017

At 31 March 2018, our proporticnally consolidated LTV was 28 4%,
down 150 bps from 29 9% at 31 March 2017 due to net disposats,
oftset by the share buyback This s positroned to support investment
into our development pipeline as well as maintain significant
headroom Note 17 of the financial statements sets out the
calcutation of the Group and proportionaily consolidated LTV.

Cash flow. net debt and financing
6. Adjusted net debt’

1,015

353 | The strength of our business s reflected in Briish Land s semor
— (1011 e streng our business is reflecled in s s
el W 200 unsecured credit rating which was upgraded by Fitchto A in
{2067

I February 2018 The tong term issuer default rating was also
" upgraded to 'A-

—
(3
b=3
N
-

14,223) (3,973 B
' We maintained focus on ensuring our debt is cost effective Our
weighied average interest rate 15 at an all ime low of 2 8% driven

by proactive inancing and debt management actions, together
with market rates Qur interest cover has alsoimprovedic 4 Dx at

31 March 2018 from 3 éx at 31 March 2017

Y3'7 Danosals Acaar Doverep-
Stgom e

and

s et TR Gye weighted average debt maturity 1s almost nine years following
’ issuance of the £3060 madlion unsecured Sterling bond, and maturity
of the convertible

#
A
2

" At 31 March 2018, Briish Land has £1 8 bitlion of committed
unsecured revolving bank facilities, £1 2 bilion undrawn These
facilities have maturities of more than two years Based onour
current comrmitments, these facilties and debt matunities, we have
no requirernent to refinance until early 2021

Ve k-l
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notanlie A fon e sopnlermzatany de 05 ares

Net sales reduced debt by £0 8 billion i the year Completed
disposals during the year included the sale of The Leadenhall
Building for £575 mullion {BL share} and, in line with our strategy of
focusing on mutti-let assets, 20 superstores totatling £302 miliion

[BL share) We completed purchases of £206 million during the year, ‘
inctuding The Woolwich Estate |

Further imformation on our approach to financing 1s provided 1n the
Financial policies and principles section of the audited Annual Report
for the year ended 31 March 2018

We ve also spent £122 million on developments and a further |

£87 milian on caprtal expenditure retated to asset management ‘ Chris Grigg
on the standing portfolio The value of comnmitted developrments Chief Executive
15 £572 rmiltion, with £427 million costs to come Speculative

development exposure 1s 4 5% of the portfolio after taking into l

account residential pre-sales There are 578,000 sq it of [

developments in our near term pipeline with anticipated
costs of £436 million
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FINANCIAL POLICIES AND PRINCIPLES

We focus on having an appropriate
balance of debt and equity funding
which enables us to deliver our

property strategy

Leverage

We manage our use of debt and equity finance o balance the benefits
of leverage agamnst the risks, including magnification of property
valuation movernents Alcantovalue ralio [LTV | measures our
leverage, primarly on a proportionally consolidated basis including
our share of joint ventures and tunds and excluding non-controlling
interests At 31 March 2018, our proportionally consolidated LTV
was 28 4% and the Group measure was 22 1% We manage our LTV
through the property cycle such that aur financiat position would
remain rebust inthe event of 2 sigmificant fallin property vatues
This means we do not adjust our approach to leverage based on
changes b property market yields. Consequently, our LTV may be
hugher in the low point n the cycle and will trend downwards as
market yields tighten

Debt finance

The scale of cur business combined with the quality of cur assats
and rental \ncome means that we are able to approach a diverse
range of debt providers to arrange finance on atiractive terms

Good access to the capital and debt markets is a competitive
advantage, allowing us to take advantage of oppertumties when they
arise The Group s approach to debt financimg for British Land 15 1o
raise funds predormmantly on an unsecured basis with our standard
financial covenants [set cut on page 47) This provides Hlexibility

and low cperational cost Our joint ventures and tunds which choose
to have external debt are each financed in ring-fenced structures
without recourse to British Land for repayment and are secured
onitherr relevant assets Presented on the following page are the
five guiding principles that govern the way we structure and
manage debt

Monitoring and controlling our debt

We monitor our debt requirement by focusing principally on current
and projected borrowing levels, available facilities, debl maturity and
interest rate exposure We undertake sensitivity analysis to assess
the impacts of proposed transactions, movemnents in interast rates
and changes in property values on key balance sheet, liquidity and
profiabilily ratics We also consider the risks of a reducthion in the
avallability of finance, including a temporary disruption of the debt
markets Based onour current commutments and available facibties,
the Group has no reguirement to refinance untilearly 2027 British
Land s commuitted bank facilities total £1 8 billon, of which

£1 2 bilion was undrawn at 21 March 2018

Managing intercst rate exposure

We manage our interest rate profile separately from our debt,
considering the sensitivity of underlying earnings to moverments
in market rates ot interest over a five-year period The Board sets
appropriate ranges of hedged debt over that period and the longer
term Our debt finance 15 raised at beth fixed and variable rates

. Derwatives [primanly interest rate swaps and caps] are used to

achieve the desired interest rate profile across proportionally
consobidated net debt At 31 March we had interest rate hedging
on 80% of our debt [spot), and on 60% of our projected debt on
average over the next five years, with a decreasing prohile over
that period The use of derivatives 1s managed by a Derwvatives
Committee The interest rate management of joint ventures and
funds 1s constdered separately by each entity’s Board. taking into
account appropriate factors for its business

ounterpartics
We rmornitor the credit standing of our counterparties to mimimise
risk exposure in placing cash deposits and arrangmg dervatives
Regular reviews are made of the external credit ratings of the
counterparties

Foreign currency
Our policy is to have no material unhedged net assets or liabilities

" denominated in foreign currencies When attractive terms are

available, the Group may choose to borrow in currencies other
than Sterting, and will futly hedge the foreign currency exposure
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Qur five guiding principles

Diversifv
Our Sources
of finance

Phasc
maturity
of debt
portfolio

Maintain
Yiguidity

Maintain
tlexibility

Maintain
strong
balance
shieet
metrics

We rnenitor finance markets and seek to access different sources of finance when the relevant market conditions are
favourable to meet the needs of our business and, where appropriate, thoseg of our joint ventures and funds The scale and
quality of cur business enables us to access a broad range of unsecured and secured, recourse and nen-recourse dept
We develop and matntain long term relattonshiips with banks and debt investors We aim to avotd reliance on particular
sources of funds and borrow from a large number of lenders from different sectors inthe market across a range of
geographical areas, with a total of 30 debt providers in bank faciities and private placements alone We work to ensure
that debt prowiders understand our business, adepting a transparent approach to previde sufficient disclosures to enahle
thern to evatuate their exposure withun the overall context of the Group These factors increase our attractiveness to debt
prowders, and in the tast five years we have arranged £4 1 billion [Brtish Land share £2 6 bilbon) of new iinance in
unsecured and secured bank loan facilities, Stering bonds, US Private Placements and convertible bonds In addiion we
have existing long dated debentures and securttisation bonds A European Medium Term Note programme has also been
rnaintained to enable us to access Sterling/Euro unsecured bond markets when it is appropriate tor our business, this was
used for aur £300 midtion Sterling unsecured bond issuance in September 2017

<4.3bn

toadiave debt prous 1t enaly s oosclidates!

The maturity profile of our debt 1s managed with a spread of repayment dates, reducing cur refinancing risk in respect of
timing and market congittons As a result of our financing activity, we are ahead of our preferred refinancing date horizon
of not less than two years The current range of dett maturities is within one to 20 years n accordance with our usual
practice, we expect to refinance faciities ahead of their maturities

8.6 vears
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tn addition to cur drawn debt, we always aim to have a good {evet of undrawn, committed, unsecured revotving bank
faciiies These facilihes prowde Bnancial bguidity, reduce the need to hold resources in cash and deposits, ang mimmise
costs arising from the difference between borrowtng and deposit rates, while reducing credil exposure We arrange these
revolving credit facilities in excess of our committed and expected reguirements to ensure we have adeguate financing
avaliability to support business requirements angd new opportunities An example of this 1s our recent amendment and
extension of the £735m revolving credit faciity, in advance of its maturity, tor a new five-year term

£1.2bn

ahgraw  rovir g e fac s

Our faciities are structured to provide valuable flextiibity for investment activity execution, whether sales, purchases,
developments or assel management initiatives Our unsecured revolving credit facilities provide full operational fiexibitity
of drawing and repayment land cancellation if we require! at short notice vathout additional cost, These are arranged with
standard terms and financial covenants and generaily have rmaturities of five years Alongside this unsecured revolving
debt our secured term debt in debentures has good asset security substitution rights, where we have the ability to rmove
assets in and out of the security pool

£1.8bn

Lralrevehving “roa o it &5

We use both debt and equity financing We manage LTV through the property cycle such that our fingncral position would
remain robust in the event of a significant fall in property values and we do not adjust our approach to leverage based
on changes i property market yiefds We manage our Inferest rate profile separately from our debt, setting appropriate
ranges of hedged debt over a five-year period and the longer term

Our senior unsecured credit rating {'A7) and tong term IDR credit rating {'A~ | were upgraded by Fitch during the year

2849% A 4.0x

_IVprenor o taily “or sz dated, cerigr Lmsergred creditral rg rierasl Lover [preporticnally co snlidatnd'
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Group borrowings .

Unsecured financing for the Group includes bilateral and syndicated
revolving bank facilities [with initial terms usually of five years, often
extendablel, US Private Placements with maturities up to 2027, the
Sterling unsecured bond rnaturing in 2029, and the convertible bond
maturing in 2020

Secured debt for the Group [excluding debt in Hercules Unit Trust
which is covered under ‘Borrowings int our Joint ventures and funds )
1s provided by debentures with longer maturilies up to 2035

Unsecured Borrowings and covenants

The same financial coveniants apply across each of the Group's
unsecured facilities These covenants, which have been consistently
agreed with all unsecured lenders since 2003, are

- Net Borrowings not to exceed 175% of Adjusted Capial
and Reserves

- Net Unsecured Borrowings net to exceed 70% of
Unencumbered Assets

No income or interest cover ratios apply to these facilities, and there
are no other unsecyred debt financizl covenants in the Group

The Unencumbered Assets of the Group, not subject to any security,
stood at £7 7 billion as at 31 March 2018

Although secured assets are excluded from Unencumbered Assets
for the covenant calculations, unsecured lenders benefit from the
surplus value of these assets above the related debt and the free
cash flow from them During the year ended 31 March 2018, these
assets generated £53 nulbion of surplus cash after payment of
interest inaddition, while investments in joint ventures do not form
part of Unencumbered Assets, our share of free cash flows
generated by these ventures 1s regularly passed up to the Group

Unsecured financial covenants

AT e pE [ 2018
At 31 March . " %
Net borrowings te adjusted
capital and reservas 40 38 34 29 29
Net unsecured borrowings
to unencumbered assets 61 28 29 26 23

Secured borrowings

Secured debt with recourse to British Land 1s provided by debentures
at hixed interest rates with tong maturrties and bmited amortisation
These are secured against a combined pool of assets with common
covenants, the value of those ascets 1s required to cover the amount
of these debentures by a mimimurm of 15 times and net rental mcome
must cover the interest at least once We use our rights under the
debentures to actively manage the assets in the secunity pool, in ling
with these cover ratios We have reduced our debenture debt by
€284 million over the last three years as we continue to focus on
unzecured finance at a Group level, and have reduced the assets
heldin the security pool accordingly

Borrowings in our joint ventures and funds

External debt for our joint ventures and funds has been arranged
through long dated securitisations or secured bank debt, according
to the requirements of the business of each venture

Hercules Uit Trust and its joint ventures have term loan facilities
maturing in 2019 and 2020 arranged for their business and secured
on property perifolios, without recourse to British Land These loans
include LTY ratio iwith maximum levels ranging from 40% to 65%)
andincome based covenants

The securitisations of Broadgate [£1,345 rmyllion), Meadowhail

f€643 mullion] and the Sainsbury's Superstores portfolio

i£251 mitlion), have weighted average maturities of 10 8 years,

91 years and 4 1 years respectively The key financial covenant
applicable 1s to meet interest and scheduled amortisation lequivatent
to T times cover], there are no LTV covenants These securitisations
have quarterly amortisation with the balance outstanding reducing
to approximately 15% to 30% of the oniginal amount raised by

. expected final maturity, thus mitigating refinancing risk

© There s no obligation on British Land to remedy any breach of these

covenants in the debt arrangerment of joint ventures and funds
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Strategic Report

MANAGING RISK (N DELIVERING OUR STRATEGY

Effective risk management is integral
to our objective of delivering
sustainable long term value

British Land core strengths

High quality commercial portfolio focused on London
campuses and multi-let retail centres around the UK
Long term strategy positioning the business to benefit
frorm long term trends

Customer focused approachto respond to

changing Ufestyles

Diverse and high gquality occupier base

High occupancy and secure cash flows

Well balanced and risk managed development pipeline
Execufion of assel management and

development activity

Abality to source and execute attrachve

investment deais

Efficient capital structure with good access

to capital and debt markets

Strong sustamability performance

For Brimsh Land, effective nisk management s a cornerstone

of delivering our strategy and integral to the achievernent of our
objective of delivering sustaimable long term value We maimntain a
comprehensive nsk management process which serves to dentify,
assess and respond to the full range of financial and non-financiat
risks facing our business, including those risks that could threaten
solvency and liquidity, as well as identifying ernerging risks

Our approach is not intended to eliminate risk entirely, but instead
{0 manage our risk exposures across the business, whilst at the
same time making the most of our opportumties

Our risk management framework

Our integrated approach combines a top down strategic view with
a complementary bottom up operational process outlined in the
diagram on the right

The Board has overall responsibility for nsk management with a
particular focus on determining the nature and extent of exposure to
principal fisks it s willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives

The amount of risk we are witling to tahke s assessed in the context of

the core strengths of our business las summanised above) and the
external environment in which we operate - this s our nisk appetite

The Audit Cornmittee takes responsibility for overseeing the
effectiveness of risk management and internal cantrol systems
on behalf of the Brard, and also adwises the Board onthe principal
risks facing the business including those that would threaten its
solvency or liquidity

485 British Land | Annuat Repor | and Accounts 2018

The Executive Directors are responsible for debivering the Company s
strategy, as set by the Board, and managing risk Our risk management
framework categorises our risks into external, strategic and
operational risks The Risk Committee lcomprising the Executive
Dyrectors and senor management across the business) is responsible
{or manaaing the principal risks in each category in order to achueve
our performance goals

Whitst ultimate responstitity for oversight of nisk management
rests with the Board, the effective day-to-day management of risk
ts emnbedded within cur operational business unis and forms an
integral part of how we work This bottom up appreach ensures
potential risks are identified at an early stage and escalated as
appropriate, with mitigatrons put mn place to manage such risks
Each business unit maintams a comprehensive risk register
Changes to the register are reviewed quarterly by the Risk
Commuttee, with significant and emerging nsks escalated

1o the Audit Committee

To read more about the Board and Audit Commuitee s risk oversight,
see pages 67, 72 and 73

Top down
Strategrc risk management

Bottom up
Operational risk management

Review external
environment
Robust assessment
of pnincipal risks

Assess effectiveness
of nsk managerment

aumRL, <,
i 1[ i systerms
Set risk appetite LI TTEL -
and parameters Report on princrpal rsks
= and uncertainties
Determine strategic
aclion points o
Identify principat risks Consider completeness
- of identified ncks
Direct delivery of RED and adequacy of
strategic actions in Lol b mutigating actions
line with nisk appetite "RLE{ UJ;‘}‘ z
- © Consider aggregation
Monitor key of riek exposures
risk indcators across the business
Execute strategic Report current and
actions emerging rnske
_ BUGNE LS -
LN TS identrfy, evaiuate and

Report on key
Flek ndicators mitigate operatianal risks

- e recorded inrisk register



Our risk appetite

Changein risk
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Cur risk appetite 1s reviewed annually as part of the annual strategy
review process and approved by the Board This evaluation guides
the actions we take in executing our strategy We have identified

a suite of Key Risk indicators [KRIs) to monstor the risk profile

las summarised abovel. which are reviewed guarterly by the Risk
Committee, to ensure that the activities of the business rematn
within our risk appetite ang that our risk exposure i1s well matched
to changes in our busimess and our markets These include the
most signilicant judgements affecting our risk exposure, including
our investment and development strategy. the tevel of occupational
and development exposure and our financial leverage

The Board consigers the risk appetite annually and has concluded it
15 broadly unchanged from last yesr and 15 appropriate to achieve our
strategic objectives Our strategy, which s based onlong term trends,
endures, and our hnancial capacity, flexibibity and optionality enable
us to adjust to the evolving political and economic uncertainties

During the year we have maintamed a balanced approach te rick
Weve had a strong focus on capilal discipline, demonstrated by
selling £1 3 billion of mature and off-strategy assets, reinvesting
partly in our share buyback programme, selective scquisittons and
profitable development, whilst reducing our LTV further to 28 4%

We have substantial headroom and operational optionality 1o continue
to progress cur unigue development pipeline, Including at Canada
Water, whilst at the same time carefully rmanaging our risk profile

Our risk focus

The external environment remains ditficult, and the Board is
continuing to monitor the potential risks associated with the UK
leaving the European Union ['Brexit | As exit negotiations are
ongomng, the final outceme remains unclear andtis toc earty to
understand fully the impact Brexit will have on our business and
our markets The main impact of Brexitis the potential negative
impact on the macre-economic environment, but it could also
impact our investment and occupier markets, our ability to execute
our nvestment strategy and our mcome sustamability

During the year, the Risk Commuttee hias focused on some key
operational nsk areas across the business and has undertaken
deep dive reviews into specific areas of nisk including

- Data pretection [GDPR} and iImptementing a projact to manage
personal data appropriately

- Retailer tenant risk and manaqing our expoesure to indvidual
custorners or sectors in ight of a more chatlengmg market
backdrop

- Enhancing cur crisis management strategy for both physical
and cyber risks including a simulation exercise for senior
management

- Management of health and safety and environmental risks across
the portfolio In particular, fabric investigations were carried
out on our entire portfolio fotlowing the Grenfell Tower fire
Our Health and Safely management system was re-certified
under BS OHSAS 18001

. - ldentifying and managng key supplier relaticnships and the

launch of our Supplier Code of Conduct

49
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Steategic Repore

MANAGING RISKIN DELIVERING OUR STRATEGY CONTINUED

Our principal risks and assessment and regulatory outlook, commercial property investor demand,

Our risk management framework is structured around the | sccupier dernand including tenant default and the risk te our income
principal rigks facing British Land The Audit Committee on behalf sustainability Qne risk, capital structure, 1s considered to have

of the Board has undertaken a robust assessment of the principal reduced reflecting our lower leverage

risks and uncertamties that the business is exposad to 1n bght of
the long term trends we are facing lsee page 12), together with the

The principal risks are summarised beiow land detalled on pages 52
chailenging backdrop of pelitical and economic uncertainty Whilst to 55}, including an assessment of the potential iImpact and tikelihood
the nature and type of the principal risks are considered to be . and how the rsks have changed in the year, together with how they
unchanged from the prewvious year, several of our printipal nisks are relate to our strategic prionities

elevatad las shown by the risk heat map below], being the political |

Qur risk assessment

Change o
Key strategic inrisk ‘
Principal priorities assessment i
risks atfected inyear

External risks |
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Other group risks

In addition to our principal risks, there are also a nurmnber of ether These risks comprise

risks that are targely operational in nature and are managed - Operating model inciuding - Effective control
centrally with appropriate processes and mitigation plans in place reliance on third parties environment
- Culture ~ Fraud and corruption
- Information systems and - Cormpliance and legal
cyber security framework

~ Supply chamm management
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Viability statement

Assessment of prospects

The Group's annual corporate planning process includes the
completion of a strategic review, reassessing the Group s nisk
appetite and updating the Group s farecasts

The Group's strategy provides the focus for our annual priorities
and s formally reviewed annually This process s led by the Chief

Executive through the Executive Comimitiee and includes the active .

engagement of the Board Part of the Board s role 15 to consider
whether the strategy takes appropriate account of the Group s
principal risks The latest updates to the strategic plan snd
Group s risk appetite were approved by the Board in March 2018

The strategy and risk appetite drive the Group s forecasts These
cover a five-year period and consist of a base case forecast which
mcludes committed transactions only, and a forecast which also
ncludes non-committed transactions the Board expects the
Group to make in iine with the Group s strategy A five-year
forecast s considered to be the optimal batance between the
Growp s long term business model to create Places People Prefer
and the fact that property investmentis a leng term business
lwith weighted average lease lengths and debt maturities in
axcess ot five years), offset by the progressively unretiable nature
of forecasting in later years, particularly given the historically
cyclical nature of the UK property industry

Assessment of viability

For the reasons cutlined above, the period over which the
Directors conaiger it feasible and appropriate to report on
the Group s viability 15 the five-year period to 31 March 2023

The assumptions underpinning these forecast cash flows and
covenant compliance forecasts were sensitised to explore the
resilience ot the Group 1o the potentiat impact of the Group s
significant rigks, or a combination of those risks

The principal risks table which follows on pages 3210 55
summarises those matters that coutd prevent the Group from
delivering on its strategy A number of these principal nsks,
because of their nature or potential impact, could also threaten
the Group's ability to continue in business in its current form if
they were to accur

The Directors paid particular attention to the risk of a downturn

in ecenomic outlook which could impact property fundamentals,
inctuding investor and occupler demand which weould have a
negative impact on valuations, and give rise to a reduction in the
avallabiity of finance The rematning principal risks, whilst having
an impact on the Group s business model, are not considered by
the Directors to have a reasonable Ukelibood of impacting the
Group s viability over the five-year period to 31 March 2023

| The sensitivities performed were designed to be severe but

| plausible. and to take full account of the avallability of mitigating
actions that could be taken to avold or reduce the impact or
occurrence of the underlying risks relating to a "downturn scenario’

- Downturnin economic outlook key assumptions including
cccupancy, void periods, rental growth and yields were
sensitised in the downturnscenario to reflect reasonably
likely levels associated with an economic downturn, including

| - areductioninoccupler demand, with a fallin cccupancy rate

, of 5% and ERV declines of 6%

i - areductionininvestment property demand to the level ceen

In the last severe downturn in 2008/2002, with outward yield

! shift to 8% net initial yield

\

|

- Restricted availability of finance based on the Group s current

commitments and available facibties there i1s no requirerment
1o refimance until early 2021 In the normal course of business,
financing is arranged in advance of expected requirements
and the Directors have reasonable confidence that addrtional
or replacernent debt facilities will be putin place Inthe
downturn scenario, the following sensitivity of this
assumption was conducted
- areductioninthe availlability of finance, for the final two

| years of the five-year assessment peried from early 2621

| alongside the Group s refinancing date

The outcome of the downturn scenano was that the Group s
. covenant headroom based on existing debt [1 e the level by which
" investment property values would have to fall before a financial
covenant breach occurs) decreases from the current 60% to, at its
" lowest level, 22%, indicating covenants on existing facilities would
" not be breached

In the 'downturn scenano, rmtigating actions would be required
to enable the Group to meet its future labilities, including through
asset sales, which would allow the Group to continue to meet its
Liabitities over the assessment period

Viability statement

Having considered the forecast cash flows angd covenant

compliance and the impact of the sensitivities in combination

in the downlurn scenarig’, the Directors confirm that they have

a reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue

i operation and meet 1ts Liabilities as they fall due over the period
© to 31 March 2023

Going concern

The Directors also considered it appropriate to prepare the
+ financial statements on the going concern basis, as explained
' in the Governance review

I
(:JED Tooendc oo o0 Dogaa on et wman g, ¢
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PRINCIPAL RISKS

External risks

Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in the vear

Economic The UK economic climate

outlook and future movements in
Interest rates present

Responsible risks and opportunities e

executive: property and financing

Sl ating markets and the

businesses of our
customers which can
impact both the delivery
of our strategy and

our frrancral
performance

Significant political events
and regulatory changes,
including the decision to
leave the EU, bring risks
principally in two areas.

Political
and regulatory
outlook

Responsible
executive
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Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the rish

Change jn risk assessment in the vear

Occupier
demand

and tenant
defaule
Responsible
executives

U 2= Moats"uy,

Tt e ls

Availability
and cost
of finance

Responsible
executives:

latastrophic
business
event
Responsible

executive-
[EEREI

Underlying income, -
rental growth and capital
performance could be
adversely affected by
weakening occupier
demand and accupier
failures resulting from
variations in the health

of the UK economy and
correspending weakening
of consumer ¢enfidence,
business activity and
investment.

Changing consurnerand _

business praciices
including the growth cf
internet retailing, flexible
ek e <y

LTIy

e pra vz

A e -

O R RN I
N

AN

Reduced availability of -
finance may adversely
impact ahility to refinance
debt and/or drive up cost.
These factors may also
result inweaker investor
demand for real estate.

Regulation and capttal

costs of lenders may -

increase cost of hinance

Anexternal eventsuch =~ -
as a civil emergency,
including a large-scale
lerrorist attack, cyber -
crime, extreme weather
occurrence,
environmental disaster
or power shortage could
severely disrugt global
markets [including
property and finance) and -
cause sigmficant damage
and disruption to British
Land's portfolic and
operations.
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ategic Report

PRINCIPAL RISKS CONTINUED

Internal risks

Rishs and impacts

How we monitor and manage the rick

Change in risk assessment in the vear
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Risks

and impacts

How we monitor and manage the risk

Change in risk asscssment in the vear
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We have created a woodland walkway outside 2 Kingdom
Street and enlivened the space (nside with independent
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Governanee

BCARD GF DIRECTORS

Our Board develops strategy

and leads British Land to
achieve long term success

Non-Executive Chairman and Executive Directors

John Gildersleeve ®

Non-Executive Chairman

Appomted as a Non-Executive Director in September 2008 and as
Charrman in January 2013

Skilts and experience: John s deputy chairman of TalkTalk Telecom
Group PLC John also serves as chairman of Noble Foods Ltd He
was formerly deputy chairman and semior independent director of
Spire Healthcare Group ple, chairman of EM! Group and Gallaher
Group and chairman of Carphone Warehouse Group Inow Dixons
Carphone plc] He was also a non-executive director of Lloyds TSB
Bank PLT, Vodafone Group and Pick n Pay Stores [South Africal
and an executive director of Tesco plc

Jharles Maudsley
Head of Retail, Leisure & Residential
Appointad to the Board in February 2010
Skilts and experience: Charles joined British Land 1n 2010 from
La5alle Investment Management where he was Co-Head of Europe,

Managing Director of the UK business, a mmember of the Managerment

Board and an International Director Prior to joining LaSalle, he was

with AXA Real Estate Investment Management for seven years where

he was Head of Real Estate Fund Management in the UK

British Land | Annual Repor t and Accounls 7018

Chris Grigg

Chief Executive

Appointed 1o the Board in January 2009

Skills and experience: Chris has more than 30 years experience
in the real estate and financiat industries 1n a range of leadership
rotes Until November 2008, Chris was chief executive of Barclays
Cornmercial Bank, having Joined Barclays in 2005 Prior to that,

. Chris spent over 20 years at Goldman Sachs, latterly as a partner

'

Chris 15 a non-executive director of BAE Systemns plc, a board
member of both the British Property Federation and the European
Public Real Estate Assaciation and mernber of the 30% Club

Tim Roberts

Head of Offices

Apponted to the Board in July 2006

Skills and experience: Before joining Briish Land in 1997 Tim was
a partner at Orwvers Jonas, in the investment Agency team Hewas
formerly a non-exacutive director of Songbird Estates Tim s also

a Trustee of LandAid, the property industry charity, and chair of therr
Grants Committee and 15 a board member of the Westminster

! Property Association



Non-Executive Directors

Wiltiam Jackson O

Senior independent Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Directorin Aprit 2011 and Sentor
independent Director in July 2017

Skills and experience: Wiiliam 15 managing partner of Bridgepoint,
ohe of Furope s leading private equity groups, which fie has led since
200t He also serves as chairman of the board of Pret A Manger and
president of Dorna Sports SL [the rights holder to the Moto GP world
motorcycling championships] He has served on a range of boards
guring tus career, including Hamptons Group Limited and Alliance
Medical Holdings Limited, and has extenswve operational and
transaction experience

A

Alastair tHlughes
Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Directorin January 2018

Skills and experience. Alastair 15 a fellow of the Royal Institute of
Chartered Surveyors He s a non-executive directer of Schroders
Real Estate Investment Trust Lirnited and has over 25 years of
experience in global real estate markets He s aformer director of
Jones Lang LaSatte In¢ {JLL] having served as managing director
of JLL inthe UK as chief execufive for Europe, Middle East and
Asta and then as regienal CED for Asia Pacific

Lynn Gladden -

Nen-Executive Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Directorin March 2015

Skills and experience: Lynn 15 Shetl Protessor of Chermicat
Engineering at the University of Cambridge and will take up the
role of Executive Chair of the Enaineering and Physical Sciences
Research Councilin October 2018 Lynn is also a commissioner
of the Royal Cemmuission for the Exhibition of 1851, a fellow of
both the Royal Society and the Royal Academy of Engineering,
and a non-executive director of IP Group plc Lynnwas pro-vice-

. chancellor for research at Cambridge until the end of 2012

Nicholas Macpherson A

Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in December 2076

Skills and experience: Nicholas 1s chairman of C Hoare & Co and

" a director of The Scottish American Investrnent Company PLC

He alsp serves as a crossbencher in the House of Lords, a visiting
Professor at King s College Lendon and a Trustee of the Royat Mint

. Museum Nicholas was the Permanant Secretary to the Treasury for

over [0 years from Z005 to March 2016, teading the department through
the financial crisis and the subsequent period of banking reform

He joined the Treasury in 1983 and held 2 number of roles prior to

his appointrnent as Permanent Secretary Nicholas trained as an
economist and has worked at the £B1 and Peat Marwick Consulting

British Land : Anntal Kepor Cand Aceonnt - 2018 59



Governance

BOARD OF DIRECTORS CONTINUED

Non-Executive Directors '

Preben Prebensen - ¢ Tim Seore @ ¥

Non-Executive Director J Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in September 2017 Appointed as a Non-Executive Oirector in March 2014

Skills and experience: Preben I5 group chief executive of Close Skills and experience: Tim 15 3 non-executive director of Pearson ple
Brothers Group plc He spent over 23 years in a number of serwor and HM Treasury. sits on the board of trustees of the Royal National

pesitions at JP Morgan Preben was previously chiet executive Theatre, and s chairman of the Football Association & audit

of Wellington Underwriting ple from 2004 to 20046, and then | committes He was formerly chief hinancial officer of ARM Heldings
chief investment officer and a member of the group executive " PLC and held senior financial positions at Rebus Group Lirmited,
cornrittee at Catlin Group Limited I Willam Baird pic, LucasVarity pic and BTR ple From 2005 to 2014,

| he was a non-execytive director of National Express Group PLC,
including time as interim chairman and six years as senior
| independent director

Laura Wade-Gery - ~ Rebeeea Worthingron A
Non-Executive Director | Non-Executive Director

Appomted as a Non-Executive Director in May 2015 [ Appeinted as @ Non-Executive Director in January 2018

Skills and experience: Rebecca is group chief financial officer of
Partnership plc, & non-executive director and chair of the remurneration | Countryside Propertres PLL She spent 15 years at Quintain Estates
committee of immunocore Limited, a trustee of the Royal Opera ‘ and Developrment PLC, first as finance director and latterly as deputy
House, a director of Snape Maltings Trading Limited and a member ( chief executive Rebecca was a non-executive director and chair of

Skills and experience: Laura is a non-executive director of John Lewis

of the Government Digital Strategy Advisory Board Between Jfuly the audit cormnmittee at Hansteen Holdings pic until 20 March 2018,
2011 and September 2016, Laura was executive director Multy | and a non-executive director of Aga Rangemaster Group plc to
Channel at Marks and Spencer Group plc Previously, Laura Seplembper 2015 Rebecca qualified as a chartered accountant
served in a number of senior positions at Tesco PLC and was with PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

a non-executive directer of Trimty Mirror plc [
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Incoming fixecutive Director | Company Secretary
|
|

Simon Carter Brona McKeown

Chief Financial Gfficer General Counsel and Company Secretary

Appomtment date 21 May 2018 Appointed as General Counsel and Company Secretary in

Skills and experience: Simon joins 8ritish Land from Logicor, the January 2018

owner and cperator of European logistics real estate, where he has Skills and experience: Before joiming British Land, Brona was
served as chief financial officer since January 2017 Prior to joining . General Counsel and Company Secretary of The Co-cperative
Logicor, from 2015 to 2017 Simon was finance director at Quintain i Bank plc for four years as part of the restructuring executive team

Estates & Development Ple Simnon previously spent over 10 years with  Immediately prior to that she was Interirn General Counsel and
British Land, working 1n a variety of inancial and strateqic roles andwas  Secretary at the Coventry Building Society Until October 2011,

a member of our Executive Commuttee from 2012 untit s departure  + Brona was Global General Counsel of the Corporate division of
in January 2015 Simon also previousty worked for UBSn fixed income  Barclays Bank plc, having joined Barctays in 1998 Brona trained
and qualified as a chartered accountant with Arthur Andersen Simon  and spent a number of years at atarge City law firm

holds a degree in econemics from the University of Camnbridge

Directors” core areas of expertise!

Property

Changes to the Board

Lucinda Bell Stood down as Executive Director and I
Chief Financial Otficer on 19 January 2018 | Finance
Aubrey Adams Retired as Nor-Executive Direcior | Retait and consurmer
on 21 December 2017 ! Acadernic
Simon Borrows Retired as Non-Executive Director Public sector
on 18 July 2017
Lord Turnbull Retired as Non-Executive Director Vospre e e ettt e g e Gl

on 18 July 2017

Board Committee membership key
Ad Lt b e ot a e fene e

Sotonab o Tame e e P 0Tar cre Boarn Teoonoct o
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Governanee

CHAIRMAN'S GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Welcome to the Corporate
Governance and Remuneration
sections of our Annual Report

. would like to thank Lucinda for her commitment to British Land

! for over 25 years, six years of which were as an Executive Director,
and wish her all the very best for the future We look forward to
welcormng Stmon Carter as an Executive Director and Chief
Financial Officer when he joins the Group on 21 May 2018

i should also Like to take this opportunity to thank our Non-Executive
Directors who retired during this year The diligence and commutment
shown by Aubrey Adams, Simon Borrows and Lord Turnbull during
thetr long tenure have been exemplary and have contributed to the
good governance of the Group

jam pleased to present the Corporate Governance Report for the
year ended 31 March 2018. During the year we also welcomed three new Non-Executive
Directors Preben Prebensen, Alastair Hughes and Rebecca
The Board's responsibility for leading the Company and everseeing | Worthington and | look forward 1o working closely with them
the governance of the Group continues to be supported by & robust " over the coming years All Directors in role at 31 March 2018 will
structure which allows for constructive debate and challenge by its | stand for election or re-etection at the 2018 AGM

members This approach enables the Directors to make effective
decisions, at the right time and based on the nght information

This year, we appointed Independent Board Evaluation (IBE] ta
undertake the triennial externally facilnated Board evaluation

As I mentionn my siatement on pages 4 and 5, our level of Details of the process undertaken and a surnmary of the outcomes
thoughtful activity and the resiience of our strategy set Brtish Land ~ are set out on page 66 However, | am pleased to report here that the

apart We take this thoughtfulness and cons:deration into our | review conctuded that your Board, its Commitees and 1ts indwidual
governance structure and | recently asked that a review of our ‘ members continue to operate effectively and with due diligence
governance policies be undertaken 1o ensure that they remain We fully intend toimplement the recornmendations made by IBE
appropriate for our business and in line with best market practice | and we will report on progress in the 2012 Annual Report
Governance underpins the way in which the business of the Group \ The Board also reviewed and approved a new Diversity and Inctusion
is managed, our behavigur and our corporate culture, This year, Policy this year Further detail on this is grven in the Normination

we are reporting against the 2016 UK Corporate Governance Code
{the Code} avallable st www.frc.org.uk [ am pleased to report that
the Board has continued to apply good governance and considers
that the Company has complied with the provisions of the Code All Directors will attend this year's AGM which wilt again provide
throughout the year an opportunity for alt shareholders to hear more about our
performance during the year and to ask questions of the Board
The following Corporate Governance Report, including the reports | Hock forward towelcoming you on 17 July 2018

of the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Comrmittees, outlines
how the Company has applied the Code’'s principles and provisions

Comrnittee Report on pages 74 10 75 and in the Social and
environmental reporting section on page 30

| -
Board changes ‘
As mentioned on page 5, the Board has continued to evelve during
the year with a number of changes 1o its memberstp Lucnda Bell | John Gildersleeve

stepped down as an Executive Director and as Chief Financial Officer ‘ Non-Executive Chairman
on 19 January 2018, and teft British Land on 4 April 2018

|
|
|
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GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Our governance structure is
an integral part of the way we
design and deliver our strategy

Leadership

The Board

As at 31 March 2018 the Board comprised the Chairman, sight
independent Non-Executive Directors and three Executive Directors
Biographtes of the Directors are set out on pages 58 to 61 and include
detalls ot the skills and experience each brings to the Board

Our rigorous and transparent procedures for appointing new
Directors are led by the Nomination Commuittee Non-Executive
[hrectors are appointed for specified terms and all continuing
Directors offer themselves for election or re-election by sharehciders
at the AGM each year prowided the Board, on the recornmendation of
the Neminatien Committee, deems it appropriate that they do so

The composition of the Board 1s fundamental to 1ts success n

Role of the Board

The Board has reserved key decisions and matters for its own
approvai, including its core responsibilities of setting the Group s
strategic direction, overseeing the delivery of the agreed strategy,
managing risk and establishing the cutture, values and standards

of the Group as a whele Matters below the financial Limit set by the
Board are delegated to a committee of any two Executive Directors
with all decisions taken reported to the next following Board meeting

The Board culture 1s one of apenness and constructive debate, the
Directors are able to voice their opinions in a relaxed and respectful

- environment, altowing coherent discussion When running Board

providing strong and effective teadercship The Normination Commuttee

1s responsible for reviewing the composition of the Beard and its
Committees and ascessing whether the balance of skills,
experience, knowledge and diversity is appropriate to enable
themn to operate effectively

Board of Directors (a» at 31 March 2018}

v/

We continue to have a strong mix of experienced individuals on the
Board The majority are independent Non-Executive Directors who
are not enly abte to offer an externat perspective on the business, but
also constructively challenge the Executive Directors, particularly
when developing the Company s strategy The Non-Executive
Directors scrutinise the performance of management i meeting
their agreed goals and objectives, and monitor the reporting of

that performance

The high calibre of debate and the participation of all Directors,
Executive and Non-Executive, In 1ts meetings allows the Board to
uiilise the experience and skills of the individual Directors to their
maxmum potential and make decisions that are in the best
interests of the Company

meetings, the Chairman maintains a collaborative atmosphere and
ensures that all Directors contribute to the debate The Chairman
also arranges informal meetings and events throughout the year (o
help build constructive relationships between the Board members
and the senior management team

The Chairman meets with indmdual Directors outside formal
Board meetings to allow for open, twe-way discussion about the

- effectiveness of the Board, its Committees and its members

The Charrman is therefore abte to remaimn mundfut of the views
of the individual Directors

Division of respunsibtlities

There s a clear wntten division of responsibilities betwaen the
Chairman {who 15 responsible fer the leadership and effectiveness of
the Board] and the Chief Executive fwho 15 responsible for managing
the Company's business]

The Board has delegated authority for the day-to-day management
of the business to the Chief Executive, with specific areas of the
business being managed by the other Executive Directors The

" Executive Directors are imwolved in, or aware of, all major activities

and are therefore extremely well placed to ensure that any decisions
align with the Group s agreed strategy

The Executive Directors make decizsions within predefined
parameters delegated by the Board, although any proposal may still
pe taken to the full Board for consideration and approval where this
1s considered appropriate, even If they fall within those parameters

Three standing Committees have been established the Audit,
Neomination and Remuneration Committees, to which certain powers
have been delegated Membership of each of these Committees s
comprised solely of Independent Non-Executive Directors The reports
of these three standing Committees are set out on pages 69 to 91

Management Committees have also been established to make
recommendations on matters delegated tc them by the Board,
its standing Committees or the Executive Directors

This governance structure [set out on the following page} ensures
that the Board 1 able to focus on strategic proposals, major
transactions and governance matters which atfect the long term
success of the business
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Governance

GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Governanee structure

Board of Directors
Oevelops strategy and leads British Land to achieve long term success, determimes the risks British Land faces, the tevel of risk it
i prepared to take to achieve its strategy and ensures that systemns of risk managerment and control are 10 place It also provides
leadership and governance for the Company as a whole, having regard to the views of chareholders
and other stakeholders

The Board has reserved certain matters to 1ts own approval [see www.britishland.com/governance] with others being delegated
to Board or Management Committees as appropriate

Audit Committee
Oversees financial and narrative
reporting, provides assurance on the
effectiveness of internal control. risk

Nomination Committee
Leads process for Board
appointments and succession
planning. ensures that Board and

Remuneration Committee
Sets the Executive Directors’
Remuneration Policy and the

remuneration of the Chairman and

management systems and audit
processes, reviews the effectiveness
and objectivity of external and
internal auditors

Sesrrnotton poyes S0 7T

senior management have appropriate
skills, knowledge and experience to
operate effectively and deliver
strategy, reports on diversity
TR

S renuctor page

hief Executive and Executive Directors

Executive Directors, approves annuat
and tlong term performance
objectives and awards
S ELOrtuT Lo - A0

Overall responsibility for day-ta-day management of the bustness and implementatton of approved strategy
lies with the Chief Executive with specific areas of the husiness managed by the other Executive Directors

Executive Commiittee

An adwisory committee that operates under the direction and teadership of the Chiel Executive Membership comprises
all Executive Directors and senior management from across the business Considers day-to-day operationat and
financial performance, performance of the Group s assets and overall development programme

lnvestment Committee
Reviews, approves or recormnmends
significant transactiens including
acquisitions, disposals and
developments of assets up to
an agreed financiat bmit

Risk Commuttee

Oversees managernent and reporting

of strategic and operational risks, -
recormnmends appropriate risk
appetite leveis and momitors risk
exposure, reviews gperation of risk

Health, Safety and
Environment Committee
Drives actions in pursuit of the
Company s health and safety and
environmental stewardship goals and

reviews performance agamnst actions

rnanagement processes

Sustainability Committee
Monitors performance and progress
aganst sustainability targets and key

initiatives, assessing emerging
social, ethical and environmentat
issues, associaied risks and
mitigating actions

Community Investment Committee
Oversees the strategic management
of the Community Investment Fund
and approves and manstors all
related spend
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Strategy days
The Board held its annual offsite strategy event during March 2018
The strategy days are structured to provide the Directors, and the

Nor-Executive Direciors in particular, with an opportunity to focus on
the developrment of, and challenge to, the Group s corporate stralegy

The format of the 2018 event was different from prior years with one
entire session given over to the consideration of key questions on

future direction To stimulate this conversation, 3 number of external |

speakers were invited to the session held earlier 1h the day and to the

following dinnerin order to give a wider social and economic context
to discussions

Board meetings
Reguiar Board gnd Commuttes meetings are scheduled throughout

the year and the Directors ensure that they atlocate sufficient time to

discharge thetr duties effectively Occasionally, Board meetings may
be held at short notice when Board-level decisions of a ime-critical
nature need 1o be made

The table below sets out the changes that have taken place to the
Board, together with detaits of each Director's attendance at Board
meelings during the year ended 31 March 2018

-
IR

5opintnoent

Director SLTALe 27T

John Gilderslesye 7/8
Chris Grigg a/8
Charies Maudsley 8/8
Tim Roberts 8/8
Lynn Sladden 8/8
Alastair Hughes, 01 Jan 2018 3/3
Wiltiam Jackson 8/8
Nicholas Macpherson 78
Preben Prebensen 01 Sep 2017 5/5
Tim Score 8/8
Laura Wade-Gery 8/8
Rebecca Worthinglon 01 Jan 2018 2/3
Former Directors

Lucinda Bell 19 Jan 2018 5/6
Aubrey Adams 31 Dec 2017 5/5
Simon Borrows 18 Jul 2017 2/3
Lord Turnbull 16 Jul 2017 2/3

Absences at Board meetings were due to commitments predating
joining the Board, iliness or unavailability for meetings held at
short notice

The Board agenda s et by the Chairman, in conjunction with the
Chief Executive and Company Secretary Each scheduled meeting
inctudes a Managerment Report delivered by the Chief Executive and

regular updates en the activities of various standing and management

Committees Discussions also take place on strategic proposals,
major acquisitions, disposals and developments and legal and
governance matters

During the year ended 31 March 2018 particular areas considered
by the Board, elther directly or foliowing receipt of reports from its
standing Commttees, include

- Outcomes of the annual strategy days and progress towards
agreed outcomes

- Consideration and approval of risk appetite and the principal
risks faced by the Company

~ Use of capital and the implementation of @ £300 millien share
buyback programme

- Launch of the Fiexible Workspace brand {Storey)

- Review of the outcome of a multi-agency crisis management
exercise at one of British Land s assets

- Results of the externally facilitated Board performance evatuation

~ Approval of full year and hatf year financial results, the Annual
Report and the Notice of AGM

- Declaration of guarterly interrm dividends

- Diversity and gender pay

- Cyber secunity and information technology

* - Preparations for the General Data Protection Regulation

bwhich comes into force in May 2018)
- Health and safety compliance
- Governance review
Sustamabidity

Care s taken to ensure that informaticn 1s circulated i good time
before Board and Committee meetings, and that papers are
presented clearly and with the appropriate level of detal to enable
the Board tc discharge its duties All papers are circulaied one week

prior to meetings and clearly marked as being For Decision or
For Information” To enhance the delivery of Board and Commuites
papers the Board uses a Board portal and tablets which provide a
secure and efficient process for meeting pack distribution Under
the drection of the Chairman, the Company Secretary faciiiates
effective iInformation flows between the Board and its Committees,
and between senior management and Non-Executive Directors

in March 2018 the Board undertook a site visit to Meadowhaltin
Sheffield, a joint venture asset with Norges Bank Investment
Management Since the Board last visited in 2015, a £60 miltten
refurbishment had been undertaken, creating 3 go-to space

. providing oulstanding customer experiences As well as reviewing

the results of the refurbishment, the Board considered the next
phase of the Meadewhall development programme including the
delivery of the Leisure Hall where we have secured a resotution to

grant planning consent from Sheffield City Counail

Effectiveness

Board induction
On appointment all Directors whether Executive or Non-Executive
recenve a comprehensive induction Each new Director 1s invited to

| meet the General Counsel and Company Secretary or Head of
© Secretariat to discuss ther induction in detatl, fotlowing which the

programme s tallored specificalty to ther requirements and adapted
to refiect their existing knowledge and experience

Each induction programme would ordinanily include

- Meetings with the Chairman, Executive Directars, Committee
Chatrmen, externat auditor or rermuneration consultants
las appropriate)
Information on the corporate strategy, the investment strategy,
the inancial position and tax matters including detaits of the
Company s REIT status]

- Anoverview of both Retait and Offices portfolios prowded
by members of the senior management team

- Visitsto key assets During 2017 and 2018 these included visits
to Broadgate, Canada Water, Meadowhall and Paddington
Details of Board and Committes procedures and Directors
responsibilities
Detaile on the investor relations programme

- Information on the Company's approach to sustainability

All induction documents are made available cnour secure electronic
Board portal and are therefore availabie to Directors both during and
after therr induction
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Goverpanee

GOVERNANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

Training and development

The Chairman and Company Secretary agree what Board wide
training or development may be appropriate During the year ended
31 March 2018, the Board considered papers and presentations on
tegal and regulatory developments, technology opportunitees or
challenges and sustainabiity-related developments as well as
receiving regular briefings on the views of stakeholders and the
exfernal environment

Directors are also entitled to seek independent advice in relation to
the pertormance of their duttes at the Company s expense, subject
to having first notified the Chairman or the Company Secrefary

Commitment

Non-Executive Directors’ letters of appoiniment set out the time
commitments expected from them Foliowing consideration, the
Normination Commuttee has concluded that all the Non-Executive
Directors continue to devote sufficient bme to discharging their
duties to the required high standard

British Land’s policy = to allow Executive Directors to take one
non-executive directorship at ancther FTSE company. subject to
Board approval External appomntments of the Executive Directors
are disclosed in ther blographies Any fees earned by the Executive
Directors are disclosed on page 87 of the Remuneration Report

Conflicts of interest

The Directors are required to avoid a situation m which he or she
has, or can have, a direct or tndiwect conflict with the interests of
the Company The Board has established a procedure whereby

the Directors are required te notify the Chairman and the Company
Secretary of all new outside interests and actual or perceived
conflicts of interest that may affect them in their roles as Directors
of Britrsh Land All potentiat conflicts of interest are authorised by
the Beoard at the earliest opportunity and the register of Directors’
mterests 1o reviewed by the full Board at least annually

The Board alsc reviews the Directors Interests Policy on an annual
basis Following the last review in November 2017, the Goard
concluded that the policy continued to operate effectively

Re-election

The Board has reviewed the Nomination Committee s assessment
of whether each Non-Executive Director rernains independent in
character and judgement and whether there are rejationships or
crrcumstances which are ikely to affect, or could appear to affect,
that judgemnent As a resull, the Board as a whole considers that
each of the Non-Executive Directors 1s independent, 1s of the stature
and has the required experience to perform fis or her role as an
independent Director The results of the externally facilitated Board
evaluation alao confirm the Beoard s belief that each Non-Executive
Birector standing tor election or re-election at the 2018 AGM
remains committed to their role within British Land and confinues
to perform etfectively
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Board evaluation
During the year, the effectiveness of the Board and s Committees
was conducted by Independent Board Evaluation (iBE]

Stage 1
October 2017
IBE met with the Chairman to discuss and agree
the focus of the evaluation

~

Stage 2
November 2017
IBE attended Board and Committee meetings

\/‘

Stage 3
February 2018
individual interviews held with each Beard Director,
the Company Secretary and the Head of Secretariat

\/

Stage 4
March 2018
|BE attended further Board and Commitiee meetings

'\/

Stage
March 2018
Draft report discussed with Chaitman prior to hinglisation
and presentation to the whole Board

\/

Stage é
March/April 2018 - post Board presentation
\BE prowvided feedback to the Chairmen of the Audit, Normination
and Remuneration Committees on the performance of each
Comrmittee The performance of the Chairman was also
discussed with the Serior Independent Oirector who
subsequently met with the other Non-Executive Directors to
further consider the Chairman s perfermance, taking into
account the views of the Executive Directors

in addition to the formal Board evaluation, the Board Chairman
met each Non-Executive Director individually during the year to
discuss theyr contribution to the Board

Qutcomes

Overall, the evaluation report from IBE reflected well on the
Board lts members are seen as engaged and commutted white
the Board s culture remans open, respectfut and constructive

{BE made a number of recommendations to the Baard, based
on the Board s own suggestions, including

- Increasingthe Board s interactionwith the wider
management team

- Working to define Board values in conjunction with the
Company values and take forward the Board's work on
culture and employee engagement

~ Using informal Board sessions to enable alighment around
complax or evolving issues

The Board intends to implement the recommendations made
by IBE and will report on progress n the 201¢ Annual Report

IBE has no other connection with Britsh Land



Accountability

Financial and business reporting

The Beoard 1s responsible for preparing the Annual Report and
confirms i the Directors responsibility statement set out on page 95
that they believe that the Annual Repert, taken as a whole, is fair,
balanced and understandable, and provides the information
necessary fo assess British Land - position, performance, business
model and strategy The basis on which the Company creates

and preserves value over the tong term is described In the

Strategic Report

The Audit Commuittee reviewed the procedure undertaken to enable the
Board to prowide the far balanced and understandable confirmation
to shareholders Meetings were held between the Group Financial
Controller, Head of Investor Relatinns and other senior employees to
review and document the key considerations undertaken and a
detailed report was then presented to the Audit Cornmittee

Risk management and internal control

The Board determines the extent ang nature of the nisks it 1s prepared
to take in order to achieve the Company s strategic objectives The
Board has responsibility for the Company s overall approach to risk
management and internal control which includes ensuring the
design and implementation of appropriate risk management and
internal control systems Oversight of the effectiveness of these
systems is delegated te the Audit Committee which undertakes
regutar reviews tc ensure that the Group s identifymne, considering
and mitigating as far as practicable, the most appropriate risks for
the business

The Board confirms that, through the Audit Cornmittee, a robust
assessment of the principal risks facing the Company, including
those that woutd threaten its business model, future performance,
solvency or iguidity, was carried out during the year

British Land s approach to risk, including the roles of the Board,
and the Audit Commuttee in setting risk appetite and monitoring risk
exposure, 1s detalled in the Managing risk in delivering our strategy
section on pages 48 to 31

As well as comptying with the Code, the Group has adopted the
best practice recommendations in the FRC Guidance on risk
management, iInternal control and related financial and business
reporting and the Company s internal control framework operates
i line with the recommendations set out in the internationally
recognised COS50 Internal Control integrated Framework

The Company s committed to conducting its business inan
ethicat manner, with integrity and in line with all relevant laws

and regulations The Group has adoptad a number of palicies and
procedures including policies and traiming on antr-bribery and
corruption and fraud awareness, information secunity and GDPR
All ermployees are made aware of the Group s policies through the
employee handbook, regular bulletins and recewe traiming
appropriate to their roles and responsibilities

The Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of the Group s
system of internal control annually, including the systems of controt
for rmaterial jomnt ventures and funds The Group ¢ internal control
system 15 built en the following fundamental principles, and 15
subject to review by internal audit

- Adefined schedule of matters reserved for approval by the Board

- Adetailled authorisation process no material commitments are
entered into without thoreugh review and approval by more than
one authorised person

- Formal documentation of all sigruficant transactions

© — Arobust system of business and financial planring including

cash flows and profitability forecasting, with scenario analysis
performed on major corporate, property and financing proposals

— Avrobust process for property investment appraisals

- Monitoring of key cutcornes, particularly expenditure and
performance of sigmificant investments, against budget
and forecast

- Clearly defined policies and review of actual performance
against policies

— Benchmarking of property performance against external
sources such as Investment Property Databank

- Keycontrols testing

- Acomprehensive property and corporate insurance programme
and a formal whistle-blowing policy

During the course of its review for the year ended 31 March 2018,
and to the date of this Report, the Audit Committee has not identified,
nor been advised of, a failing or weakness which it has deterrmined
to be significant

+ Boing concern and viability statements
+ During the year the Board assessed the appropriateness of using

the going concern basis of accounting in the financial statements

- The assessment considered future cash flows and debt facilities

[te assess the hquidity risk of the Company} and the availability of
finance {to assess the selvencyrisk) The assessment covered the
12-month period required by the going concern’ basis of accounting

in accordance with the Cods, the Board has also assessed the
prospects of the Group over a five-year period which is deemed
appropriate for the viability statement In preparing the viabibity
statement the Beard considerad the principal risks set out on pages
52 to 55 and the sensitivities of cash flow and debt covenant
farecasts, all of which are considered to have a reasonable Likelihood

© of inpacting the viability of the Company Full details of this

ascessment are set out on page 51

Following these assessments the Directors believe that the Group

"1swell placed to manage its financing and other business risks
" sansfactorily and have a reasonable expectation that the Company

and the Broup have adequate resources to continue in operation
for at least 12 months from the date of the Annual Report They
therefore consider it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis
of accounting in prepaning the financial statements

The Board atso considers that the Company and the Group will te
able to continue In cperation and meet it Labilities as they fall due
over the period ending 31 March 2022

Taxation

Our principles of good governance extend to our responsible
approach to tax Our tax strategy [ Our Approach to Tax'], avallable
on our website www.britishland.com/governance, is approved by
the Board and 15 i itne with the Group s long term values, culture
and strategy

Remuneration
The Directors Remuneration Report 1s set out on pages 76 to 91

The Remuneration Policy was approved by sharehclders at the 20146
AGM and 15 summarised on page 78 We are not making any changes
to the Remuneration Policy this year
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GOVERNANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

Relations with stakeholders
The Board 1s committed to maintaining epen channels of

communication with all of the Cornpany s stakeholders Animportant !

part of this 1s providing a clear explanation of the Company s strategy
and objectives, and ensuring that feedback 1s acknowledged,
considered and, where appropriate, acted upon Stakeholder
feedback 1s essential to the success of our business, so we ensure
the Chairman, Senior Independent Director, Chief Executive and
ather Executive Directors are available to address any concerns

our stakeholders may wish to raise

Eritish Land aims to be informative and accessible to all
shareholders Announcements relating to the Group s tinancial
results and key events are provided in a imely manner and are easily
accessible via our website and social media The Group website also
provides detailed mformation on our assets, as well as case studies
Illustrating our strategy, including our sustainabildy activities

British Land has a dedicated Investor Relations team which 1s
avallable to respond to apy questions or concerns iInvestors may
have on an ad hoc basis

All stakeholders are able to contact the Company directly via
the contacts page on our website www.britishland.com/contacts

Annual General Meeting

All Directors attend the AGM, which provides retail shareholders

in particular with an opportunity to hear directly from the Board on
the Company s performance over the pasi year, its strategy and the
objectives for the year ahead The AGM also provides shareholders
with the opportunity to ask guestions and a number 6f the Directors,
including the Chairman, make themselves available for informat
discussion after the meeting has concluded

The 2017 AGM was attended by approximately 125 shareholders
All resolutions were voted on by way of a poll and passed by

the required majority The results of the AGM voting are announced
to the London 5tock Exchange as soon as practicable following the
AGM and also made available on the Company s website

Retail shareholders

Our Shareholders Centre on our website www.britishland.com/
shareholders-centre includes information on the AGM, dividends,
shareholder commaunication, how to contact our registrar, Equiniti,
and other useful resources for shareholders

Institutional investors

Instiiutional investors and analysts receive regular communications
from the Company, mcluding details of Investor Relations events
Isee the chart to the night), one-to-one and group meetings with
Executive Directlors, and tours of our major assets This year, our
investor relations activity included a presentatton and asset tour at
Paddington Central, following the completion of our 4 Kingdom Street
development In total, the Chief Executive, former Chiet Financiat
Officer and Investor Relations tearm met with representatives fram over
2035 institutions during the year ended 31 March 2018 We periadically
commussion an independent investor perception study, which provides
feedback on our strategy and highlights matertal concerns from key
investors and Is presented to the Board

The Executive tearn 1s committed to ensuring that shareholder views,
both positive and negative, are relayed back to the Board The Chief
Execuitve provides a written repori at each scheduled meeting which
includes direct market feedback on activity during the period
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Key investor relations activities
during the yvear included
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Lenders and bondholders

The Board recognises the contribution made by our {enders and
bondholders Through our Treasury team, the Group mantains
an open dialogue with our debt providers which helps the Board
understand their investment appetite and criteria

Community

British Land recognises that the people who live inand around our
assels are essental to creating Places People Prefer, and therefore
to the success of our business tnvesting in these communities 1s
animportant part of our approach, and our Local Charter detais
how we buitd trust by making positive centributions locatly Our
‘Community Funding Guidelines set out how we allocate funding,
with a particular focus on nitiatives close to our assets that provide
opportunities to tocal peopte through education, emiployment and
training Both documents can be found on our website at
www.britishland com/policies



REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

We monitor the quality and

integrity of the financial

reporting and valuation process

i am pleased to present the report of the Audit Committee for the
year ended 31 March 2018,

In line with the focus on1improved governance and clear, relevant
and concise reporting, this report of the Audit Committee
hightights the main1ssues which arose during the year and

how they were addressed

Key areas of focus

Ultimately the Committee continues to play a key role in overseeing
the integrity of the Group s financial statements, including assessing
whether the annual Report is fair, balanced and understandable,

as well as ensuring that a sound system of risk management and
nternat control 1sin place

Durmng the year, the Commuttee has reviewed the process for
identification and mitigation of key business risks, challenging
management achons where appropriate The Committee has alse
reviewed the appropriateness of the accounting treatment of
signihicant transactions, including asset acquisitions and disposats
Together with the ongoing scrutiny of the process for valuing
nvestment and development assets, the Committee also reviewed
the outcomes and effectivenese of the tender of valuation services
undertaken during the first half of the financial year

This year caw the implementation of the first phase of the new valuer
appolntment policy [see page 73 for further details) with ¢ 43% of the
portfolio subject to new valuers at 30 September 2017 Further
transitions will take place over the next two years with the initial
implernentation of the valuer appaintment poticy due to be completed
in 2019 The Commuttee has apprecialed the continued professicnatism
of all s valuers during the tender process

lommittee composition and governance
The year to 31 March 2018 has seen sigmificant change to the
membership of the Cornrruttee As mentioned inthe 2017 Annual
Report, Simon Borrows retired frorn the Commuttee at the conclusion
of the 2017 AGM In addition. having served on the Board and this
Committee for mine years, incivding a pericd as Committee
Chairman, Aubrey Adams retired at the end of the 2017 calendar
year |would like to thank them both for the ditigence and insight
they provided during their tenure and Aubrey, in particular, for tus
knowledge and experience of the UK property market

We also welcomed three new members to the Commuttee during
the financial year Nicholas Macpherson, who has served for a full
year, Rebecca Worthingion and Alastar Hughes Details of the
knowledge, experience and skitls each brings to the Committee are
set out below

The Committee contimues to be composed solely of independent
Non-Executive Directors with sufficient financial experience,
comrnercial acumen and sector knowledge to fulfil therr
responsibiiities The changes in membership, together with
attendance at Commmttee rneetings during the year, are set out
in the following table

Date of
Committee Date of

Director Position appointment resignation Attendance

Tim Score Charrnan 20 Mar 2014 3/3

Alastair Hughes  Member 1 Jan 2018 1M
* Nicholas

Macpherson Mermnber 1 Apr 2017 3/3

Rebecca

Worthington Mernber 1 Jan 2018 111

Aubrey Adams Member 15ep 2008 31 Dec 2017 2/2

Simon Borrows Member 12 Apr 2011 18 Jul 2017 11

Nicholas was the Permanent Secretary to the Treasury for over

10 years from 2005 to March 2016, leading the department through
the financial crisis and the subseguent period of banking reform
He joined the Treasury in 1985 and held a number of roles priorto
his appointment as Permanent Secretary Nicholas trained as an
economist and has worked at the CBl and Peat Marwick Consulting
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE CONTINUED

Rebecca has worked in the reat estate industry since 1998 and brings

valuable insight into residential real estate as well as financial,
operational and governance experience as a result of her role as
group chief financial officer of Countryside Properties PLC, and
former rotes as finance director of Quintain and chair of the audit
committee at Hansteen Hotdings and Aga Rangemaster Group

Alastair has over 25 years of experience 1n real estate markets
His experience as tormer Chief Executive of JLL for Europe,
Middle East and Africa and then regionat CEO for Asia Paafic,
and his non-executive directorship of Schroders REIT, brings an
in-depth knowledge of giobal commercial real estate markets

The Board 15 satistied that the Committee as a whole has
competence relevant to the real estaie sector For the purposes
of the UK Corperate Governance Code, Rebecca and | are deemed
to meet the specific requirernent of having significant, recent and
relevant financial experience

Members of the senior management team, including the former
Chuef Financial Officer, General Counsel and Company Secretary,
Group Financial Controller, Head of Financial Reporting and
representatives of both external and internal auditors are invited to
attend each Committee meeting In addition, the Chairman of the
Board, Chief Executive Officer, Head of investor Relations, Head of

Planning and Analysis and other key employees are invited to attend

part, or all, of specific Comrruttes meetings

The Committee meets privately with both external and internal
auditers after each scheduled meeting and continues to be satistied

that neither is being unduly influenced by management As Committee

Charman, | additionally hold regular meetings with the Chief
Executive Gificer, Chief Financiat Officer and other members of
management to obtain a good understanding of key 1ssues affecting
the Group and am thereby able to identify those rmatters which
require meaningful discussion at Commuttee meetings | also meet

the external audit partner, iInternal audit partner and representatives

from each of the valuers privately to discuss any matters they wish
to raise or concerns they may have

Committee effectiveness

The Comrmttee s effectiveness during the year te 31 March 2016
was assessed as part of the triennial Independently facilitated
Board evaluation process This review considered the structure,
membership and role of the Comrnittee as well as the Beard s
perception of the quality and thoroughness of its work The review
concluded that the breadth of experience brought to the Committee
by tts new members provided the Board with confidence that it
would continue to operate theroughty and effectively and that the
financial governance of the Cornpany was conducted with
diligence and due process

The Commuttee also reviews its terms of reference on an
annual basis The current terms of reference were approved
by the Board in March 2018 and are available on our website
www britishland.com/committees

The information below sets out in detail the actiwty undertaken
by the Committee during the year ended 31 March 2018 | hope
that you find 1t useful in understanding our work

Tim Score
Chairman of the Audit Committee
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Role and responsibilities
The principal responsibilities of the Commuttee are

Financial reporting - Monitoring the integrity of the Company s
financtal statements and any formal announcements relating
to financial performance, and consigering significant financial
reperitng issues, judgements and estimates

External Audit - Oversight and remuneration of the external
auditor, assessing effectiveness and making recommendations
to the Board onthe appointment of and the policy for non-audit
services provided by the external auditor

Internal Audit - Monitoring and reviewing reports on the work
performed by the internal auditor and reviewing effectiveness,
including #ts plans and resourcing

Risk management and internal controls — Reviewing the
system of internal control and risk management

Investment and development property valuations -
Considering the valuation process and outcome ang the
effectiveness of the Company s valuers

Financial reporting

The Committee continues to review the content and tone of the
preliminary results press release, Annual Report and half year
results at the request of the Board Drafts of the Annual Report
are reviewed by the Commmuttee Chairman and the Committee
as a whole prior to formal censideration by the Board, with
sufficient time provided for feedback

The Comrmittee reviewed the key messaging included in the Annual
Report and half year results, paying particular attention to those
matters considered to be important to the Group by virtue of therr
size, complexity, level of jJudgerment required and potential impact
on the fingncial statements and wider business meodel Anyssues
which were deemed to be significant were debated openly by the
Committee members and other attendees, including management,
external and internal auditors

The Committee has satisfied itself that the controls over the
accuracy and consistency of the information presented inthe
Annual Report are robust The Committee therefore recommended
to the Board that the Annual Report presented a fair, balanced and
understandable overview of the business of the Group and that 1t
provided stakeholders with the necessary information to assess
the Group s posibion, perforrmance, business model and strategy

During the year, the Group recerved a letter from the Financial
Reporting Councit confirming that the 2017 Annual Report had been
subject to a review by its Conduct Commuitiee, which is responsible
for overseeing the FRC's work in promoting high quality corporate
reporting and ensuring compliance with relevant accounting and
reporting requirernents and rutes No guestions or queries were
raised as a result of this review, no response fram the Company
was requested and no further action was undertaken

A number of rminer matters were noted for improverment which, in
the view of the Conduct Comrmittee, would be of benefit 1o the users
of the Annual Report Consequently, we have made changes to the
Annual Report this year in line with these recommendstions



REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE CONTINUED

The significant jssues considered by the Committee in relation to the financial statements during the year ended 31 March 2018, and the
actions taken to address these issues, are set out in the following table

Significant issnes considercd

How these issues were addressed

Going coneern
statement

Viability
statement

Accounting for
significant
transactions

REIT status

Valnation of
property
porifolio

Revenue
recognition

The appropriateness of
preparing the Group financial
statements on a going
concern basis

Whether the assassment
undertaken by management
regarding the Group s long
term wability appropriately
reflects the prospects of
the Group and covers an
appropriate period of ime

The accounting treatment

ot significant property
acquisitions, disposals and
financing transactions 15 a
recurring risk for the Group
with non-standard accounting
entries required, and in some
cases management
sudgement apphed

Maintenance of the Group s
REIT status through
compliance with certain
conditions has a significant
impact on the Group s results

The vatuation of mvestment
and developrnent properties
conducted by external valuers
tsinherently subjective as itis
undertaken on the baws of
assumptions made by the
valuers which may not prove
to be accurate

The cutcome of the valuation
15 significant to the Group in
termes of investment decisions,
results and remuneration

For certaintransactions,
Judgemnent 15 applied by
rnanagement as to whether,
and to what extent, they should
be treated as revenue for the
financiat year

The Commuttee reviewed management s analysis supporting the geing concern basis
of preparatien This inciuded concideration of forecast cash Hows, avaitability of
committed debt facilittes and expected covenant headroom The Commuttee also
recetved a report from the external auditor on the results of the testing underiaken
onmanagement s analysis

As a result of the assessment undertaken, the Committee satisfied itself that the
going concern basis of preparation remained appropriate

The going concern staterment s set out on page 67

The Committee considered whether management s assessment adequately reflected
the Group s risk appetite and principal risks as disclosed on pages 32 to 55, whether
the peried covered by the statement was reasonable given the strategy of the Group
and the environment in which 1t operstes, and whether the assumptions and
sensitivities rdentified, and stress tested, represented severe but plausible scenarios
in the context of solvency or Liguidity The Committee also constdered a report from
the external auditor

The Cornmittee concurred with management s assessment and recommmended the
viability staternent to the Board

The watility staterment, together with further details on the assessment undertaken,
1= set out on page 51

The Committes reviewed management papers on key judgements, including those for
significant tramsactions, as well as the external auditor ¢ findimgs on these matters

In particular, the Committee considered the accounting treatment of The Leadenhall
Buitding transaction, the share buyback programme, Storey (British Land < flexible
workspace offering launched in the yearland the acquisition of The Woolwich Estate

The external auditor confirmed that rnanagement s judgements in relation to these
transactions were appropriate and reasonable and the Cornnttee agreed with this
conclusian

The Committee reviewed the Company s compliance with the REIT tests
Managenent presented details of the methodotogy and results of thewr process
for REIT testing, with any change n long term trends, and the level of headroom.
highlighted The Cemmuttee alsc considered the external auditor s review of the
REIT tests performed by management

The Committee concluded that the Company’s REIT status had been maintained
n the year

The external vatuers presented theiwr reports to the Committee prior to the hall year
and full year results, providing an overview of the UK property market and
summarising the performance of the Group s assets Significant judgernents are
also highlighted

The Committee analysed the reports and reviewed the valuation autcomnes,
challenging assumptions made where thought fit In particular, with the
implernentation of the first stages of the new valuer appomtment policy,
the Comimittee pard specific attention to those assets which were subject to
anew valuation instruction during the year

The Commuttee was satisfied with the valuation process and the effectiveness of the
Cormnpany s valuers The Committee also approved the relevant valuation disclosures
to be inctuded in the Annual Report

The Committee and the external auditor concidered the appropriateness of the
accounting treatment applied by management in relation to revenue recognition
In particular, the Cormmittee considered the treatment of Clarges Residential urit
sales, taking into account the timing of legal completions following practical
completion of the propertyinthe year

The Committee considered the scope of the accounting standard and agreed with
the reasonableness of the judgement rade
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REPORT OF THE AUDBIT COMMITTEE CONTINUED

External Audit

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP [PwC] was appointed as the Group s
external auditor for the 2013 Annwal Report following a format
competitive tender The Committee will consider the need for a
competitive tender for the role of external auditor every five years
and, in accordance with teaislation and its own terms of reference,
will ensure that a cornpetitive tender takes place at least every 10
years There are no contractual obligations in place which would
restrict the Committee s setection of a different auditor The Groups
audit engagement partner 1s John Waters, who has been inrole since
PwC's appointmment The Committee will ensure that the rotation of
audit partner 1s undertaken as required by legislation to the extent
that this 15 not undertaken earlier by PwC

The Committee is responsible for overseeing the relationship with
the external audsdor and for considering their terms of engagement,
remuneration, effectiveness, mdependence and cortinued
objectivity The Committee annually reviews the audit requirements
of the Group, for the business and In the context of the external
environment, placing great impoertance en ensuring a high guality,
effective External Audit process

Fees and non-audit services

The Commitee discussed the audnt fee for the 2018 Annual Report
with the external auditor and approved the proposed fee on behaif
of the Board

In addition, the Group has adopted a policy for the provision of
non-audit services by the external auditor The policy helps to
safeguard the externsl auditor s independence and objectivity The
policy allows the external auditor te provide the following non-audit
services to Briish Land where they are considered to be the most
appropriate provider

~ Audit related services ncluding formal reporting relating to
borrowings, shareholder and other circulars and work in respect
of acquisitions and disposals In some circumstances, the
external auditor is required to carry out the work because of their
office Inother circumstances, selection would depend enwhich
firm was best suited to provide the services required

- Sustainability assurance PwC currently provides an assurance
opinion to the Company over selected sustamability data This
appointrent is reviewed annually

ir addition, the following protocols apply to non-audt fees

- Total non-audit fees are imited to 70% of the audit tees in any
one year Additionally, the ratio of audit to non-audit fees s
calcutated in line with the methodotogy set out in the 2014
ElJ Reguiations

- Commmittee approval 1s reguired where there might be questions
as to whether the external auditor had a conflict of interest

- The Audit Committee Chairman is required to approve In agvance
each additional project or incremental fee between £25 000 and
£100,000 ang Committee approval s required for any additional
projects over £100,000

During the year two engagements relating to sustainability
assurance and financial model assurance required approvat
These engagements were approved by the Audit Commuitiee
Chairman on the basis that PwC were best placed to provide these
services and that they created no conflict of interest with their role
as external auditor

Total fees for non-audit services amounted to £0 2 milion, which
represents 20% of the total Group audit fees payable for the year
ended 31 March 2018 Details of all fees charged by the external

auditor during the year are set out on page 113
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The Committee 1s satishied that the Company has comphied with
the provisions of the Statutory Audit Services for Large Companies
Market Investigation IMandatory Use of Competitive Processes and
Audit Committee Responsibilities) Order 2014, published by the
Competiticn & Markets Authonity on 26 September 2014

Effectiveness

Assessrnent of the annual evaluation of the external auditor s
performance was undertaken by way of a questionnaire completed
by key stakeholders across the Group, including senior members
of the Finance team The review took into account the quality of
planning, delivery and execution of the audit including the audit

of subsighary companies), the technical comnpetence and strategic
knowledge of the audit team and the effectiveness of reporting
and communication between the audit team and management

PwC also provide the Committee with an annual report on its
mdependence, objectity and compliance with statutory, regulatory
and ethical standards For the year ended 21 March 2018, as for

the prior year, the external audhtor confirmed that it conbinued to
maintain appropriate internat safeguards te ensure 1ts sndependence
and objectivity

The Committee concluded that the quality of the exterpal auditor s
work, and the knowledge and competence of the audit team, had
been maintained at an appropriate standard during the year

The Committee therefore recommended to the Board that a
resolution to reappoint PwC as external auditor to the Group be
put to shareholders at the 2018 AGM

Internal Audit
The rote of Internal Audit 1s to act as an independent and objective

! assurance function, destgried to imprave the effectiveness of the

governance, risk management and internal controis framework
in mitigating the key risks of British Land Ernst & Young LLP [EY]
continue 1o provide internal audit services to British Land and
attended alt Committee meetings to present their audit findings
and the status of management actions

During the year, the Commuttee reviewed and approved the annual
internal audit plan. including consideration of the plan s alignment to
the principal risks of the Group and its joint ventures tnternal audits
completed during the year included those in relatien to IT, third party
management, fraud resilience, insurance, company secretariat,
procurement, human resources, accounts payable and payroll
Iphase 2] Overall, no significant control Issues were identified
although several process and control improvements were proposed,
with follow up audits scheduled where necessary

Effectiveness

The annual effectiveness review of the internal auditor included
consideration of the Internal Audit charter which defines EY's role
and responsibilities, review of the quality of the audit work undertaken
and the ckills and competence of the audit tearms The Committee
cencluded that EY coniinued to dischargeits duties as internal
auditor effectively and should continue inthe role for the year
commencing 1 Aprii 2018

Risk managernent and internal controls

The Board has delegated respensibility for overseeing the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internat control
systems to the Comrnittee The Commuttee has oversight of the
activiies of the executive Risk Committee, receiving minutes of

all Risk Comrnittee meetings and discussing any sigrificant
matters raised
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At the full and hatf year, the Committee reviewed the Groups
principalt risks including consideration of how risk exposures have
changed during the period and any emerging risks inthe Company s
risk register Both external and internal risks are reviewed and their
effect on the Company s strategic aims considered The Committee
concidered the Group s risk appetite, concluding that it remains

set at an appropriate level to achieve the Group s strategic goals
without taking undue risk The Board accepted the Committee’s
recemmendation that no changes were required to the Group s risk
appetite for the forthcoming year The Committee also reviewed the
status of key risk indicators throughout the year against the risk
appetite set, focusing on any which were outside optimal ranges

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Committee gave particular
attention to the risk relating to catastrophic operational events
inctuding ensuring that safety investigations were undertaken on the
British Land portfolic following the Grenfell Tower fire and that crisis
response plans were In place for both physical and cyber nisks The
Commttee also undertakes annual reviews of the Group s Treasury
Policy Iwhich includes policies on Liguidity, interest rate and foreign
currency management] and the Group s Insurance programrne

Half vearly. the internal auditor reports to ihe Commuttee on the
effectiveness of internal controts, including an analysis of control
1ssues identified by management through the exceptions reporting
process Care s taken to ensure that identsfied risk areas are
considered for incorporation in the Internal Audit ptan and that the
findings of internat audits are taken into account when identifying and
evaluating risks within the business Key observations are reported
to, and debated by, the Commuttee During the year, it was agreed
that exceptions reporting should include operational matters as well
as financial For the year ended 21 March 2018, the internat auditor
confirmed that the system of risk management and internal centrot
had been effective

At the request of the Rermuneration Committee, the Cornmittee
consigers annually the level of risk taken by management and
whether this atfects the performance of the Company and thereby
incentive awards granted to the Executive Directors and senier
management Taking into account the reports received on internal
key controls and risk management, and the results of the internal
audit reviews, the Commuttee concluded that for the year ended

31 March 2018 they were not aware of excessive risk taking by
management which ought te be taken into account when
determming tncentive awards

The Group = whistleblowing arrangements, which enable alil staff,
including temporary and agency staff, suppliers and occupiers to
report any suspected wrongdoing, remained unchanged during the
year These arrangements, which are monitored by the General
Counsel and Company Secretary and reviewed by the Committee
annualty inctude anindependent and confidentizl whistteblowing
service provided by a third party The Cemrmittee received a
summary of all whistleblowing reports receved during the year
and concluded that each had been dealt with appropriatety

The Committee aiso reviewed the Group < tax strategy which sets
out the Group s appreach to risk managerment and governance in
relation to UK taxation, s attitude towards tax planning, the level
of risk the Group 1s prepared to accept m relatien to tax and 1ts
relationsinp with HM Revenue & Customs The resulting document
[ Our Approach to Tax | was approved by the Board in March 2018
and 15 availlable on the Company's website lwww.britishtand.com/
governance]

Additionat information on the Company < internal controls systems
15 set out Inthe Managing risk i delivering our strategy section
on pages 48 to 49

Investment and development property valuations

The external valuation of British Land s property portfoliois a key
deterrminant of the Group's batance sheet, its performance and the
remuneration of the Executive Directors and senior management
The Commuttee ts committed to the rigorous monitering and
review of the effectiveness of its valuers as well as the valuation

1 process itself

As set out inthe 2017 Annual Report, a new policy has been adopted
regarding the appomntment of external valuers The key elements of
this policy are

- The duration of any valuer’'s appointment to a specific asset is
limited to 10 years [except where that asset has been market
tested in the periog)

. - Anagreed panet of valuers with the required level of market

knowledge and service pravision wilt be maintained

- Incumbents cannot be re-appointed te an asset

- There will be 3 minimum of two valuers on each of cur mam
sectors, with each vatuer covering a meaningful proportion
of both the overall portfolio and relevant sector

. To ensure @ manageable transitien of assets to new valuers, the

Comimittee agreed that the initial implernentation process woutd

be spread over three years, running 2017-2019 The first phase of
tendering [c 45% of the portfolio] was comnpleted daring the first
half of the current fimancial year with a further ¢ 20% scheduled o
transition in both 2018 and 2019 The Group s valuers are now CBRE,
Knight Frank, Jones tang LaSatle [ULL} and Cushman & Wakefield

The Comruttee reviews the effectiveness of the external valuers
br-annuatly, focusing on a quantitative analysis of capitat values,
yield benchmarking, availability of comparable market evidence
and major cutliers to subsector movements, with an annual
gualitative review of the level of service recetved from each valuer

The valuers attend Cemmittee meetings at which the full and hatf
year valuations are discussed, presenting their reperts which include
details of the valuation process, market conditions and any significant
judgements made The external suditor reviews the valuations and
valuation process, having had full access to the vatuers to determine
that due process had been followed and appropriate information
used, betore separately reporting its indings to the Committee The
valuation process 15 atso subject to regular review by Internal Audit

. British Land has fixed fee arrangements in place with the valuers

in relation to the valuation of wholly-owned assets, iniine with
the recommendations of the Carsberg Comrnittee Report

. Copies of the valuation certificates of CBRE, Knight Frank, JLL

and Cushman & Wakefield can be found on our website

" at www britishland.com/reports

Focus far the coming year

During the year ending 31 March 2019 the Commuttee will contimue
to focus on the processes by which the Board identifies, assesses,
monitors, manages and mitigates risk particularly in Light of the
continued uncertamty arising from the UK's decision to leave the EU
The Committee will also continue to moniter key risk areas for the
husiness, particularly those scheduled for review by internat audit
inciuding, but not imited to General Data Privacy Regutation
compliance, cyber security and crisis management
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REFCRT OF THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Committee leads
the process for Board
appointments

Welcome to the report of the Nomination Committee for the year
ended 31 March 2018,

Role and responsibilities
The Committee s principal responsibilities remain

- Reviewing the structure, size and composition [including the
skills, knowledge and experience and diversityl of the Beard
and its Committees and recommending changes to the Board

- Lonsidering succession planning for Directors and other
senior execufives

- Reviewing the independence and time commitment requirements
of Non-Executive Directors and

- Making recommendations as to the Directors standig for
election or re-election at the AGM

Fuil details of the Committee s role and responsibulities are set
autinits terms of reference avaitable on our website at
www.britishland.com/committees

Committee composition and governance

Following Lord Turnbull s retirement, the Commuttee has three
members Witliam Jacksan and Tim Score, both independent
Non-Executive Directors, while | continue to Chair the Committee
{would Uike to thank Lord Turnbull for the support and advice he has
provided to the Committee during his tenure

Details of the Commitiee s membership and attendance at meetings
are set out in the following table.

Date of

Cammitiee Date of
Director Pgsition appointment resignation  AMendance
John Gildersieeve Chairman 1 Jan 2013 3/4*
Wiiliam Jackson Member 17 Apr 2011 414
Tim Score Member 1 Apr 2017 4f4
Lord Turnbull Member 1 Apr2006 18 Jul 2017 1N
T ook Dudersiceve was unable o atiend nns rassting dut o nass
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Chris Grigg, Chief Executive, was invited to attend all Commitiee
reetings during the year

Luke Meynell of Russell Reynolds land formerly of The Zygos
Partnership] was invited to attend one Committee meeting during
the year

Diversity

The Commitiee, the Board of Directors and British Land as a whole
continue to pay full regard to the benefits of diversity, including
gender dversity, both when searching for candidates for Board
appointments and when the Company 1s searching for candidates
for other appointments

The Committee recommended an updated Board Diversity and
Inctusion Pelicy to the Board during the year The revised Policy
aspires for women to represent 30% of Board membership by 2020,
as well as having regard to other aspects of diversity when making
recruitment decistons at both Board and senior management {evel

British Land currently has three female Board members Lynn
Gladden, Laura Wade-Gery and Rebecca Worthingten, all of whom
are Non-Executive Directors Thus represents 25% fernale Boargd
membership as at 31 March 2018 (2017 23%)

The Board Diversity and inclusion Policy also sets out British Land s
commitment te strengthen the gender balance on Brinsh Land s
leadershup and seror management teams The Board recognises
that successful delivery of our strategy s underpmned by creating
an enviranment where all our people feel fully supported We have
estabbished an Inclusive Culture Steering Committee, headed by a
member of our Executive Commuttee, to promote diversity and
inclusion at all levels of the business The Steering Committee has
implemented a number of inhatives such as diversity training for
all new joiners and the establishment of support networks Further
information on diversity withun British Land 1s sel out on page 30

We alsa recently published our gender pay gap report The report
is avallable on our website iwww.britishland.com/governance) and
summansed on page 30

Board membership

The Committiee regularly reviews the structure, size and composition
of the Board in order to ensure it 15 made up of the night people with
the requisite skills and experience, inciuding diversity of thought and
approach, who can provide strong and effective leaderstup to the
business and suppart delivery of the Company's strategy



Aswas anticipated in last year s Annual Report, Simon Borrows
and Lord Turnbull retired from the Board at the conclusion of the
2017 AGM In addition, Aubrey Adams retired from the Board at the
end of the 2017 calendar year and Lucinda Bell stood down as an
Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer on 19 January 2018

The process undertaken by the Cornmittee to identify, select and
make recormmmengdations to the Board in relation to the appointment
of three Non-Executive Directors and a new Chief Financiat Otficer
15 set cut below

Appointment process for Board Directors

Rote reguirements
The Committee prepared detailed role specifications
setting out the skills, knowledge, experience and
attributes required for the rolefs)
The Chief Executive was also involved in preparing
the role specification for the Chief Financial Otficer

\/

Search process
Under the direction of the Comrttee, Russell Reynolds
{previously The Zygos Partnershipl, an externat search
consultancy, was engaged to faciditate the search process

T~

Review
Details ot preferred candidates were presented to, and
considered by, the Commuttee and, in the case of the
Chuet Financial Officer, the other Executive Directors
Shortlisted candidates were nvited to interview by the
Commuttee, Chief Executive and other Directors as appropriate

~—

Recruitment
The Cornmittee considered the feedback from interviews and
made recommendations to the Beard as to the appointments of
Preben Prebensen, Alastair Hughes and Rebecca Werthingten
as Non-Executive Directors apd Simon Carter as Executive
Oirector and Chiet Financiat Officer

The appointrnents were formally announced following
approval by the Board

Other than the pravision of recruitment consultancy services nesther
Russell Reynalds nor, praviously, The Zygos Partnership has any
connecticn with British Land

Suecession planning

The Comrrittee 1s responsible for reviewing the succession plans
for the Board, including the Chief Executive The succession plans
for the Executive Directors are prepared on immediate, mediurn and
long term basis while those fer Non-Executive Directors reflect the
need to regularly refresh the Board Such plans take account of the
tenure of iIndwvidual members The Committee s review of Executive
Director succession plans include consideration of the process for
talent development within the organisation to create a pipeline to
the Board

The Chietf Executive, with the support of the HR Director, 15
responsible tor developing succession plans for executives and
sernor management which are presented to and considered by
the Committee

¢ Independence and re-clection

I Prior to recommending the re-appaintment of any Non-Executive
Director to the Board, the Committee assesses their continued

- Independence, the time comrmitment required and whether the

' re-appomntment would be i the best interests of the Company
Detailed consideration 1s given to each Non-Executive Dhrector s
contribution to the Beard and its Commuttees, together with the
overall balance of knowledge, skilts, experience and diversity

Non-Executive Directors’ tenures (as at 31 March 2018)
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Having served for more than sixyears, the Committee undertook

a particularly rigorous review of Wiliam Jackson s contributions

to the Beard and the Commuttees on which he serves, together with
his continued independence The Committee unamimously concluded
that Willam remained independent in character and judgement and
continued to discharge s respensibilities as a Non-Executive
Director effectively Willlam did not participate in the discussion
relating to hus re-appointment

Following ther review, the Commuttee is of the opinion that each
Neon-Executive Director continues to demonstrate commiiment to
his or her rele as a member of the Board and its Cemmittees,
discharges hus or her duties eftectively and that each makes &
valuable contribution to the leadership of the Company for the benefit
of all stakeholders Accordingly, the Committee recommended to
the Board that resolutions to elect or re-elect each Non-Executive
Director be proposed as appropriate to the AGM alongside the
resolutions to re-elect the Executive Directors

Therefore in accordance with the Code, each of the Directors inrole
at year end and the date of this Annual Report will offer themnsetves
for election [in the case of Alastair Hughes, Preben Prebensen and
Rebecca Worthington) or re-election hin the case of all other
Directors] inaddition, Stimon Carter will take up hus appommtment an
21 May 2018 and offer imself for election at the AGM Biographies
for each Director can be found on pages 581to 61

lommittee effectiveness
This year the review into the Committee’s effectiveness was
undertaken as part of the trienniat externally facilitated Board
evatuation 1am pleased to report that the evaluation concluded that
the Committee had handled the various succession issues well over
the past year and continued to operate etfectively

Focus for the coming vear

Having overseen major changes to membership of the Board over
the tast 12 months, the Commuttee intends to focus its attention for
the coming year on improving the gender balance of the leadership
team and undertaking a formal structured review of the succession
plans for senior management

John Gildersleeve
Chairman of the Nominaticn Commitiee
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT. LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Our Remuneration Policy
aligns management incentives

with our strategy

Dear Shareholders

On behalf ot the Board, | am pleased to present the Directors
Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 March 2018, which
includes an At AGlance summary and the Company s Annual
Repart on Remuneration

The Annual Report on Remuneration, which describes both how the
Committee has implemented the Remuneration Policy during the
year and our intentions for the coming year. 15 set out on pages 79
to 91 Asusual, the Report on Remuneration will be subject to an
advisory vote at this year s AGM and | hope to continue to have

your support

Our Remuneration Policy was approved by shareholdersin July 2016
with over 87% support and a summary 15 set out on page 78 The full
Policy s available in the 2016 Apnual Report and en our website af
www britishland.com/committees

Our current Remuneration Policy will remain in force untit the 2019
AGM During the tatter part of 2018, the Committee will therefore
consider what, iIf any, changes are reguired to the Remuneration
Palicy to support the Company's strategy We will fully engage with

sharehotders, employees and other stakeholders to ensure that their .

views are taken into consideration Inrecommending any changes to
our Remuneration Policy, we will also take account of the outcome of
the current review of the UK Corporate Governance Code

Committee membership

As disclosed in last year's Annual Report, Lord Turnbull retired
from the Board, and this Commutiee, at the conclusion of the
2017 AGM ) would hike to thank Lord Turnbull for his comemitment
to the Commuttee during hius term of office and wish him well

In his retirement
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" Lynn Gladden and Laura Wade-Gery were members throughoul
| the year and we were pleased to welcome Preben Prebensen to
the Commuttee on | September 2017

Board changes

As previously mentioned by the Company s Chairman, there

have been a number of Board changes this year Lucinda Bell stood
down from the Board on 12 January 2018 and left British Land on

4 April 2018 During this period, Lucinda continued to receive her
aalary and employment benehts in full

Lucinda i1s ebigible for an annual bonus for the 2017/18 financial year,
subject to the satisfaction of a combination of corporate and personat
objectives After over 25 years of service to British Land, Lucinda 1s
considered to be a good leaver” and, as such, her outstanding
execuhve share plan awards will be treated 1n line with the good
leaver provistons:n the respective plan rules Full details are
provided on page 86

As announced mn January 2018, Simon Carter wiil join British Land
as an Executive Director and Chief Financial Qfficer on 21 May 2018
On appointment, Sirmon Carter’s basic salary will be set at £485,000
In line with the approved Remuneration Policy, Simon’s pension
contribution will be set at 15% of satary and his maximum annual

~ bonus plan and LTIP epportunities for the year will be set at

130% and 250%; of salary respectively, consistent with the other
Executive Directors To replace a deferred payment forfeited on
joining British Land, Simon wilt be awarded shares worth €675,000,
which have {o be held for at least one year

Remuneration in respeet of the year ended 31 March 2018
As noted by the Company Chairman, in the cantext of the econemic
and politicat uncertainty that we have seen since the EU referendum,
and over the last year in particular, British Land has performed well
Over the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company delivered good
financiat results and tock Important steps tor long term value creation

|

The total returns from our property investments are expected to
outperform the market modestly As a result, payouts from our
annual incentive plan are expected to be between 55% and 57 5%
of maximum for the Executive Directors This shows that the
Company’s rernuneration policies have worked as originatly
intended when the annual incentve policy was sét and approved
by shareholders

For our long term icentives, with our three-year performance
relative to the oniginal benchmarks underperforming the median of
these benchmarks, we expect the LTIF maturing this June 2018 to

| tapse in full along with half of the MSP awards vesting this year



Remuneration in respect of the year commencing

1 April 2018

Salaryand fees

The Comrmittee has discussed and reviewed the Company’s annuat
salary review framework for all employees Ithas also reviewed the
salaries of the Executive Directors and concluded that these should
be increased by 2% n ine with the average increase for the wider
employee population This is the first increase since 2012

The Committee reviewed the arnual fee payable to the Chairman,
which has aiso not increased since 2015, and concluded that this
should be Increased to £382,000 [representing a 4 2% increase,
equating to an average increase of 1 4% over the three-year peniod)
for the year commencing 1 April 2018

The Board also reviewed the {ees payable to the Non-Executive
Directors and cencluded that the base fee should be ncreased to
£62.500 from £61,000, which represents a 2 5% increase

Annual incentives

Inrespect of the annual incentive awards for Executive Directors,
the Committee has set strict weightings and targets for each
pertormance measure For the coming year, we witl continue with
70% of any potential award being dependent on successfully
achieving financiat targets, with 20% based on achieving qualrtative
criteria and 10% on individual targets Further information s
provided on page 79

Long termincentives

The Commuttee proposes to grant long term mcentive awards during
this coming year at 250% of salary. the same level as tast year
Detalls on the proposed grants, including performance conditions,
are set out on page 80

We will be using the same three performance measures as
previousty, but have refined the way we will be assessing the Total
Property Return component to make it more relevant to the assets
the Company owns

Below Board-level incentives

The Commuttee s remit also includes oversight of the Group s
remuneration policy for the wider ernployee population Inthis
respect the Commiitee has approved a change to the long term
shareincentive arrangements for the senior management population
by approving the use of Restricted Share Awards

Previously the seniol management population had participated inthe

Long-Term Incentive Plan ILTIP) on a similar basts as the Executive
Directors However, for 2018 for certain employees other than
Executive Directors, the Committee has approved the use of
Restricted Shares instead of, or {for the non-Board mernbers of the
Executive Committeel in combination with, a lower level of LTIP The
lower level of LTHP award takes into account the increased certamnty
of value of Restricted Shares

The ntroduction of Restricted Shares creates a stronger alignment
with the interests of ather sharehoiders from the date of grant,
together with being a more valued and retentive remuneration
package for seruor management

The Restricted Shares will vest after three years subject to
continued service

| Gender pay gap

| We have recently published our Hirst gender pay gap report

! [www.britishland.com/gender-pay-gap| As reguired by legislation,

! this information 15 based on data at & snapshot date of 5 April 2017

| when British Land had 237 employees and Broadgate Estates
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary, had 322 employees

Dur pay gap reflects an industry-wide picture where we have more

_ men than wemen n senior higher paid roles rather than unequal pay

for similarwork The British Land Board s committed to achieving

better gender balanice across all positions in the Company and has

in place recruitment and develepment practices that it believes will
lead to @ material change in this positton over ime

Our workferce 15 made up almost equaily of men and women
We pay men and women who do the same jobs equally, with each
role benchmarked annually against external data

We have made significant progress over recent years whilst
recognising that there 1s more work to be done to reduce the extent
of the imbalance in the future In 2013 we were a founding supporter
of Pathways to Property, a programme set up to encourage young
people from a wide range of diverse backgrounds inte the reat estate
sector and 1n 2017 we welcomed a graduate trainee to British Land
from the first cohort to complete this programme

British Land was the first FTSE 100 preperty company to achieve

the Nationat Equality Standard tAugust 2017] We are also one of a
handful of FTSE 100 compames whe have introduced company-
enhanced shared parental pay as well as mtroducing flexible working
practicesn many areas of the business, female mentoring
prograrmmes and maternuity coaching

We will continue 1o measure eur gender pay very regularly to come
to understand (f what we are daing 15 working and to identify areas
where there 1s further need for change

Committee effectiveness

As with the other Board Commiitees this year s evaluation of the
effectiveness of the Remuneration Commuttee was undertaken

as part of the trienmal independentty facilitated Board evaluation
process | am pleased to report that the review concluded that the
Committee continued to operate diligently and effectively, that s
members had an appropriate balance of skills and experience and
carried out therr duties in a sensible and praamatic way

Recommendation

British Land continues to strive to apply best practice inits
remuneration policies and to Listen carefully to shareholder
ieedhack We therefore hope that you show your support for cur
approach to rernuneration by voting for’ the Directors
Remuneration Report at the 2018 AGM

~ William Jackson
Chairman of the Remuneraticn Commitlee
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT AT AGLANCE

Executive Directors’ remuneration

The tables below show the 2018 actual remuneration against potentiat opportunity for the year ended 31 March 2018 and 2017 actuat
remuneration for each Executive Director Full disclosure of the single total figure of remuneration for each of the Directors 1s set out Inthe
table on page 81

Chris Grigg Charles Maudsley

Chief Executive e _ €000 Head of Retail, Leisure & Residentiat €000

2018 actual £2 244 2018 actual £1,081

2018 potential’ €4,878 2018 potential’ €2.477

2017 actual £1.938 2017 actual £943
1} 1,000 2,000 3000 4,000 5000 6000 Q 500 1,000 1,500 2,000 2500 3,000

Tim Roberts Lucinda Bell (to 19 January 2018)

Head of Offices . _con ChieffwnancialOfficer €0

2018 actual £1,125 2018 actual £947

2018 potental’ £2535 2018 potential! £2,060

2017 actual | £953 2017 actual | £1.002
0 500 1,008 1,500 2,00C 2,500 3,000 3} 500 1000 1,500 2,000 2,500 3,000
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Summary of Remuneration Paticy
The Remuneration Policy summarised below was approved by shareholders on 19 July 2016 The Policy will apply untit the AGM in July 2019
The Remuneration Policy 15 set out in fuil in the 2016 Annual Report and 1s available on our website www.britishtand.com/committees
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION

How we intend to apply our
Remuneration Policy during the
year commencing 1 April 2018

The following pages set out how the Committee intends to apply the Remuneration Policy during the coming year
Excentive Dircetors remuneration

gﬂl Basic salaries

Basic salaries for our current Directors have been set at the following levels for the year commenaing 1 April 2018
Basic satary

Director

Chris Grigg 836,800
Charles Maudsley 452,175
Tim Roberts 400,170
Simon Carter [frem 21 May 2018} - AB3,000

Annual Incentive awards

The maximum benus opportunity for Executive Directers remains at 150% of salary The performance measures for the Annual Incentive
awards have been selected to reftect a range of quantitative and qualitative geals that support the Company s key strateaic objectives
The performance rmeasures and weightings for the year commencing 1 April 2018 will be as follows

Proportion of Annuat
Incentive as a percentage

Measure of maximuem opportunity
Quantitative measures 70%
Total Property Return relative to PO lsector rewerghted) 499
Profit growth retative to budget 28,
Qualitative measures 20%
Right Places - Progress on key projects including developments 2%
Customer Orientation - Company reputation with all stakeholders a%
Capital Efficiency - Execution of targeted acquisitions and disposals ok
- Progress on strengthening the dividend
Expert Peopte - Promoting an inclustve, performance driven culture o't
Individual abjectives Performance agatnst individuat success factors 10%

The Commuittee has set targets for the quantitative measures for the corming year and will disctose these in the 2012 Remuneration Report
as they are felt to be commercially sensitive In assessing how the Executive Directors performed during the year commencing 1 Aprit 2018,
the Cornmuttee will take nto account their performance aganst all of the measures and make an assessment in the round to ensure that
performance warrants the level of award determined by the table above

Asdisclased in 2017 the Comnuttee agreed that for Annual Incentive awards, the sector weighted IPD March Annual Universe benchmark
which icludes sales, acquisitions and developments and <o takes into account active asset management as well as a3 more representative
peer group) would be most suitable However, due to tinung of publication of the March Universe benchmark, the Company s actual
performance against IPD metrics 1s unlikely to be known when the 2019 Annuat Report is approved by the Board The 2017 Remuneration
Report will therefore include an estimate of the vesting vatue of Annual Incentive awards for that financial year, with the actual awards,
based on the hinal IPD March Annual Universe Data, set out in the following Annual Repart [for the year ending 31 March 20201
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OIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION CONTINUED

@ Long term incentive awards

An LTIP award will be made to Executive Directors during the year commencing T Aprit 2018 s anticipated that the grant size of LTIP
awards will be 250% of salary for each Executive Director This continues to be below the maximum available under the policy of 300%
of salary approved by shareholders in July 2016

The performance measures that apply to thus LTIP award will be as follows

Measure Link to strategy Measured relative to Weighting
Total Property Return [TPR} The TPR measure is designed TPR performance will be assessed agamnst the 404
The change In capital vatue, less  tolink reward to strong performance of an IPD benchmark

any capifal expenditure incurred,  performance at the gross

plus net income TPR1s property level

expressed as a percentage of

capitat emnployed over the LTIP

performance period and 1s

calcutated by IPD

Total Accounting Return {TAR) The TAR measure is designedto TAR will be measured relative to a comparator group 400,

The growth in British Land’s
EPRA NAV per share plus
dividends per share paid over the
LTIP performance period

Total Shareholder Return (TSR]
The growth invalue of a British
Land shareholding over the LTIP
performance period, assuming
dividends are reinvested to
purchase additional shares

link reward to performance at
the net property level that takes
account of gearing and our
distributions to shareholders

consisting of the 17 largest FTSE property companies
that use EPRA accounting lincluding British Land)

The TSR measure 15 designed
to directly correlate reward
wath the return delivered

to sharehoiders

Half of the TSR measure will be measured relative to 204
the performance of the FTSE 100 and the other half

will be measured relative to the performance of 3

comparator group consisting of the 17 largest FTSE

property comparues that use EPRA accounhing

including British Land)

Performance against the LTIP measures witl be assessed over a period of three years 100% of the proportion of the TAR and TSR awards
attached to each measure will vest i British Land s performance 1s at an upper quartile levet If performance against a measure is equal
to the median, 20% of the proportion attached to that measure will vest and If performance 1s below median the proportion attached to
that measure will lapse There will be straight-tine vesting between median and upper quartile performance for each megsure

For the TPR award, 20% of the award wili vest for matching a sector weighted IPD index reflecting the Company s property assets
There will be straight-line vesting between this index performance and the fugher of 1 1x the index performance and 100 basis pants
per annum outperformance The Commitiee retains the discretion to reduce the formulaic vesting amount 11 it feels that there 15 a
material inconsistency between the level of reward and relative performance delivered

Non-Executive Directors’ fees
Fees paid to the Chairman and Non-Fxecutive Directors are positioned around the rd-market of eur comparator group of companies
[FTSE 100 companies with broadly simitar rmarket capitalisations to British Land) with the aim of attracting individuals with the appropriate
degree of expertise and experience The fee structure set out below was adopied at the 2016 AGM and incorporates 3 2 5% increase to the
annual fee for the Non-Executive Directors and a 4 2% increase to the Chairman s fee for the year commencing 1 Aprit 2018

Chairman s annual fee

£385,000

Non-Executive QDirectors annual fee

Sentor Independent Director s aniual fee

£42.500

0080

Audit Comrmittee or Remuneration Commuittee Chairman s annual fee

£20.000

Audit Commities or Remuneration Committee mermber s annual fee

£ 3.008

MNemination Committee member s annuat fee

14,010
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How we applied our

Remuneration Policy during
the year ended 31 March 2018

The following pages set out how we implemented the Directors Remuneration Policy during the year ended 31 March 2018 and the
remuneratton received by each of the Directors

single total figure of remuneration (audited)
The following tables detail all elements of remuneration receivable by British Land s Executive Directors in respect of the year ended
31 March 2018 and show cermparative figures for the year ended 31 March 2017

Other
items in the Pension or
Taxable nature of pension Annual Long term

Salary/fees benefits  remuneration atlowance ncentives?  mncentives Totat

2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018

Executive Directors £000 £000 €000 €000 £000 £000 €000
Chris Grigg 840 22 15 294 724 349 2,244
Charles Maudsley 446 22 12 &7 370 164 1,081
Tim Roberts 4] 23 12 By 380 173 1,125
Lucinda Bell to 19 January 2018) 378 18 12 24 337 152 941

ST Ll A e r g gt LNt d Lot b 0 =t twmeawl o morg e e s T e g BT A BT e me o spyie T
arooar [ e
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2817 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017

£600 €000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Chris Grigg a4l 23 14 294 A1H 34Y 1938
Charles Maudstey 446 23 13 67 23 163 YA3
Tim Roberts 448 23 1?7 85 227 163 903
Lucinda Bell AY3 23 13 78 24 150 1.062

Notes to the single total figure of remuneration table

gli‘l Fixed pay

Taxable benefits: Taxable benefits include car allowance {between £16,170 and £16,800], private medical insurance and subsidised gym
membership The Company provides the tax gross-up on subsidised gym membership and the figures included above are the grossed
up values

Other items in the nature of remuneration include life assurance, permanent health insurance, annual medical check-ups, professionat
subseriptions, the value of shares awarded under the all-employee Share Incentive Plan and any notional gain on exercise of Sharesave
options that matured during the year

Pensions: Neither Chris Grigg nor Chartes Maudsley participate in any British Land pension plan and instead receive cash allowances of
35% and 15% of basic salary respectively, in tieu of pension For the year ended 31 March 2018, these payments amounted to £294 060 and
£66,938 respectively Lucinda Bell' and Tirm Roberts are both members of the British Land Defined Benefit Pension Scheme The table balow
detalls the defined benefit pensions accruad at 31 March 2018 {or date of leaving the Board in the case of Lucinda Beli

Detfined benefit

pension acerued at Normal
31March 20182 retirement
Executive Directer £000 age
Timn Roberts 91 i
Lucinda Bell' [to 1% January 2018] 107 sl

Yhr e g P Ta sty Goe b M b e T =aF e e e s ber et e e T e pg s AR AUTRT Do it

; oty e n e toala b
I he [ T R P s S - AL B PECIR VA FT R S R L T Y o P YR ETI VL RV B LY STE RN TR IVT | SR S YA

There are no additional benefits that will becomne recevable by a Director in the event that a Director retires early
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Variable pay

=0

EEFEL Annual Incentive FY18

The tevel of Annual incentive award 15 determined by the Commuttee based on British Land s performance and each individual Executive
Director ¢ performance against their indiwvidual targets during the year For the year ended 31 March 2018 the Committee s assessment
and outcomes are set out below
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@% Long term incentives

The information it the long term incentives colurnn in the simgle total figure of remuneration table [see page 81] relates to vesting of awards
granted under the following schemes, including, where applicable, dividend equivalent payments onthose awards and interest accrued on
those divtdend equivalents

Long-Term Incentive Plan

The awards granted to Executive Directors on 27 June 2015, and whichwill vest on 22 June 2018, were subject to two equally weighted performance
conditions over the three-year period to 31 March 2018 The first measured British Land’s TPR relative to the funds in the December IPD UK Annual
Property Index {the Index], while the second measured TAR relative to a comparator group of British Land and 16 or so other property companies

The TPR element s expected to lapse, based on British Land s adjusted TPR of 7% when comgpared te the funds in the Index The TAR
element 15 also expectad to lapse based on British Land s TAR of 27% The actual vesting rate of the TPR and TAR elements can onty be
calculated once results have been published by IPD and all the companies within the comparator group respectively The actual percentage
vesting will be confirmed by the Comrmuttee In due course and details provided in the 2019 Rermuneration Report

Estimated value Estimated dividend

Performance Number of performance of award on vesting equivalent and interest

Executive Director shares or option shares/option awarded £600 £000
Chris Grigg Performance shares 124 94% (3 1]
Market vatue options 206 599 1 u

Lucinda Bell Performance shares 121,704 § 0
Charles Maudsley Performance shares 169754 0 g
Tim Roberts Performance shares 109,720 { 0

2017 comparative As set outin the 2017 Annual Report, the 2014 LTIP awards lapsed in futl on 23 June 2017 a< expected

Matching Share Plan

The performance conditions for the MSP Matching awards granted o 29 June 2015 were i} TSR relative to a comparator group of British
Land and 16 other property companies and ln] British Land s gross income growth [GIG) relative to the IPD Quarterly Universe [the Universe)
These performance conditions are equally weighted The MSP Matching awards will vest on 29 June 2018

Kern Ferry Hay Group Limited {Korn Ferryl has confirmed that the TSR element of the award will vest at 0% as British Land's TSR
performance over the period was -% 8% compared to a median of 40 6% for the comparator group The GIG element 15 expected to vest at
100% as British Land s annualised GIG over the period of 4 7% 1s expected to exceed the expected growth of the Universe by more than the
upper hurdle As aresult, 50% of the MSP Matchung awards grantad in June 2015 are expected to vest As disclosed for the 2015 LTIP above,
the actual percantage vesting will be confirmed by the Commuttee and details provided in the 2019 Remuneration Report

Number of Estimated value Estimated dividend

Matching Shares of award on vesting equivatent

Executive Diractor awarded £000 £000
Chris Grigg Y4, 348 308 At
Lucinga Bell 40,958 134 8
Charles Maudsley hA4.276 145 1%
Tim Roberts Lé 6HY 103 20

2017 comparative In june 2017, the Committee confirmed that the 2014 MSP Matching awards would vest as to 30% on the vesting date
[being 30 June 2G17] The long term incentives figures 1n the 2017 cornparatives of the single total figure of remuneration table have therefore
been updated to reflect the actual share price on vesting [601 10 pence] rather than the average for the %0-day period used inthe 2017 Annual
Report of 608 078 pence
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Share scheme interests awarded during the vear {audited)

Long-Term Incentive Plan

The total value of each Executive Director’'s LTIP award for the year ended 31 March 2018 was equivalent to 250% of basic salary at grant
At grant each Director 15 able to indicate a preference as to the proporticn of the award that they wish to recewe as erther pecformance
shares or market value options The share price used to determine the face value of performance chares and the fair value of options,
and thereby the number of performance chares or options awarded, is the average over the three dealing days immediately prior to the
day of award For the award granted in June 2017, no Executive Director elected to receive market value options and the share price for
determining the number of performance shares awarded was 617167 pence The performance condibons attached 1o these awards are
set out In the Remuneration Policy approved by shareholders in July 2016 and summarised on page 80

Performance shares
Percentage vesting on

Number of Face End of achievement of minimum

Grant performance value performance Vesting  performance threshold

Executive Director date shares granted £000 period date %
Chris Grigg 78/06/17 340,764 2,100 3103170 PBUG/2U 70
Chartes Maudsley 28706417 180,765 1110 3103720 28/Usf20 Pat]
Tim Roberts 2810617 180,765 1Na 31/03/20 2640 20
L ucinda Bell 2806017 199,702 1,232 2003720 2BI06/20 20

Sharesave Scheme

The following options were granted 1o Execubive Directors during the year under the ali-employee Sharesave Scheme The exercise price s
set at a 20% discount to the average market price of the Company's shares over the three dealing days immediately preceding invitation te
the Scheme The cost of exercise 1s met entirely by the Director and 1s accumulated by deductions from salary from grant to vesting

Totalto be
deducted  Number of Earliest
from salary options Face value Exercise exercise
Executive Director Grant date £000 granted £000 price date Expirydate
Lucinga Bell 21706017 7 1,771 9 208 L0920 2802/

Directors” shareholdings and share interests (audited)

Directors’ shareholdings at 31 March 2018

The following table shiows the Executive Directors interests in fully paid erdinary British Land shares, including shares held by connected
persons, MSP Bonus Shares, Annual Incentive Shares and shares held in the Share Incentive Plan Allinterests are beneficial

Holding at 31 March 2018

for date of departure from Holding at
Directar the Board, if earlier] 31 March 2017
Chris Grigy 1,297,818 1.257.368
Charles Maudsley 251,194 730,383
Tirn Roberts 265,748 PhAT1A
Lueinda Bell [at 19 Januvary 2018) 246,471 226,098

Shareholding guidelines

The minimum shareholding guidelines require Executive Directors to hold ordinary shares with 3 value equal to a set percentage of salary
There 1s no set timescale for Executive Directors to reach the prescribed target but they are expected to retain net shares receved on

the vesting of long term incentive awards unti! the target 1s achieved Shares that count towards the holding guideline are unfettered

and beneficially owned by the Executive Directors and their connected persons Deferred annual incentive shares. MSP Bonus Shares,
locked-in SIP shares and all unvested swards do not count towards the requirement

The guideline shareholdings for the year commencing 1 April 2018 are shown below

Unfettered

Guideling as holding as ' Total holding as

percentage Unfettered percentage of Total a percentage

of basse Guideling holdingat  basicsalaryat sharehalding at of basic salaryat

Executive Director satary holding' 31 March2018 31 March 2018 31 March 20182 31 March 2018
Chns Grigg 279% 94,393 1,232,204 942 1.297.818 992
Charles Maudsley 150% 04,264 217,143 312 791194 361
Tim Roberts 150% 104,264 230,230 331 265.74¢ 387

Caleulaled ana =nare proe of 47 po - o a0 22 March 2018
< ses resprs sharckad rg-table above whoh nolug MSR Borus Snares anc el shares balnin the Wl

The guideline shareholding for Simon Carter has also been set at 150% of salary
The shareholding guidelines for Executive Directors were iast increased with effect from 1 April 2015 when the haolding requirement for

each Director was increased by 25% of basic salary The Cormmittes regularly reviews the guidelines together with the Executive Directors
shareholdings, but has not proposed any change for the year commencing 1 April 2018,
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Acquisitions of ordinary shares after the year end

The Executive Directors have purchased or been granted the foltowing fully paid erdimary British Land shares under the terms of the
partnership, matching and dividend elements of the Share Incentive Plan

Date of
purchaseor  Purchase Partnership Matching Dividend
Executive Director award price shares shares shares
Chrie Grigg 16/04/18 60U /Y 23 46
04706518 YRy 109
14/05/18 B hdk 2?1 he
Charies Maudsley 16/04/18 hall 74 25 N
(14/05/18 1577 gy
14705118 496 Lok 21 47
Tim Roberts 16/04/16 G301y 23 46
(470518 67. 77 701
1470518 496 bk 21 47
Unvested share awards
Number Subjectte End of
outstanding at performance performance
Executive ODirector Date of grant 31 March 2018 measures period Vesting date
Chiris Grigg LTIP performance shares' 27/06/15 154 949 Yeo 3110318 22{06/18
LTIP performance shares 22/08/14 22999 Yoo 31/03/1 22006019
LTIP performance shares 28/06/17 3R 264 Yeo 31/03/20 28/06/20
5P Matching Shares 29/06/15 V4,348 Yes REVIRTAL 29/06/18
SP Matching Shares 7906/16 96,714 Yeo 0319 79/06/17
Charles Maudsley LTIP performance shares’ 22108415 107,706 Yeo A1/U3/18 2206418
LTIP performance shares 22006016 122074 i 0371y 22/06/1%
LTIP periormance shares 206117 1801 /63 Yo 3103420 78/0al20
SP Matching Shares 7H0615 WA226 Yo 3103Ne 29106118
SP Matching Shares 2906416 47,2006 Yeo 30319 2906419
Tim Roberts LTIP performance shares' 22106415 109,706 Yo 340318 22006118
LTIP performance shares 22106114 41,084 Yo avasy 22106419
LTIP performance shares 2806017 180,765 Yo 310350 2R04/20
MSP Matching Shares' 2906/15 Lt hR2 Yoo /03418 29/06/18
5P Matching Shares 29/0s/16 A4 Unh Yo F1/031% 2906/1%
Lucinda Bell LTP performance shares’ 22{06/15 121,244 Yoo /0318 22/06/18
LTIP pertormance shares 22/06/164 134976 Yec, 31/03/19 22/06/19
LTIP performance shares 2B/ 199,707 Yeo /030 28/06/20
MSP Matching Shares! 2906/12 40950 Yoo J1/0318 2906018
MSP Matching Shares 29/06/16 47,206 Yoo 3103419 2906119
o MO e da st ien 0 e P00 e nd o dw e 2 17A posn o R O P B T NN T B TV, TRRVRRVES B
B FOWTe o i IEdan e Y LeEn e Xt TS et evE D o e T L 207t anads LXLen v v s
SR T T A e (AL L S S BRI “g’::(é.‘a St oxte b Lattpr s Lot e !
Unvested option awards [not available to be exercised)
Number Option Subject to End of Date
outstanding at price performance performance becomes Exercisable
Executive Director Date of grant 31 Marchk 2018 pence measures peried exercsabie until
Chris Grigg LTIP options P2/06/10 206,099 B4 o Yo V03N 2208/ Feafn
Tirn Roberts Sharesave options 197047173 2348 5110 N n/a D1/0%/ 18 I
Sharesave options 2306014 1130 YA No e UVBYAY 29/02/20
LTIP eptions 2H06 G Fhb, 403 1305 Yo SVO3NG 22/06G D200
Lucinda Bell Sharesave options’ F2/06{10 1,291 &7 0 N nfa 0908 2802119
Sharecave options 270601 1018 SURO Mo afa 0V0YF20 0 28/62/0
LTt L T B N O RN S B K L ST | KO L R B L R T I | Ak LRET LIS IVis |
Ve, cbowr b e L2 LRI T RE IR (VI T LT L S IS S I ¢! Iy PRI i [ER T IRz PA S AV U S LR RTOI
A4 -w=tatede L a !
ULt e pi L AR AT e e Fgeo ittt A, i
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Vested option awards lavaitable to be exercised)

Number
outstanding Option
at 31 March price Exercisable
Executive Diractor Date of grant ' 2018 pence untit
Chris Grigg LTIF aptions 2R/ il R 2969
LTIP optizns Tifue/10 L0723.820 A47 11506720
LTIP options 28/06/11 695,607 570 78/08/21
LTIP options 14709417 Th3A94 538 VAJ0922
Lucinda Bell LTIP options 11/06/10 1952 At 1NJG6/20
las &t 19 January 2018) | 7P yptons 14612710 1,764 A0 1417720
LTIP options 14/0917 138,289 038 140922
LT!P options 05/08/13 8Ny o071 05/08/23
Phs awatdvested 3t o feveis S6 7% craerttsootormar ¢ ond uer-

Options exercised during the year ended 31 March 2018
Market price
on date of
Mumber Option price  Date became Date exercise
Executive Director Date of grant  exercised pence exercisable  exercised pence
Lucinda Betl Sharesave options 23/06/14 1,567 o7k DVyuvn7 o 26/02/18 630 70
LT!P options 11/06/10 460,000 [ 1406113 2007 62?2

Pavments to past Dirvectors (audited)

During the period from 19 January 2018 to 31 March 2018, Lucinda Bell remained an employee of British Land and recerved salary of £94 808
and taxabie benefits of £4,222 Lucinda remained a member of the SIP until her depariure from British Land on 4 Apryl 2018 Under the Rules
of the SIP, Lucinda received matching shares in February and March 2018 with a total value of £602 Inaddition, Lucinda will receive an
additional £80,350 1n relation to the Annual Incentive awards for the year ended 31 March 2018 which related to the period after she had
stepped down from the Board A contribution ot £10.000 plus VAT was also made to Lucinda s legal fees

Payments to Lucinda Bell on leaving British Land (audited)

After over 25 years at British Land, Lucinda Bell informed the Board in Cctober 2017 of her intention te stand down from the Board and to
leave the Company Following the completion of the search for a replacement Chief Finanaial Gfficer, Lucinda Bell stood down from the
Board on 19 January 2018 and left British Land as planned on 4 Aprit 2018 Lucinda s remuneration terms on leaving were in lihe with the
Remuneraticn Policy approved by shareholders at the 2016 AGM

Lucinda recewed her salary and employment benefits in full to the date of her departure and will recerve payments in Lieu of notice for the
remainder of her 12-month notice period to 4 Octeber 2018 The maximurm amount payable for this period comprises base salary of £246,500,
car allowance of £8,350, pension contributions/allowance of £32,500 and the value of other benefits of £2, 546 These payments may be
reduced by the vatue of any alternative paid employment secured during this period As mentioned in the Commiftee Chairman s letter on
page 76, Lucinda is eligible for an annuat bonus for the 2017/18 financral year, subject to the satisfaction of a combination of corporate and
personal objectives In hine with the Remuneration Policy, two-thirds of any annual bonus will be pard in cash and one-third will be used to
purchase Boitish Land shares which must be held for a further perniod of three years

Lucinda ceased to participate in the Company’s ali-employee employee share plans on departure and any unvested Sharesave awards
{apsed at that time Lucinda s vested executive share awards rematin exercisable untit 4 October 2018

The Commtiee determined that Lucinda be treated as a ‘good leaver under the Company s executive share plans Consequently,
awards hincluding any dwidend equivalents) will continue to vest on the normal vesting dates subject to the extent to whach the applicable
performance criteria have been met and where relevant any time pro-rating reduction applied The vesting levels of these awards will be
confirmed in the Annual Reports for 2019 and 2020 respectively

Other disclosures

Service contracis

All Executive Directors have land inthe case of Simon Carter, will have] rolling service contracts with the Company which have notice periods
of 12 months on either side

Normal notice Normal natice

Date of service period to be given period to be given

Director contract by Company by Director
Chris Grigg 191272008 12 montiv, 12 months
Charles Maudsley 03/11/2009 12 months 12 menths
Tim Roberts 14/11/2006 12 montha 12 months
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In accordance with the Code, all contimuing Directors stand for election or ra-election by the Company s sharehelders on an annual basis
The Directors’ service contracts are avalable for inspection during normat business hours at the Company s registered office and at the
Annual General Meeting The Company may terminate an Executive Director's appointrent with immedtate effect without notice or payment
in biew of notice under certain circumstances, prescribed within the Executive Director s service contract

Executive Directors’ external appointments
Executive Directors may take up one non-executive directorship at another FTSE company, subject to British Land Board approval

Chris Grigg was appointed a noni-executive director of BAE Systems plc on 1 July 2013 During the year to 31 March 2018, Chris received
a fee of £85,845 including £3,843 of overseas travel allowances and benefits deemed to be taxable] from BAE Systermns plc, which he
retained in full 2017 £84.0001 Lucinda Bell was appornted a non-executive director of Rotork plc on 10 July 2014 During the period from
1 April 2017 to 19 January 2018, when she stood down from the Board, Lucinda received a fee of £45,125 from Rotork plc, which she
retaired in full $2017 £47.210)

Relative importance of spend on pay

The graph below shows the amount spent cn remuneration of all employees lincluding Executive Directors) relative to the amount spent on
distributions to shareholders for the years to 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017 The remuneration of employees increased by 2 4% relative to
the prior year, while distributions e shareholders increased by 2% Distributions to sharehotders include ordinary and, where offered, scrip
dividends Mo scrip alternative was oftered during the year ended 31 March 2018 The graph alsc shows the split between property income
distributions IPIB} and non-property income distributions (non-PI0)

Relative importance of spend on pay Remuneration of employees Distributions to shareholders
mcluding Directors B PID cash drvdends paid
2017/18 — £85m B Wages and salartes to shareholders
S RS . c302m B Annual incentives # PIDtax withholding
B Sociat security costs Non-PID cash dividends
2016/17 _ £83m B Fension cests paid to shareholders
R i €296m B Equity-settied share-based
payments

Total shareholder return and Chief Executive’s remuneration

The graph below shows British Land’s total shareholder return for the nine years from 1 April 2009 to 3t March 2018 against that of the FTSE
Real Estate Investment Trusts [REIT] Totat Return index for the same period The graph shows how the total returnon a £100 investment in
the Company made on 1 Aprii 2009 would have changed over the nine-year period measured, compared with the total returnona £109
investrment inthe FTSE REIT Total Return index The FTSE REIT Total Return index has been selected as a surtable comparator becausets
the index inwhich British Land s shares are classified

Total Sharcholder Return
Rebased to 100, 1 April 2009

Qo

bpo - T T T 1 s — —— — = — = - —— == - S

B oroSL A e o RIS o

The base point reguired by the regulations govermng Remuneration Report disclosures was close to the bottorn of the property cycle
at 1 April 2009 Since British Land s share price had not fallen as much as the average share price of the FTSE REITs sector at that time,
a higher base point for subsequent growth was set
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The table below sets out the total remuneration of Chnis 8rigg, Chief Executive, over the same pariod as the Total Shareholder Return graph
The gquantum of Annual incentive awards granted each year and long term incentive vesting rates are given as a percentage of the maximum
opportunity available

Chief Executive 2009/10 2010411 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
Chief Executive s single total figure

of remuneration {£660) 2087 2,379 5,353 4 R b398 4551 3623 1938 ?.244
Annual incentive awards against

maximum appor tuauty 1% 67 83 74 7a Yt 94 &7 33 a7

Long term incentive awards
vesting rate against maximum
opportumty %] nfa nfa g9 63 98 93 4 15 14

Chief Executive’s remuneration compared to remuneration of British Land employees

The table below shows the percentage changes in different elements of the Chief Executive s remuneration relative to the previous financial
year and the average percentage changes in those elements of remuneration for employees based at British Land’s head office over the
same period Head office employees have been chosen as an appropriate comnparator group for this purpose as employees based at British
Land s head office carry out work of the most similar nature 1o the Chief Executive

Average change

Value of Chief Executive Yalue of Chief Executive Change in Chuef Executive In remuneration of

remuneration 2018 remuneration 2017 remuneration Briish Land employees

Remuneration alement £000 €000 % %
Salary 840 B840 0 418
Taxable benefits 22 23 315 73
Annual Incentive 724 418 70 81 2185

Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration (audited)
The table below shows the fees paid 1o our Non-Executive Directors for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017

Fees Taxable benefits! Total

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Chairman and Non-Executive Directors £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £a00
John Gildersleeve [Chairman) 369 364 43 A9 412 418
Lynn Gladden &9 H9 1 1 70 70
Alastair Hughes lfrom 1 January 2018) 17 - 17 -
William Jacksen 100 B/ - - 100 87
Nicholas Macpherson Ifrom 19 December 2016) 69 17 - 69 17
Preben Prebensen lfrom 1 September 2017) 40 - - 40 -
Tim Score 93 BY - 93 8Y
Laura Wade-Gery &9 34 1 i b
Rebecca Worthington {from 1 January 2018} 17 - - 17
Aubrey Adams (fo 31 December 20171 52 o9 - - 52 89
Siman Borrows [to 18 July 2017} 21 4 - 21 69
Lord Turnbull to 18 July 2017) 25 89 - 25 89

Taxabe booelite 1odet w Marmar © chalt S ast O expanees cered by cthor o D rgle- oo tars The Conopay provide s h taxgrossepenttoese

DunF s anG ie f gu e Sbown antve an- the grosnea e nvatl s
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Sharcholding (audited)

Although there are no shareholding guidelines for Nen-Executive Directors, they are each encouraged to hold shares in British Land
The Company facilitates this by offering Non-Executive Directors the ability to purchase shares quarterly using their post-tax fees During
the year ended 31 March 2018, Lynn Gladden, Willam Jackson, Tim Score and Laura Wade-Gery have each received shares in fuil or part

satisfaction of their Non-Executive Directors iees

The table below shows the Non-Executive Directors shareholdings as at year end or the date of retirement from the Board if earlier

Holding at Holding at
Oirector 31 March 2018 31 March 2017
John Gildersieeve 5,220 2,220
Lynn Gladden 13,950 7837
Alastair Hughes 1,274 -
William Jackson 128,123 173.858
Nicholas Macpherson 4,600 2,300
Preben Prebensen -
Tim Score 34,134 22,415
Laura Wade-Gery 8,059 4,831
Rebecca Waorthington 3,000
Aubrey Adams {as at 31 December 2017) 30,000 30,600
Simon Borrows las at 18 July 2017) 300,000 300,000
Lord Turnbutl las at 18 July 2017) 21,258 21,758

in addition, on 11 April 2018, the following Non-Executive Directors were allotted shares al a price of 6435 2675 pence per share mfull or part

satisfaction of their fees

Non-Executive Director

Shares allatted

Lynn Gladden 1,540
Withiam Jackson 1,017
Tim Score 74811

175

Laura Wade-Gery

British Land  Annual Kepaort atd Accounts 2118 89



Governanee

DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION CONTINUED

Letters of appointiment (audited)
All Non-Executive Directors have a letter of appointment with the Company The effective dates of appointment are shown below

Director Effective date of appointment

John Gildersteeve {(Chairman] T September 7008 [Non Executive irecton], 1 Tapudry 2003 [Chairman]
Lynn Gladden 20 March 2015

Alastair Hughes 1 January 2018

Witham Jackson 11 Aprit 2011

Nicholas Macpherson 19 Decemnber 2016

Preben Prebensen 1 Septemnber 2017

Tim Score 20 Maich 2014

Laura Wade-Gery 13 May 2012

Rebecca Worthington 1 lanuary 2018

All continuing Non-Executive Directors stand for election or re-election on an annual hasis The tetters of appointment are available for
inspection during normat business hours at the Company s registered office and at the AGM

The appointrent of the Chairman or any Non-Executive Oireciors may be terminated immediately without notice if they are not reappointed
by sharehalders or if they are removed from the Board under the Campany s Articles of Assoctation or +f they resign and do not offer
themselves for re-election In addiion, appointments may be terminated by either the indidual or the Company gwing three months written
notice of termination or, tor the Chairman, six months written notice of termination

Neither the Chairman nor the Non-Executive Directors are entitled to any cornpensation for loss of office for any reason other than accrued
and unpaid fees and expenses for the period up to the terrination

Remuneration Committee membership

Mermbership of the Committee was changed during the year with the retirement of Lord Turnbutl and appointment of Preben Prebensen
As at 31 March 2018, and throughout the year under review, the Committee was comprised wholly of independent Non-Executive Directors
The members of the Committee, together with attendance at Committee meetings, are set out tn the table below

Date of appointment

Director Position {to the Committee! Date of resignation Attendance
Willam Jackson Charrman 4 January 2013 b6
Lynn Giadden Member 20 March 2015 6ft
Preben Prebensen Member 1 September 2017 &74
Laura Wade-Gery Member 13 May 2015 blh
Lord Turnbull Member 1 April 2006 18 July 2017 212

During the year ended 21 March 2018, Committee meetings were also part attended by John Gildersleeve (Company Chairmani, Chris Grigg
{Chief Executivel, Lucinda Bell [Chief Financial Officer], Charles Maudstey [Executive Director], Elaing Williarns {Company Secretary and
Generai Counsel to 31 August 2017]. Bruce James (interim Company Secretary from 1 September 2017 to 15 January 20181, Brona McKeown
{General Counseat and Company Secretary from 15 January 2018} and Ann Henshaw [HR Director] other than for any tem relating to their own
remuneration Arepresentative from Korn Ferry also routinely aitends Committee meetings

The Committee Chairman holds regutar meetings with the Chairman, Chuef Executive and HR Director 1o discuss all aspects of remuneration

within British Land. He also meets the Committee s independent remuneration advisers, Korn Ferry, prior to each substantive meeting to
discuss matters of governance, remuneration policy and any concerns they may have
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How the Commuttee discharged its responsibilities during the year

The Commuttee s role and responsibilities have remained unchanged during the year and are set outin full inits terms of reference which

can be found on the Company s website www.britishland.com/committees The Comrnittee s key areas of responsibility are

- Setting the Remuneration Policy for Executive Directors and the Company Chairman, reviewing the rermnuneration policy and strategy
for members of the Executive Committee and other members of execuiive management, whilst having regard to pay and employment
conditions across the Group

- Determuning the total indwidual rernuneratien package of each Executive Director, Executive Cornmittee member and other members
of management

- Monitering performance against conditions attached to all annuat and long term incentive awards to Executive Directors, Executive
Committee and other members of managerment and approving the vesting and payment cutcomes of these arrangements

- Selecting, appomnting and setting the terms of reterence of any independent remuneration consultants

In addition to the Committee s key areas of responsibility, during the year ended 31 March 2018, the Committee also considered the
following matters

- Reviewing and recornmending to the Board the Remuneration Report to be presented for shareholder approval
- Appraisal of the Chairman s annual fee, remuneration of the Executive Directors including achievement of corporate and individuat
performance, and pay and Annual Incentive awards below Board level

- Conaidering the extent to which performance measures have been met and, where appropriate, approving the vesting of Annuat Incentive

and long term mncentive awards
- Granting discretionary share awards, reviewing and setting performance measures for Annual tncentive awards
- Considering the impact of the share buyback on incentive plans
- Reviewing the Commuttee s terms of reference
- Considering gender pay gap reporting reguirements
- Departure terms for Lucinda Bell
- Recrumment terms for Simon Carter
- Recewving updates and training on corporate governance and remuneration rnatters from the independent remuneration consultant

Remuneration consultants

Korn Ferry was appointed as independent refnuneration adwviser by the Commuttee on 21 March 2017 following a competitive tender process
Korn Ferry is a member of the Remuneration Consultants Group and adheres to that group s Code of Conduct The Commuttee assesses the

advice given by its advisers to satisfy itself that it 1s objective and independent The advisers have private discussions with the Commiitee

Chairman at least once a year in accordance with the Code of Conduct of the Remuneration Consuttants Group Fees, which are charged on

a time basts, were £129 244 [excludimg VAT) Korn Ferry also provided general remuneration advice to the Cormpany during the year

Voting at the Annual General Meeting

The tabie below shows the voting outcomes of the resolutions put to sharehoiders regarding the Directors Remuneration Report lat the AGM

in Juty 20171 and the Rermuneration Policy [at the AGM in July 2014)

Yotes Total vates Yotes
Resolution Votes for % for against % against cast withheld
Directors Remuneration Report [2017) 722118408 98 24 12935 368 176 732023828 7872061
Directors” Remuneration Palicy [2016] Y2INAL 638 2?7113 214741406 787 74AB638.804 7869489

This Remuneration Report was approved by the Board on 16 May 2018

William Jackson
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
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Direetors’ Report and additional disclosures

The Directors presend ther Report onthe affairs of the Group,
together with the audited financial statements and the report of the
auditor for the year endad 31 March 2018 The Directors Report s
also the Management Report for the year ended 31 March 2018 for
the purpese af Disctosure and Transparency Rule 4 18R Information
that 1s retevant to this Report, and which s incorporated by reference
and including information required in accordance with the UK
Companes Act 2004 and Lishing Rule 9B 4R, can be located in the
following sections

Information Section in Annual Report Page
Future developments of the Strategic Report 8to 25
business of the Company

Risk facters and principal risks Strategic Report  481te 55
Financial instruments - Strategic Report 4510 47
risk management objectives

and policies

Dividends Strategic Report 43
Sustainability governance Strategic Report kl
Greenhouse gas emissions Strategic Report 3
Viability and going concern Strategic Report 31 and 67
statements

Governance arrangements Governance 6210 %1
Ermnployment policies and Strategic Report 17 and 30
ernployee ivolverment

Capitalised interest Financial statermnents 119 to 120
Additional unaudited Other information 164 to 176

financial information unaudited

Annual General Meeting (AGM)

The 2018 AGM will be held at 11 00am on 17 July 2018 at

The Montcalm London Marble Arch, 2 Wallenberg Place, London
WIH 7TN

A separate circular, comprising a letter from the Chairman of the
Board, Notice of Meeting and explanatory notes on the resolutiens
bewng proposed, has been circulated to sharehelders and)s available
on our website at www.britishland.com/agm

Articles of Association

The Company s Articles of Association [Artictes) may only be
amended by special resolution at a general meeting of shareholders
Subject to applicable law and the Company = Articies, the Directors
may exercise all powers of the Company

The Articles are avallable on the Company s website at
wwwi_britishland.com/governance
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Board of Directors
' The names and biographicat details of the Directors and details
! of the Board Committees of which they are members are sef out
on pages 58t 61 and incorporated inte this Report by reference
' Changes to the Directors during the year and up to the date of thus
Repert are set out on page 61 The Company's current Articles
require any new Director to stand for election at the next AGM
i following their appointment The current Articles also require each
Director to stand for re-election at the third AGM lollowing their
election However, in accordance with the Code and the Company s
current practice, ail continuing Oirectors offer themselves for
etection or re-election, as reguired, at the AGM

Detatls of the Directors imlerests in the shares of the Company and
any awards granted to the Executive Directors under any of the
Company's all-employee or executive share schemes are given in

the Directors Remuneration Report on pages 76 to 91 The Service
Agreaments of the Executive Directors and the Letters of Appointment
of the Non-Executive Directors are also summarised in the Directors
Remuneration Report and are available for inspection at the Company s
registered office

| The appommtrnent and reptacement of Directors 1s governed by the

. Company's Articles, the Code, the Companies Act 2006 and any

" related legislation The Board may appoint any person to be a
Director so long as the total number of Directors does not exceed
the it prescribed i the Artictes in additien to any power of
removal conferred by the Comparnies Act 2006, the Company may
by er dinary resclution remove any Director before the expiry of their

| period of office

Directors’ intercsts in contracts and conflicts

of interest

No contract existed during the year in relation to the Company s
businessin which any Director was matenially interested

The Company s procedures for managing conflicts of interest by the
Directors are set out on page 66 Prowsions are also contained in the
Company's Articles which allow the Directors to authorise potential
conflicts of Interest

Directors’ liability insurance and indemmity

The Company mantains appropriate Directors & Officers lability
insurance cover in respect of any potential legal action brought
against its Directors

[ The Company has also indemnified each Director to the extent

| permitted by law agamnst any Labiiity incurred in relation to acts or
omissions ansing In the ordinary course of their duties The indemmity
arrangernents are qualitying indemnity provisions under the

[ Comparites Act 2006 and were i force thraughout the year



Share eapital

The Company has one class of shares, being ordinary shares of

25 pence each, all of which are fully paid The rights and obligations
attached to the Company & shares are set out 1n the Articles There
are no restrictions on the transfer of shares exceptin relation to
Real Estate investment Trust restrictions

The Directors were granted author ity at the 2017 AGM to altot
relevant securities up to a nominal amount of £85,817.256 as well as
an additional authority to allot shar es to the same value on a rights
issue This authonity will apply until the conciusion of the 2018 AGM
At this year s AGM, shareholders will be asked to renew the authority
to allot retevant securities

At the 2017 AGM, the Directors were also given power by the
shareholders to make market purchases of ordinary shares
representing up to 10% of its 1ssued capital at that bme, being
102,981,247 ordinary shares This authority witl also expire at the
2018 AGM and it is proposed that the renewal of that authority will
be sought

in July 2017 the Board decided that the strength of the investment
market and the continuing discount in the Company s share price
meant that the best use of capttal would be to undertake a share
buyback Asaresult, during the year ended 31 March 2018, the
Company repurchased 47,607,139 ordinary shares of 25 pence each
for an aggregate censideration of £200 mutlion This represents

4 85% of the issued share caprtal [excluding shares held in Treasury)
at that date All shares repurchased during the year were cancelled

The Company continued to hold 11,264 243 ordinary shares in
treasury during the whole of the year ended 31 March 2018 and
to the date of this Report

Further detalls retating to share capital, including movernents during
the year, are set out in note 2010 the financial statements

Rights under an emplovee share scheme

Employee Benefit Trusts [EBTs} operate in connection with some of
the Company's employee share plans The trustees of the EBTs may
exercise all rights attached to the Cempany s ordinary shares in
accordance with their fiduciary duties other than as specifically
restricted in the documents which govern the relevant employee
share plan

Waiver of dividends

Elest Limited acts as trustee [Trustee) of the Company s
discreticnary Employee Share Trust (EST) The EST holds and from
time to time, purchases British Land ordinary shares in the market,
for the benehit of employees, including to satisty outstanding awards
under the Company s various executive emnployee share plans

A dradend watver 1s in place fram the Trustee i respect of all
dividends payable by the Company on shares which it holds in trust

Substantial interests

All netifications made to British Land under the Disclosure and
Transparency Rules {DTR 5l are published on a Requtatory
Infermation Service and made available on the Investors section
of our website

As at 31 March 2018, the Company had been notified of the
following interestsin 1ts erdinary shares i accordance with DTR 5
The informaticn provided is correct at the date of notification

Interests in Percentage

ordinary holding

shares disclosed %

BlackRock, inc 98,112,953 @93
MNorges Bank 51,439,045 499
GIC Private Limited 41121137 399
APG Asset Management NV 39.851,884 400

Since year end, BlackRock, inc has submitted a number of
notifications to the Company. all of which have been disclosed to the
market The latest notification dated 23 April 2018 advises that they
indirectly hold %8,224,793 ordinary shares, representing ? 9% of the
Company s 1ssued share capital

Change of control

The Group s unsecured borrowing arrangements include provisions
that may enabte each of the lenders or bondholders to request
repayment or have a put at par within a certam period following a
change of control of the Company In the case of the Sterling bond
this arises if the change of control also results in a rating downgrade

_to below investment grade In the case of the cenvertible bond there
" may alse be an adjustment to the conversien price applicable fora

limited period foltowing a change of control

There are no agreements between the Company and 1ts Directors
or employees providing for compensation for loss of office or
emnployrent that occurs specificaily because of a takeover, merger
or amatgamation with the exception of provistons in the Company s
share plans which could result in options and awards vesting or
becomung exercisable on a change of control

Payments policy

We recognise the importance of good supplier relationships to the
averall success of our business We manage dealings with suppliers
in a fair, consistent and transparent rnanner

Events after the balance sheet date

i Detalls of subsequent events, if any, can be found in note 26 onpage 144

Political donations
The Company made no political donations during the year (2017 il
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DIRECTORS REPORT AND ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES CONTINUED

Conimunity investment

Our fancial denations te good causes during the year totalled
£1,687,000 12017 £1.351,000) Our Community Investment Committee
approves all expenditure from our Communily investrent Fund and
reports io the Executwve Committee on an annual basis

In addition, the Company also supports fundraising and payreit giving |

for causes that matter to staff This suppert includes

~ 30% uplift of staff payroll grang contributions lcapped at £5,000
per person and £50,000 per annum for the whole organisation)

- Astaff matched funding pledge, matching money raised for
chartty by staft up to £730 per person per year

We aiso support fundraising by the teams managing our retal and
office properties around the UK by

~- Matching up to £1,000 for site fundraising imhatives per year,
per location

- Extending our staff matching funding pledge to on site employees
of Broadgate Estates Lirmited, our wholly-owned subsidiary

Our community investment 1s guided by our Local Charter, which
we updated in 2018 to increase focus on five priorties around
our piaces

— Connecting with local commumties

- Supperting educational imtiatives for local people

- Supporting lacat training and jobs

-~ Supporting local businesses

~ Contributing to local people’s wellbeing and enjoyment

Through our commuruty investment and Local Charter activity, we
connect with communities where we operate, make positive tocal

contributions, help people fultil thewr potential, help businesses grow, ‘

and promote wellbeing and enjoyment This all supports cur strategy
to create Places Peaple Prefer

Community
irivestrreat in
action

Yeung p=ep = 13406
peartionne o Che
canratinre Lirit ative 2
W saprpat, inika g
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| Health and safety

© We have retained formal recognition of our focus on heatth and
satety through a successful audit of our OHSAS 18001 accreditation

I We continue to improve our approach to health and safety

! management 1o ensure that we consisiently achieve best practice

| across all activiiies inthe business lconstruction, managed portfolio

and head office] to deliver Places Peaple Prefer to our employees

" and our customers

!
j. RIDDOR* for the vear ended 31 Mareh 2018

Total RIDDOR

! incidents Ingury rate
f 2018 2017 2018 2017
Construction 3 z 06.13 D08  per 100,000
| hours worked
| Retail 30 22 0.01 001 per 100000
I footfall
Gffices [ 8 12.88 2351 er 100,000
‘ p
workers
' Head Dffice )] i} 0 D per 100,000
| fult time
equivalents
[ v eper agettngr ee Desme s atd Tt guro ) urtLnts Jug dicma 2 )

Auditor and disclosure of information
| Each of the Directors at the date of approval of this Report
I confirms that

I So far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit

" nformation that has not been brought to the attention of the
auditor

I~ The Diractor has taken all steps that he/she should have taken

to make himseli/herself aware of any relevant audit infermation

. and to establish that the Company s auditor was aware of

that information

‘ PwC has indicated its witlingness to remarn in office and, enthe
recommendation of the Audit Committee, a resolution to reappoint
PwC as the Company s auditor will be proposed at the 2018 AGM

¢ The Direclors Reportwas approved by the Beard on 16 May 2018
and signed on its behalf by

| Brona McKeown

| General Counsel and Company Secretary
 The British Land Company PLC

I Cormnpany Number 621920

|



DIRECTORS  RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors are respencible for prepaning the Annuat Report
and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulation

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial staternents
for each financial year Under that law the Directors have prepared
the Group financial statements in accerdance with International
Financial Reporting Standards [IFRSs) a5 adopted by the European
Union and the parent Company financial statements in accordance
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
[United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101
‘Reduced Disclesure Framework , and applicable law)

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of the profit
or toss of the Group and Company for that period In preparing the
financial staternents, the Directors are required to

- Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently

- State whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European Union
have been followed for the Group tinancial statements and Urnted
Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101, have been
followed for the parent Company financial staternents, subject to
any matenial departures, disclosed and explained in the financial
staternents

- Make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonabie
and prudent

- Prepare the financial statements on the going concern tasis
unlessitis mappropnate to presume that the Group and Company
will continue In business,

The Oirectors are responsibie for keeping adeguate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group and
Company 5 transactiens angd disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the Group and Company and enable
them to ensure that the financial statements and the Directors
Remuneration Report comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as
regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the |AS Regulation

The Directors are also responsible for safequarding the assets of the
Group and Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of
the Company s website Lagislation in the United Kingdem governing
the preparation and dissermination of financial stalements ray differ
frem legislation in other jurisdictions

The birectors consider that the Annual Report and accounts, taken
as awhole, Is faur, balanced and understandable and provides the
information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group and the
Company s performance, business model and strategy

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are sted in the
Board of Directors on pages 58 to 60 confirm that, to the best of
their knowledge

- The Company financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with United Kingdern Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (Urited Kingdem Accounting Standards, comprising FRS
101 Reduced Disclosure Framework , and applicable law), give
atrue and fair view of the assets, hiabilities, financial pesition
and profit of the Company

- The Group financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Umion, give
atrue and fair view of the assets, liabilities, fimancial position
and profit of the Group

~ The Strategic Report and the Directors Report nclude a far
review of the devetopment and performance of the business ang
the position of the Group and Company, together with a description
of the principal risks and uncertainties that 1t faces

By order of the Board

Chris Grigg
Chief Executive
16 May 2018
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Financid statements

Financial statements
and other information

independent auditers report to the members

of The Britvsh Land Company PLC

Financial statements
Consolidated income statement
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Consolidated balance sheet
Consolidated staterent of cash flows
Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Notes to the accounts

Company balance sheet

Company statement of changes in equity

Supplementary disclosures
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Finuncinl stateanents

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT TO THE MEMBERS

OF THE BRITISH LAND COMPANY PLC

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
inour opinion

-~ The British Land Company PLC 5 Group financial statements and
Company tinancral statements {the financial statements’] give a
true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the Company s
affairs as at 31 March 2018 and of the Group s profit and cash
flows for the year then ended,

- the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the Eurcpean Union,

~ the Company financial statements have been properly preparad in
accordance with Umited Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice [Urited Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS
101 Reduced Disclosure Framework ', and applicable law], and

~ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the |AS Regulation

We have audited the financial statements, included withun the Annual
Report and Accounts 2018 {the Annual Report' ], which comprise

- the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2018,

- the Consolidated Income Staternent for the year ended
31 March 2018,

- the Censolidated Staterment of Comprehensive Income for the
year ended 31 March 2018,

- the Consolbidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2018,

- the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year
ended 31 March 2018,

- the Company Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2018,

- the Company Statement of Changes i Equity for the year ended
31 March 2018, and

- the notes to the financial statements, which include a description
of the significant accounting policies

Cur opinton IS consistent with our reporting to the Audit Committee

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing IUK] [ 1SAs [UK] 1 and applicable law Qur responsibilities
under 15As [UK] are further described in the Auditors responsihilities
for the audit of the financial staterments section of our report

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffictent

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion

Independence

We remamed independent of the Group in accordarnce with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements i the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, as
applicable {o listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our
ather ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements

To the best of aur knowledge and betief, we declare that non-audit
services prohubited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were not provided
to the Group or the Company

Other than those disclosed in note 5 to the hinancial statements, we
have provided no non-audit services to the Group or the Company in
the period from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018

Qur audit approach

Overview

- Our 2018 audit was planned and executed having regard to the fact
that the Group's operations were targely unchanged in nature
irom the previous year Additionaily, there have been na significant
changes to the valuation methodology and accounting standards
reflevant to the Group [n Light of this, our approach to the audit in
terms of scoping and key audit matters was largely unchanged
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- Wetallored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed
enough work to be abie to give an opimion on the financial
statements as a whole The Group financial staternents are
prepared on a consolidated basis, and the audit tearn carnies out
an audit over the consolidated Group balances in support of the
Group audit opinion The following jomt ventures are also audited
to Group materality Broadgate and Meadowhall

Materiality

- Overall Group mateniality: €131 8 millicn {2017 £135 0 rmilhion],
based on 1% of total assets

- Specific Group materiality, applied to underlying profit, £19 6 mitkion
{2017 £19 4mlwhich represents 5% of underlying pre-tax profit

- Overall company materiality £287 ¢ million (2017 £283 0 million],
based on 1% of total assets

. Key audit matters

- Valuation of investment and development properties
- Revenue recogrition

- Accountng for transactions

- Taxation

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we deterrnined materiality and
assessed the risks of matertal misstatement in the financial
staternents In particular, we looked at where the directors made
subjective judgements, for example in respect of sigrificant
accounting estimates that invelved making assumptions and
considering future events that are inherently uncertain

We gained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework
apphicable to the Group and the industry in which it operates, and
considered the nsk of acts by the Group which were contrary to
applicable laws and regulations. including fraud We designed audit
procedures to respond to the risk, recognising that the risk of not
detecting a matenal misstatement due to fraud 1s higher than the
risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may invoive
deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional
musrepresentations, or through collusion We focused on laws and
regulations that couid give rise to a matertal misstatement in the
financial statements, inctuding, but not limited to, the Comparies Act
2006 and the UK tax leqislation as applicable to 8 REIT

Dur tests included, but were not kmited to, review of the financial
statement disclosures to underlying supporting documentation, and
enguiries of management and review of minutes of those charged
with governance

There are inherent limutattons i the audit procedures described
above and the further removed non-cormpliance with laws and
regulations is from the events and transactrons reflected mn the
financial statements, the less likely we would become aware of 1t

We did not identify any key audit matters relating to irregularities,
including fraud Asin all of our audits we also addressed the rnisk of

\ management override of internal controls, including testing journals

and evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the directors
that represented a sk of material misstatement due to fraud

. Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, m the auditors
professional judgement, were of most signsficance in the audit of
the financial statements of the current period and include the most
significant assessed risks of material misstatement {whether or not
due to fraud}identified by the auditors, including those which had
the greatest effect on the overall audit strategy, the allocation of
resources in the audit, and directing the efforts of the engagement
team These matters, and any comments we make on the results of
our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit
of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinien
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters
Thisis not & complete st of all risks dentified by our audit



Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of invesiment and development properties - Group
Refer to pages 6% to 73 [Report of the Audit Comrnitteel, pages 109 1o
111 {Accounting policies] and pages 119 to 123 [Notes to the Accounts]

The Group s investment property portiolio is spht between office n
Central Londen, retail across the UK, the assets at the Canada Water
site In East London and other properties in Central London The
valyation in the Consolidated Balance Sheetis £9,997 million

The valuation of the Group s investrnent property portfolio 1s
inherently subjective due te, among other factors, the individual
nature of each property, iis location and the expected future rentals
for that particular property For developments, facters include
projected costs to complete and tiring of practical completion

The valuahions were carried out by third party valuers, CB Richard
Ells, Jones Lang LaSalle, Cushman and Wakefield and Kright Frank
lthe valuers | The valuers were engaged by the Directors, and
performed their work i accordance with the Royal Institute of
Chartered Surveyors ['RICS ') Valuation - Professional Standards
The valuers used by the Group have considerable expenence of the
markets in which the Group operates

Indetermining a property o valuation the valuers taks into account
property-specthe information such as the current lenancy
agreements and rental income They apply assumptions for yields
and estimated market rent, which are influenced by prevailing
market yields and comparable market transactions, te arrive at

the final vatuation For developments, the residual appraisat method
is used, by estimating the fair value of the completed project using

a capitalisation methed less estimated costs to completion and &
risk premium

The signmificance of the estimates and judgements involved, coupled
with the fact that only 3 emall percentage difference in individuat
property valuations, when aggregated, could resuit in @ material
misstatement, warrants speafic audit focus in this area

There were also certain speaific factors affecting the vatuations in
the year Properties under development, completed developments
that are now valued as standing investment propertias and standing
investment properties that have been reclassitred to development
properties continue to be a key audit matter

We read the valuation reports for all the properties and confirmed
that the valuation approach for each was in accordance with RICS
standards and surtable for use in determining the carrying vatue for
the purpose of the financial staternents

We acsessed the valuers qualifications and expertise and read their
terms of engagement with the Group to determine whether there
were any matters that might have affected their objectivity or may
have iImposed scope Limitations upon their work We also constdered
fee arrangements between the valuers and the Group and other
engagements which might exist between the Group and the valuers
We found no evidence to suggest that the objectivity of the valuers

in their performance of the valuations was compromised

We obtained detalls of every property held by the Group and setan
expected range for yield and capital value movement, deterrined by
reference to published benchmarks and using our expenience angd
knowledge of the market We compared the mvestment yields used by
the vaiuers with the range of expected yields and the year on year
caprtal movernent 1o our expected range We also considered the
reasonableness of cther assumptions that are not so readily comparable
with published benchmarks, such as Estimated Rental Value

We attended meetings with management and the valuers, at which
the valuations and the key assumptions therein were discussed

Our weork covered the valuation of every preperty in the Group, but
the discussions with management and the valuers focused on the
largest propertiesin the portfolio, properties under development or
where the valuation basis has changed in the year, the Canada Water
site and those where the yields used and / or year on year capital
value movement suggested a possible outlier versus externally
published market data for the relevant sector

Where assumptions were outside the expected range or otherwise
appeared unusual, and/or valuations showed unexpected
movements, we undertook further investigations and, when
necessary, held further discussions with the valuers and obtained
evidence to support explanations received The valuation
commentaries provided by the valuers and supporting evidence,
enabled us to consider the property specific factors that may have
had animpact on value, nciuding recent comparable transactions
where appropriste

We saw evidence that alternative assumptions had been considered
and evaluated by management and the valuers, before deterrmining
the final valuation We concluded that the assumptions used in the
vatuations were supporiable in light of availlable and comparable
market evidence

We performed testing on the standing data i the Group s informatien
systems concerning the vatuation process We carried out
procedures, on a sample basis, to satisfy ourselves of the accuracy
of the property information supplied to the valuers by management
For developments, capitalised expenditure was tested on a sample
basisto mvoices, and budgeted costs to complete compared with
supporting evidence lfor example construction contractsi

It was evident from our interaction with management and the
valuers, and from our review of the vatuation reports, that close
attenton had been paid to each property s individual characteristics
at a granular, tenant by tenant level, as well as considering the
overatl quality, gecaraphic location and desirability of the asset as

a whole Noissues were identified in our testing
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Fimancial sfatements

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT TG THE MEMBERS

OF THE BRITISH LAND COMPANY PLC CONTINUED

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition - Greup
Refer to pages 69 to 73 (Report of the Audit Comrmitteel, page 109
to 111 [Accounting policies) and pane 113 [Notes to the Accounts)

Revenue for the Group consists primarity of rental income Rental
income |s based on tenancy agreements where there (s a standard
process in place for recording revenue, which 15 system generated
There are certain transactions within revenue that warrant additional
audit focus because of an increased mherent risk of error due to their
non-standard nature

These include spreading of tenant incentives and guaranteed rent
increases - these balances require adjustments made to rentat
income to ensure revenue (s recorded on a straight Line basis over
the course of the lease

We carried out tests of controls over the cash and accounts recevable
processes and therelated (T systerns to obtain evidence that postings
to these accounts were reliable For rental incorne balances, we then
used data-enabled audht techrigues to identify all standard revenue
Journals posted using these systems and processes

The remaining Journals related to non-standard transactions
These included reclassifications within revenue, accrued income,
and bad debt provisions foreach category of non-standard
revenue summarised above, we understood the nature and
assessed the reasonableness of journals being generated, and
performed substantive testing over a sample of these items
There were no exceptions arising from our testing over
non-standard revenue transactiens

For balances not included withun rental mcome, such as serwice
charge income, we performed substantive testing on a sample basis
No issues were dentified in our testing

Accounting for transactions - Group and Company
Refer to pages 6% to 73 [Report of the Audit Committeel], pages 109
to 111 [Accounting policies) and pages 112 to 147 [Notes)

There have been @ number of transactions during the year
These warranted additional audit focus due to the magnitude of
the transactions and the potential for complex contractual terms
that introduce judgement into how they were accounted for Key
transactions subject to additional audit focus for the Group were

- Investment property acquisitions of £250 million, including the
acquisition of The Woolwich Estate | Woolwich ) for £102 rmalhon

- Investment property disposals of £185 million

- Share buyback of £300 million

- issue of 2 375% £300m unsecured bond

- Partial close out of iInterest rafe dervative 102 [ IRD 103 | for
£14 1 multion cash settlement

- Anarnount of £15m [the Group s share] received from RBS in
relation to the surrender of their tease at 135 Bishopsgate,
within the Broadgate joint venture

Key transactions subject to additional audit focus for the
Company were

- Share buyback of £360 miltion

For each transaction, we understood the nature of the transaction
and assessed the accounting treatment in relation to the Group s
accounting policies and relevant {FRSs

For acguisitions and disposals, we obtained and read the key
supporting documentation such as Sale and Purchase Agreements
and comipletion statements Consideration received or paid was
agreed to bank statements

For the sites acquired at Woolwich which have been accounted for
as an asset acquisihon, we assessed the accounting treatment in
relation 1o IFRS 3 Business combinations and 1AS 40, acgquisition of
investment property We read the sale and purchase agreements
and agreed that the purchase met the criteria to be recognised as
an asset acquisthion We audited the acquisition accounting and the
subsequent re-rmeasuremert to fair vatue at the balance sheet date
We agreed the proceeds paid to bank statements and checked the
transter of legal title of the assets passed to British Land Noissues
were found as a result of these procedures

For the share buyback, we read the broker contracts and audited

the accounting for the buyback in accordance with IAS 32 For shares
repurchased by the Group, we tested the subsequent cancellation

of the shares acqured and checked the associated costs of the
transaction were correctly recognised within reserves [retained
earnings} From our auddt procedures performed, no exceptions
were noted In the accounting for the share buyback prograrnme

A2 375% Sterling Unsecured Bond, maturing Septernber 2029, was
issued in September 2017 The new bond s held at amortised cosl,
with a book value of £297 6 million We examined the bond 1ssue
documents and the accounting treatment applied in line with 1AS 39
and are satisfied that the treatment apphed 15 appropriate

The group partially closed a long standing cash flow hedge derwvative
during the year, breaking the hedge relationship This resulted in the
recycling of £112 3m from the hedging and translation reserve and
£14 1m of closeout costs being recognised in the income statement
We tested the accounting treatment applied in Line with 1AS 3% and
have no 1ssues tareport

For the £15m received from RBS, we read the surrender agreements
that detail the payment We agreed receipt of the amount to bank
statements We concur with the treatment adopted
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Key audit maftter

How our audit addressed the key audit matler

Taxation
Refer to pages &9 to 73 [Report of the Audit Cornmittee] page 111
lAccounting policies] and pages 115 and 120 [Notes to the Accounts)

The Group's status as a REIT underpins its business model and
sharehalder returns For this reason, it warrants special audit focus
The obligations of the REIT regime include requirements to comply
with balance of business, dividend and income cover tests The
Broadgate joint venture is also structured as a REIT and as such,
REIT compliance 1s also of relevance for this joint venture m addrtion
to the overall Group

Tax provisions are in place to account for the risk of challenge of
certain of the Group's tax provisions Given the subjective nature of
these provisions, additional audit focus was placed on tax provisions

We re-performed the Group = annual REIT compliance tests, aswell

as those tests for the Broadgate REIT Based on our work performed,
we agreed with management < assessment that all REIT compliance
tests had been met to ensure that the Group and Broadgate maintam
their REIT status

We evaluated the tax provisions and movernents made within the
year We obtained sufficient supporting evidence for provisions
released during the year We discussed provisions raised and
increased during the year with management and obtained evidence
to support the levels of provisions recorded We read relevant
correspondence between the Group and Her Majesty s Revenue and
Customs to obtain evidence over the completeness of provisions
Based on our work performed, we are satished that the assumptions
and judgerments used by the Group are reasonable

How we tailored the audit scope

We taitored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinton on the financial statements as a
whole, taking into account the structure of the Group and the Company, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which

they operate

In establishung the overalt approach to our audit, we assessed the nisk of material rnisstaternent, taking into account the nature, likebihood
and potential magnitude of any misstaternent Following this assessment, we applied professional judgment to determine the extent of

testing required over each balance inthe financiat statements

The Group and Company financial statements are produced using a single consclidation systern that has a direct interface with the general
ledger The Group audit feam perforred all audit procedures over the consohdation for the purposes of the Group audit, which included
testing over the general iedger systern and its interface with the consclidation systemn The Group also has nvestments in two joint ventures
[Broadgate and Meadowhall), which were subject to avdits of their complete financial information by the Group audit team

This work gave us sufficient appropriate audit ewdence for sur opinion on the Group inancial statements as a whole

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our apphication of materiality We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality These, together
with qualitative constderations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, tming and extent of our audit procedures on the
ndnduat hinanaal statement Line items and disclosures and i evaluating the effect of misstaternents, both iIndividually and in aggregate on
the hinancial statements as a whole

Based on our professional judgement, we deterrmined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as fellows

Group financial siatements
£131 8 rullion (2017 £135 0 mutlion]
1% of total assets

Comgpany financial statements
£287 0 mitbon (2017 £283 0 mullion]
1% of total assets

The parent company s main activity 1= the holding
of investments in subsidiaries Given this, and
consistent with the prior year, we set an overall
parent cornpany materiality level based on total
assets For purposes of the Group audit, we capped
the overall materiality for the company to be 0% of
the Group overall materiality

Overall materiality

How we determined it

Rationale for benchmark
applied

A key determinant of the Group ¢ value s direct
property investments Due to this, the key area
of focus inthe audit 1s the valuation of
nvestment properties Onthis basis, and
conastent with the pricr year, we set an overati
Group rmateriality level based on total assets

I addition, for the Group we set a specific materiabity level of £19 6m (2017 £19 4mi foriterns within underlying pre-tax praofit This equatesto
3% of profit before tax adjusted for capitat and other itermns In arriving at this judgement we had regard tc the fact that the underlying pre-tax
profit 15 a secondary financiat indicator of the Group {Refer to Note 2 of the financial staternents page 112 where the term s defined in full)

For the Group and Company, we agreed with the Audit Commuttee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit
of underlying pre-tax ttems above £1m 12017 £im) as well as risstaternents betow that amount that, i our view, warranted reporting for
qualitative reasons We agreed with the Audit Comrmittee that we would report fo themn, any other risstatermnents identified during our audit
above £6 5m [2017 £6 7m) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for gualitative reasons
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cial statements

INDEPENDENT AUBITORS REPORT TO THE MEMBERS

OF THE BRITISH LAND COMPANY PLC CONTINUED

Going concern
In accordance with ISAs [UK] we report as follows

Reporting obligation

Qutcome

We are required to report If we have anything material to add or
draw attention to in respect of the directors staterment in the
financial staternents about whether the directors considered 1t
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in
preparing the financial statements and the directors identification
of any rmaterial uncertainties to the Group s and the Company s
ability to continue as a going concern over a pertod of at teast
twelve months from the date of approval of the financial
statements

We have nothing materniat to add or to draw attention to As not
all future events or conditions can be predicted, this staterment
15 not a guarantee as to the Group's and Company's ability to
continue as a going concern

We are required to report if the directors’ statement relating to
Going Concernin accordance with Listing Rule 2 8 6R(3)1s
matenally nconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit

We have nothing to report

Reporting on other information

The otherinforrnation comprises all of the inforrmation in the Annual
Report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report
thereon The directors are responsible for the other information
Our epinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or,
except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any
form of assurance thereon

I connection with cur audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility 1s to read the other information and, in doing so.
consider whether the other information 15 materially inconsistent
with the financial staterments or our knowledge cbtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated If we identify an
apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are
required to perform procedures to conclude whether there 15 a
material misstaternent of the financigl statements or a material
rnisstatement of the other information if, based on the work we have
pertormed, we conclude that there s a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact We have
nothing to report based on these responsibilities

With respect to the Strategic Report, Directors Report and
Additional Dsclosures and Corporate Governance Statement,
we also considered whether the disciosures required by the UK
Companies Act 2006 have been included

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work
undertaken (n the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006
[CADS), ISAs (UK and the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct
Authority [FCA] require us also to report certam opimions aid
matters as described below [required by ISAs iUK) unless
otherwise stated)

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report and Additional Disclosures

In our opinion, based en the work undertaken in the course of the |
audit, the information aiven in the Strategic Report and Directors’
Report and Additional Disclosures for the year ended 31 March 2018

15 consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements [CAQS)

i light of the knowtedge and understanding of the Group and
Company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit,
we did not idents#y any material misstatements in the Strategic I
Report and Directors’ Report and Additional Disclosures {CADS)
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Corporate Governance Statement

in our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the
audit, the information given in the Corporate Governance Staterment
[on page 67 1n the Governance Review section] abeut internal
controls and risk management systems i relation to financial
reporting processes and about share capital structures in
compliance withrules 72 5and 72 6 of the Disclosure Guidance and
Transparency Rules sourcebook of the FCA | DTR ]1s consistent with
the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with
applicable legal requirements {CADS)

In Light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company
and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not
identify any material misstatements in this information [CAD6}

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the
audit, the information given in the Corporate Governance Statement
lon pages 63 and 44 1n the Governance Review section] with respect
to the company s corporate governance code and practices and
about Its administrative, management and supervisory bodies and
their cormnmittees complies withrules 722,72 3and 7 2.7 of the
DTR ICA06]

We have nothing to report arising from our responsibility to report o
a corporate governance statement has not been prepared by the
company (CAO4]

The directors’ assessment of the prospects of the Group and of
the principal risks that would threaten the solvency or liguidity
of the Group

We have nothing material to add or draw attention to regarding

- The directors confirmation on page 50 of the Annual Report that
they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal risks
facing the Group, including those that would threaten its business
model, future performance, solvency or Liquidity

- The disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those risks
and explain how they are being managed or mitigated

- The directors explanation on page 51 of the Annual Report as to
how they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what
peried they have done so and why they consider that period to be
appropriate, and therr statement as to whether they have a
reasocnable expectation that the Group wilt be able to continue In
operation and meet its habilities as they fall due over the period
of their assessment, including any retated disclosures drawing
attention to ahy necessary qualifications or assumptions



We have nothing to repert having performed a review of the
directors statement that they have carried out a rebust assessment
of the principal risks facing the Group and statement in relation to
the longer-term viability of the Group Cur review was substantially
less in scope than an audit and only consisted of making mguiries
and considering the directors process supporting their stalements,
checking that the staternents are  alignment with the relevant
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code [the 'Code ), and
considering whether the statements are consistent with the
knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company and thetr
envirenment obtained in the course of the audit IListing Rules)

Other Code Provisions
We have nothing to report in respect of our responsibility to
report when

- The staternent given by the directors, on page 67 that they
consider the Annual Report taken as a whole 1o be fair, balanced
and understandable, and provides the inforrmation necessary for
the members to assess the Group s and Company's position and
performance, business model and strategy s matenally
inconsistent with our knowledge of the Group and Company
obtaned in the course of performing our audit

- The section of the Annual Report on page 6% describing the work
of the Audit Committee does not appropriately address matters
communicated by us to the Audit Committee

- The directors statement relating to the company s complhance
with the Code does not properly disclose a departure from a
relevant provision of the Code spacified, under the Listing Rules,
for review by the auditors

Directors’ Remuneration

In our opinicn, the part of the Directors Remuneration Report to be
audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006 [CADc]

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Directors Responsibiities Statement
set out on page 93, the directors are respensible for the preparation
of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable
framework and for being satishied that they give a true and fair view
The directors are atso respensible for such internal control as they
determime 1s necessary to enabie the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstaterment, whether

due to fraud or error

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's and the Company s ability to continue as
a gomng concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liguidate the Group or the Company or to
cease operalions, or have no restistic alternative but to do so

. Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditors report that includes our opinion Reasonable assurance

is a high tevel of assurance, but 1s not a guarantee that an audit
conducted m accordance with iSAs (UK] will always detect 2 material
misstatement when it exists Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are censidered materialif, individually or inthe aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basts of these financiat statements

Afurther description of our responsibilities for the audit of

© the financial statements is located on the FRC s website at
www.frc.org.uk fauditorsresponsibitities This description
forms part of our auditors report

Use of this report

This report, including the epinions, has been prepared for and only

for the company s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3

of Part 16 of the Companies Act 20046 and for no other purpose

We do not, in giving these cpinions, accept or assume responsibility

for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report

" I1s shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in writing

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

Underthe Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you If,
iN our opinien

- we have not recerved alt the information and explanations we
require for cur audit, or

- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company.
or returns adeguate for our audit have not beenrecerved from
branches not wisited by us, or

- certain disclosures of directors remunaration specifled by law
are not made, or

- the company financial statements and the part of the Directors

‘ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the

accounting records and returns

We have no exceptions te report arising from this responsibility

Appointment

Foltowing the recommendation of the audit committee, we were
appointed by the members on 18 July 2014 to audit the financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 20615 and subsequent
financial periods The period of total uminterrupted engagement 15
4 years, covering the years ended 31 March 2015 to 31 March 2018

John Wiaters (Senior Statutory Auditor)

‘ for and on behatf of PricewaterhouseCeoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

- Londcn

| 16 May 2018
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Financiaf s¢atements

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

2018 G
Capstal Carta
Underlying'  and other Total Jedoowng ohid a1t et Tors
Nale £m £m £m £ [ f
Revenue 3 561 78 639 556 33 589
Costs 3 {136) (64] 1200) 1221 {26} 148}
3 425 14 439 434 7 441
Joint ventures and funds {see also below) i 115 35 151 132 [80] 52
Admnistrative expenses 82} - 182} 1B4) - [84)
Valuation movernent 4 - 202 202 - [144) N144)
Profit loss) on disposal of investment properties
and investments - 18 18 - [5) {3)
Net financing costs
- financing ncome b 1 - 1 2z 42 44
- financing charges b (65] (163] 1228) 180} [29) 110%]
164) 115631 1227) 1781 13 165)
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 394 107 501 404 [209] 195
Taxation 7 - ] [ 1 1
Profit for the year after taxation 507 196
Attributable to non-controtling interests 14 - 14 14 1111 3
Attributable to shareholders of the Company 380 113 493 390 1n97) 193
Earnings per share
- basic 2 48,7p 18 8p
- diluted 2 48.5p 14 Tp
All results derive from continuing operations
2018 at
Capital opital
Underlying!  and other Total ndary g ang re- Tt
Nt £m £m £m i “r el
Results of joint ventures and funds accounted
for using the equity method
Underlying Profit 115 - 115 132 - 132
Valuation movermnent 4 - 52 52 - [23) 193]
Capital financing costs - M3f 13 - 6l ]
[Loss] profit on disposal of Investment properties,
trading properties and investments - (3} (3) - 18 18
Taxation - - - - 1 1
1 115 36 151 132 180) 52
See definticrir rate #
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THEYEAR ENDED 21 MARCH 2018

2018 N
£m 1
Profit for the year after taxation 507 196
Other comprehensive income {toss):
Items that will not be reciassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Net actuarial gain {loss) on pension schemes 9 {12
Valuation movements on owner-occupled properties {3t -
] {12]
Itemns that may be reclassified subsequenily te profit or loss:
Gains losses] on cash flow hedges
- Group 12 (21
- Joint ventures and funds 8 1
20 {20
Transferred to the ncone statement [cash flow hadges)
- Interest rate derivatives 120 16
Deferred tax on items of other comprehensive income (5 -
Other comprehensive income [loss) fer the year 141 &)
Totai comprehensive income for the year 648 18C
Attributable to non-controiling interests 16 3
Attributable to sharehotders of the Company 632 177
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Finzpeind statcments

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 MARCH 2018

2018
» £m
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investment and development properties 0 9,607 9073
Owner-occupled properties 10 906 94
9,597 2167
Other non-current assets
Investments in joint ventures and funds n 2,822 2.766
Other investments 12 174 154
Deferred tax assels 16 4 4
interest rate and currency derivative assets 17 118 217
12,712 12.308
Current assets
Joint venture held for sale n - 540
Trading properties 10 328 334
Debtors 13 35 173
{ash and short term deposits 17 105 14
468 1152
Total assels 13,180 13,467
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Short term borrowings and overdrafts 17 271 1464}
Crednors 14 [324) 1458)
Corporation tax {22) {30}
1373) 1952)
Non-current liabilities
Debentures and loans 17 (3,10%) 2817
Other non-current habilities 15 162} {78]
interest rate and currency derivative habibhies 17 1138) 1144}
e 30300 3.039)
Total liabikities 13,674) 13.991]
Net assets 9,505 476
EQUITY
Share capital 248 260
Share premium 1,300 1.298
Merger reserve 213 213
Other reserves 33 197}
Retlained earnings 7,458 7947
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 9,252 9.221
Non-controlling \nterests . 254 755
Total equity 4,506 9476
EPRA NAV per share' 2 F7p 315p
A odElnen vroke
John Gildersleeve Chris Grigg
Chairman Chief Executive Dfficer

The financial statements on pages 104 to 147 were approved by the Board of Direciors and signed on ts behal on 16 May 2018
Company number 621920
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

2018 B
Mt £m L

Rental incorne recesved from tenants 446 464
Fees and other InCome recetved 78 64
Operating expenses paid to suppliers and employees 173) 1149}
Cash generated from operations 351 a7e
Interest pard (73 (92}
interest received 4 8
Corporation texation [payments) repayments 7] ?
Distributions and other recevables from joint ventures and funds 1 78 59
Net cash inflow from operating activities 353 363
Cash flows from investing activities
Development and other capital expenditure i190) [223)
Purchase of investment properties (145) (871
Sale of Investment and trading properties 212 761
Payments received in respect of future trading property sales B 8
isposal of joint venture held-for-sate 11 568 -
Disposal of Tesco jaint venture 68 -
Purchase of investments ]| 09l
indiract taxes paid in respect of investing activities N )
tnvestment 1n and {oans to jomt ventures and funds (175) 150}
Capitat distnibutions and loan repayments from joint ventures and funds 36 83
Net cash inflow from investing activities 346 470
Cash flows from financing activities
Issue of ordinary shares 2 3
Unit 1ssues attributable to non-controlling interests 2 -
Furchase of own shares (3613 (8]
Dwidends paid 19 (304) [293)
Dradends patd to nen-controlling interests 115) f14)
Acquisttion of units (n Hercules Unit Trust (4] (1
Payrnents on closeout of interest rate dervative Labilities 18l (13
Recewpts on closesut of Interest rate dervative assets 27 -
Decrease in bank and other borrowings (6261 1526
Drawdowns on bank and other borrowings 529 31
Net cash outflow from financing activities [708) i833)
Net decreasen cach and cash equivalents (9 -
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 1a 114
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 105 114
Cash and cash equivalents consists of:
Cash and short term deposis 17 105 114
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Finuncial statements

CONSCLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

CRY

1 R-
TS R EERUIPS Fold Roon Total
[T ' PN ES Totat equity
o Nid o e fm £m
Batance at 1 April 2017 260 {112} 15 213 7,547 9,221 255 9,476
Profit for the year after taxation - - - - - 493 493 14 507
Revaluation of owner-occupied property - - - {3) - - (3 - (3]
Gains on cash flow fiedges - Group - - 10 - - - 10 2 12

Gains on cash flow hedges - joint ventures

and funds - - - 8 - - 8 - 8
Transferred to the incorne statement

Icash flaw hedges)

- Interast rate derivatives - - 120 - - - 120 - 120
Net actuariat gain on pension schemes -~ - - - - 9 9 - ?
Reserves transfer - - (2§ 2 - - - - -
Deferred tax on items of ather comprehensive income ~ - (5} - - - (s} - (5]
Other comprehensive Income ~ - 123 7 - 9 139 P4 141
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 123 7 - 502 632 16 648
Share 1ssues - 2 - - - - 2 - 2
Unit 1ssues attributable to non-controlling interests - - - - - - - 2 F4
Purchase of own shares (12} - - - - [289)  130%) - 1301)
Purchase of units from non-controlling interests - - - - - ~ - (41 14}
Dividends payabte in year (29 64p per sharel - - - - - (3025  (302) - {302}
Dividends payable by subsidiaries - - - - - - - 18l (15}
Balance at 31 March 2018 248 1,300 i1 22 213 7458 9,252 254 9,506
Balance at 1 April 2016 260 1,295 {107) 14 213 7667 7342 277 2,619
Profit for the year after taxation - - - - - 193 193 3 126
Losses on cash flow hedges - - {21 - - - 21 - i21)

Exchange and hedging moverments in joint veniures
and funds - - - 1 - - 1 - 1

Reclassification of gains on cash flow hedges

- Interest rate derivatives - - 16 - - - 16 - 16
Net gctuarial toss on pension schemes - - - - - 12} 112} - 12
Other comprehensive floss) income - - [5) 1 - 12! 6! - 116)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 13) 1 - 181 177 3 180
Shareissues - 3 - - ~ - 3 - 3
Fair value of share and share option awards - - - - - 2 2 - 2
Purchase of awn shares - - - - - tel 18] - {8
Purchase of units from non-controtling interests - - - - - - - n N
Gain on purchase of units from non-controlling
interests - - - - - 1 1 - 1
Dwidends payable in year [28 78p per sharel - - - - - 1296)  1296) - 1295)
Divigends payable by subsidiaries, - - - - - - - 4] {14)
Balance at 31 March 2017 260 1,298 {112 15 213 7547 9221 253 9,476

Treps ance gt heg nnrg of te Lorerlye oo lles cUTR 1 roanior felizns ghor sng 27 ot e cliee L hedy e LA A f9e ana e
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

1 Basis of preparation., significant accounting
policics and accounting judgements

The financiat staternents for the year ended 3t March 2018

have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the
revaluation of properties, investments held for trading and
derivatives The financial statements have also been prepared

in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
[IFRSs] as adopted by the European Union and interpretations
1ssued by the IFRS Interpretations Commiitee (FRS IC], and
therefore comply with article 4 of the EU IAS regulation, and in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006 Inthe current financial
year the Group has adopted & number of muinor amendments to
standards effective in the year issued by the |IASB and endorsed
by the EU, none of which have had a material impact on the Group
The accounting policies used are otherwise consistent with those
contained inthe Group’s previous Annual Report and Accounts
for the year ended 31 March 2017

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and
interpretations have beenissued but are not yet etfective for the
current accounting period None of these are expected to have a
material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group

Certain standards which could be expected to have anympact on the
consolidated financial statements are discussed i further detait
below The Group conducted animpact assessment of the new
standards which are effective next year based onthe Group s current
activittes and have quantified the impact The results of the impact
assessment confirm that the new standards will lead to limited
changes to presentation and disclosure and witl have an rmmatertal
impact on the conselidated financial statements

IFRS ¢ - Financial instruments [effective year ending March 2019}

- The new standard addresses the classification and measurement
of financial assets

- The alignment of the classification and measurement model
under [FRS will result in changes in the classification of all
financial assets excluding derivatives These changes will not
have a quantitative impact on the financral statements

- IFRS 9 introduces an expected credit toss model, requiring an
expected credit loss 1o be recognised on all financial assets held
at amortised cost The quantitative impact based on balances as
at 31 March 2018 will result i the recoamition of an expected
credit loss of £5m, with a corresponding reduction in financial
assets held at amortised cest of £5m The Group has previously
provided for a materially similar balance against trade and other
recewvables and therefore the resulting reclassification of
existing provisions will not have a material impact on the net
assets of the Group

- IFRS % introduces changes to the qualifying criteria for hedge
accounting and expands the financial and non-financial
mstruments which may be designated as hedged items and
hedging instrurments in order to align hedge accounting with
business strategy The changes to hedge accounting under IFRS ?
will result in qualitative enhancements to the interest rate and
forewgn currency risk management disclosures The changes
introduced by IFRS # witl not have & quantitative impact on the
cansobidated financial statements of the Group

IFRS 15 ~ Revenue from contracts with customers (effective year

ending 31 March 2019)

- The new standard combines a number of previous standards,
setting out a five step model for the recogrition of revenue and
establishing principtes for reporting useful information to users
of financial statements about the nature, timmng and uncertainty
of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity's contracts with
customers The new standard does not apply to rental Income,
whichis in the scope of [AS 17, but does apply to service charge
income, management and pertormance fees and trading property

disposals The changes introduced by IFRS 12 will result in
minirmal gualitative changes to the revenue disclosure and will
not have a quantitative iImpact on the conschidated financial
statements of the Group

IFRS 16 - Leases (effective year ending 31 March 2020)

- Forlessees, IFRS 16 will result in almest all operating leases
being brought on batance sheet, as the distinction between
operating and finance leases will be removed The accounting
for tessors wilt however not significantly change As a result,
on adophon of the new standard, these changes will have
animmaterial impact on the consolidated financial staternents
of the Group

Going concern
The financial statements are prepared on a gomng concern basis
as explained in the corporate governance section on page 51

Subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates lincluding funds)
The consolidated accounts incluge the accounts of The British Land

- Company PLC and atl subsidianies [entittes controlled by British
" Land} Control is assumed where British Land is exposed, or has

the rights, to variable returns from its involvement with investees
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
those Invesiees

The results of subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates acquired or
disposed of durmg the year are included from the effective date of
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal Accounting policies
of subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates which differ from Group
accounting policies are adjusted on consolidation

Business combinations are accounted for under the acquisition
method Any excess of the purchase price of business combinations
over the fair value of the assets, iabilities and contingent Llabihities
acquired and resulting deferred tax thereon is recognised as
goodwill Any discount receved s credited 1o the income statement
in the period of acquisition

Allintra-Group transactions, balances, iIncome and expenses

are eliminated on censolidation Joint ventures and associates,
including funds, are accounted for under the equity method,
whereby the consolidated balance sheet incorporates the Group s
share investor s share) of the net assets of its joint ventures and
assoctates The consolidated income staterment incorporates the
Group s share of joint venture and associate profits after tax Therr
profits inctude revaluation movements on investment properties

Distributions and other receivabies trom joint ventures and
associates [including fundsl are classed as cash flows from
operating activities, except where they relate te a cash flow arising
from a capital transaction, such as a property or investment
disposal Inthis case they are classed as cash flows from
nvesting activities

Properties

Properties are externatly valued on the basis of fair vatue at the
balance sheet date Investment and owner-occupted properties are
recorded at valuation whereas trading properties are stated at the
lower of cost and net realizable value

Any surptus or defictt arstng on revaluing mvestment properties 1s
recognised in the capital and cther colurmn of the ncome staterment

Any surptus arising on revaluing owner-occupied properties above
cost Is recognised in other comprehensive income, and any deficit
aricing in revaluation below cost for owner-occupied and trading
properties is recognised in the capital and other column of the
income statement
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Financial statements

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

The cost of properties in the course of development includes
attributable interest and other associated outgoings including
attributable development personnel costs Interest s calculated on
the development expenditure by reference to specific borrowings,
where relevant, ang otherwise on the weighted average mterest rate
of British Land Company PLC borrowings interest s nof capitalised
where no development activity 1s taking place Aproperty ceases to
be treated as a development property on practical cormpletion

Investrnent property disposals are recogrised on completion
Profits and losses arising are recognised through the capital and
other column of the ;ncome statement The prohi on disposal is
determined as the difference between the nel sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset at the commencement of the
accounting period plus capital expenditure in the period

Trading properties are inttially recognised at cost less impatrment,
and trading property disposats are recognised in line with the
revenue policies outlined below

Where investment properties are appropriated to trading properties,
they are transferred at market value If properties held for trading are
appropriated to investment properties, they are transferred at book
value In determining whether ieases and related properties represent
operating or finance leases, consideration (s given to whether the
tenant or landlord bears the risks and rewards of ownership

Financial assets and liabilities

Trade debtors and crediters are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at amertrsed cost and discounted
as appropriate

Other mvestments include loans and recervables held at amortised
cost and investments held for trading classifred as fair value through
profit or loss Amortised cost of leans and receivables s measured
using the effective interest method, less any impairment Interestis
recognised by applying the effective interest rate Investments held
far trading are inimally recorded at fair value and are subsequently
externally valued on the same basis at the balance sheet date Any
surplus or deficit arising on revaluing investments held for trading is
recognised in the capital and other columin of the income statement

Where an investment property s hetd under a head lease, the head
lease is inally recogrused as an asset, being the sum of the premium
paid on acquisttion plus the present value of minimum ground rent
payments The corresponding rent lisbility to the head leasehoider

s incluged in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation

Debt instrumernits are stated at their net proceeds onissue Finance
charges inciuding premia payable on settlement or redemption and
direct 1ssue costs are spread over the pened to redermption, using
the effective interest method Exceptional finance charges incurred
due to early redemption {including premiums) are recogrised in the
income statement when they occur

Convertible bonds are designated as fair value through profit or loss
and so are initially recognised at fair value with all subsequent gains
and losses, Including the write-oft of 1ssue costs, recogrised in the
capital and other column of the Income statement as a component of
net financing costs The interest charge in respect of the coupon rate
on the bonds has been recagmised within the underlying cornponent
of net financing costs on an accruals basis
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As defined by 1AS 39 cash flow and fair value hedges are initially
recognised at fair value at the date the derwative contracts are
entered inte, and subsequently remeasured at fair value Changes
inthe fair value of derivatives that are desighated and qualify as
effective cash flow hedges are recognised directly through other
comprehensive iIncome as a movernent In the hedging and transtation
reserve Changes inthe fair value of derivatives that are designated
and gualify as etfective fair value hedges are recorded in the capital
and other cotumn of the income staterment, along with any changes

| in the fair value ot the hedged itern that 15 attributable to the hedged

riek Anyinetfective portion of all derivatives 1s recognised inthe
capital and other coturnn of the income statement Changes in

the fair value of derivatives that are not in a designated hedging
relationship under IAS 39 are recorded directiy in the capital and
other column of the iIncome statement These derivatives are carried
at fatr value on the balance sheet

Cash equwalents are imited to instruments with a maturity of less
than three months

i Held for sale assets

Assets are classified as held for salef their carrying amount (s
expected to be recovered or settled principaliy through sale rather
than through continuing use The asset must be available for
immediate sale and the sale must be fighly probable within one year
of the reporting date Held for sale assets are measured at the tower
of carrying value and faw value less costs to sell Imparrment losses
onmniiial classification as held for sale and gains or losses on
subsedquent re-rmeasurements are inctuded in the capital and other
colurnn of the income statement

Revenue

Revenue comprises rental income and surrender prermua, service
charge income, management and performance fees and proceeds
from the cale of trading properties

Rental income, including fixed rentat uplifts, from investment
properiy ieased out under an operating lease is recognised as
revenue on a straight-line basis over the lease termn Lease
incentivas, such as rent-free periods and cash contributions to
tenant fit-out are recogrised on the same straight-line basis being
an integral part of the net consideration for the use of the investment
property Any rent adjustments based on open market estimated
rental values are recogrused, based on management estimates, from
the rent review date in relation to unsetiied rent reviews Contingent
rents, being those lease payments that are not hixed at the inception
of the tease,_including for example turnover rents, are recogrised in
the period in which they are earned

Surrender preria for the early deterrmination of a lease are
recogrised as revenue immediately upon receipt, net of dilapidations
and non-recoverable outgoings relating to the lease concerned
Service ¢charge income 15 recognised as revenue in the period to
which it relates

Management and performance fees receivable are recognised as
revenue in the period to which they relate Performance fees are
recognised at the end of the perfermance period when the fee
amount can be estimated reliably and 1t 1s virtually certain that the
tee will be recewed

Proceeds from the sale of trading properties are recognised when
the risks and rewards of ownershp have been transferred 1o the
purchaser This generally occurs on completion Proceeds{romthe
sale of trading properties are recognised as revenue in the capital
and other column of the income staiement All other revenue
described above 1s recegmised in the underlying column of the
income statement



Taxation

Current tax s based on taxable profit for the year and 15 calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted

at the balance sheet date Taxable profit differs from net profit

as reported in the iIncoeme statement because It excludes items

of incorne or expense that are not taxabte lor tax deductible)

Deferred tax s provided on items that may become taxable in the
future, or which may be used to offset against taxable profits in the
future, on the temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and hiabilities for financial reporting purposes, and the
amounts used for taxation purposes on an undiscounted basis

On business combinations, the deferred tax effect of fair value
adjustments s incorporated in the consclidated balance sheet

Employee costs

The fair value of equity-settled share-based payments to employees
is deterrmined at the date of grant and 15 expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting peried. based on the Group s estimate of
shares or options that will eventually vest Inthe case of options
granted, fair value is measured by a Black-5choles pricing model

Defined benefit pension scheme assets are measured using far
values Pension scheme ligbilities are measured using the projected
urit credit rnethod and discounted at the rate of return of a high
quality corporate bond of equivalent term te the scheme liabilities
The net surplus lwhere recoverable by the Group) or deficit s
recognised in full inthe consolidated balance sheet Any asset
resulting from the calculation is imited to the present value of
avaiiable refunds and reductions in future contributions to the plan

The current service cost and gains and losses on settlement and
curtailments are charged to operating profit Actuanal gains and
losses are recogrised Infull in the period in which they occur and are
presented in the consolidated staterment of cormprehensive inceme

Contributions o the Group's defined contribution schemies are
expensed on the basis of the contracted annual contribution

Accounting judgements and estimates

In applying the Group s accounting policies, the Directors are
required to make judgements and estimates that affect the
financial statements

Significant areas of estimation are

Vatuation of properties and investments held for trading

The Groug uses external professional valuers to determine the
relevant amounts The primary source of evidence for property
valuations should be recent, comparable market transactions on
anarmis-length basis However, valuations of the Group s property
portfelio and investments held for trading are imherently subjective,
as they are made on the basis of assumptions made by the valuers
which may not prove to be aecurate

Other less significant areas of estimation inciude the valuation of
fixed rate debt and interest rate derwvatives, the determination of
share-based payment expense, the actuarial assumptions used
in calculating the Group's retirerment benefit obligations and
taxation provisions

The key areas of accounting judgerment are

REIT status British Land i1s a Real Estate Investment Trust [REIT)
and does not pay tax onits property incorme or gains on property
' sales, prowided that at teast 90°% of the Group s property iIncorme s
distributed as a dividend to sharehotders, which becomes taxable
n their hands [n addition, the Group has to meet certain conditions
such as ensuring the property rental business represents more than
75% of total profits and assets Any potential or proposed changes
to the REIT legislation are monitored and discussed with HMRC
. lt1s maragement s intention that the Group will continue as a REIT
for the foreseeable tuture

Accounting for joint ventures and funds In accoerdance with IFRS 10
Consolidated financial statements | IFRS 11 Joint arrangements,
and IFRS 12 ‘Disclosures of interests in other entities” an assessment
1s required to determine the degree of contrel or influence the Group
exercises and the form of any control to ensure that the financial
staternent treatment 1s appropriate The assessment undertaken by
management inciudes a consideration of the structure, legal form,

" contractual lerms and other facts and circumstances in relation to
the entity in guestion, prior to reaching a conclusien This assessment
is updated annually and there have been ne changes in the Judgement
reached in relation to the degree of control the Group exercises
within the current or prior year Group shares in joint ventures and
funds resutting from this process are disclosed in note 11 to the
financial statements

Interest in the Group s joint ventures is commonly driven by the
terms cof the partnershup agreements which ensure that control s
shared between the partners All significant joint venture arrangements
of the Group are hetd in structures in which the Group has 50% of the
voting rights Jetnt ventures are accounted for under the egquity
- method, whereby the consolidated balance sheet incorporates the
Group s share of the net assets of its joint ventures and associates
" The consolidated income staternent incorporates the Group s share
of joint venture and associate profits after tax

Accounting for transactions Property transactions are complex in

' nature and can be materal to the financial statements Judgements

. made mn relation to transactions include whether an acquisition 1s a
business combination or an asset, whether held for sale criteria have

. been et for transactions not yet compteted, and accounting for

transaction costs and contingent considerstion Management

consider each transaction separately in order to determine the most

appropriate accounting treatment, and, when considered necessary,

seek independent advice
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Finaneial statenments

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

2 Performance measures

Earnings per share

The Group measures financial performance with reference to underlying earnings per share, the European Public Real Estate Assocation (EPRAL
earnings per share and IFRS earnings per share The relevant earnings ang welghted average number of shares lincluding dilution adjustments)
for each performance measure are shown below, and a reconciliation between these 1s shown within the supplementary disclosures {Table B)

EPRA earnings per share 1s caiculated using EPRA earnings, which 1s the IFRS prohit after taxation atiributable to shareholders of the
Company excluding investment and development property revaluations, gains/losses on investing and trading property disposats, changes
i the farr value of hnancial instruments and associated close-out costs and their retated taxation The 2012 convertible bond was repaid in
the current year In the prior year difuted EPRA earmings per share did pot include the dilutive impact of the 2012 convertible bond, as the
Group s share price was below the exchange price of 693 pence 1FRS diluted earnings per share included the ditutive impact as 1AS 33
gnores this hurdle to conversion. In the current and prior year, both EPRA and IFRS measures exclude the dilutive impact of the 2015
convertible bond as the Company s share price had not exceeded the level required for the convertible conditions attached to the bond to
trigger corwersion into shares

Undertymg earrings per share is calculated using Undertying Profit adjusted for underlying taxation {see note 7} Underlying Profitis the pre-tax
EPRA earrnungs measure, with additienal Company adjustments No Company adjustrnents were made in erther the current or prior year

2018 2014
Relevant
Relevant number Earnings ~ v Fa
earnings of shares per share nat? s 2l por
Earnings per share £m million pence i Sl e
Underlying
Underlyirg basic 380 1,013 37.5 390 1,02¢ 379
Underlying diluted 380 1,016 37.4 3%0 1.033 378
EPRA
EPRA basic 380 1,013 375 390 1,029 379
EPRA diluted 380 1,016 37.4 3%0 1,033 378
IFRS
Basic 493 1,013 48.7 193 1029 188
Orluted 493 1,016 48.5 16C 1,671 147

Net asset value

The Group measures financial position with reference to EPRA net asset value INAV] per share and EPRA triple net asset value INNNAV] per
share The net ascet value and number of shares for each performance measure are shown below A reconciiation between IFRS net assets
and EPRA net assets, and the relevant number of shares for each performance measure, 1s shown within the supplementary disclosures
[Tabie Bl EPRA net assets s a proportionally consolidated measure that 1s based on IFRS net assets excluding the mark-te-market on
deratives and related debt adjustiments, the mark-to-market on the convertible bonds as well as deferred taxation op property and
derwvative valuations They include the valuation surplus on trading properties and are adjusted for the dilutive impact of share options

The 2012 convertible bond was repaid in the current year Inthe prior year EPRA NAV and EPRA NNNAY did not include the dilutive impact of
the 2012 convertble bond. as the Group s share price was below the exchange price of 692 pence in the current and prior year, both EPRA and
IFRS measures exclude the dilutive impact of the 2015 convertible bend as the Company’s share price had not exceeded the level required for
the convertible conditions attached to the bond to trigger conversion into shares

2018 217
Relevant Net asset Net asael
Relevant number value per vol 2o
net assets of shares share who e
Net asset value per share £m million pence per e
EPRA
EPRANAV 9,560 989 967 9,498 1,038 915
EPRA NNNAV 9,064 989 bals 8,938 1,038 861
IFRS
Basic 9,506 983 2567 Q476 1,029 921
Diluted 9,506 989 961 2876 1,096 201

Total accounting return
The Group also measures bnancial performance with reference to total accounting return Thisis calculated as the increase in EPRA net
asset value per share and dindend paid in the year as a percentage of the EPRA net asset value per share at the start of the year

2018 217
{ncreasetn  Dividend per Total Nezrmasen Dwigena per a0t
NAV per share share paid accounting  NAV ey sh e share pamn ac.cuning
penhce pence return per.g neI1cE ~turn
Total accounting return 52 29.64 8.9% 14) 2878 27%
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3 Revenue and costs

2018 YL
Capatal ol
Underlying and other Total Lhas g doalE T Tea
£m £m tm [N L O
Rent recejvable 441 - 441 449 - 449
Spreading of tenant Incentives and guaranteed rent incresses 1] - {&) i%) - (9}
Surrender premia 5 - & 2 - 2
Grossrental income 441 - 441 4472 - 447
Trading property sales proceeds - 78 78 - 33 a3
Service charge income b6 - &6 62 - 62
Management ang performance fees [from jomt ventures and funds] & - 6 9 -
Other fees and commissions 48 - 48 43 - 43
Revenue 561 78 639 556 33 58¢
Trading property cost of sales - [64) {64) - [26] 126
Service charge expenses {66) - 66 [62) - 1621
Property operating expenses {29 - (29} (23) - {25]
Other fees and commissions expenses [41) - (41) 135) - [35)
Costs {136) {64) (200) n22] (24 (148)
425 14 439 434 7 441

The cash element of net rental income recogrised during the year ended 31 March 2018 frorn properties which were not subject to a security
mterest was £301m [2016/17 £276im] Property operating expenses relating to investment properties that did not generate any rental incorne
ware £2m [2016/17 £2m] Contingent rents of £4m [2016/17 £2m] were recognised inthe year

4 Valuation movements on property

2018 L
£m -
Consolidated income statement
Revatuation of properties 202 IT44)
Revatuation of properties hield by joimt ventures and funds accounted for using the equity method 52 93]
254 (2371
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Revaiuation of owner-occupied properties (3) -
251 237]
5 Auditors’ remuncration — PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Fees pavable to the Company s auditors for the audit of the Company s annuat accounts 0.3 02
Fees payable to the Cempany s auditors for the audit of the Company © subsidiaries, pursuant to legislation 0.4 04
Total audit fees 0.7 0é6
Audit-related assurance services 0.1 01
Total audit and audit-related assurance services 0.8 07
Other feas
(Other services 0.2 0!
Total 1.0 08

In addition to the above, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP were remunerated for non-audit fees in PREF an equity accounted property fund
[seencte 11) The Group s share of fees totalled £0 1m (2016/17 £0 Tm] PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP are not the external auditors to PREF

British Land | Aninaad Reporl and Accounts 2018 113



Finuncial statements

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

G Net financing costs

2018 av
£m e
Underlying
Financing charges
Bank loans and overdrafts §21] 26
Derivatives 28 23
Other loans (761 183)
Obligations under head leases (2) 12)
vall {88]
Development interest capitalised ] 5
[65) [80)
Financing income
Deposits, securities and liguid investments 1 2
1 2
Net financing charges - underlying (64) {78l
Capital and other
Financing charges
Valuation movements on translation of foreign currency net assets m -
Hedging reserve recycling' (1986) -
Valuation movements on fair value derivatives (791 31
Valuation movements on fair value debt 80 148]
Recycling of fair value movement on close-out of denvatives (4} nol
Capital financing costs (271 (151
Valuatton movement on rion-hedge accounted derivatives 16) 71
{163) {29]
Financing income
Fair value movement on convertible bonds - 42
- 42
Net financing {charges] income - capital 163) 13
Net financing costs
Tatal firancing income 1 44
Total financing charges 1228) 1109)
Net financing costs (227) 165)

[nterest payable on unsecured bank (oans and related interest rate derivatives was £9m (2076/17 £13m] Interest on development expenditure
15 caprtabsed at the Group's weighied average interest rate of 2 0% [2016/17 2 49%) The weighted average interest rate on a proportionately

consolidated basis at 31 March 2018 was 2 8% 2016/17 3 1%)

Rep ez avalge-h
auor ot

2o T tut e gt ds e et anar divder ot and pa hdae tosts

aen
Froprec
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T Taxation

2018 2007
£m tn
Taxationincome lexpense]
Current taxation:
UK corporation taxation 19% (2018/17 20%) - 13)
Adjustments in respect of prior years 1 4
Total current taxation income 1 1
Deferred taxation on revaluations and derivatives 5 -
Group total taxation 6 L
Attriutable to joint ventures and funds - 1
Total taxation income & 2
Taxation reconciliation
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 507 193
Less profit attributable t jomnt ventures and funds' 1151} [52)
Group profit en ordinary activities before taxation 350 143
Taxation on profit on erdimary activities at UK corporation taxation rate of 19% [2016/17 20%] (67) {29]
Effects of
REIT exempt income and gains 7 28
Taxation losses (4] (2]
Deferred taxation on revaluations and derivatives 5 -
Adyustments in respect of pricr years 1 4
Group total taxation income é 1
AU iiaxe T o=xpeme= T UATEST e 0 e mageterr Ldoxa m =eton s gl e e e et 0t nntaL =06 Dot eenhrsaa doones Tros ooy

LA e - Lrop~Nc Taa

Taxattion expense attributable to Underlying Protit for the year ended 31 March 2018 was £mil [2016/17 £nil) Corparation taxation payable at
21 March 2018 was £22m [2016/17 £30m as shown on the balance sheet Dunng the year to 31 March 2018 various tax provisions in respect
of historic taxation matters and current points of uncertainty In the UK have been released and provisions made The net movement, whichis
included within the tax credit above, is not material

B Staff costs

2018 7

Staff costs [including Directors] £m fn
Wages and salaries 70 64
Social secunty costs ? 8
Pension costs 7 7
Equity-settled share-based payments - 4
86 83

The average monthly number of emplovees of the Company during the year was 265 (2016/17 261l The average monthly number of Group
employees including those employed directly at the Group's properties and their coste recharged to tenants, was 835 [2016/17 771

The average monthly number of employees of the Company within each category of persons employed was as follows Retall 58, Offices 34,
Canada Water 13, Developments 33, Storey 4, Support Functions 121

The Executive Directors and Mon-Executive Directors are the key management persennel Their emeluments are summarsed below and
further detait 1s discioced in the Remuneration Report on pages 76 to 91

2018 21
Directors’ emoluments £m L
Short term employee benefits 5.5 30
Service cost in retation to defined benefit pension schemes 0.2 02
Equity-cettied share-based payments 1.4 19
6.8 71
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Finunciat statements

NCTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

8 Staff costs continued

Staff costs

The Group's equity-settled share-based payments comprise the Long-Term Incentive Plan {LTIP), the Matching Share Plan [MSP) and
various savings related share option schermes

The Company expenses an estimate of how many shares are likely to vest based on the market price at the date of grant, taking account
of expected performance against the relevant performance targets and service periods, which are discussed in further detat in the
Remuneration Report

For ali schemes except the Company's Long-Term Incentive Plan share options, the fair value of awards are equal to the market value at
grant date The key inputs used to value share options using a Black-Schates model granted under the Company s Long-Term Incentive Plan
are shown below

Long-Term incentive Plan: Awards in the year ended 31 March 2018 - ;’L‘J‘;
Share price and exercise price at grant date §17p
Expected option lfe In years 5
Risk free rate 0.8%
Expected volatility Z4%
Expected dividend yreld 5%
Value per oplion &8p

Movements in shares and options are given in note 20

9 Pensions

The British Land Group of Companies Penston Scheme (the scheme ) is the principal detined benefit pension scheme inthe Group The
assets of the scheme are held in a trustee-administered fund and kept ceparate from those of the Company itis not contracted out of SERPS
iState Farnings-Related Penston Schemel and it is not planned to admit new employees to the scheme The Group has three other small
defined benefit pension schemes There is also a Defined Contribution Pensien Scheme Contributions to this scheme are at a flat rate of
15% ot salary for non-Directors and are patd by the Company

The total net pension cost charged for the year was £7m 12016/17 £7m), of which £5m [2016/17 £4m] relates to defined centribution plans
ang £2m 12016/17 £3m) relates to the current service cost of the defined benefit schemes

Afull actuarial valuation of the scherne was carnied out at 31 March 2015 by consulhing actuaries, AON Hewitt Associates Lt The employer s
contributions will be paid in the future at the rate recommended by the actuary of 72 9% per annum of basic salanes The best estimate of
employer contributions expected to be paid during the year to 31 March 201915 £5m The major assumptions used for the actuanial valuation were

2018 T T 2210 20
% pa vhe Tpa " one u e
Discount rate 2.6 24 iz 31 44
Salary nflation 49 49 48 48 52
Pensions increase 3.3 23 32 32 33
Price inflation 3.4 34 33 23 37

The rmortality assurnptions are based on standard mortality tables which allow for future mortatity s/mprovements The assumptions are
that a member currently aged 60 will Live on average for a further 28 8 years if they are mate and for a further 30 5 years if they are female
For @ member who retires in 2038 at age 50, the assumptions are that they will live on average for a further 30 4 years after retirernent if
ihey are male and for a further 31 6 years after retirernent if they are female

Composition of scheme assets

2018 Evy

£m £
Equnities 54 &0
Diversified growth funds 85 B4
Other assets 13 10
Tetal scheme assets 152 154

The vast majority of the scherme assets are quoted in an active market
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9 Pensions contimued

The amount included 1n the balance sheet arising from the Group s obligations in respect of 1ts defined benefit scheme 1z as follows

2018 T ) P PaoE

£m Lim i _n (e

Present value of defined scheme obligations (147 167] [143] {145] 1125}
Fairvalue of scheme assets 162 124 137 139 131
Irrecoverable surplus (5) - - — {6}
Liability recognised in the balance sheet - 113} (6] o] -

The sensitvities of the defined benefit obligation in relation to the major actuaral assumptions used to measure scheme liabiiities are as follows

-~ regacf de

daft gwhe 2o
Change 208 o
Assumplion RV £m [
Discount rate ~05% {14) 118
Satary Inflation +0 5% 1 1
RPIinflation -0 5% 12 17
Assumed life expectancy -1 year 4 5
History of experience gains and losses
2018 P A A I
£m e - Lo z
Total actuanal gain lloss] recognised in the consolidated statement
ot comprehensive Income
Amount’ 9 {12 i) i3] i2)
Percentage of present value on scheme liabilities 61% 7 2% 0 7% 3 6% 1 6%

L o LI A L P S N L

S ws SIS AN A TTTE L EN a0 o bl s T
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9 Pensions continued
Movements ih the present value of definad benefit obligations were as follows

2018 T
£m filse
At ) April 1167) {143)
Current service cast {2) (3)
Interest cost (4] 15§
Actuarial gain {loss)
Gam fosel trom change s tinuncial aesumptions 7 {29
Gam on scheme Lalabities ansing from expenence 7 &
Beneiits paid 12 7
At 31 March {1471 {1671
Moverments in the fair value of the scheme assets were as foilows
ZDE‘:': -)E ;I
At 1 Apnl 154 137
Interest income on scheme assets 3 4
Contributions by employer 7 7
Actuarial [loss) gain - 1"
Benetns paid {12) [5)
At 31 March 152 154

Through its detined benefit plans, the Group is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of which are detailed below

Asset volatility

The labilities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bond yields, if assets underperform this yield, this will

create a deficit The scheme holds a significant portion of growth assets lequities and diversified growth funds) which, although expected
to outperform corporate bonds in the {ong term, create volatiiity and risk in the short term The allocation to growth assets s monitored

to ensure It remains appropriate given the scherme s long term objectives

Changes in bond yields
A decrease in corporate hond yelds will increase the value placed on the scheme s liabilities for accounting purposes, although this will
be partially offset by an increase in the value of the scherme’s bond holdings

Inflation risk

The majarity of the scheme s bepefit obligations are inked toinflation, and higher inflation will lead to hugher liabibities {although, 1n most
cases, caps on the level of inflationary increases are in place to protect against extreme nflation] The majority of the assets are either
unaffected by or only loosely corretated with inflation, meantng that an increase :n inflation will also increase the defiait

Life expectancy

The majority of the scheme’s obligations are to provide benefits for the tite of the member, so increases in life expectancy witl result
In anincrease N the Lliabilities
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10 Property

Property reconciliation for the year ended 31 March 2018

[[RUREN

fnvestment
and
IR Han=aa development S er
la ceeden o Watr L aer ot properties Te-dime Coopmne
_Eh S e o L RURRS Level 3 HARE R Rt Tutal
i tr N L £€m ' tm £m
Carrying value at 1 Aprit 2017 5,021 3,816 2856 150 9,073 334 b A 9,501
Additions
- proper ly purchases 237 - 8 - 245 5 - 250
development expendilure 5 15 22 44 86 44 - 132
- capitalised intet est and staff costs - 1 3 1 5 5 - 10
- capilal expenditure on asset
manragetent Intiatives 29 - - 1 30 - - 39
27 16 33 46 366 56 - 422
Depreciation - - - - - - ! 1)
Disposals {134} 2} - - (136} {62) - (198]
Reclassifications (4} 1137) - 141 - - - -
Revaluations included in income statermnent 40 165 {211 18 202 - - 202
Revaluations included m OCI - - - - - - (3) (3)
Movement in tenant incentives and contracted
rent uplit balances 1 1 - - 2 - - 2
Carrying value at 31 March 2018 5,195 3,659 298 85 2,507 328 90 9,925
Head lease Uabilities [note 13 62)
Valuation surplus on trading properties 134
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2018 9,997
Non-controliing interesis (315)
Group property portfolic valuation at 31 March 2018 attributable to shareholders 9.682
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10 Property continued
Property reconciliation for the year ended 31 March 2317

RGP S

s K Carata : Tt
Ret il res o ba Warer Covelaun erts ren SR AN
2yt L»,v<_l "t Pave = Lo ¢ DIGGEL - RUANN 'njs
Lo o o Fr Tt trm Fias T
Carrying value at t April 2016 5,617 3,436 256 334 9,643 325 g5 10,063
Additions
property purchases 80 - 8 - 88 - - 88
- development expenditure 12 4 10 2 81 56 - 137
- capiiatised nterest and staff costs - - 2 3 3 3 - 10
- capital expenditure on assel
management nialives 82 9 1 - 92 - - a2
174 13 21 58 206 51 - 327
Depreciation - - - - - - [ {1
Disposals {624] (391 - {7 {670} (26} - {696]
Reclassifications - 271 27 12711 27 27 - -
Revaluations included in income statement [105) 157] (181 38 [144) - - 1144}
Moverment in tenant iIncentives and contracted
rent uplift balances 141) 18} - - 149) 1 - [48]
Carrying value at 3t March 2017 5.021 3.616 286 150 9.073 134 94 2.501
Head lease liabilities [note 15) j64]
Valuation surplus on trading properties B2
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2017 @520
Non-controlling interests 1310)
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2017 attributable to shareholders 9210

Property valuation
The different valuation method levels are defined below

tevel 1: Quoted prices {unadjusted} in active markets for identical assets or liabilitres

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or Liabality, either directly e as prices)
or indirectly [t e derived from prices]

Level 3: inputs for the asset or Liatility that are not based on observabie market data [unobservable inputs]

These levels are specitied in accordance with IFRS 13 'Fair Value Measurement” Property valuations are inherently subjective as they are
rmade on the basis of assumptions made by the vatuer which may not prove to be accurate For these reasons, and consisient with EPRAs
guidance, we have classified the valuations of our property portfolio as Level 3 as defined by IFRS 12 The inputs to the valuations are defined
as unchservable by IFRS 13 and these are analysed 1n a table on the iollowing page There were no transfers between levels in the period

The Group s total property portfolio was valued by external valuers on the basis of fair value, in accordance with the RICS Valuation -
Professional Standards 2014, ninth edition, published by The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors

Theinformation provided to the valuers, and the assumptions and valuation models used by the valuers, are reviewed by the property
pottfolio team, the Head of Offices, the Head of Retail and the Chief Financial Officer [Chief Executive Otficer post January 2018] The valuers
meet with the external auditors and also present directly to the Audit Comnauttee at the interim and year end review of resulis Further details
of the Audit Cornrmittee s responsibilities in relation to valuations can be found in the Report of the Audrt Committee fon pages 69 to 73]

Investment properties, excluding properties held for developrnent, are vaiued by adopting the nvestment method of valuation

This approach involves applying capitalisation yields to current and future rentat streams net of iIncome voids arising from vacancies or
rent-free periods and associated running costs These capitalisation yields and future rental values are based on comparable property
and leasing transachions in the market using the valuers professional judgement and market observation Other factors taken into account
in the vatuations include the tenure of the property, tenancy details and ground and structural conditions
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10 Property continued

In the case of ongoing developments, the approach applied s the residual method’ of valuation, which s the investment method of valuation
as described above, with a deduction for all costs necessary to complete the development, including a notional finance cost. tegether wath

a further allowance for remaining risk Properties held for development are generally vatued by adopting the higher of the residual method
of valuation, allowing for all associated nisks, of the investment method of valuation for the existing asset

Copies of the valuation certificates of Knight Frank LLP, CBRE, Jones Lang LaSalle and Cushman & Wakefigld can be found at
www.britishland.com/reports

A breakdown of valuations split between the Group and its share of joint ventures and funds 1s shown betow

2018 )
Joint e

ventures Ven U
Groaup and funds Total G ara iy ds ofa!
£m £m fm fr- b L
Kright Frarmk LLP 1,674 2,680 4,354 7,031 2,883 9914
CBRE 4,511 1,403 5,914 2,489 1.380 3.869
Jones Lang LaSalle 581 - 561 - 238 538
Cushiman & Wakefield 3,251 19 3,270 - - -
Total property portfolio valuation 92,997 4,182 14,099 9,520 4801 14,221
Non-controlling interests (315) 168) (383) [310) 71 [381]
Total property portfolio valuation attributable to shareholders 9,682 4,034 13,716 $,210 4,730 13,940

Informatian about fair value measurements ustng unobservable inputs [Level 3} for the year ended 31 March 2018

Fair value at ERV per sqg ft Equivalent yield Costs to complete per sq ft
31 March 2018 Valuation Min Max  Average Min Max  Average Min Max  Average
Investment £m technique £ £ £ % Ya Yo £ £ £
fnvestrent
Retail 5,210 methodology 2 84 24, 3 9 5 - 51 2
Investment
Offices 3,617 methodology 8 117 58 [ 5 4 - 323 53
Investment
Canada Water 283 methodology 38 38 38 4 4 4 - 1 1
Investment
Restdential 70 methodology 15 29 22 2 & 4 - 2 (34)
Residual
Developments 355 methodology 18 &6 41 2 [ 5 - 614 541
Taotal 9,536
Trading preperties
at tair value 462
Group property
portfolio valuation 9,927
I Jdes w5 uoed
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Finaneiaf statements

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

10 Property continucd
Information about fair value measurements using unobservable inputs [Level 3] for the year ended 31 March 2017

bl ot FVpsroagt Erlva sty od Jestaromelos oE aa
° N\‘*a-v‘* }f ‘7 Voouater Min Mex Awerage e Wax  fMuerien W Moo Aerage
Investment [ R T L L 3 . L <
Investment
Retail 4987 methodology 2 77 22 4 i 5 - 48 &
lnvestment
Offices’- 3,693 methodology 7 n7 54 4 7 5 - 150 20
lrvestrment
Canada Water 271 methodology 15 25 22 2 5 3 - 18 10
Resigdual
Developments’ 150 methodology 18 72 54 2 b 4 - 616 08
Total 4303
Trading properties
at fair value 417
Group property
portfolio valuation 2,520
rolade=owrer ¢ Lpee
Sane gded s gennstw o ave 2ot e Dlvanie per st R e o 0 0 et =dvel L G tass

Information about the impact of changes in unobservable inputs {Level 3] on the fair value of the Group's property portfolio for the year
ended 31 March 2018

Farr value at impact ot valuations Impact on vatuations Impact on valuations
31 March 2018 +5% ERV -5% ERV -25bps NEY  +250bps NEY -5% costs +5% costs
€m £m £m £m £m £m €m

Retait 5,210 210 1991 269 {278l nfa n/fa
Offices’ 4,079 167 [161) 244 219] n/a e
Canada Water 283 4 15 i i 21 (20]
Residential 70 1 {1 z (2i - -
Developments 355 N 131) 39 1351 13 13
Group property portfolio valuation 9,997 413 1397) 555 i535] 34 133)

eoludr-tbedimg e cp o e Attt rvatu L

Information about the impact of changes in unobservable inputs {Level 3] on the fair value of the Group's property portfolio far the year
ended 31 March 2017

Car vl ot AT Mpa ForvaLatd opa tonval, <ot

5T Marc AT - ERV W IRY -skp NEY28nos NEY S o8 AT Tsts

T L [y <m fm fi m

Retail 4987 189 1176] 262 [228) nfa n/a
Offices 4019 176 (149} 231 {208) n/a nfa
Canada Water 27 i [ 20 [17) nfa n/a
Rasidential 93 4 (4] [ 3] n/a n/a
Developments 150 8 12 (1) 12) 3 7]
Group property portfotio valuation 9,520 388 i372] 518 (471 3 171

Ir o lug=3 trazing propeie=at larva' =

The valuation impact of changes in unobservable inputs for the year ended 31 March 2017 have been restated
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10 Property continued
All other facters being equat

- Ahigher equivalent yield or dincount rate would lead to a decrease in the valuation of an asset
- Anincrease it the current or estimated future rental stream would have the effect of increasing the capital value

- Anincrease in the costs to complete would tead to a decrease m the valuation of an asset

However, there are interrelationships between the unobservable inputs which are partially determined by market conditions, which would
impact on these changes

Additional property disclosures - including cevenant information

At 31 March 2018, the Group property portiolic valuation of £9.997m [2016/17 £9.520m) comprises freeholds of £5,711m [20%16/17 £5,57am),
virtual freeholds of £895m (2014/17 £809ml, and long leaseholds of £3,39%4m [2016/17 £3,135m] The historical cost of properties was
£6,2%4m [2016/17 £6,024m})

The property valuation does not include any investment properties held under operating leases [2016/17 £nul)

Cumulative Interest capitalised against investment, development and trading properties amounts to £101m (2016/17 £95m)

Properties valued at £1202m [2016/17 £1,882m] were subject to a securnity interest and other properties of non-recourse companies

amounted to £1,245m [2016/17 £1,138m), totalling £2,447m (2016/17 £3,040m]

Included within the property valuation is £60m [2016/17 £62m]in respect of accrued contracted rental uplift ncome The balance arises
through the IFRS treatment of ieases containing such arrangements, which requires the recogrition of rental tncome on a straight-line basis

over the lease term, with the difference between this and the cash receipt changing the carrying value of the property against which

revaluations are measyred

11 Joint ventures and funds
Summary movement for the year of the investments in joint ventures and funds

el e = onds Total gty taEns Total

N [ £m : tr £m

At 1 April 2017 2,523 241 2,766 2.412 354 2,766

Additions 72 79 3 76 79

Share of profit on ordinary activities after taxation 149 151 121 - 151
Distributions and dividends

- Capital 23] N3 (38} (36} - (36)

- Revenue [63] 3] (78] (78] - (78)

Hedging and exchange moverments 8 - 8 8 - 8

Disposal of Tesco joint venture [68) - {48) 168 - 68)

At 31 March 2018 2,600 222 2,822 2392 430 2,822

Additional investments in joint ventures and funds covenant information

At 31 March 2018 the investmentsin jomnt ventures included within the total investments in joint ventures and funds was £2 8Z26m
[2016/17 £3.299m), being the £2,822m total investment shown above, tess the net nvestment of {£4m) 12014/17 £7m] in PREF, a property

fund m Continental Europe

Britishtand Anntwil Repor | and Aceounts 2018
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Financial statements

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

11 Joint ventures and funds contimued

The summarised Income statements and balance sheets balow and on the following page show 100°% of the resutts, assets and habiliies
of joint ventures and funds Where necessary, these have been restated to the Group s accounting policies

Joint ventures’ and funds’ summary financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

S uonate
RE'T
Lid

M Frapsrty
niere

bicicings Lte

AL v nsbiamy
EAETR
b

Norges Bank

Euro Bluebell LLP lnvestment
Partners (G!C) Management  JSainsbury ple

City Offices  Shopping Centres
Property sector Broadgate Meadowhall Superstores
Group share 50% 50% 0%
Summarised income statements £ i for
Revenue® 255 102 39
Costs l641 [23i -
17 2 39
Adrinistrative expenses 1) - -
Net interest payable 1821 (331 (16!
Underlying Profit 08 45 23
Net vatuation moverment 105 21 ie]]
Capital financing casts - - {26]
jLoss] profit on disposal of iInvestment properties and investrments 118} - g
Protit floss) on ordinary activities before taxation 195 67 3
Taxation - - -
Profit [loss) on ordinary activities after taxation 195 &7 3

Other comprehensive income [expenditure] 13 3
Total comprehensive income 208 70 3
British Land share of total comprehensive income lexpense) 104 35 2
British Land share of distributions payable 35 4 31

Summarised balance sheets fre Ln £
Investrent and trading properties 4,668 1.895 323
Current assets 6 6 -
Cash and deposits ’ 271 39 20
Gross assets 4,965 1,940 613
Current liabilities (107} 141] [24)
Bank and securibsed debt i1,744) [641) 1251)
Loans from Joint venture partners [4£65) 1364 -
Other non-current liabilities 141) [20] -
Grass babilities {2,357) (1,066} §275)
Net assets 2,608 B74 338
British Land share of net assets less shareholder loans 1,304 437 169
I eled dwibir the Seoaegats REIT 1 overue 5o LoD J1he Brbsh a g snere] cayment reeivad o e 207 rom the, Soya Bark o Sooilana nrelat o tother-

surrencer of aleass ot 190 3shopsgare
S USS L ver i Moo= s e n Watk Shopping Centre Heit ey
lermales Lnt Toustjo mtvertures ara sab-fur dsinc uges ol ot t
Su-dwrorship Trest ong 45 28Y of Brstall Co-Owrersop Trost T

targ he Carenar Propecty Paro- St
reaults of Neepdale U
alar~eaheet st ows bl ab bre anacts af the,,

SOwerstua Trost Gbeant o cmited —ertaershingr d Valer e
ENVEN LS a0 sab run e

Incladed nine calonin hieadod Iter ot venturos anc funds are cantabuacns fron the o lowing B, Goodman aoiga —ararsbie e Agga c =lace L w20

Partnership, Quuzbatton Propes

share of WRET 15 0%, b owevar as e Sroap s not abie te =xerd s Lortigt over aign foant decs om0 the fum o the Brong eg ity 2irountsfor 1 nteres

T Reveruew tluges goss rerlat ince ne of T00% share ot L3850 [20746/°7 1437m
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S meres ot T At Jther Total
wotontt Dol e (S gebvs fiy e IR RENUSTET Total Group share
[T wEL RS an g aub funes ar a3 tud= 2018 2018
Universities
Aviva Superannuation
Investors Scheme Group PLE
Shopping Shopping Retail
Centres Centres Parks
50% al% Various
L L - tr £m £m
8 13 36 ) 469 235
l4) [4] 15) i2) 1152] {51)
14 ? 3 4 367 184
in - - - (2) 1)
(1 - f4] - {138) {68)
12 9 27 4 229 115
10 - 28] - 105 52
- - - - (28) (13]
1 - - 2 (&) (3]
23 e iy 6 302 151
23 9 1 [ 302 151
- - - - 16 8
23 ? i1} ) 318 159
11 5 {1 3 159
5 4 14 - ?3
1 L tr r £m £m
275 250 590 - 8,201 4,100
1 4 42 60 kb
9 7 10 8 454 227
285 258 604 50 8,715 4,358
4] {5) i {13) (207 (105}
- - 11401 - 2,776) (1,388}
- 126] - 16} (861) (430}
iz8 - 4} 5 (88) 143
{32} {31 {155) (16) (3,932) {1,966)
253 227 449 34 4,783 2,392
127 113 226 16 2,392
Thonaroman oy b sty e s nadt 1 el o s e Arner=Ty e o he et A antwent - Cpora =T e e Ko e o L
oo oo ngsle kT Tt e At e W ks et o e e Goattirha e st B L e I N L LR Lo N T
wonlte = onG o boode o =l e ey e PROT e e
che s Do e s e e e apa shane e Lt e b n Taran mae=ny g e g e Aigate b T R (I N T
(LIS BT ] R R B R L O T o cMhe Svhrot o LA g e p A o by anvart e e loke afe o x HE
oav o by e atond I D e g Ao Bog e s Te e g e gt et s v ' At
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Financial statements

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

11 Joint ventures and funds continued
The summarised income statements and balance sheets below and on the jollowing page show 100% of the results, assets and babilities
of Jjoint ventures and funds Where necessary, these have been restated to the Group s accounting pohicies

Joint ventures’ and funds’' summary financiat statements for the year ended 31 March 2017

S5 orwdeate ME T opory Bl Sty
it Al rrediate Slps waes fain oot
|G Hodrgso d .o PERNN

Norges Bank

Eurc Bluebell LLP Investrment
Partners - [GiC) Management J Sainsbury pic Tesco PLC
City Offices  Shopping Centres

Property sectar Broadgate Meadowhall Superstores Superstores
Group share 50% 50% 50% 50%
Summarised income statements i T fm L
Revenue” 245 99 49 19
Costs 152} (23} - -

193 74 45 1%
Adrministrative expenses - - - {21
Net interest payable 182) [35), 1211 1]
Undertying Profit 11 41 28 B
Net valuaiion movement {185} 1 {46) (291
Capital financing costs - - [12) -
Profit on disposal of investrent properties and investments - - 3 {3
[Loss] profit on ordinary activities before taxation [74) 40 [27) {24)
Taxation — - - 2
{Loss) profit on ordinary activities after taxation (74) 40 [27) (22}
DOther comprehensive Income 1 - - 1
Total comprehensive incorme 173 40 £27} 121
British Land share of total comprehensive {expense} income 1373 20 {15} (1al
British Land share of distributions payable 32 17 55 4
Summarised balance sheets - L £m L
Investment and trading properties 4,478 1842 769 325
Current assets 2 5 - -
Cash and deposits 270 37 17 2
Gross assets 4,770 1,884 786 327
Current Liabilities (88) (41 (22} 2]
Bank and securitised debt {1,794) [648) [357) N85}
Loans from jont venture partners 1357] 1317 - -
Other non-current liabilities 156} [23! - 4]
Gross liabilities (2,295] 1,0491 1389) (191}
Net assets 2,475 835 3%7 136
British Land share of net assets less sharehoelder loans 1,237 417 199 68

Iondedw b tie Broadgat 2 RFLL =stvaiuaton rovenent s 2 L20 1 payment recewved ©Dataabor 70 0m LUS A G e cl=hion "o the oave o pintnt and

aczup tan ot & lrnadgate, and sabaecdaer tva awon of 070 e - :
Tasuojeirtve fures to lude B1 7 Rol1r g 010] Lemirad as at 57 Mar<h 2077
JS5 omtve itue~ e lues the Fdan Wala Shoppir g Centre Jn s lrestand the Farsazm Proper y Parinersfio

- The zacennall co umr snaws e equily acraur ted orabt and os-1erthe pe cd Jee e hel @nsachionwhe r exchangedm Marcr 2017, e pet pvestmer mifnis
vertu-c was mes Jdss find a5 a heldfar sate axsat

T HerculsL Unin T s jmimt ventuies ar d sab-funds mcludes 57050 of fae resits of 2

Cu-fwnersng 17ust ard A1 25% of Bireran Co Jwrersh p Trusl 7he alenie s s S0 Ao OF ERILSE [t vt cas arr sak-fnas

wded i the calomn beadad Ot e g rtvartures and "unaz ate ~antrbut ons e the odoweng Bl Goasmae Limitea = arine sbr, Tne Alag-le Place 1mited

Sactperstnn, Riusou tan Prape- ty Management LR Lnnted, Oityof Londan Othies Usit Trust and B Las

shere of PREE 3654 nowever as the Groupisnot abee s exermige < grtral over s g wart4emis nn al e

Favente o ledis groed rertal moeent - ar 100 snore or €40 (2 T4 fhatie]

3

S ue 8 L Broadgate
3 9

pdale Uo-Dwet shep orust, Gibraltar Lomited Paerarsh ipand Valer ne

i
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Total

Tre Foathla * L - ; - ‘”rn;j;f\:" -w-": 2 Total Group share
mar vl - SRR TR 2017 2017
Universities
Superannuation
Aviva Scherne Group Oxford
Investors PLC Properties
Shopping Shopping Ciy Offices Retail
Centres Centres Leadenhail Parks
50% 50% 50% Various
) el LM £m £m
17 i4 43 25 1 522 260
15} 5] 4] [4) n noegy (50}
i2 g 33 3t - 422 210
i - - - n (4} (2}
[ - - [4] - (152 (761
10 ? 33 27 1} 266 132
(6] {7] 107 6] - (183} (93]
_ - - - 2} (6]
- - - - 24 34 18
4 2 140 11 33 105 51
- - - - -~ 2 1
4 2 140 11 33 107 52
- - - - 2 1
4 2 140 1 33 109 53
2 1 70 5 17 53
) - 5 14 4 132
17 N t ﬁm £m
264 247 - 603 1 8,529 4,265
i 1 3 oz 64 3z
8 7 - 1G 28 399 200
273 255 - 616 81 8,992 4,497
14} lo} - [1o] 119) {192) (96}
- - - 1139 - 13,153) 11,677}
- (221 - - (12 (708) {354)
[28) - - i4) - {115) {58!
(32) (28) - 153} 31) (4,168} [2,085]
241 227 - 463 50 4,824 2,612
21 14 - 231 25 2,412
e R O AT R TL LT ke BN TR S B 1§ S TR R TR B S [T R B A VR I T LTI S a=1 T e Mg, et
=g -pte 2t a0 T oin a WS e el=t o Tt o ene e Duhoe gt v eyt e g e eyt e Wy
O L e o R I A PR e R RVE R R LA ot O B AT A FL TR ST U I P AT
[ Ma o et ge s dand oo cnpaeahar et Rt s e Lt ety e e Al ate TS B A R TR
the &0 Loade on 4 Sieocr=Aa s Porosranp o mt b oAttty m e et e A Drdr Sl =tvat e s ek X rop
O T Nt I A LT L BTV SR A B I I RPN B e TR AT S T I - U B VE L
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Financial statements

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

11 Joint ventures and funds continued

Joint venture held for sale

On ) March 2017 the Group exchanged conditional contracts on an agreement to sell its interest in Leadenhall Holding Co [Jersey) Limiteg,
a joint venture with Oxford Properties The net investment inthe joint venture was recognised as a held for sale asset from the date of
exchange in the prior period On 24 May 2017 the transaction completed and the net investment was de-recognised

Joint venture held for sale ~ summarised balance sheet for the year ended 31 March

Leaoer-al Hodirg Do

ey i
2018 7
£m tim
Investrment property - 1,075
Current assets - 17
Current liabiliies - 13)
Loans from joint veniure partners - 1371}
Net assets - 708
British Land share of net assets less shareholder loans - 353
Operating cash flows of joint ventures and funds [Group share)
17
211:‘:: )il',
Rental income recewed from tenants 199 207
Fees and other income receved - -
Operating expenses patd to suppliers and employees [22) 120]
Cash generated from operations 177 187
interest paid {73) 184)
Interest received 1 1
UK corporation tax paid (1) 12)
Cashinflow from operating activities 104 102
Cash inflow from operating activities deployed as:
Surplus cash retamed within joint ventures and funds 24 43
Revenue distributions per consolidated statement of cash flows 78 o9
Revenue distributions splif between controtling and non-controtling interests
Attributable to non-controtling mterests 2 4
Attributable ta shareholders of the Company 76 55

12 Other investiments

018
Investment Loans, Property,
held for receivables plant and Imangihle
trading and other  equipment assets. Total EME]
£m £rm £m £m £m Lrn
At 1 Apridl %3 41 " 9 154 142
Additions - - 15 4 19 22
Disposals - {2) - - 12 - (21 - - {2]
Revaluation 5 3 - - 8 (8} 3 - - {5}
Depreciationfamortisation - - (2) {3l (5) - - 12) {1 13}
At 31 March 78 42 24 10 174 @3 41 11 9 154

The investment held for trading comprises interests as a trust benethiciary The trust’'s assets comprise freehold reversions i a poot of
commerctal properties, comprising Sainshury’s superstores The interest is categorised as Level 3in the fair value hrerarchy, is subject
to the sarne inputs as those disclosed in note 10, and its tair value was determined by the Directors, supported by an external valuation
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13 Debtors

2018 P
€m tn
Trade and other debtors 28 27
Deposits recetved relating to held for sale asset’ - 144
Prepayments and accrued income 7 5
35 171
3ot i N I Tl A T L R (Lt B v . ofr TLd e R D T e L L A

PhLtaes s Lot da

Trade and other debtors are shown after deducting a provision for bad and doubtful debis of £14m {2016/17 £14m) The charge to the mcome
staternent in relation to bad and doubtful debts was €1m (2016/17 £1m]

The Directors consider that the carrying ameunt of trade and other debtors 15 approximate to therr fair value There s no concentration
of credit risk with respect to trade debtors as the Group has a targe number of custorners who are paying their rent in advance

As at 31 March, trade and other debtors outside thetr payment terms yet not provided for are as follows

Dutside credit terms but not impaired

Within 0-1 1-2 More than
Tetal creditterms month months 2 months
£m £m £m £m €m
2018 28 18 6 [ -
2017 22 7 9 4 2
14 Creditors
2018 4T
£m o
Trade creditors 146 127
Deposits received relating to held for sale asset - 144
Other taxation and social security 30 32
Accroals 73 83
Oeferred income 75 72
324 458
Froar voar vy s —-rlat- 20 oefo- e PO D LA VRN LT 1= Gratfas . trean o nby e tEae Sgthan st b owe s
ol oang e L2l Boarwesroosl - amon 3

Trade creditors are interest-free and have settlement dates within one year The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and

other creditors 15 approxamate to their fair value

15 Other non-current liabilities

2018 77

£m -n

Cther creditors - 1
Head leases 62 64
Net pension liabllities - 13
62 78
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Financial statements

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

16 Deferred tax
The movement on deferred tax I1s as shown below

Deferred tax assets year ended 31 March 2018

1 April Credited to Debited Transferred to 31 March
2017 incame ta equety joint ventures 2018
£m £m £m £m £m
Interest rate and currency derivative revaluations 4 5 (5l - 4
Qther timing differences 7 - - - 7
1 5 (5] = 11
Deferred tax liabilities year ended 31 March 2018
£m £m £m £m £m
Property and invastment revalualions 71 - - - (7]
7 - - - 17
Net deferred tax assets 4 5 (5) - 4
Deferred tax assets year ended 31 March 2017
ThA My e e Trarseroo'n KRR NI
:L_l‘ ¢ I [REN NI SIS 257
" tre [ [ tm
Interest rate and currency derivative revaluations 5 (1] - - 4
Dther timing differences 6 3 - -
il - - - i
Deferred tax liabilities year ended 31 March 2017
f tn i T f-
Property and investment revaluations (7} - - - {7
Other tming diiferences {1] - - 1 -
8l - - i (7
Net deferred taxassets 3 - - 1 4

The tollowing corporation tax rates have been substantively enacted 19% etftective from 1 Aprit 2017 reducing to 17% eftective from 1 April
2020 The deferred tax assets and liabilities have been calculated at the tax rate effective in the period that the tax 1s expected to crystallise

The Group has recogrised & deferred tax asset calculated at 17% (2016/17 17%] of £7m {2016/17 £5m] in respect of capital losses from
previous years avallable for offset agamnst future capital profit Further unrecognised deferred tax assets in respect of capital losses of
£123m [2016/17 £129m) exist at 31 March 2018

The Group has recognised deferred tax assets on derivative revaluations to the extent that future miatching taxable profits are expected
1o arise

At 31 March 2018, the Group had an unrecegnised deferred tax asset calculated at 17% [2016/17 17%] of £43m [2016/17 £50m) in respect
of UK revenue tax losses fram previous years

Under the REIT regime, developrment properties which are sold within three years of comptetion do not benefit from tax exemption

At 31 March 2018, the value of such properties is £176m [2016/17 £176m) and if these properties were to be sold and no tax exemption
wags avaltable, the tax arising would be £13rm [2016/17 £12m)
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17 Net debt

2018 L7
Foat ot £m i
Secured on the assets of the Group
$123% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2020 11 - 24
a 264% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2035 369 277
5 0055% First Mortgage Amortising Debentures 2035 95 Q9
5 357% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2028 255 348
Bank loans 12 512 473
Loan notes Y4 2z
1,233 1,335
Unsecured
5 50% Semor Netes 2027 100 102
3 B23% Senior US Dollar Notes 2018 2 27 32
4 635% Sentor US Dollar Notes 2021 ? 156 181
4 T66% Semor US Dollar Notes 2023 2 97 13
5 003% Senior US Dollar Notes 2024 z 63 73
3 B1%: Senvor Notes 2026 110 14
3 97% Seniar Notes 2026 192 N7
1 3% Convertible Bond 2017 - 406
(% Convertible Bond 2020 337 331
2 375% Sterling Unsecured Bond 2029 298 -
Bank loans and overdrafts, 595 477
1,895 1,946
Gross debt 3 3,128 3,281
Interest rate and currency derivative liabilities 138 144
Interest rate and currency dervative assets (115} 217
Cash and short term deposiis 45 {105} {114}
Total net debt 3,046 3,094
Net debt attributable to non-controlling interests 1091 {103)
Net debt atiributable to shareholders of the Company 2,927 299
Lizer A - DNt DL RS oW sl Lt O ol RO D fe @Yt en 07 = W Lowe- ) La-t o0 Polioun
2018 ENa
£m LT
11 BLD Property Holdings, Ltd - 34
1 2 Hercules Unit Trust 512 475
512 509
L LI R O O O e L I L T B o e I LS
[T O S T Y B TR e L LN U L R O B NOY LTI OO L ARC AN AT Jogedi 2 2thepns o paErad neot s siod arrown Is et =
RO L G- ot L Des Lmipa = s wh it Lo o g T a W e At ey e e s L VRSN Ol Y g v gy hi-
F IV O T B T TN B S P T (LRI EVEN A RX Tl s I ST AN PR RS I L S B T L AT B
O R N T LI TR P T A AL
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Financi:d statements

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

17 Net debt continued
Maturity analysis of net debt

2018 [

£m s

Repayable within one year and on demand 27 4ok
Between one and two years 163 N
two and hve years 1,194 1.283

five and tenyedlr s 803 783

ten and fifteen yeats 305 332

flteen and twenty year s 636 388

3,101 2.817

Gross debt 3,128 3,281
Interest rate and currency derivatives 23 73]
Cash and short term deposits (105) (114)
Netdebt 3,046 3.094

1.5% Ceonvertible bond 2012 (maturity 2017]
On 10 Septernber 2012, British Land [Jersey} Limited {the 2012 Issuer), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, 1ssued £400 million 1 5%
guaranteed convertible bonds due 2017 Ithe 2012 bonds] at par On 10 Septernber 2017, the convertible bonds were redeemed at par

0% Convertible bond 2015 [maturity 2020)

On ¢ June 2015, British Land [White) 2015 Limited [the 2015 Issuer). a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. 1ssued £330 million zero
coupon guaranteed convertible bonds due 2020 lthe 2013 bondsl at par The 2015 Issuer 1s fully guaranteed by the Company in respect of
the 2015 bonds

Subject to their terms, the 2015 bonds are convertible into preference shares of the 2015 lssuer which are automatically transferred to the
Company (n exchange for ordinary shares in the Company or, at the Company s election, any combination of ordinary shares and cash
From 20 July 2015 up to and including 29 June 2018, a bondhotder may exercise its conversion right if the share price has traded at a level
exceeding 130% of the exchange price for a specified perniod Thereafter, and up to but excluding the 7th dealing day before ¥ June 2020
{the maturity date], a bondholder may convert at any time

The imbal exchange price was 1103 32 pence per ordimary share The exchange price 1= adjusted based on certain events [such as the
Company paying dividends in any quarter above 3 418 pence per ordinary share] As at 31 March 2018 the exchange price was 1036 32 pence
per ordinary share

Frorn 30 June 2018, the Company has the option to redeem the 2015 bonds at par if the Company s share price has traded above 130% of

the exchange price for a specified period. or at any time once 85% by norminal value of the 2015 bonds have been converted, redeemed, or
purchased and cancelled The 2015 bonds will be redeemed at par on ¢ June 2020 (the maturity date] f they have not already been converted,
redeemed or purchased and cancetled
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17 Net debt continued
Fair value and book value of net debt

2018 27

Fair value Bookvalue  [Difference et e e 3ooaval - |[LACR SR

£m £m £m L to .

Debentures and unsecured bonds 1,783 1,682 101 1,682 1,590 @2
Convertible bonds 337 337 - 737 737 -
Bank debt and other floating rate debt 1,116 1,109 7 263 954 Q
Gross debt 3,236 3,128 108 3,382 3,281 101
Interest rate and currency derivative hiabilities 138 138 - 144 144 -
Interest rate and currency derivative assets [115) {115) - (217] (217) -
{ash and short term deposits {105) [105) - (114 [114) -
Net debt 3,154 3,046 108 3.1%5 3.094 101
Net debt attributabie to non-controlling interests {110 (109 il 1103) 03] 12
Net debt attributable to shareholders of the Company 3,044 2,937 107 2,090 2991 99

The fair values of debentures, unsecured bonds and the convertible bond have been established by obtaining guoted market prices from
brokers The bank debt and other floating rate debt has been valued assurming 1t could be renegotiated at contracted margins The derivatives
have been valued by calculating the present value of expected tuture cash flows, using appropriate market discount rates, by an independent

treasury adviser

Short term debtors and creditors and other investments have been excluded from the disciosures on the basis that the fair value 1S equivalent
to the book value The fair value tuerarchy level of debt held at amortised cost s level 2 las defined in note 10}

Group loan to value {LTV)

2018 1

£m L

Group loan to value [LTV) 224% 27 6%
Principal amount of gross debt 3,007 3.069
Less debt attributable te non-controlling interests {119) 112]
Less cash and short terrn deposits [balance sheetl (105) 114)
Plus cash attributable {0 non-controiling interests 10 7
Total net debt for LTV calculation 2,793 2852
Group property portfolio valuation Incte 10] 9,997 9,520
Investments in joint ventures and funds Inote 11 2,822 2,766
Joint venture hetd for sale [note 11 - 540
Other investments [note 12} 174 154
Less property and investments attributable to non-controlling interests [368) 1364)
Total assets for LTV calculation 12,627 12,616

Proportienally consolidated loan to value [LTV]

2018 i

£m LR

Proportienally consolidated loan to vatue [LTV) 28.4% 299%
Principal amount of gross debt 4,399 4 64Y
Less debt attributable to nen-controlling interests {135) 128
Less cash and short term deposits {331 (323
Plus cash atiributable to non-controtling interests 10 ?
Total net debt for proportional LTV calculation 3,942 4,207
Group property portfolio vatuation fnote 10} 9,997 9,320
Share of property of soint ventures and tunds {note 10 4,102 4,801
Other invectments inote 12) 174 154
Less other investrments attributable to joint ventures and funds 12) {3)
Lecs property attributable te non-controlling nterests (383) (381
Total assets for proportional LTV calculation 13,888 14,091
British Land  Annual Report and Accounts 2018 133



Financial statements

NOTES TO THEACCOUNTS CONTINUED

17 Net debt continued
British Land Unsecured Financial Covenants
The two finantial covenants applicable to the Group unsecured debt including convertipie bonds are shown below

2018 L7
£m fm

Net Borrowings not to exceed 175% of Adjusied Capitat and Reserves 29% 299,
Principat amount of gross debt 3,007 3,069
Less the relevant proportion of borrowings of the partly-owned subsidiary/non-controlling interests 119 mazj
Less cash and deposits [balance sheet) [105) [114]
Plus the relevant proportion of cash and deposits of the partly-owned subsidiary/non-controlling Interests 10 ?
Net Borrowings 2,793 2,852
Share capitat and reserves {balance sheet] 9,506 9474
EPRA deferred tax adjustment [EPRA Table A) 5 3
Tradmng property surpluses [EPRA Table A) 124 83
Exceptional refinancing charges [see below) 233 274
Fair value adjustrnents of financial instruments [FPRA Table A] 137 135
Less reserves attributable to non-controlling interests [balance sheet! (254] {235]
Adjusted Capitat and Reserves 9,761 9736
In calculating Adjusted Capital and Reserves for the purpose of the unsecured debt financial covenants, there s an adjustment of £233m
[2016/17 £274mlto reflect the cumulative net amortised exceptional items relating to the refinancings i the years ended 31 March 2605,
2006 and 2007

2018 “n7

£m e

Net Unsecured Borrowings not to exceed 70% of Unencumbered Assets 23% 26%
Principal amount of gross debt 3,007 3,069
Less cash and deposits not subject to a security interest [being £91m less the relevant proportion of cash and [84) 126)
deposuts of the partly-owned subsidiary/non-controlling interests of £7m]
Less principal ameunt of secured and non-recourse borrowings {1,159} 1,238}
Net Unsecured Borrewings 1,764 1,735
Group property portfolio valuation [note 10) 9,997 2,520
investments in joint ventures and funds [note 11) 2,822 2,766
Joint venture held for sale [note 11) - 540
Other investments [note 12) 174 154
Less mvestrents in joint ventures and jont venture held for sate inote 11) 12,822 13,299}
Less encumbered assets [note 10) (2,447) [3,040)
Unencumbered Assets 7,724 6,641

134 British Land | Annual Repor | and Accounts 2018



17 Net debt continued
Reconcitiation of movement in Group net debt for the year ended 31 March 2018

Arrangement
Foreign costs
2017 Cash flows Transfers® exchange Fairvalue amortisation 2018
Short term borrowings [4.74 [458) 27 - 1] - 27
Long term borrowings 2,817 361 (27} 148) (10) - 3,101
Derwatives (73) 29 - 40 27 - 23
Total Liabilities from financing activities 3,208 (68} - - 11 - 3,151
Cash and cash equivaients 114) ki - - - - {105)
Net debt 3,094 {591 - - 11 - 3,046
Reconciliation of movement in Group net debt for the year ended 31 March 2017
Foer -
ATh " shnewes RECTIENETS =% hangs Feovalie Ao tsanoe 200/
Short term borrowings kA (74) FAYA - - - Lbd
Long term borrowings 3,687 1423) (464]) 49 [26) 4 2,817
Dervatives- 130) 1 - 48] 4 - 173}
Tolal babtlities from financing activities 373 1496} - 1 [32] 4 3,208
Cash and cash equivalents (114] - - - - - (114}
Netdebt 3,617 [496]) - 1 [32) 4 3.0%4
e L L L LR R [ RIS
ST e ol ol ot
PR T SRR T
B TR R L B O € KRl e Ll B o (P e e L WL RN T P T R LI I
CAWITWAS A 2T TNd LT seertw Tys s e s swe the s =rsistem, S e L o R L TR B o dove v o -
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17 Net debt continued
Fair value hierarchy

The table below provides an analysis of financiat instruments carried at fair value, by the valuation method The fair value hierarchy levels are

defined in note 10

2018 M
Level1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Lyl § 1 evel 4 vl G a
£m £m £m im T Lt n -
Interest rate and currency derivative assets - (1151 - {1151 - 217 - 1217]
Other investments - available for sale (14) - - (14} 14) - - [14)
Other investments - held for trading - - 28 98 - - [93) [93)
Assets 114} {115) 98 31} (14 {217) 93] {324)
Interest rate and currency dervative
liabitities - 138 - 138 - 144 - 144
Convertible bonds 337 - - 337 737 - - 737
Liabilities 337 138 - 475 737 144 - 881
Total 323 23 98 444 723 (73} {93} 557
Categories of financial instruments
2018 A
£m Li
Financial assets
Fair value through incame statement
Other investments - held for trading 98 3
Derivatives in designated hedge accounting retationships 110 215
Derivatives not in designated hedge accounting relationships 5 2
Loans and receivables
Trade and other debtors 28 166
Cash ang short term deposits 105 114
Other investments - loans and receivables 42 61
388 651
Financial liabilities
Fair value through income statement
Convertible bonds (337} (737}
Derivatives in designated hedge accounting relationships (5} 1143)
Derivatives not in designated accounting relationships (133) m
Amortised cost
Gross debt 12,791) {2.544)
Head leases payable (62) (64}
Creditors {237 373
[3,545) 13,862)
Total {3177} 13,21

Gains and losses on financial instruments, as classed above, are disclosed in note 6 [met financing costs), note 13 [debtorsi, the consolidated
incame statement and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of other
investments and head leases payable are approximate to their fair vaiue, and that the carrying amounts are recoverable

Capital risk management

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt and equity attributable to the equity holders of The British Land Company PLT,
comprising tssued capital, reserves and retained earnings Risks relating to capital structure are addressed within Managing risk in
delivering our strategy on pages 4810 51 The Group s objectives, policies and processes for managing debt are set out in the Financial
policies and principles an pages 45 to 47
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17 Net debt continued

Interest rate risk management

The Group uses interest rate swaps and caps to hedge exposure to the variability in cash flows on floating rate debt, such as revolving bank
facilities, caused by movements in market rates of interest

At 31 March 2018, the fair value of these derivatives 1s a net liability of £118m interest rate swaps with a fair value of £5m have been
designated as cash flow hedges under AS 39

The ineffectiveness recognised in the income statement on cash flow hedges in the year ended 31 March 2018 was £niL [2016/17 £nil)

The cash flows occur and are charged to profit and loss until the maturity of the hedged debt The table below summarises vanable rate debt
hedged at 31 March 2018

Variable rate debt hedged

2018 27

£m [

Outstanding at one year 775 775
at two year s 600 775

al live years 250 250

at lony=al 5 250 230

Fair value hedged debt
The Group uses mterest rate swaps to hedge exposure on fixed rate financial habilies caused by movements in market rates of nterest

At 31 March 2018, the fair value of these dervatives s a net asset of £25m interest rate swaps with a fair vatue of £110m have been
decignated as fair value hedges under JAS 39 [2016/17 asset of £215m)

The cross currency swaps of the 2018/2021/2023/202- US Private Placements fully hedge the foreign exchange exposure st an average
floating rate of 146 basis points above LIBOR These have been designated as fair value hedges of the US Private Placements

Interest rate profile - including effect of derivatives

2018 AT

£m s

Fixed or capped rate 2,107 1,604
Variable rate [met of cashl) 939 1,490
3,046 3.094

All the debt 15 effectively Sterling denominated except for £3m [2016/17 £11m) of Eure debt of which £2m 15 at a vaniable rate [2016/17 £11m)

A1 31 March 2018 the weighted average interest rate of the Sterling fixed rate debt 15 3 2% [2016/17 3 3%] The weighted average period for
which the rate1s fixed 1s 91 years |2016/17 8 Syears] The floating rate debt 1s set for periods of the Company s choosing at the relevant
LIBOR for sirmart rate

The proportion of net debt at fixed or capped rates of interest was 80% at 21 March 2018 on & spol basts The proportion of net debt at fixed or
capped rates of interest as an average over the next five-year forecast period, on a proportionaily consolidated basis, was 60% at 31 March
2018 Based onthe Group s nterest rate profile, at the balance cheet date, a 376 bps increase in interest rates would decrease annual profits
by £52r [2076/17 €87m decrease} Simitarly. a 72 bps reduction would increase profits by £10m (2016/17 £5m increase based on a 34 bps
reduction] The change ininterest ratec used for this sensitivity analysis 15 based on the largest annual change in three-month Sterling
LIBOR over the last 10 years The impact assumes LIBOR does not tall below 0%

Upward movernents in mediur and long term interest rates, asseciated with higher interest rate expectations, increase the value of the
Group s mmterest rate swaps and caps that provide protection against such moves The converse is true tor downward movernents in the yreld
curve A 204 bps shift represents the targest annual change in the seven-year Steriing swap rate over the tast 10 years At 21 March 2018

a 204 bps parallel upward shift in swap rates would increase the value of cash flow hedges and dervatives that are nol hedge accounted

by £48rm 12016/17 €£82rn] A 204 bpe downward shift 1n swap rates would reduce the value of these derivatives by £81m [2016/17 £131m)
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17 Net debt continued

Interest rate profile - including effect of derivatives continued

The 0% 2015 Convertible Bond is designated as fair value through profit or loss Principal components of the market value of this bond
include British Land s share price and its volatiity, and market interest rates

The fair value of the 0% 2015 Convertible Bond at 31 March 2018 was a £337m liability At 31 March 2018 a 204 bps parallel upward shift
Ininterest rates would reduce the fair value lability by £15m, and a 204 bps downward shift in interest rates would increase the fair value

Liabdity by £15m

Foreign currency risk management

The Group's policy 1s to have no material unhedged net assets or iabilities denorminated in foreign currencies The currency risk on
overseas investments s hadged via foreign currency denomunated borrowings and derwvatives The Group has adopted net mvestment
hedging in accordance with IAS 3% and therefore the portion of the gam or toss on the hedging instrument that 1s determined to be an
eftective hedge is recegnised directly in equity The ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument 1s recegnised
immediately in the income staterment

The table below shows the carrying amounts of the Group s foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities. Provided contingent tax
on overseas investments 1S not expectead to occur it will be ignored tor hedging purposes Based on the 31 March 2018 position a 26%
appreciation (targest annual change over the last ten years] in the Euro relative to Sterling would result in a £mil change (2016/17 £nil) in
reported profits

LR el s
2018 217 2018 7
£m Lo £m £
Eurg denominated 3 13 3 11

Credit risk management

The Group s approach to credit risk managernent of counterparties 1s referred to in the Financial policies and principles on pages 45 to 47 and
the risks addressed within Manaqging risk in delivering our strategy on pages 4810 51 The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the
financial statements represents the Group s maxisnurm exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained

Cash and short term deposits a1 31 March 2018 amaunted to £105m (2016/17 £114m) Deposuts and interest rate depasits were placed with
financial inshtutions with BBB+ or better credit ratings

AL 31 March 2018, the fair vaiue of all interest rate dervative assets was £11am {2016/17 £217m]

At 31 March 2018, prior to taking into account any offset arrangements, the largest combined credit exposure to a single counterparty
arising from money market deposits, iguid investments and derivatives was £49m {2016/17 £120m) This represents 0 4% [2016/17 0 9%)
of gross assets

The deposit exposures are with UK banks and UK branches of international banks

The Group's exposure to credit risk in respect of its trade recervables is analysed in note 13 Prowvisions are made taking into account historic
credn losses and the credaworihimess of debtors

Liquidity risk management
The Group s approach to iquidity risk management 1s discussed in the Financial policies and principles on pages 45 to 47, and the risks
addressed within Managing risk in delivering our strategy on pages 48 to 31

The following table presents a matunty profile of the contracted undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay The tabie includes bothinterest and principal flows Where the interest payable is not fixed,
the amourt disclosed has been determined by reference to the projected interest rates implied by yield curves at the reporting date

For derivative financial instruments that settle on a net basis {e g interest rate swaps) the undiscounted net cash flows are shown and for
derivatives that require gross settiement [e g cross currency swaps! the undiscounted gross cash flows are presented Where payment
obligations are in foreign currencies, the spot exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date 1s used Trade creditors and amounts owed
to jomt ventures, which are repayable within one year, have been excluded from the analysis

The Group expects to meet its financial babiltes through the various available kiguidity sources, including a secure rentat income profile,
asset sales, undrawn committed borrowing facilities and, In the longer term, debt refinancings
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17 Net debt continued

Liquidity risk management continued

The Group leases out all its investment properties under operating leases with a weighted average lease length of eight years This secure
income profile 1s generated from upward only rent reviews, long leases and high eccupancy rates The future aggregate miimurm rentals
receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are also shown 1n the table below Income from joint ventures and funds is net included
below Additional higuidity will arise from letting space in properties under construction as well as from distributions received from joint
ventures and funds

2018
Three
Within Following to five Over five
one year year years years Total
£m £m Em £m £m
Debt’ 30 166 1,173 1,680 3,049
Interest on debt 92 % 232 475 893
Dervative payments 34 16 182 259 491
Head lease payments 2 2 7 267 278
Total payments 158 278 1,594 2,681 4,711
Derivative receipls {52 (20} 1209) {196) (477)
Net payment 106 258 1,385 2,485 4,234
Operating leases with fenants 424 399 768 1,490 3,281
Liguidity surplus fdeficit) 318 141 (817} (%95} (953}
Cumulative Liquidity surplus {deficit) 318 £59 42 (953)
AT
Wt mule s o v: { B
[N v yeE : =
i - - 1" -r
Debt: 459 23 1,240 1,420 3132
Interest on debt 89 86 235 468 878
Derivative payments 12 4h 189 263 308
Head tease payments 2 2 7 254 265
Total payments 562 163 1.671 2,405 4,803
Dervative receipts 126] [61) [253) 1231} [593)
Net payment 536 104 1,416 2154 4,210
Operating leases with tenants 405 382 284 1,750 3,521
Lrquidity [deficit] surplus [131) 278 {4321 {404) i689)
Cumulative tiquidity (deficit) surplus (131 147 [285] {689]

o R T e L O TR (RO FOR AR RS A S VI VA O o B A T N S B 1 A A B TR R TR S

afd oSt e aesiot Ledn 207517 Trade

Any short term iguidity gap between the net payments required and the rentals receivable can be met through other Liguidity sources
availabie to the Group, such as comrmitted undrawn borrowing faciiities The Group currently holds cash and short term deposits of £105m of
which £91m 15 not subject to a security interest [see footnote 5 to net debt table on page 121 Further hguidity can be achieved through sales
of property assets or investments and debt refinancings

The Group s property portfolio 1s vatued externally at £9997m and the share of joint ventures and funds property s valued at £4,162m
The commuitted undrawn borrowing tacilities available to the Group are a further source of hiquidity The rmatunity protile of committed
undrawn borrowing facilities 1s shown below

Maturity of committed undrawn borrowing facilities

2018 217

Em o

Maturity date  over five years 60 125
between four and five years 90 Mo

between three and four years 1,610 58

Totsl faciities available for more than three years 1,160 1,293
Between two and three years 85 149
Between one and two years 86 -
Within one year - 2
Total 1,33 1,644

The above facilities are comprised of British Land undrawn facilities of £1.243m excluding the extension of the £735m facility, plus undrawn
facilibies of Hercules Unit Trust totalling £86m
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18 Leasing

Operating leases with tenants

The Group leases out all of its investment properties under operating leases with a weighted average lease length of eight years
12016/17 eight years] The future aggregate minimum rentals recetvable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

2018 i
£m £
Less than one year 424 405
Between one and two years 399 382
Between three and five years 948 984
Between six and ten years 206 980
Between eleven and fifteen years 393 460
Between sixteen and twenty years 145 181
After twenty years 46 129
Total 3,281 3.521
Operating lease commitments
The future aggregate rmunimum rentals payat:le under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows
2018 77
£m [
Less than one year 3 3
Between one and two years k! 3
Between three and five years 8 9
Between six and ten years 7 g
Total 2% 24
The Group s leasehold investment properties are typically under non-renewable leases without significant restrictions Finance lease
liabiities are payable as follows, no contingent rents were payable In etther period
2018 17
Minimum Mo o
lease ROT
payments Interest Principal payn oL - REETRRN O pua
£m £€m £m 1 O -
British Land Group
Less than one year 2 - ya -
Between one and two years 2 2 - 2 2 -
Between two and five years 7 7 - 7 7 -
More than five years 267 205 62 269 203 b4
Total 278 216 62 280 216 b4
Less future finance charges {216} 1216)
Present value of lease obligations 62 b4
More than five years 62 b4
Present value of lease obligations 62 b4
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19 Dividend
The fourth quarter interim dividend of 752 pence per share, totalling £74m {2016/17 730 pence per share, totalling £75m), was approved
by the Board on 16 May 2018 and 15 payable on 2 Aegust 2018 to shareholders on the register at the close of business on 29 Juna 2018

The Board will announce the availability of the Scrip Dividend Alternative, if available, wvia the Regulatery News Service and on its website
(www.britishland.com/dividends], no later than four business days before the ex-dividend date of 28 June 2018 The Board expecls to
anncunce the spit between Property Incorne Distributions [PID) and non-PID incorne at that ttme Any Scrip Dividend Alternative will not
be enhanced PID dhidends are paid, as required by REIT legislation, after deduction of withholding tax at the basic rate [currently 20%},
where appropriate Certain classes of shareholders may be able to elect to receive dividends gross Please refer to our website
www.britishland.com/dividends for details

- 2018 w7

Payment date Dividend Shiar- £m i
Current year dividends
0308208 2018 4th intedtm 752
04 05 2018 2018 3rd interim 752
0202 2018 2018 2nd nterim 752 75
1011 2017 2018 st interim 752 77

2008
Prior year dividends
04 08 2017 2017 4thiinterim 730 75
0505 2017 2017 3rd interim 730 75
10022017 2017 2nd interim 730 75
1111 2076 2017 1st interim 7730 75

2920
0508 2016 2016 4thinterim 709 73
06 G5 2016 2016 2rd interim 709 73
Dividends in consolidated staternert
of changes m equrty 302 2956
Dividends settled in shares - -
Dwvidends settled in cash 302 294
Timing difference relating to payment
of withholding lax 2 i)
Dwidends 1in cash flow staternent 304 295

Swdl der PR Jhan oen 010
20 Share capital and reserves
2018 A0

Number of ordinary shares inissue at 1 April 1,041,035,058 1,040,362 323

Share issues 429,206 472735
Repurchased and cancelled 147,607,139) -
At 31 March 993,857,125 1, (041 035,058

Cf the issued 25p ordinary shares, 7.376 shares were held in the ESOP trust {2016/17 7.783), 11,266 245 shares were held as treasury shares
[2076/17 11,266 243] and 982,383,504 shares were in free 1ssue [2016/17 1,029761,020]1 No treasury shares were acquired by the ESOP trust
during the year Allissued shares are fully paid In the year ended 31 March 2018 the Company repurchased and cancelied 47,607,129 ordinary
shares at 3 weighted average price of 630 pence

Hedging and translation reserve

The hedging and transtation reserve comprises the effective portion of the curnulative net change in the fair vaiue of cash flow and foreign
currency hedging mstruments. as well as all foreign exchange differences arising from the transtation of the financial statements of foregn
operations The foreign exchange differences alsc include the translation of the liabtlities that hedge the Company’s net investment in a
foreign subsidiary

Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve relates to owner-occupled properties and investments n joint ventures and funds

Merger reserve

This comprises the premum on the share placing m March 2012 No share premium is recorded in the Company < financial statements,
through the operation of the merger relief provisions of the Companies Act 2000
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20 Sharc capital and reserves continued
At 31 March 2018, options over 7,517,263 ordinary shares were outstanding under ernployee share option plans The options had a weighted
average life of 6 & years Details of outstanding share options and shares awarded 1o employees including Executive Directors are set out

below and on the following page

Sxar T we gater
AT A Veaodbd T wedf At 31 March
Date of grant ey Granted notsxeriiaoil Veuterd Lok 2018 el B
Share options Sharesave Scheme
260612 42,698 - - {40,403) 12,295} - 36200 01917 610318
190613 317 - - - 1317} - 51100 61916 280217
190613 15,202 - - - 1352 14,850 51100 01e18 610319
230614 116,537 - - IM2776) 13,761] - 574 G0 01917 010318
230614 98,450 - - - 115,938) 82,512 574 00 0191 010320
220615 39,205 - - - {11,203} 27,900 69700 01918 010319
220615 20,382 - - - 15,378] 15,006 69700 01920 01032t
2006 16 22,101 - - {559} 145,616) 45,926 608 00 01219 010320
200616 59,300 - - - [37.297) 22,003 408 00 0192r 010322
210617 - 265,883 - - (7.064) 256,819 508 00 01920 010221
210617 - 98,960 - - {2,420) §6,540 5068 00 01922 010323
484,192 364,843 - 1153738] 133741 561,556

Long-Term Incentive Plan - options vested, not exercised
2906 09 10.333 - - - - 10,333 38700 290612 290619
211209 69,710 - - (11,157 - 58,563 446 00 211212 211219
110610 1,207,153 - - 174.864) - 1,132,269 44700 1M0613 110620
141210 59933 - - {4.800) - 55,133 510 00 141213 141220
2806 11 823,253 - - 110,434 - 812,819 57500 280614 2806 21
19121 76,826 - - 16,651 - 70,176 45100 191214 191221
14 0912 1.055,907 - - 183,254) [2.0%}) 968,557 338 0D 140913 140922
201212 77345 - - 16,532] 18,615] 62,197 263 00 201215 201222
020813 233,028 - - {27.280) 11,670) 294,078 60100 050816 050823
051213 208.015 - - (23,151j 12955 171,909 500 00 021216 051223

3.921,503 - - [250,143] (35,337 3,634,023
Long-Term Incentive Plan - unvested optiocns
23614 763,854 - - - {743.854) - 684 33 230617 230624
121214 26,127 - - - 26127) - 75783 121217 1212 24
22615 1.021,853 - - - 32731 889122 824 50 220618 220625
22616 1,.317362 - - - {95,742) 1,221,620 730 30 220619 2206 26
28 617 - 1,258,685 - - (49.743) 1,208,342 61717 280620 280627

3.129.196 1,258,685 - - 11.068,197] 3,319,684
Total 7534891 1,623,528 - 1403.881) 1,237.275] 7,517,263
Weighted average exercise
price of options (pence] 521 393 - 322 590 609
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20 Share capital and reserves continued

AT A S - At 31 March _lhjn‘:"\f‘frr;k'i
Date of grant Sy Lorten Vol o _anaad 2018 Lo Ve ngoa-
Performance Shares Long-Term incentive Plan
2364 1,302,334 - - {1,302,354] - 484 00 23617
121244 4,354 - - 14,354] - 75783 121217
22612 1,151,199 - - (82.741) 1,068,458 824 30 22618
22616 1,273,754 - - 1367041 1,137,050 73050 22619
28617 - 1948771 - [51,159) 1,897,612 61717 28620
3.731.661 1948771 - 11,577.212) 4,103,120
Matching Share Plan
3006 14 289560 - 1447801 (144,780} - 702 40 30617
29615 282170 - - - 282,170 804 00 29618
29616 318,932 - - (5.756) 313,176 80700 29619
890,662 - 144,780] 1150,536] 595,346
Total 4622323 1948771 144.730) [1,727,848) 4,698,466
Weighted average price of shares [pence) 749 817 702 695 716

21 Segment information

The Group allocates resources to Investrment and asset management according to the sectors it expects to perform over the medum term
tts three principal sectors are Dffices, Retaill and Canada Water The Retail sector includes leisure, as this 1s often incorporated into Retait
schemes Residential properties were mcluded within Offices in the prior year, but have been reclassified within Other/unallocated in the
current year, with the prior year cernparatives represented

The relevant gross rental iIncome, net rental income, operating result and property assets, being the measures of segment revenue, segment
result and segment assets used by the management of the business, are set out below Management reviews the performance of the
bustness principally on a proportienally consolhidated basis, which inctudes the Group s share of joint ventures and funds on a line-by-line
basis and excludes non-controlling interests in the Group < subsidiaries The chief operating dectsion maker for the purpose of segment
information is the Executive Committee

Gross rental ncome 1s derived from the rental of buildings Operating result is the net of net rental Income, fee income and admimistrative
expenses No custorner exceeded 10% of the Group's revenues in erther year
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21 Segment information continued
Segment result

bt R =l Canada Woler oA loea nd Toa
2018 e 2018 T 2018 A 2018 2117 2018 Y
£m fr £m e £m _im £m " £m rr
Gross rental income
British Lang Group 139 139 273 276 8 9 4 3 424 427
Share of joint ventures and funds 02 16 87 100 - - - - 189 216
Total 241 255 360 376 8 9 4 3 413 643
Net rental income
British Land Group 131 13 254 262 7 8 4 2 396 403
Share of joint ventures and funds 8 112 82 25 - - - - 180 207
Total 229 243 336 357 7 8 4 2 576 510
Operating result
British Land Group 126 127 248 252 [4 5 (42} (47} 336 327
Share of joint ventures and funds 95 109 79 %6 - - (2} il 172 204
Total 22 236 327 348 4 5 (44} |48} 508 541
2018 2007

Reconciliation to Underlying Profit £m s
Operating result 508 341
Net financing costs [128) 1151}
Underlying Profit 380 390
Reconciliation to profit on ordinary activities before taxation
Underlying Profit 380 390
Capital and other 107 1209}
Underlying Profit attributable to non-controlling interesis 14 14
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 501 193
Reconciliatton to Greup revenue
Gross rental Income per operating segment result 413 643
Less share of gross rental income of jomnt ventures and funds 1189 [216]
Plus share of gross rental income attributable to non-controlling interests 17 15
Gross rental income [note 3} 441 4472
Trading property sales proceeds 78 33
Service charge income 66 62
Management and performance fees [from joint ventures and funds) [} g
Other fees and commissions 48 43
Revenue {Consolidated Income Statement) 639 53¢

Areconciliation between net financing costs in the consclidated income staterment and net financing costs of £128m 12016/17 £151m}inthe
segmental disclosures above can be tound within Table A in the supplementary disclosures Of the total revenues above, £nil [2016/17 £nit)

was derived from outside the UK

Segment assets

N et Canads Warsr Niherforalio ared fote
2018 7 2018 2007 2018 217 2018 s 2018 LA
£m tr £m £ £m in £m frn €m tm
Property assets
British Land Group 4,371 4,069 4,915 4,716 283 271 13 154 9,682 2210
Share of joint ventures and funds 2,334 2,776 1,681 1,038 - - 19 16 4,034 4,730
Total 46,765 6,845 6,596 6 654 283 271 132 170 13,716 13,940
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21 Segment information continned
Reconciliation to net assets

2018 27
British Land Group £m [
Property assets 13,716 13940
Other non-currenl assels 185 156
Non-current assets 13,901 14,096
Other net curvent labilities (368} [364]
Adjusted net debt (3,973 (4.223)
Other non-current hahilities - N1
EPRA net assets [diluted) 2,560 ¢ 498
Non-controlling interests 254 255
EPRA adjustments (308} i277)
Net assets 9,506 9.476

22 Capital commitments

The aggregate capital commitments to purchase, construct or develop investrent property, for repairs, maintenance or enhancerments,
or for the purchase of investments which are contracted for but not provided, are set out below

018 27

£m t

British Land and subsidiaries 239 86
Share of joint ventures 193 19
Share of funds - 7
432 107

23 Related party transactions

Details of transactions with jomnt ventures and funds are given i notes 3, 6 and 11 During the year the Group recognised joint venture
management fees of £6m [2016/17 £9m] Details of Directors rermuneration are givenin the Remuneration Report on pages 76 to 91
Details of transactions with key management perconnet are provided in note 8 Details of transactions with The British Land Group of

Cormpanies Pension Scherne, and other smaller pension schemes, are given mnote @

24 Countingent liabilities
Group, joint ventures and funds

The Group, joint ventures and funds have contingent liabilities in respect of legal claims, guarantees and warranties arnsing in the ordinary
course of business s not anticipated that any material labilities will arise from contingent Labibities
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25 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

Set out below 1s summarised financial information fer each subsidiary that has non-controlling interests that are material to the Group
The information betow 1s the amount betore intercompany eliminations, and represents the consolidated results of the Hercules Unit
Trust group

Summarised income statement for the year ended 31 March

Hevoaes bt Trus
2018 217
£m tm
Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 53 10
Attributable to non-controtling interests 14 3
Attributable to the shareholders of the Company 39 7
Summarised balance sheet as at 31 March
serivles e rust
2018 27
€m [
Total assets 1,548 1,509
Total labilities (565) {531}
Net assets $83 978
Non-controlling interests {254) 1255
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 729 723
Summarised cash flows
raeses U T
2018 07
£m o
Netincreasein cash and cash equivalents 3 i0
Cash and cash eguivalents at 1 April 40 30
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 43 40

The Hercules Unit Trust 1s a closed-ended property Unit Trust The unit price st 31 March 201815 £684 {2016/17 £684] Non-controlling
interests cotiechively own 23 0% of units in1issue The British Land Company PLC owns 77 0% of units in1ssue, each of which confer equal
voting rights, and therefore 15 deemed to exercise control over the trust

26 Subsequent events
There have been no significant events since year end
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27 Audit exemiptions taken for subsidiaries

The following subsidiaries are exempt from the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 relating to the audit of individual accounts by virtue

of Section 47%A of that Act

WA R LT DA TR TP
N regnn cher o NL T r-a b
20 Brock Street Lirruted 07401097 BLHoldings 2010 Ltd 07353966
39 Victoria Street Limited 07037133 Boldswitch Lirited 02207096
Adamant Investment Corporation Limited 0022314%  British Land In Town Retait Limited 03325066
Apartpower Limited 02832059  Brnitish Land Property Advisers Linited 02793828
Bayeast Property Co Lirmited 00633800  Cavendish Geared Lirmited 02779045
BL Broadgate Fragment 1 Limited 09400407 Exchange House Holdings Limited 02037407
BL Broadgate Fragment 2 Limited 09400541  Hempel Holdings Limited 05341380
BL Broadgate Fragment 3 Limited 09400411 Hilden Properties Limited NI062887
Bt Broadgate Fragment 4 Lumited 09400409  Hyfleet Linmted 02835919
8t Broadgate Fragment 5 Limited 09400413 Ivoryhill Limited 02307407
BL Broadgate Fragment & Limited 02400414  Lancaster General Partner Limited 05452192
BL Clifton Moor Limited 07508019  Longford Street Residential Limited 08700158
BL CW Developments Limited 10664198  Moorage {Property Developments] Lirmited 01185513
BL CW Developments Plot Al Ltd 10782150  Osnaburgh Street Limited 05886735
8L CW Developments Plot AZ Ltd 10782235 Paddington Centrall {GP] Limited 03891376
BL CW Developments Plot G1 Ltd 10782458  Parwick Investments Limited 00454239
L CW Lower GP Company Limited 10663297  Piccadilly Residential bimited 10525984
BL CW Lower LP Company Limited 10663474 Pillar Nugent Limited 02567031
8L CW Holdings Plot A1 Company Limited 10781493 Pillarman Limited 02713307
Bl CW Holdings Plot AZ Company Limited 10781302 PillarStore No 3 Limited 03589118
BL CW Holdings Plot G1 Company Limited 10781471 Shopping Centres Limited 02230056
BL Cwmbran Limited 07780231  Surrey Quays Limited 05294243
BL Eden Walk Linmted 10620935 TBL [Bursledon] Linited 03854557
Bl HC Property Holdings Lirmited 06894046  TBL ILisnagelvin] Lirnited 03833983
BL Heaith Clubs PH No 1 Limited 03643248  TBL IMadstone] Limited 03854615
BL Heatth Clubs PH No 2 Limited 05643261  TBL Holdings Limited 03837311
BL Lancaster Investments Ltd 10563072 Teesside Leisure Park Limited 02672136
BL Osnaburgh 5t Residential Ltd 06874523  Umited Kimgdom Property Company Limited 00266486
BL Residential Mo 1 Limited 05221237  Vintners’ Place Limited 02149495
BL Residential No Z Limited 05291956  Wates City of London Properties Limited 01788526
BLD {Ebury Gatel Limited 03863852 Wates City Paint Limited 02973114
BLD Properties Limited (0732787

The following partnerships are exempt from the requirements to prepare, publish and have audited indwidual accounts by virtue of regulation
7 of The Partnerships [Accounts! Regulations 2008 The resuits of these partnerships are censolidated withun these Group accounts

N

Nt

BL Shoreditch Limited Partnership

BL Chess No ! Lirnited Partnership

BL CW Lower Limited Partnership

BL CW Upper Limited Partnerchip

BL Lancaster Limited Partrership

Hereford Shopping Centre Limited Partnership

Faddington Block ALP

Paddingion Block BLP

Paddington Central | LP

Paddington Central Il LP

Paddington Kiosk Lp

Power Court Luton Limited Partnership
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Financial stateiments

COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH FRS 101 AS AT 31 MARCH 2018

2018 notT

Fixed assets

Investments and leans te subsidraries D 28,148 27518
investments in joint ventures b 376 431
Other investments D k74 35
Interest rate derivative assets E s 217

Deferred tax assets 19
28,683 28,201

Current asseis
Debtors G é 7
Cash and short term deposits E 32 49
38 56
Current liabilities
Short term borrowIngs and overdrafts E 271 163}
Creditars H (88) {105
Amounts due to subsitharies (20,645) 119.410)
(20,760}  19.578]
Net current biabilities {20,722} 119.522]
Totat assets less current Liabilltles 7,941 8.679
Non-current liabilities
(ebentures and lpans E 12,250} {1978]
Interest rate derivative liabilities E {133} {134]
Amounts due to subsidtaries - 1331t
Deferred tax and other non-current liabifities - [3)

{2,383 [2.446)

MNet assets 5,578 6,233
Equity

Called up share capital | 248 240
Share premium 1,300 1.298
Other reserves 7 134)
Merger reserve 213 213
Retained earnings 3,810 4,596
Total equity 5,578 6,233

The loss after taxation for the year ending 31 March 2018 for ihe Company was £192m (year ending 31 March 2017 £121m proft]

Chris I.rigg

John Gildersleeve
Chairman Chief Executive Ofhicer

Approved by the Board on 16 May 2018

Company number 621920
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

srettane

N “hr- At LG =~ Totat
- prers VIS L TR a ot equity
_ b L ‘o £m
Balance at 1 April 2017 260 1,298 (134 213 4,596 6,233
Share 1ssues - 2 - - - 2
Purchase of own shares 12 - - - (289 (301}
Dividend paid - - - - (302) (202)
Net actuarial gain on pension schemes - - - - ? 9
Loss for the year after taxation - - - - 192} {192)
Transferred 1o the income statement [cash flow hadgesi - - 129 - - 129
Balance at 31 March 2018 248 1,300 (5 213 3,822 5,578
Balance at 1 April 201& 260 1,295 [120) 213 4,78% 6,437
Share 1ssues - 3 - - - 3
Dividend paid - - - - [296) (298]
Fairvatue of share and share option awards - - - - 2 2
Purchase of own shares - - - - {8l {8
Net actuarial loss on pension schemes - - - - 112) (12)
Profit for the year after taxation - - - - 121 121
Derwative valuation moverment - - 114) - - 4]
Balance at 31 March 2017 260 1,298 {134) 213 4,596 6,233
The value of distributable reserves within the profit and loss account 1s £2,074m {2016/17 £2.911m]
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Financial statements

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(A) Accounting policies Investments and loans

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018 have Investments and toans in subsidiaries and joint ventures are stated
been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation | at cost less provisien for imparrment

of derivatives These financial statements have alco been prepared

inaccordance with Financial Reperting Standard 101 Reduced Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty
Disclosure Framework { FRS 101} The amendments to FRS 161 The key source of estimation uncertainty relates to the Company s
[2015/16 Cyclelssued in July 2016 and etfective immediately have investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures Inestimating the

requirement for impairment of these investments, management
make assumptions and judgements on the vatue of these

In preparing these financial statements, the Company applies the mnvestments using inherently subjective underlying asset valuations,
recoegnition, measurement and disclosure requirements of supporied by independent valuers

International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EUJ
[ Adopted IFRSs ). but makes amendments where necessary in order | {B) Dividends

10 comply with the Compames Act 2006 and has set out below where + Details of dividends pard and proposed are ncluded in note 19 of the
advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken consolidated financial statements

been applied

(C) Emplovee information

Employee costs include wages and salaries of £3%m (2016/17 £37m),
sotial security costs of £5m {2016/17 £5rn) and pension costs of £5m
12016/17 £5m) Detaits of the Executive Directors remuneration are
disclosed inthe Remuneration Report

The Company has taken advantage of the following disciesure
exernptions under FRS 107

the requirements of IAS 1 to prowvide a balance sheet at the
beginning of the period in the event of a prior period adjustment,
the requirements of IAS 1 to provide a statement of cash flows
for the period, Audit fees in relation to the parent Company enly were £0 3m
lc) therequirernerts of IAS 1 1o provide a staterment of complance 2016417 £0 2m)
with IFRS, ‘
the requirements of IAS 1 to disclose information on the ‘
rmanagement of capial, |
[e] the requirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of 1AS 8 Accounting

Policies, Changes in Accounting Estirnates and Errors o disclose |

new IFRSs that have been 1ssued but are not yet effective, \
[fl the requirernents in tAS 24 Related Party Disclosuresto disclose
related party transactions entered into between two or more
members of a group, provided that any subsidiary which is a \
party to the transaction)s wholty-owned by such a member, '
the requirements of paragraph 17 of IAS 24 Related Party
Disclosures to disclose key management personnel
compensSation,
[n] the requirements of IFRS 7 to disclose financial nstruments, and
i} the requirements of paragraphs ¢1-29 of IFRS 13 Fair Vatue
Measurement to disclose information of fair value valuation
techniques and inputs ‘

la

(b

ld

g

Going concern
The financiat staternents are prepared on the going concern basis
as explained i the corporate governance section on page 51
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(1)} Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures. loans to subsidiaries and other investments

RV L )
SHAET A Loan-1n [NTERA Ltner
U S [PV RTR Y« Dl RS L I B A CE Total
- e . il £m
On ) Apnil 2017 19,706 7.812 431 35 27984
Additions - 1,852 32 5 1,889
Disposals - (1,074 187 121 (1,160)
Depreciaticn/amortisation - - - (4) {4l
Provision for impairment [3] [148) - - [151)
As at 31 March 2018 19,703 8,440 37 34 28,558
The historical cost of shares in subsicharies is £20,625m (2016/17 £20,025m) Investrnents in joint ventures of £376m [2016/17 £431mij)
includes £183m [2016/17 £245m) of loans to joint ventures by the Company Results of the joint ventures are set out in note 11 of the
consolidated hinancial statements The tustorical cost of other mvestments is £50m {2016/17 €£48m)
(E) Net debt
2018 07
£m ten
Secured on the assets of the Company
3 264°% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2035 369 377
5 0055% First Mortlgage Amortising Debentures 2035 95 99
2 357% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2028 255 348
719 BZ4
Unsecured
3 50% Sentor Notes, 2027 100 102
3 895% Semor US Dollar Notes 2616 27 32
4 635% Servor US Dollar Notes 2021 154 181
4 756% Senior US Dollar Notes 2023 97 Nz
5 003% Senvor US Dollar Notes 2026 63 73
3 B1% Senior Notes 2026 110 14
3 97% Semor Notes 2026 112 117
Fair value of options to1ssue under 1 5% convertible bond 2017 - 5
Fair value of oplions to issue under 0% convertible bond 2020 - 3
2 375% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2029 2798 -
Bank lgans and overdralts 595 477
1,558 1,217
Gross debt 2,277 2,041
Interest rate and currency denvative babiiies 133 134
Interest rate and currency derivative assets 115) 1217)
Cash and short term deposits {32} [49]
Netdebt 2,263 1209

oo lordn et g e s nriewn LW et I hdren 10 TTe

1.5% Convertible bond 2012 [maturity 2017}

npa oA tar il e -

On 10 Septernber 2012, British Land [Jersey] Limited [the 2012 lssuer], & wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 1ssued £400 million 1 3%

guarantead convertible bonds due 2017 Ithe 2012 bonds] at par Un 10 September 2017 the conwvertible bonds were redeemed at par
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NOTES 70 THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

(F) Net debt continued

0% Convertible bond 2015 [maturity 2020}

On % June 20715, British Land 1White) 2015 Limited fthe 2015 tssuerl, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. issued £350 million zere
coupon guaranteed convertible bonds due 2020 [the 2015 bonds) at par The 2015 [ssuer i3 fully guaranteed by the Company 0 respect
of the 2015 bends

Subject to their terms, the 2015 bonds are convertible into preference shares of the 2015 lssuer which are automatically transferred to
the Company in exchange for ordinary shares in the Company or, at the Company s election, any combination of ordinary shares and cash
Frorn 20 July 2015 up to and including 2% June 2018, a bondholder may exercise its conversion right if the share price has traded at a level
exceeding 130% of the exchange price for a specified period Thereafter, and up to but excluding the 7th dealing day before % June 20620
{the maturity date), a bondhoider may convert at any time

The inttial exchange price was 1103 32 pence per ordinary share The exchange price 15 adjusted based on cerlain events [such as the
Company paying dividends 1in any guarter above 3 418 pence per ordinary share] As at 31 March 2018 the exchange price was 1036 52 pence
per ordinary share

Fror 30 June 2018, the Company has the ophion to redeern ihe 2015 bonds & par i the Cornpany’s share price has iraded above 130% of

the exchange price for a specified period. or at any time once 85% by norminal value of the 2015 bonds have been converted, redeemed, or
purchased and cancetied The 2015 bonds will be redeemed at par on ¢ June 2020 [the maturity date) f they have not already been converted,
redeemed or purchased and cancelled

The intercompany lean between the Issuer and the Company arising from the transfer of the loan proceeds was imtiatly recognised at far
value, net of capitalised 1ssue costs, and 1s accounted for using the amortised cost method In addition to the intercompany loan, the Company
has entered into a dervative contract retating to its guarantee of the obligations of the Issuer in respect of the bonds and the commitment to
provide shares or @ combination of shares and cash on conversion of the bonds This derivative contract is included within the balance sheet
as a Liabitity carried at fair value through profit and loss

Maturity analysis of net debt

2018 200

£m Lo

Repayable within one year and on dermand 27 63
between one and two years - 33
two and five years 506 4472

five and tenyears 304 782

ten and fifteen years 305 332

fifteen and twenty years 635 38¢

2,250 1978

Gross debt 2,277 2,041
Interest rate derivatives i8 (831
Cash and short term deposits (32) [49)
Net deht 2,263 1,909

(F) Pension
The British Land Group of Companies Pension Scheme and the Defined Contribution Pension Scheme are the principal pension schemes
of the Company and details are set out in note ¢ of the consclidated financial statements
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{G) Debtors

2018 o7
€m .
Trade and other deblors 6 3
Prepayments and accrued income - 4
6 7

(H) Creditors
2018 27
£m
Trade creditors 12 12
Corporation tax 21 29
Cther taxation and social security 21 32
Accruals and deferred income 34 32
88 105

(1) Share capital

Sl arvanEr s

LoZdn zath

Issued, called and fully paid

At 1 April 2017 260 1,041,035,058
Share 1ssues - 429206
Repurchased and cancelled 12 (47 607139]
At 31 March 2018 248 993,857,125
Oranarvshar—g
_ o Ic\ !J’L‘r“:'
Issued, called and fully paid
At 1 April 2016 260 1.040,562.323
Share i1ssues - 472735
At 31 March 2017 260 1.041.035,058

(1) Contingent liabilities. capital commitments and related party transactions
The Company has contingent liabtlities in respect of legal claims, guarantees and warranties arising in the ordinary course of business
Itis not anticipated that any material labitities will arise from the contingent Latilities

At 31 March 2018, the Company has £nil of capital commitrments [2016/17 £1m)

Related party transactions are the same for the Cornpany as for the Group For details refer to note 23 of the consolidated financial statements
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

(K) Related undertakings
Disclosures relating to subsidiary undertakings

The Company’s subsidiaries and other related undertakings at

31 March 2018 are listed below Companies which have been

: UK/Overseas Tax
| Company Name Resident 5tatus
I Linestair Limited UK Tax Resident
I London and Henley Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident

discolved since 31 March 2018 are marked with an asterisk [7)
All Group entities are included 1n the conseclidated financial results

Meadowhall Pensions S5cheme
Trustee Limited

UK Tax Resident

MSE Property Intermediate Holdings

Unless otherwise stated, the Company holds 100% of the vating Limited [50% interest)

UK Tax Resident

rights and beneficial interests in the shares of the following Plantation House Limited

UK Tax Resident

subsidiartes, partnerships, associates and joint ventures Unless Priory Park Merton Lim ted

UK Tax Resident

otherwise stated, the subsidiaries and related undertakings are

registered in the United Kingdom

The share capital of each of the companies, where applicable,
comprises ordinary shares uniess otherwise stated

The Company holds the majority of its as

sets in UK companies,

although sorme are held in overseas compan:es inrecentyears !
we have reduced the number of overseas companies in the Group

Unless noted otherwise as per the following key, the registered
address of each cempany 1s York House, 45 Seymour Street,

London W1H 7L X

A5t George s srcol, Locgees IMT AT w00 Van
AL -parads S i vrery o 10T
Rar-att Ha
Leiiomri=n A

- 1 Vasaptanade S H=ler Jersey 'BT1E5

T 47 Faplaade, StHche, oo w4 YWE
Tebarte A-trance 404, = b ~ar As b e
Thmnvers by Sree | Fe fzet BT -0
boCarpararon Troest S0 apery, 120 2 oranar St

DI9RCT LSA
Direct holdings

Company Naime

twrgh Way, Fore st Ba-imoss ask, BHarder Fr Coawle,

Reqis Property Holdings Limned

UK Tax Resident

The British Land Corporation Limited

UK Tax Resident

Vitalcreate

UK Tax Resident

Indirect holdings

Company Name

UK/Qverseas Tax
Resident Status

1& 4 & 7 Triton Limited

UK Tax Resident

10 Brock Street Limited

UK Tax Resident

10 Portman Square Unit Trust [Jersey)
[Units]

Overseas Tax Resident

10 Triton Street Limited

UK Tax Resident

17-19 Bedford Street Limited

UK Tax Resident

18-20 Craven Hill Gardens Limited

UK Tax Resident

20 Brock Street Limited

UK Tax Resident

20 Triton Street Limited

UK Tax Resident

. 338 Euston Road Limited

UK/Overseas Tax
Resident Status

UK Tax Resident

350 Euston Road Limited

UK Tax Resident

32 Victoria Street Limited

UK Tax Resrdent

8-10 Throgmorton Avenue Limited

UK Tax Resident

Adarnant Investment Corporation Limited

UK Tax Resident

Adshilta Lirnited

UK Tax Resident

Aldgate Place IGP} Lirnited [50% interest]”

UK Tax Resident

Apartpower Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Biuebutton 2014 Limited

UK Tax Resident

Ashband Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Dawvidson Limited

UK Tax Resident

B L Unit Trust {Jersey] lUnits)-

Overseas Tax Resident

BL ESOP Limnited lisle of Manj
lin iquidation)’

Overseas Tax Resident

BL European Fund Management LLP UK Tax Resident
BL Exernpt insurance Services Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Guaranteeco Linted UK Tax Resident
BL Intermediate Holding Company Lumited UK Tax Resident
BLSSP {Funding Limited UK Tax Resident

Bluebutton Property Management UK
Limited |50% interest]

UK Tax Resident

Boldswitch [No 1} Limited

UK Tax Resident

Botdswitch Limited

UK Tax Resident

British Land [Jersey) Limited [Jersey)
IFounder Shares)

UK Tax Resident

Britich Land [White] 2015 Limited (Jerseyj
{Founder Shares})-

UK Tax Resident

B L Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

B LCT 2697) Lirited [Jersey)

UK Tax Resident

B LCT [21500) Linited [Jerseyl

UK Tax Resident

B LU (11193 Limited [Jersey)

UK Tax Resident

Balsenia Limited”

UK Tax Resident

Barnclass Limited

UK Tax Resident

Barndrill Limited

UK Tax Resident

Bayeast Property Co Limnited

UK Tax Resident

Bexile Limited

UK Tax Resident

BF Propco INo 1) Limited

UK Tax Resident

BF Propee {Ne 13) Limited

UK Tax Resident

BF Propco [No 19] Limuted

UK Tax Resident

BF Propce iNe 3} Lirnited

UK Tax Resident

BF Propco [Ne 4] Limited

UK Tax Resident

British Land City UK Tax Resident | BF Propco [No 5! Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land City 2005 Limited UK Tax Resident i BF Properties [No 4) Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Company Secretarial Limited UK Tax Resident | BF Properties [No 5) Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Financing Limited UK Tax Resident | Birstall Co-Ownership Trust UK Tax Resident
British Land Properties Limited UK Tax Residert | [Member interest] {41 25% interes]

Bribish Land Real Estate Limsted UK Tax Resident | BL Maidenhead) Company Limitec UK Tax Resident
British Land Securities Limited UK Tax Resident | BLISP) Cannon Street Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Secunitisation 1999 LUK Tax Resident | BLISP] Investment [1) Limnited UK Tax Restdent
Broadgate (Funding) PLC UK Tax Resident | BL ISP] Investment {2) Limited UK Tax Resident
Broadgate Estates Insurance Mediation UK Tax Resident | BL[SP) Invesiment {3) Limited UK Tax Resident
Services Limited BL [SP] Investrnent {4] Limited UK Tax Resident
Hyfleet Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Bradiord Forster Limited UK Tax Resident
Kingsmere Productions Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Brisington Limited UK Tax Resident

154 BritishLand | Annual Report and Accounts 2008




Cempany Name

UK /Overseas Tax

Resident Status | Company Name

UK/Overseas Tax
Resident Status

EL Broadgate Fragment 1 Lirmited UK Tax Resident  BL HC Health And Fitness Heldings Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Broadgate Fragment 2 Limited UK Tax Resident  BL HC invic Leisure Limiled UK Tax Resident
BL Broadgate Fragment 3 Limited UK Tax Resident  BL HC PH CRG LLP [Member interest) UK Tax Resident
BL Broadgate Fragment 4 Limited UK Tax Resident  BL HC PH LLP {Mernber interest) UK Tax Resident
BL Broadgate Fragrnent 5 Limited UK Tax Resident * BL HC PH No 1 LLP [Member interest] UK Tax Resident
BL Broadgate Fragment 6 Limited UK Tax Resident | BL HC PH No 2 LLP IMember mterest) UK Tax Resident

BL Broadway investment Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL HC PH No 3 LLP {Member interest) UK Tax Resident

BL Chess Limted

UK Tax Resident

BL HC Property Holdings Lirmited UK Tax Resident

BL Chess N¢ 1 Linnited Partnership
[Partnership interest)

UK Tax Rezident

BL City Offices Holding Company Limnited

UK Tax Resident

|
|
i

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Bl Health Clubs PH No 1 Limited
BL Health Clubs PH No 2 Limited
BL High Street and Shopping Centres

BL Clifton Moor Limited UK Tax Resident | Holding Company Limited

BL CW Devetopments Lirnited UK Tax Resident ‘ BL Holdings 2010 Limited [50% mterest] UK Tax Resident
BL CW Developments Plot A1 Limited UK Tax Remdent | BL Lancaster Investments Limited UK Tax Resident
BL CW Developments Plot A2 Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Lancaster Limited Partnership UK Tax Resident
BL CW Developments Plot D1/2 UK Tax Reaident | |Partnershipinterest]

Company Limited + BL Leadenhatl {Jersey] Ltd [Jersey) Overseas Tax Resident
BL CW Developments Plot G1 Linuted UK Tax Resident  BL Leadenhall Holding Go [Jersey) Ltd Overseas Tax Resident
BL CW Developments Plot K1 UK Tax Resident  1Jerseyl

Company Lirmited

BL CW Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL CW Holdings Plot A1 Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL CW Holdings Plot AZ Company Limited

BL Leisure and industrial Holding UK Tax Resident

+ Company Limited

UK Tax Resident |

BL CW Holdings Ptot D1/2 Company Limited

UK Tax Recident

BL CW Holdings Plot 51 Company Limited UK Jax Resident |
BL CW Holdings Ptot K1 Company Limited UK Tax Resident .
BL CW Lower GP Company Limited UK, Tax Resident
BL CW Lower Limited Partnership UK Tax Recident

Partnership interest|

BL CW Lower L P Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL CW Upper GP Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL CW Upper Limited Partnership
|Partnership interest)

UK Tax Restdent

" BL Piccadilly Residential Management

BL CW Upper LP Company Linnited UK Tax Resident
BL Cwmbran {imited UK Tax Resident
BL Debs Limned [Jersey] Overseas Tax Resident
Bl Department Stores Holding UK Tax Resident
Company Lirnited

BL Doncaster Wheatley Limited UK Tax Resident |
BL Ealing Lirruted UK Tax Resident
BL Eden Walk J2012 Limited [Jerseyl- Overseas Tax Resident
BL Eden Walk Lirited UK Tax Resident
BL European Holdings Limited Ur Tax Resident
BL Fixed Uphft Fund Lirnited Partnership UK Tax Resident

IPartnership interest)

BL Fixed Uphft Fund Nominee No 1 Limited
[Jersey)

Overseas Tax Resident

BL Fixed Uphtt Fund Nominee No 2 Limited
[Jersey)-

Overseas Tax Recident

BL Fixed Uplift General Partner Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Fixed Uplift Norminee 1 Limited

LK Tax Resigent

Bt Fixed Uplift Nominee 2 Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Goodman (General Partner] Limited
[30% interest)

UK Tax Resident

BL Marble Arch House Linmited UK Tax Resident
BL Mayfarr Cifices Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Meadowhatl Holdings Lirmited UK Tax Res:dent
i BL Meadowhatl Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Meadowhall No 4 Lirmuted UK Tax Resident
BL Newport Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Office INon-Cityl Holding UK Tax Resident

Company Limited
BL Office Hotding Company Limited
BL Osnaburgh 5t Residential Lid

UK Tax Resigent
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

BL Prccadilly Residential Limited

Ca Limited
BL Piccadilly Residential Reta:l Limited
BL Residentizt No 1 Limited

UK Tax Recident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Residert
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

BL Residential No 2 Limited

BL Residual Holding Company Limited
BL Retail Holding Company Limited
BL Retail Investments Lirmnited

BL Retall Warehousing Holding
Company Limited

BL Sansbury Superstores Limited
{50% interest]

BL Shoreditch General Partner Limited

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Recidenit

BL Shoreditch Limited Partnership UK Tax Resident
[Partrershup interest)

BL Shoreditch No ! Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Shoreditch No 2 Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Superstores Holding Company Limited UK Tax Recident
BL Triton Bullding Residential Limited UK Tax Rezident

BL Tunbridge Wells Limited UK Tax Resident

BL Unitholder No 1 i) Limited Lerceyl Overseas Tax Resident

BL Unitholder No 2 [J) Limited [Jerseyl” Overseas Tax Resident

BL Goodman [LP) Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Universal Limited UK Tax Resident

BL GP Chess No 1 Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Wardrobe Court Holdings Limited UK Tax Rezident

BL HB tnvestments Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL West [Wailing Housel Limited UK Tax Resigent

BL HC {DSCH] Lirrted

UK Tax Resident

BL Whrteley Limnited UK Tax Resident

BL HE {DSCLI) Lirnited

UK Tax Resident

BL Woolwich Limited UK Tax Recident

Bt HC Dollview Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL Woolwich Nominee 1 Lirmited UK Tax Resident

BL HC Hampshire PH LLP IMember interest}

UK Tax Resident

BL Woolwich Mominee 2 Limited UK Tax Re<ident
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ancial statements

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Cempany Name

UK/Overseas Tax '
Resident Status

i Company Name

UK/Overseas Tax
Resident Status

Blackglen Limited

UK Tax Resident

Casegood Enterprises

UK Tax Resident

Blackwall (1) UK Tax Resigent | Caseplane Limited UK Tax Resident
Btaxmill [Twenty-rune} Lirnited UK Tax Resident | Cavendish Geared f Lirnited UK Tax Resident
Blaxmill Thirtyl Lirnited UK Tax Resident  Cavendish Geared Limited UK Tax Resident

BLD [A]) Limited

UK Tax Resident

Caymiall Limited

UK Tax Resident

BLD [Ebury Gate) Limted

UK Tax Resident l

Chantway Linnited

UK Tax Resident

BLD [SJ] Investments Limited

UK Tax Resident

Cheshine Properties Limited

UK Tax Resident

BLD IS Limited

UK Tax Resident

Chrisilu Nominees Limited

UK Tax Resident

Bl Land Limited

UK Tax Resident

BLD Properties Lirnited

UK Tax Resident

BLD Property Holdings Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

BLU Estates Limited

UK Tax Resident

8LU Property Management Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

BLU Securities Lirited

UK Tax Resident

British Land | Joint Vemures] Lirmted

LUK Tax Resident |

British Land Acquisitions Limited

UK Tax Resident

City of London Office Unut Trust [Jersey)
[Units) {35 94% interest]:

Overseas Tax Resident

Clarges Estate Property Management
Ceo Linuted

UK Tax Resident

Comgenic Limited UK Tax Resident
Cornish Residential Properties UK Tax Resident
Trading Limuted

Cornrsh Residential Property UK Tax Resgent

Investments Limited

British Land Agua Partnershup (2] Limited

UK Tax Resident

Crescent West Properties

UK Tax Kesident

British Land Aqua Partnership Limited

UK Tax Resident

British Land City Offices Limited UK Tax Resident }
British Land Construction Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Department Stores Limited UK Tax Resident

British Land Developments Limited

UK Tax Resident

British Land Fund Management Limited

UK Tax Resident

British Land Hercules Limited

UK Tax Restdent

British Land In Town Retall Limited

UK Tax Resigent

British Land Industrial Limited

UK Tax Resident

British Land Investment
Management Limited

UK Tax Resrdent

British Land Investments NV {Nethertands)

UK Tax Resident

British Land Leisure Limnited

UK Tax Resident ‘

British Land Otfices [Non-Cityl Limited

UK Tax Resident |

British Land Offices [Non-City}
No 2Limited

UK Tax Resident

British Land Offices Limited

UK Tax Resident

Deepdale Co-Ownershup Trust
{37 66% Interest)

UK Tax Resigent

Derby Investment Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

Dinwelt Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

Drake Circus Centre Limited

LUK Tax Resident

Drake Circus GP.L L C (in hquidation)
[Uruted States)

Overseas Tax Resident

Drake Circus Leisure Limited

UK Tax Resident

Drake Circus Limited Partnership
lin liguidation) [Partnership interest)
{United States)

Overseas Tax Resident

Drake Property Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

Drake Property Nominee [(No 1] Linuted

UK Tax Resident

Drake Property Nominee [No 2} Limited

UK Tax Resident

Eden Walk Shopping Centre General
Partner Limited {30% interest}

UK Tax Resident

Eden Wallk Shopping Centre Urit Trust’
[50% interest) Jersey} (Urits]

Overseas Tax Resident

Briush Land Otfices Ne 1 Limited

UK Tax Resident

Etermentvirtue Limted

UK Tax Resident

Britieh Land Property Advisers Limited

UK Tax Resident

Elk Mill Oldharn Limnted

UK Tax Restdent

British Land Progerty Management Limited UK Tax Resident ‘ Euston Tower Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Regeneration Limited UK Tax Resident ' Exchange House Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident

Briish L and Retall Warehouses Limited
(in iguidation)

UK Tax Recigent

British Land Superstores (Non Securitised)
Nurnber 2 Limuted

UK Tax Resident ‘

Broadgate [PHC 8 Limited

UK Tax Resident

Broadgate Adjoining Properties Lirnited

UK Tax Resident

Broadgate Business Centre Limited

UK Tax Resident

Broadgate City Limited

UK Tax Resident

Broadgate Court irvestments Limited

Finsbury Avenue Estates Limited*

UK Tax Resident

Four Broadgate Limited

UK Tax Resident

FRP Group Limited

UK Tax Resident

Garamead Properhes Limited

LK Tax Resident

Gardenray Limited

UK Tax Resident

Gibraltar General Partner Limited
(38 48% interest)

UK Tax Resident

Gibrattar Norminges Limited
{38 48% interest)

UK Tax Resident

Broadgate Estates Limited

UK Tax Resident

Giltbrook Retail Park Nottingham Limited

UK Tax Resident

Broadgate Estates People Managernent
Lirnited

UK Tax Resident J

UK Tax Resident

Broadgate Exchange Square

UK Tax Resident

Broadgate Investment Holdings Limited

Broadgate Properties Limited

UK Tax Resident
WK Tax Resident

Broadgate REIT Limited [50% interest)®

UK Tax Resident

Broadgate Square Limited

UK Tax Resident

Glenway Limited

UK Tax Resident

Hempel Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

Hempel Hotels Limited

UK Tax Resident

Hercules Property UK Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

Hercules Property UK Limited

UK Tax Resident

Hercules Unit Trust [76 96% interest)
{Jersey) (Units)

Overseas Tax Resident

Broughton Retail Park Limited {Jersey)
[Urits) [76 96% interest)’

Overseas Tax Resident

Broughton Unit Trust {76 6% interest):

Overseas Tax Resident |

Brunswick Park Limited

Uk Tax Resident

Hereford Old Market Limited

UK Tax Resident

Hereford Shopping Centre GP Limited

UK Tax Resident

Hereford Shopping Centre Limited
Partnership

UK Tax Resigent

BVP Developrments Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

Hilden Properties Limited”

UK Tax Reaident

Canada Water Offices Limited

UK Tax Res:dent |

Horndrift Limited

UK Tax Resident
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Company Name

UK /Overseas Tax
Resident Status

' Company Name

UK/Overseas Tax
Resident Status

HUT investments Limited [Jersey]
[76 2% interest)

Overseas Tax Resident

. Paddington Central | Unit Trust [Jersey)
| {Unets)

Overseas Tax Resident

HUT Retail Investrnents GP Limited

UK Tax Resident

+ Paddington Central il IGP] Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

HUT Retall Investments Limited
Partnership iPartnership interest}

UK Tax Resident |

HUT Retall Investrnents Nomunee Limnited

UK Tax Residert

Industrial Real Estate Lirmnited

UK Tax Resident

Insistmetal 2 Limited

UK Tax Resident

Ilvorydell Limited

UK Tax Resident

ivorydell Subsidiary Limited

UK Tax Resident

hvoryhitt Limited

UK Tax Resident

Jetbioom Limited UK Tax Resident
L & H Developments Limited UK Tax Resident
Lancaster General Partner Limited UK Tax Resident
Liverpool One Managernent Company UK Tax Resident

Limited [30% interest)

Liverpool One Management
Services Limnited

UK Tax Resident

London and Hentey [UK) Limuted

UK Tax Resident

Londen and Henley Limited

UK Tax Resident

Lonebridge UK Limuted

UK Tax Resident

Longford Sireet Residential Limited

UK Tax Resident

Ludgate Investment Holdings Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

Ludgate West Limited

UK Tax Resident

Manbrig Properties

UK Tax Resident

Martile Arch Heouse Unit Trust {Jersey]
{Uruts)-

Gverseas Tax Resident

Mayfair Properties

UK Tax Resident

Mayflower Retail Park Basildon Limited

UK Tax Residert -

Meadowbank Retal Park Edinburgh Limited

UK Tax Resident

Meadowhall Centre {1999] Lirniied

UK Tax Resident |

Meadowhall Centre Limited

UK Tax Resident

Meadawhall Centre Pension Scheme
Trustees Limited

UK Tax Resident

Meadowhall Estates (UK} Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

Paddington Central Il LP {Partrership
. interest]

UK Tax Resident

i Paddington Central Il Unit Trust [Jersey)
| lUnns)

Overseas Tax Resident

| Paddington Central IV Uryt Trust [Jersey)
| lUnits)

Overseas Tax Resident

| Paddington Kiosk |GP] Ltd UK Tax Resident
. Paddington Kiosk LP [Partnership interest) UK Tax Resident
| PaddmgtonCentral Management Company UK Tax Resident
Limited [87 5% interest]
Pardev [Luton] Limited UK Tax Resident
Parwick Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident
Parwick Investments Limited UK Tax Resident
FPC Baltic Wharf Limited UK Tax Resident

PC Canal Limited

UK Tax Resident

PC Lease Nominee Lid

UK Tax Resident

PC Partnership Nominee Ltd

UK Tax Resident

Piccadilly Residential Limited

UK Tax Resident

Piltar [Beckion] Limuted

UK Tax Resident

Piltar [Cricklewocd) Limited

UK Tax Resident

Pillar tDartford] Limited

UK Tax Resident

Piliar [Fulham] Limited

UK Tax Resident

Piliar Auchinles Limted

UK Tax Resident

Piliar Broadway Limited

UK Tax Resident

Piltar City Pic

UK Tax Resident

Pitlar Dartford N6 1 Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

Pillar Denton Limited

UK Tax Resident

I Pilar Develgpments Limited

UK Tax Resident

Pillar Estates Limited

UK Tax Resident

. Pillar Estates No 2 Limited

UK Tax Resident

Pillar Europe Management Limnited

UK Tax Resident

Pilar Farnberough Lirited

UK Tax Recident

Meadowhall Group IMLP) Lirnited UK Tax Resident | Pillar Fort Lirmited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Holdings Linited UK Tax Resident ~ Pillar Futham No 2 Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Opportunities UK Tax Resident | Pillar Gallions Reach Limited UK Tax Resident
Nerminze 1 Limited " Pillar Giasgow 1 Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Opportunities UK Tax Resident ! Pillar Glasgow 2 Limited UK Tax Resident

Norinee 2 Limited

Meadowhall Training Linuted

UK Tax Resident

Mercari

LK Tax Resident

Mercar Holdings Limnted

JK Tax Resident

Minhill Investments Limited

UK Tax Resident

Pillar Glasgow 3 Limited UK Tax Resident
Pillar Hercules No 2 Limited UK Tax Resident
Pillar Kinnaird Limited UK Tax Resident
Pillar Nugent Limited UK Tax Rezident

Pillar Projects Limited

UK Tax Resident

Mocrage [Property Developments] Lirited UK Tax Resident  pyjlar Property Greup Limited UK Tax Resident
Nugent Shopping Park Limited UK Tax Resident  pyjjarCaisse Managermnent Limited UK Tax Resident
One Hundred Ludgate Hill UK Tax Resident  [50% interest)

Cre Sheldon Square Limited [Jerseyl Overseas Tax Resident | Pillarman Limited [50% interest) UK Tax Resident
Crbitat Shopping Park Swindon Limited UK Tax Resident | PillarStore Limited UK Tax Resigent

Osnaburgh Street Limited

UK Tax Resident

PilarStore No 3 Linmited

UK Tax Resident

Paddington Block A IGP) Ltd

UK Tax Resident

Plymouth Retail Lirnited

UK Tax Resident

Paddington Block A LP [Partrership
interest]

UK Tax Resident

Paddington Block B (GP) Ltd

UK Tax Resident

Paddington Block B LP [Partnership
Interest]

UK Tax Recident

Fower Court GP Lirnited

UK Tax Resident

Power Court Luton Limited Partnershup
[Partnership interest]

UK Tax Resident

Power Court Nominee Limited

UK Tax Recident

Power Court Nominees No 2 Limited

UK Tax Resident

Paddington Central | (GP} Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

Paddington Central | LP [Partnership
interest]

UK Tax Resident

FPREF Management Company SA
[Luxernbourg)

Overseas Tax Resident

Project Sunrise Investments Limited

UK Tax Resident

Paddingten Centrat | Nominee Limited

UK Tax Resident

Project Sunrise Lirmited

UK Tax Resident
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Company Name

UK/Qverseas Tax
Resident Status

| Cempany Name

UK/Overseas Tax
Resrdent Status

Project Sunrise Properties Limied

UK Tax Resident

Tollgate Centre Colchester Limited

UK Tax Resident

Reboline Lirmnted

UK Tax Resident

TPP investments Limded

UK Tax Resident

Regent s Place Holding Cornpany Limited

UK Tax Resident

Tweed Premuer 1 Limited*

UK Tax Resident

Regents Place Management Company
Limited

UK Tax Recident

Regents Place Residential Limited

UK Tax Resident

Renash”

UK Tax Resident |

Rigphone Limited

UK Tax Resident

Ritesol™

UK Tax Resident

Rohawk Properties Limited

UK Tax Resident

Tweed Prermuer 2 Limited®

UK Tax Resident

Tweed Prermuer 4 Limited

UK Tax Resident

Union Property Corporation Limited

UK Tax Resident

Union Property Holdings [London] Limited

UK Tax Hesident

United Kingdormn Property Company Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

. Valentine Co-ownership Trust
[Mernber interest] [38 48% interest)

UK Tax Resident

Salmax Properties

UK Tax Resident

Seymour Street Homes Limited

UK Tax Resident

Shopping Centres Limited

UK Tax Resident

Six Broadgate Limited

UK Tax Resident

Southgate General Partner Limited
[30% interest)

UK Tax Resident

. Valentine Uit Trust {Jersey} ([Units]
(76 96% interest]

Overseas Tax Resident

Vicimnntee Limited

UK Tax Resident

Vintners Place Limited

UK Tax Resident

Wardrobe Court Limited

UK Tax Resident

Wardrabe Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

Southgate Property Urut Trust [Jersey)
|Uruts) {20% interest}

Overseas Tax Resident

Speke Unit Trust 67 34% interest) [Jersey]
{Unuts)

Overseas Tax Resident !

Sprint 1118 Lipted UK Tax Resident
St James Parade [43) Limited UK Tax Resident
St James Retail Park Northampton Limited UK Tax Resident

51 Stephens Shopping Eentre Limited

UK Tax Resident

Stockton Retail Park Limited

UK Tax Resident

Storey Spaces Limited

UK Tax Resident

Surrey Quays Limited

UK Tax Resident

| Wardrobe Place Limited

UK Tax Rezident

Wates City of London Properties Lirnited

UK Tax Rezident

Wates City Point Limited

UK Tax Resident

Wates City Property Management Limited

UK Tax Resident

Westbourne Terrace Partnership
[Partnership interest]

LK Tax Hesident

Westaide L eeds Limited

UK Tax Resident

Whiteley Nerminee 1 Limited

UK Tax Resident

Whiteley Nominee 2 Limited

UK Tax Recident

Whiteley Shopping Centre Unit Trust
[Jerseyl [Units]-

Overseas Tax Recident

Sydate

UK Tax Resident

WHK Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

T [Partnership) Limited

UK Tax Resident

York House W1 Limited

UK Tax Resident

Tailress Limsted

UK Tax Resident

TBL IBrent Park] Limited

UK Tax Resident

TBL [Bromley) Limited

UK Tax Resident

TBL Bursledon) Limited

UK Tax Resident

TBL [Buryl Limited

UK Tax Resident

TBL [Ferndown) Limited

UK Tax Resident

TBL [Lisnagelvin} Limited

UK Tax Resident

TBL [Maidstone) Lirmited

UK Tax Resident |

TBL [Milton Keynes| Lirnited

UK Tax Resident

T8L Peterborough) Limited

UK Tax Resident

TBL Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

TBL Properties Limited

UK Tax Resident

Teesside Letsure Park Limited
[51% mterest)

UK Tax Resident |

The Aldgate Ptace Limited Partnership
{Partnership snterest] 156% interest]

UK Tax Resident

The Dartford Partnershup IMember interest)
|50%. interest)

UK Tax Resident

The Gibraltar Lirmited Partnership
[Partnership interest] [38 48% interest)

UK Tax Resident

The Hercules Property Limited Partnershup
[Partnership interest] [40.68% interest)

UK Tax Resident

The Leadenhall Developrnent Compary
Limited [50% interest]

UK Tax Resident

The Liverpoo! Exchange Company Limited UK Tax Resident
The Mary Street Estate Limited UK Tax Resident
The Meadowhall Education Centre {Limited UK Tax Resident

by guarantee} {50% interest)

The Retail and Warehouse Company Limited

UK Tax Resident

The TBL Property Partnership
|Partnership interest)

UK Tax Resident

The Whiteley Co-Ownership
IMember interest) [50% interest)

UK Tax Resident
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SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURES

UNAUDITED UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED

Table A: Sumimary income statemnent and balance sheet (Unandited)

Summary imcorne statement based on proportional consclidation for the year ended 31 March 2018

The feliowing pro forma infermation 1s unaudited and does not torm part of the consolidated primary statements or the notes thereto

It presents the results of the Group, with its share of the results of joint ventures and funds inctuded ona line-by-line basis and excluding
non-controlling interests

Year ended 31 March 2018 Yoor nota a1 Mg r g7
Joint Less Lot e
ventures non-controlling Prepertionally e O [ e lnntie L) IRV T A [T 173
Group  andfunds interests  consclidated SrTan codl s Ni= =55 - L83kl JaTES
£m £m €m £m it [ i L
Grossrentalincome 441 193 {21) 413 442 220 [19] 643
Property operating expenses 129} 9] 1 (a7 (23] (10) 4 (331
Net rental income 412 184 (Fdi]] 574 417 210 {171 610
Admirustrative expenses {82) iyl - (83) 184) 12) - 186)
Net fees and other income 13 - 2 15 17 - - 17
Ungeared income return 343 183 (18) 508 350 208 117) 541
Net financing casts {64l (68) 4 (128) 178 [76) 3 ns1]
Underlying Profit 279 115 (14) 380 272 132 14} 390
Underlying taxation - - - - - - - _
Underlying Profit atter taxation 279 115 (14) 380 272 132 14) 390
Vatustion movement 254 {237}
Other capital and taxation Inet)! 21 [433]
Capital and other 285 {670}
Totai return &45 (2803
T 0 SR et e e ot i g s AP D C e st 3t e o et ST RANAY
Summary balance sheet based on proportional consolidatien as at 31 March 2018
The following pro forma information is unaudited and does not form part of the consolidated primary statements or the notes thereto
It presents the composition of the EPRA net ascets of the Group, withits share of the net assets of the joint venture and fund assets and
Labilities included on a iine-by-line basis, and excluding non-controlling interests, and assurning full dilution
Mer -t
LITCRN e
S gt lmes drowd vaEs Va'uet o EPRA Net AN
1 ror- Lo e ERRN N R assets NERA
el fes L 1tono T wonld J-nt LI tal o2 31 March R R
Lre g AEods 0 ereats o mnoan - TaX sl st =TS R ) R 2018 A
fi- T -r- L - fn n 7 £m -n
Retall properties 5,262 1,759 [383] - - - [42] - 6,5%6 6,654
Office properties 4,265 2,334 - - - - 15) 2 6,705 7.015
Canada Water properties 298 - - - - - 115} - 283 27
Other properhes 100 19 - - - - - 13 132 -
Totat properties 9,925 4,112 [383) - - - 72} 134 13,716 3,940
Investrments in Joint ventures
and funds 2,822 (2,822] - - - - - - - -
Other investrments 174 [2) - - - - - - 172 151
Other net [labilities] assets (369) 1991 4 32 5 - 72 - {3551 {2701
Net debt 13,046) 11,189 125 - - 137 - - {3,973) [4.223)
Net assets 9,506 - (254) 32 5 137 - 134 9,560 9498
EPRA NAV per share [note 2) 967p %15p
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Financial seatements

SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURES CONTINUED

UNAUDITED

Table A continued

EPRA Net assets movement

Year ended Yed wa
31 March 2018 DTN bty
Pence per Teroa g
£m share “m Shers
Opening EPRA NAV 9,498 M5 10,074 719
income return 380 37 390 36
Capital return 285 29 [670) [13])
Dividend paid £302) 129} {296} 127}
Purchase of own shares (301) 15 - -
Closing EPRA NAV 9,660 967 9,498 215
Table B: EPRA Performance measures
EPRA Performanice measures summary table
2018 v
Pence per [
£m share a S o
EPRAEarnings - basic 380 375 390 379
- diluted 380 37.4 390 378
EPRA Net Initsal Yield 4.3% 4 3%
EPRA topped-up Net Initial Yield 4.6% 4 5%
EPRAVacancy Rate 3.2% 4 8%
2018 a1y
Net asset
value per
Net assets share pence
EPRANAV 9,560 947 9498 15
EPRANNNAY 9,844 94 8,938 861
Calculation and reconciliation of EPRA/IFRS earnings and EPRA/IFRS earnings per share
{(Audited) Zem o
Profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company 493 193
Exclude
Group - current taxation n i
Group - deferred taxation (s) -
Joint ventures and funds - deferred taxation - 1
Group - valuation movement 1202} 144
Group - [profit} less on disposal of investment properties and investments (18] 3
Group - profit on disposat of trading properties [14) 171
Jomnt ventures and funds - net vatuation movement [including result on disposals) 49} 75
Joint ventures and funds - capital financing costs 13 [
Changes in farr value of financist instruments and associated close-out costs 163 (13]
Non-controlling interests in respect of the above - 1
underlying Profit 380 390
Group - underiying current taxation - ~
EPRA earnings - basic 380 3%0
Dilutive effect of 2012 convertibie bond - -
EPRA earnings - diluted 380 390
Profit attributable to the sharehotders of the Company 493 193
Dilutive effect of 2612 convertible bond - {33)
IFRS earnings - diluted 493 160
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Table B continued

2018 At
Number N ornner
million [
Weighted average number of shares 1,024 1.040
Adjustment for ireasury shares i11) 11y
IFRS/EPRA Weighted average number of shares {basic) 1,013 1.02%
Ditutive effect of share options 1 1
Dilutive effect of ESOP shares 2 3
Dilutive effect of 2012 convertible bond - 58
IFRS Weighted average number of shares (diluted) 1,016 1.091
Ditutive effect of 2012 convertible bond - 158}
EPRA Weighted average number of shares ldiluted) 1,016 1.033
Net assets per share [Audited]
2018 2000
Pence Tae
£m  pershare L] STty
Balance sheet net assets 9,504 476
Deferred tax arising on revaluation movements 5 3
Mark-to-market on derivatives and related debt adjustments 137 135
Dilution etfect of share options 32 36
Surplus on trading properties 134 83
Less non-controtling interests {254) 1253)
EPRA NAVY 7,560 967 2,498 915
Deferred 1ax arising on revaluation movements 131 i19)
Mark-to-market on derivatives and related debt adjustments {137} {153
Mark-to-market on debt (348} [384)
EPRA NNNAY 9,044 914 8,938 8ol
EPRA NNNAY 15 the EPRA NAV adjusted to reflect the fair value of the debt and derivatives and to include the deferred taxation on
revaluations and derivatives
2018 Ly
Number Nl
million el
Number of shares at year end 994 1,040
Adjustment for treasury shares {11) (11}
IFRS/EPRA number of shares [basic) 983 1,029
Gilutive effect of share cptions 1 3
Diiutive effect of ESOP shares 5 b
Ditutive effect of 2012 convertible bond - 58
IFRS number of shares [diluted) 989 1.0%96
Diiutive effect of 2012 convertible bond - (58]
EPRA number of shares [diluted) 987 1.038
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Fimmncial statements

SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURES CONTINUED

UNAUDITED

Table B continued

EPRA Net Initial Yield and topped-up’ Net initial Yield {Unaudited)

2018 61/

£m L

Investment property - wholly-owned 9,682 9,210
Investment property - share of joint ventures and funds 4,034 4,730
Less developments, residential and land (1,315) 1798)
Completed property portfolio 12,4M 13142
Allowance for estimated purchasers costs 799 897
Gross up completed property portfolio valuation (A) 13,200 14,039
Annuatised cash passing rentatl iIncorme 584 507
Property outgoings (1) 19
Annualised net rents (Bl 573 598
Rent expiration of rent-free periods and fixed uplifts' 28 30
“Topped-up’ net annualised rent [C) &M 628
EPRA NetInitial Yield {B/A) 4.3% 4 3%
EPRA ‘topped-up’ Net Initial Yield [C/A) 4.6% 4 5%
Including fixed/mimmum uplifts received in Leu of rental growth " 11
Total ‘topped-up’ net rents (D} 612 639
Overall ‘topped-up’ Net Initial Yield [D/A) 4.6% 4 6%
“Topped-up net annualised rent 601 628
ERV vacant space 21 34
Reversions 32 38
Tatat ERV [E] 654 700
Net Reversionary Yield (E/A) 5.0% 5 0%

Troowe gt isd werat L o ety v A e e e s g S e BT Ty o

EPRA Net Initial Yietd [N1Y) basis of catcutation

EPRANIY s calculated as the annualised net rent {on a cash flow basis), divided by the gross value of the completed property portfolio

The valuation of our completed property portfolio 1s determined by our external valuers as at 31 March 2018, plus an allowance for estimated
purchaser s costs Estimated purchaser s costs are determined by the relevant starmp duty bakility, plus an estimate by our vatuers of agent

and legal fees on notronal acquisition The net rent deduction atlowed for property outgomnys 1s based on our vaiuers assumptions on future

recurring non-recoverable revenue expenditure

In calculating the EPRA topped-up NIY, the annualised net rent is increased by the total contracted rent from expiry of rent-free periods and
future contracted rental uplifts where defined as not in lieu of growth Overall ‘topped-up NIY s calculated by adding any other contracted
future uplift to the "topped-up’ net annualised rent

The net reversionary yield 1s calculated by dwiding the total estimated remtat value [ERV) for the completed property portfolio, as determined
by our external valuers, by the gross completed property portiolio valuaton

The EPRA vacancy rate is calculated as the ERV of the unrented, lettable space as a proportion of the total rental value of the completed
property portfolio

EPRA Vacancy Rate
2018 AT
N £m tm
Annuabised potential rental value of vacant premises 21 34
Annualised potentiat rental value for the completed property portfolio 664 710
EPRA Vacancy Rate 3.2% 4 8%

The above is stated for the UK portfolio only A discussion of significant factors affecting vacancy rates is included within the Strategic Report
tpages 32 1o 34)
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Table B continued

EPRA Cast Ratios (tnaudited)

2018 [
£m
Froperty operating expenses 28 23
Administrative expenses 82 B4
Share of joint ventures and funds expenses 10 12
Less Perfermance and management fees (from joint venturas and funds) i8) 19
Net other fees and cornmissions 17 18]
Ground rent costs 121 12
EPRA Costs lincluding direct vacancy costs) {A] 103 100
Direct vacancy costs (12) {12)
EPRA Costs {excluding direct vacancy costs] (B) bal 88
Gross Rental Income less ground rent costs 422 412
Share of jont ventures and funds (BRI less ground rent costs] 189 22%
Total Gross Rental Income less ground rent costs {C) &M 641
EPRA Cost Ratio (including direct vacancy costs) {A/C) 16.9% 13 6%
EPRA Cost Ratio (excluding direct vacancy costs] [B/C) 14.9% 13 7%
Overhead and operating expenses capitalised including share of jomnt ventures and funds) 5 5
fnthe current year employee costsin relation to staff time on development projects have been capitalised into the base cost of relevant
development assets
Table C: Gross rental income
2018 07
£m s
Rert receivable 604 633
Spreading of tenant incentives and guaranteed rent increases [12) 8
Surrender premia 21 2
Gross rental income 613 643
The current and prior year information 1s presented on a proportionally consolidated basis, excluding non-controlling interests
Table D: Property related capital expenditure
2018 L
Joint st
ventures yeluras
Group and funds Total S EHECRVIgors Tala
Acquisitions 250 - 250 88 - 88
Development 132 52 184 131 14 143
Like-for-iike pertiolio 23 27 50 67 47 M4
Other 17 5 22 20 2 27
Total propertiy related capex 422 84 506 306 63 3462

The above 15 presented on a preporticnally consolidated basis, excluding non-contrelling interests and business combinations The Other
category contains amounts owing to tenant ncentrves of £10m (2016/17 £10m), capitalised staff costs of £3m [2016/17 £3m] and capitsticed

interest of £7m [2016/17 £7m)
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Other information

Other information

Other information {unaudited}

Acguisthions and Disposals 166
Partfolio valuation by sector 167
Gross rental iIncome 167
Portfolio yield and ERV movements 168
Retail portfolio valuation - previous classification basis 168
Portfolio net yields 169
Totat property return las calculated by 1PD) 169
Occuprers representing over 0 5% of total contracted rent 170
Majer holdings 170
Lease length and occupancy 171
Portfolio weighting 7
Annualised rent and estimated rental value [ERV) 172
Rent subject to open market rent review 172
Rent subject to lease break or expiry 173
Recently compieted and committed developments 174
Near term development pipeline 174
Medium term development pipeline 174
Sustainability performance measures 175
Ten year record 177
Shareholder information 178

A Nordic forest was created at Broadgate this winter,
with an artisan market, a tepee cinema and The Hideaway,
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Other information

UNAUDITED

Aequisitions

Ao
- i Fasaimo
[ IR R
Since 1 April 2017 Geoner fr on tor
Completed
Tesco, Brislington - Tesco exchange transaction Retail 46 23 Z
Harlech, Newport - Tesco exchange transaction' Retail 41 20 1
10 - 40 The Broadway, Eating Retail 49 49 2
Hercules Urit Trust units Retail A 4 -
The Woolwich Estate Retail 103 163 4
Rothertuthe Police Station Canada Water 7 7 -
Total 250 206 9
FPartoia losie Weawap trgar Lo rosulime ran2t L7200 gimaesa o7 3npoelae gasets
- R_cnareatannuagsiec ot tannedur teroon oo
Latanas Fasdrep ool ratdr pue w2 GAY
Disposals
A=l
e Frov Pd-=1"¢
I Son R-nt
Singe 1 April 2017 L b e te
Completed
The Leadenhall Buillding’ Offices 1150 573 17
Superstores Retail 545 302 18
B&Q, Bury and Grimsby Retall 56 56 4
Virgmn Active, Sunderland and Coventry Retail 8 8 1
Richmond Homebase' Retail 45 43 1
Other Retait/Offices 10 10 1
The Hempel Collection Residential 32 52 -
Clarges, Mayfair: Residential 193 193 -
Aldgate Place Residential 2 1 -
Exchanged
Clarges, Mayfair Residential b6 66 -
Total 2,127 1,308 42

Txoarged dur g aeyiaserded 3T Maron 2007
part af o sate Weawan oo sasties esult rear a ! TTEm A apass ! 0l sdde S s cnmlta
c o year =nd

3 <hare!wa

B HRLUNEER ATl
Fx-ranged nveesand (o7 p =l
Ex.tanged 0 1o FY T 0 whr B£8R m e en pestad oos penisd L G

T UL -bare ghannua =ec s et lopped g for rent bees
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Portfolio valuation by scetor

torre
- ame,
DU [ B jare

At 3t March 2018 T - Lin 1 [ I
Regional 1132 1,898 3,020 01 072 0z
Local 1.840 438 2,298 09 {0 6) {15}
Multi-let 2,972 2,356 5,328 (0.4 0.2) {0.5)
Department stores and leisure 593 1 594 24 74 51
Superstores 79 261 3e0 08 i15] 02}
Solus and other 314 - 314 58 o7 65
Retail 3,978 2,618 6,596 0.3 - 0.3
West End 4,250 - 4,290 32 26 58
City Mo 2,334 2,430 17 13 28
Offices 4,371 2,334 6,705 2.6 24 4.5
Residential’ 113 19 132 3.6 2.4 1.6
Canada Water 283 - 283 {4.5) {3.0 {7.0)
Total 8,745 4,971 13,716 1.4 0.9 2.2
Standing Investments 8,349 4,583 12,932 1.2 0.4 1.6
Developments 376 388 784 3.3 6.4 9.6

Voo o oove e tol K IRERRTINS TER [ I T I T Al R IR T B e L

= : u\u - )i?l a
Gross rental income!

S o LV NV gl L N L AR T
Ya g Yoo
T v ooz o Eond BB

Accounting Basis Fr s tr Lr L -
Reqgional 62 8% 131 81 88 149
Local 92 29 127 g0 24 116
Multi-tet 154 118 272 151 114 265
Department stores and leisure 43 - 43 40 - 40
Superstores 4 22 26 4 18 22
Solus and other 19 - 9 17 - 17
Retail 220 140 360 212 132 344
West End 133 - 133 134 - 134
City ) 102 108 5 80 85
Dffices 139 102 241 139 80 219
Residential? 4 - 4 5 - 5
Canada Water? 8 - 8 8 - 8
Total 371 242 613 364 212 576

0 - vy g ' i R T 3 S R e N D

“ta a0 - v e gt

< faatean v - bty
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Other information

UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Portfolio vield and ERV movements!

N (AR S T e N=¥YslaMov 1oen op-

At31March 2018 m L - TV N -2 By
Regional . 50 12 11 23 4 3 7
Local 35 11 ui 12 1 2 13
Multi-let 5.2 11 2.7 1.9 7 2 9
Department stores and leisure 37 he 03 62 au 4 (7%
Superstores 54 2 nn 23 {7] 13 @l
Solus and other 52 58) {00} 58] 16 19} 7
Retail 5.3 1.0 0.5 1.6 5 2 [}
West End 43 10 15 23 111 (2) 13}
City 43 13 62 15 1 1 2
Offices [ X3 1.2 1.0 2.1 (6) {1) (7)
Canada Water® 3.9 1.1} 0.0 {1.1i 1" 26 37
Total 4.8 1.0 0.7 1.8 (0] 1 1

Il T TR o o B L B 1 B R i et S e I A ) T e R oI O VY

As_ ol ategy T L

irLg 3stiod sdn boslr s as -
SoLxctimes TootT o Towlr c-we Move G g snert b ad 1 T ve L 0w s = e telar L At e -t pro~whe o dogwe ol el nevwr Jnts
TR-fle wstondiigary Sfreentor oy
Retail portfolio valuation - previous classification basis

Valita on “hangr o PRV orow s, N ¥YYE  Mow e 2t e

At 31 March 2018 tr - ’ ry B My v N bz v
Shopping Parks 3,180 01) 03 0z a8 0z 09y n [0} 10
Shopping Centres 2,359 0z |0 5! 03] 07 14 21 3 4 7
Superstores 360 08 113) 031 2] 11 [23) (7] {3) 19]
Department Stores 269 21 {0 8) 05 {00 14 14 [10] 8 [2)
Leisure 428 25 33 62 77 00] 77 (15] 4 19}
Retail 6,596 0.3 - 0.3 1.0 0.5 1.6 5 2 [

Do peatars o Drep et el cue s andtards incwad n g Ul a3 cwe = snshary

Vaua cromov. e durna i =vedr wite JKNGE Tou 0 s erila oxpe T eelot o oapa st cdattheba o s s st oale L g aevele st Ta o Lassified ty ot

Camdooue b aales
Aol ated by 0T

Sorchg g raneranrdrbase e as
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Portfolio net vields! 2

FORA aip ¢ Oy cait o ped IN-ot Nt
ST AN I oA I ha CuovEleTt RN )
=ty Yy yroic vy~ vir
At 31 March 2018 N " a
Regional 45 47 47 50 50
Local 50 51 52 55 55
Multi-let 4.7 4.9 4.9 5.2 5.3
Department stores and leisure 57 57 68 27 45
Superstores 57 57 57 54 22
Solus and other 51 51 31 52 42
Retail 4.9 5.0 5.2 5.3 5.1
West Fnd 3 40 40 43 47
City 42 42 42 45 49
Offices 3.8 4.1 4.1 4.4 4.8
Canada Water® 3.1 3.2 3.2 39 3.9
Total 4.3 4.6 4.6 4.8 5.0
DR S = _= 4
noodrer
XD Lang codres e o issl s
[ B oot to-Ln 3 e h
Total property return (as caleulated by IPD)
. “ - T
Bip sl e L) mroan g - N et [
Full Year to 31 March 2018 “ . . o
Capital Return 04 11 52 42 25 33
- ERV Growth [ 09 21 11 18 20
- Yield Expansion’ 6 bps -11 bps -7 bps -21 bps 1 bps -26bps
income Return 52 a0 36 39 4 4 46
Total Property Return 5.7 6.2 ?.0 8.3 7.0 10.1
T O I I B B Ll B e B R S N L oA Al W L LV IR e R A e

MLV LV LD YoV -
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Other information

UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Occupicers representing over (.3% of total contracted rent

At 31 March 2018

et oal Lo oMalrerr
Tesco 43 Asda Group 10
J Sainsbury 38 Microsoft 10
Debenhams 35 JD Sports 10
UBS AG 33 Sports Direct ne
HM Government 28 Virgin Active 09
Next Z5 Deutsche Bank 0354
Kingfisher 25 Reed Srith o8
Facebook 19 Steinhoft 07
Dentsu Aegls’ 18 Mayer Brown 07
Marks & Spencer 18 H&M 07
Spirit Group 17 TGi Fridays 07
Westarmers (Homebase/Bunnings) 17 River Island 07
Visa Inc () Mothercare 0s&
Alliance Boots 16 NEX Group 06
Dixons Carphone 15 Primark 06
Arcadia Group 14 Credit Agricole 06
Herbert Smuth 13 Pets at Home X
TK Maxx 12 Henderson 05
Gazprom 1 Hutchison 05
Vodafone 10 Aramco 05
Dawvid Lloyd 10 Misys 05

New Look® 10

Par Sy s ays hopping e
sobrocopslior ol TU o st gl v g TR g Gonpa = Tad aeca o e cgres ot er 0000 g T T S a0 g e 1]
b Aspa toitba e Er g e van Aegis v care ot oot i spa o 10 T st e 227 dthimart o e road b
SIS T L erT e peran .y e Lt Gl aeatt Tarn Aauer o Lites 38 s gl
aking itz @ annt o adas e~ ot g OVA
Major holdings

Salishoene JIoapan v LR
~har— Sgft ==n cat [ENEN
At 31 March 2018 U Lrora n yre
Broadgate 20 4,850 176 972 79
Regent s Place 100 1,740 75 981 74
Paddington Central 100 238 44 870 62
Meadowhalil, Sheffield 50 1,500 89 979 63
Teesside, Stockion 100 549 17 954 31
Drake's Circus, Plymouth 100 1,082 21 e85 2]
Ealing Broadway 100 340 15 952 52
Glasgow Fort 77 510 21 21 60
Sainsbury s Superstores' 51 1,457 34 1000 88
10 Portman Sguare 160 134 0 106 0 71

Arcnalissd ePRA Lo cated et olad g 100N et e wetares angd L ods

S luding ase errmedaticn ur do- ofor ersuppect fo gsse” managemert
We ghiedaverage o7 rot breck

ex idescomrytteg a drocar ter ndey— apneeots

T Cemprises otar d-a ore storas
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Lease length and occupancy

Aol vam=l- o Py SEROy LY
At31 March 2018 10 SXp Y wooek ESRAY rpa oy VoLupE oy
Regional 77 66 98 @71
Local 74 63 974 281
Mutti-let 7.6 6.5 971 7.6
Depariment stores and {eisure 16 4 o 4 988 ¢ 8
Superstores 24 94 1000 1000
Solus and other 116 1o 1000 1000
Retail 8.8 7.9 97.6 98.0
West End 8é 70 96 2 96 4
City 89 79 °71 971
Offices 8.7 7.3 96.5 96.7
Canada Water? 6.1 6.0 97.4 98.0
Total 8.7 7.7 971 7.4
Spete s ettt rrrayin s oWt aec ctploavt e the R s s ey tenonh Lt e o P ar W B et 5 ! B0 e apa vwaad setra e QA
HURET A I AT I QR S K ST TR RV coen oL gyl
Im dea s Lornotac o Lot iter e 2 e T
L s T B L L T
S e fonr Lnzsw o have e e ol ol pol L Ma o Mo o=Tre [FTSNRaR —tor e g hwe (DR | LA b WL
codratale upe vaweedlL Lo S M 9T L 28T S
Portfolio weighting
! 'an r/\wk el “/‘M:
At 31 March I "
Regional 213 221 3,030 213
Local 154 167 2,298 152
Multi-let 367 38.8 5,328 37.2
Department =tores and leisure 41 43 5%4 41
Superstores 43 206 360 25
Solus and other 22 23 314 22
Retail 47.8 48.0 6,596 460
West End 284 310 4,255 e
City 207 179 2,450 195
Offices 491 48.9 6,705 51.1
Residential? 1.2 1.0 132 0.9
Canada Water 1.9 2.1 283 2.0
Total 100.0 100.8 13,716 100.0
London weighting 58% 57% 8,037 60%
Carasttecay Tt ad ohoo-r od L Grog, - share ol tte 2ha
= Lleinia rotes wpe - Csoancde oEiiy LI aosst nalerd ontvan S eEs ot 1l [ISIVEARES alwval s r=
T R L SN T
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Other information

UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Annualised rent and estimated rental value (ERV)

AngoaEeor ‘!
Vol ghinnsersl T _RYr Averzrs -1t os,
_Vaand

At31March 2018 oo - na- lote! 1ot Santrer an F~V
Regional 63 88 151 168 322 3472
Local 98 26 124 137 2461 259
Mutti-tet 161 114 275 305 280 209
Department stores and leisure 36 - 36 29 16 4 130
Superstores 5 16 24 19 227 208
Solus and other 17 - 17 14 209 171
Retail 219 130 349 as7 254 259
West End- 133 - 133 179 58 2 671
City® 5 88 93 n8 511 571
Offices? 138 88 226 287 50 2 629
Residential® 5 - 5 4 - -
Canada Water® 8 - 8 10 172 217
Total 370 218 588 668 314 33%
U ap o ity vl a daltd Bosls RLe TSR LA L VT S =T R TM BT I TVAC R B B PR

Greszraate il where 1= ey e g 2 GLTE GURY azdete v pcd byl =0raap s X B3 e, g vonrd o Troevalb cunde ad

laa. -, e L cegrert oab o A Rt R T N |

A rua s - corosabee et e

tost e e s show o tor o Cepa @ only
S S aline s Siden g

Folle mastard e avest =noory
Rent subject to open market rent review
For period to 31 March

9 207 g2t Az 207 Juti ER

At 31 March 2818 - - o v tin fo to
Regional 19 N 18 14 H 48 73
Local 18 n 12 & 18 41 62
Multi-let 37 22 30 20 29 89 138
Department stores and leisure - - - - 7 7
Superstores 8 6 1 1 17 19
Solus and other - - - - - - -
Retail 47 30 36 21 30 113 164
West End 27 15 10 9 13 52 i
City 15 4 ¢ - - 28 28
Offices 42 19 19 9 13 80 102
Canada Water' 1 - - - - 1 1
Total 20 49 85 20 43 194 267
e p rpotbonally oo sehdas dJous: 1 lae gt - LeMAT- 00 Tl L Ss ERG unes

lRella- s tardr o nves me o orily
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Rent subject to lease break or expiry

For pertod to 31 March

Pt PN 217 P ENER I [
At 31 March 2018 tn v fr, L e
Regionat 14 14 9 14 20 37 71
Local 12 10 10 12 13 32 57
Multi-Let 26 24 19 26 33 &9 128
Department Stores and Leisure - - - - - - -
Superstores - - - - 2 - 2z
Solus and other - - 1 - - 1 1
Retail 26 24 20 26 35 70 131
West End 2 4 i8 21 25 27 73
Crty 10 10 8 2 3 28 33
Offices 15 14 26 23 28 58 106
Canada Water® 1 1 1 0 1 2 3
Total 42 38 47 49 &4 127 240
% of contracted rent 6.9% 6.2% 7.8% 8.0% 10.3% 20.9% 39.2%
R L I B R B O R I A T R R e I A N e LA R PRttt VA

[ S N VLA T .Y
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Other information

UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Recently completed and committed developments

. _.lund
hn MRS re M o “Lrrant N ! vidr
wr EEeR st de vel. o Lot RV o
At 31 March 2018 e L T Lo P tr L i tn
Clarges Mayfair - retail and residentizl”  Mixed Use 100 104 Q42017 473 14 07 -
Speke [Leisure) Retail &7 66 Q12018 15 3 11 09
Total Completed in Year 170 - 488 17 1.8 0.e
100 Liverpoal Street Gffice 30 522 Qtzaoze 166 17 187 50
1 Triten Square* Office 100 366 Q42020 210 185 231 AR
1 Finsbury Avenue Office 50 291 Q120€9 105 26 g1 24
135 Bishopsgate Office 50 328 Q2201% 87 61 25 42
Plymouth {Leisure) Retall 160 107 Q42019 4 38 31 12
Total Committed 1,614 572 427 62.5 34.6
Retail Capex’ &9
Crem TAp- L2008 Do~ Loore x Loes mab=nalny so - 2sn= 850 378 Fa Jvicaally sy a boceeloames o cursEpahizat gt

Fot et dr g e moife Vel Cr=t afresr paye b _ousder - =ad legar - foxeh naTtor

rrenlve dLon LUe- e n et to el o dimbina oxka oeda cro Lo prtedasat BT M
VRV L ar A ar er ot erat £21 B L~ Misslm = ekef DY DU A AT AS Attt & 1 g
z A A A R R I N E R TR R TR ST ) [SNEIAEE A ME R (A coad o reepert
Jorwayw oo Ve AP pil"?::.m M B I e I e ¢ B L AL T ST AR

Sa flade comenle s aprst et - ol
G Fav- oor e forn o grr e r e s r g coa L Trter

S et arn Sy et (oo T persatc Unbst Lnie

Oapsxanraiteeand

Near term development pipeline

Sl and Gliw Xprotoe Current Sostta g
shers L S art val . 0t ey ure=t ot N RN Tabe!
At 31 March 2018 ToLor b L BAE " I e i at=tis
Gateway Building Lelsure 100 165 Q32018 7 122 40 - Consented
Blossom Street, Office 100 340 Q22019 17 230 1846 -
Shoreditch Consented
Bradford {Leisurel Retail 160 49 Q12019 1 16 09 - Pre-submission
Teesside {Leisurel Retail 100 84 Q12019 30 47 47 - Res to Grant
Total near term 578 55 436 30.2 -
Retail capex 101
boam Y Apne zdid Cuatosormezexsleesrotanal rarosbas b 23i0s Lo lalsoadivicaally 20 2a b devolos e n® 3 o, A admalarra
s Fstrate b caal nerantaivalo e s = ar s 1 aayabls urder read izases box lud rotenart oo nt e,
Forcea-t 2ap tal caMnr I s s w e g mwEstm-rhpor o ey tha sext T2me s nerea 3 taieasinyatdass b ontb s o mant
Medium terin development pipeline
41 tested and TIL
wbare G
At31 March 2018 Rt SN lY] Fannmeg stati:
2-3 Finsbury Avenue Oftice 50 563 Consented
1-Z Broadygate Oftice 30 507 Pre-subrussion
5 Kingdom Street’ Oftfice 100 332 Consented
Meadowhall [Leisure] Retail 50 330 Resolution to Grant
Peterborough (Leisure) Retail 100 208 Submutted
Ealing - 10-40 The Broadway Retail 100 298 Pre-submission
Aldgate Place Phase 2 , Residential 50 145 Consented
Eden Walk retail agnd residential Mixed Use 50 533 Consented
Chester Masterplan Retail 77 45 Pre-subrmission
Plymouth, George Street Retart 100 31 Pre-submission
Total medium term excluding Canada Water 2,992
Canada Water - Phase I’ Mixed Use 106 1,848 Subrnitted outine

Plarn g conse 1 ter grevioas 260,300 =g ft schems
Canada Weinn s te covars L eyt v tata based ononet area [gross ar=aof 7msg )
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Sustainability performance measures

We repart on all assets where we have day-to-day operational or management influence [our managed portfolio} and all developments over
£300,000 with planning permission, on-site or completed in the year The exception s EPC and flood risk data, where we report on all assets
under management Acat 31 March 2018, our managed portfolioc comprised 73% of our assets under management Please see the scope

column forindicator specific reporting coverage

Selected data has been independently assured since 2007 Selected data for 2018 has been independently assured by PwC in accordance with
ISAE 3000 [Revised] and I1SAE 3410 Forthe 2018 PwC assurance statement and more detailed data, please see our Sustainability Accounts
2018 www.britishland.com/data British Land has been a signatory to the United Naticns Global Compact since 2009 For our 2018

Communication on Progress, visit www.britishland.com/sustainabitityreport

Fer1er Tat - .
12~az'sor
2018 P24 urz)
Continued inclusion in three out of four sustamabiity indices DJSI Europe, DXSI World, LA 4/4 -
FTSE4Good and GRESB
Progress implementing Sustainability Action Plans at strategic assets 72% nr 47147
Progress implernenting Sustainability Briel for Developments at all projects over £am 100% nr 1717
2020
D Wellbeing [Customer Drientation] target’
Deliver a WELL certified commercial office to shell and core, and set corporate policy Deliver Ontrack Cntrack -
for future developments
Develop and pilct retaill welibeing specification Deliver inprogress Ontrack -
Increase the sense of wellbeing for shoppers, retaillers and occupiers at our places Increase Ontrack Cntrack -
Define and tral a methodology for measuring productivity in offices Deliver Completed Ontrack -
Research and publish on how development design impacts public health outcomes Deliver Ontrack Ontrack -
Pilot interventions toimprove local air quabty’ 3 Target nfa -
established
injury Incidence Rate (RIDDOR] Offices 12.88 2351 43043
Retail 0.01 001 58/58
Imjury Frequency Rate {RIDDOR) Developments 013 0ns 38/38
&5 Community [Right Places!
Imptement cur Lecal Charter at all key assets and major developments 100% Charter nr -
updated
British Land employee skills-based volunteering 20% 16% 16% -
British Land employee volunteering 20% 79% 0% -
Cornrnunity programme beneficiaries 39,798 35,400 -
=} Futurepraofing [Capital Efficiency)
Developments on track to achieve BREEAM Excellent for offices and Excelient 100% 92% 100% 16/16
or Very Good for retail
Carbon |Scope 1 and 2} intensity reduction versus 2009 (index scored} 55% 54% 44% 70/73
Landlord eneray imtensity reduction versus 2009 index scored] 35% 40% 3% 70/72
Electricity purchased from renewable sources’ 100% 7% 93% 24/105
Average reduction in embodied carbon ermissions ver sus concept design on major developments 15% nr nr -
Waste diverted from landlill managed properties and developments 100% 99% 98% 105/125
Partichio with green buiding ratings (% by floor areal 18% 16%  234/234
Energy Performance Certificates rated F or 5 (% by floor area) 5% &% 2558/2640
Portfohio at high rick of flood (% by value] 3% 3% 230/234
High flood risk assets with flood management plans [% by value) 100% nr 15/15
& skills and opportunity [Expert People)
People supported into employment {cumulative) 1,700 770 542 -
Strategic suppliers agreed with terms of our Supplier Code of Conduct 100% Code Launched n/a -
Prioritised supplier workforce who are apprentices 2% 1.2% nir 209/232
Pilot a Lving Wage Zone at a London campus Deliver - - -
Workforce paid at least Living Wage Group employees 100% 100% -
Foundation rate Supplier workforce at managed properties, 78% 72% 924101
Developments supply chain spend within 22 miles 1% 50% 11/12
loed oy e e a0 ey W D ey ed e A g - ey ey e wepab, e I | 1
LI VL TR L SR TR S B Db ctuar g e G b a0 L e - www brstishland comfsustainabitity/performance/targets
/I“‘[\ij ‘r' I‘N Il il 1 O [
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Osher information

UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Sustainability performance measures continued
EPRA best practice recommendations on sustainability reporting

British Land has received EPRA Gold Awards for sustamnability reporting six years running This year, EPRA expanded best
practice recommendations for sustainability reporting to include social and governance performance measures, as well as
envirormental We are pleased to have reported on the majority of envirenmental and social measures in our summary below
Forinformatien on governance measures, please see pages 56 to 75 For our full methodology and more detailed data on atl
these indicators and addittonal indicators, please see our Sustamability Accounts 2018 www.britishland.com/data

ooy
lasacts o
2018 77 216 e
Environmental performance’
Total electricity consumption IMWh) 162,833 172127 172,238 94/105
Total district heating and cooling consumption IMWh] 0 ¢ 0 G/0
Total fuel consumption [MWh] 37,500 39.319 38,234 46/32
Building energy mtensity (kWh) Offices {per m+) 145.7% 158 70 155 b4 28/2%
Retail - enclosed [per m-] 156,48 161 89 156 97 /7
Retail - open aw [per car parking space] 16813 150 01 133 66 3e/37
Total direct 1Scope 1 greenhouse gas ermissions ltonnes CO &) 4,967 7.60% 79217 102/113
Total indirect [Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions Lccation based 27,301 34,149 28,710 102/113
ltannes CO-e] Market based 1,875 6,630 36734 102/113
Greenhouse gas intensity from bullding energy Cffices per m?) 0.855 0067 0075 78/29
consumption [tonnes CO &) Retail - enclosed Iper m-) 0.056 0067 0073 6/7
Retait - open air
[per car parking space) 0.062 0064 0063 36/37
Total water consumption fm?) 616,221 663,541 653 450 41770
Building water intensity [m?) Offices [per FTE} 15.56 14 59 1508 26428
Retail - enclosed [per 10,000 visiors) nr 947 10 29 -
Retail - open air [per 16.000 visitors) nr 286 179 -
Totat non-hazardous waste by dispesal route Re-used and recyeled 11,207 12,164 12,899 67/87
ftonnes and %i 156%) 57%] 161%]
Incinerated 8,887 2,236 8,132 67187
(44%) 143%) [38%)
Landfilled ] 35 184 o7/87
{0%] (0%) 11%]
Total hazardous waste [tonnes] 4 nr nr 28/87
Sustainably certified assets - Al B 23% 25% nr 2558/2660
Eanergy‘ Performance Certificates CloE 72% 71% nro 2558/2640
1% by floor areal FtoG 5% % nr_2536/2660
Social performance?
Employee diversity - gender Male 5% 53% 32% -
Female 49% 47% 48% -
Ermployee gender pay ratio Executive Directors 18% Bo% 105% -
[median rermuneration, fernale to male] Sentor management 116% 92% nr -
Middle and non-management 87% 89% nr -
Employee training - average hours 14.2 132 16 0 -
Employee annual performance review 100% nr nr -
Employse new hires rate 20% 26% 36% -
Employee turnover — departures rate 15% 15% 17% -
Employee health and safety Absentee rate 1% 1% 1% -
injury freguency rate 0 nr nr -
Lost day rate 0% nr nr -
Work-related fatalities 0 1] 0 -
Ascet bealth and safety Proportion subject to heslth and
safety review 1%) 100% 100% 100% 113/113
Incidents of nen-compliance 0 nr nr 113/113
Charter Faraet

Progress mplementing our Local Charter at key
assets and major developments

updated eslablished

As perEFRA bas* pract Crecamimes

O panis and shared services ©

Ferm- "omEnses 2ot ke net areas for Orfices and rommon gar ls far Relar!
- woa parforn g e dats s sor Britsh | and Graap overall

2018 repnrt ng soope
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TEN YEAR RECORD

The table below summarises the last ten years’ resuits, cash flows and balance sheets

2018 217 B /o 20 21 2. 2 . A7
£m ] t- v _n £ i
income’
Gross rental incomne 613 643 654 618 597 567 572 541 361 650
Net rertal income 576 610 620 282 262 A 546 5918 545 398
Net fees and other income 15 17 17 17 15 15 17 8 15 20
Interest expense Inet (128) 51} {180) {201 [202] (206! (218} [212) {246) [292}
Administrative expense 183) 86} [94) 1881 [78) (74} [76) [08) [63) [58)
Underlying Profit 380 390 363 313 297 274 269 256 249 268
Exceptional costs
[not included in Underlying Profit]- - - - - - - - - - 1191
Dividends declared 302 296 287 277 266 234 231 23 225 198
Summarised balance sheets
Total properties at valuation’ 13,716 13940 14,648 13677 12040 10499 10,337 9577 8,539 8,625
Net debt 13,9730  [4,223) 14,765) (4218] [4,8%0) [4.266] [4,690] [4173] [4,081) 14,941}
Other assets and liabibities 1183) [212] 191 276 (123) [266] 1266) (298] [51) 1297}
EPRA NAV/Fully diluted adjusted
net assets 9,560 9498 10,074 2,035 7.027 3,967 5,381 2,101 4,407 3,387
Cash flow movement - Group only
Cash generated from operations 331 37% 341 e 243 197 21 182 248 406
Gther cash flows from operations 2 R 147) 133} [24] [7) 6] 28 [112] (201
Net cash inflow from operating activities 353 363 294 285 219 120 2086 216 126 200
Cash inflow [outflow] from capital
expenditure, investrents, acquisitions
and disposals 346 470 230 {111 {660] [202) 1547} [240) (39 418
Egquity dividends paid {304] [295) 1233) i228) 59] (203) f212i 11391 34 1138)
Cash foutflow] nflow from management
of iguid rescurces and tinancing {404) 1538) {283) 20 607 212 &30 157 [485] (58]
[Decreasel increase in cash’ %) - 6 [34] 7 12] 77 [12] [542] 377
Capitaltreturns
Growth reguction] 1n net assets- 0.7% (57%) 115% Z286% 17 8% 109% 5 5% 157%  301%  {311%]
Total return 8.9% 27% 142%  Z45%  200% 4 5% 2 5% 177%  335% 161 6%
Total return - pre-exceptional 8.9% 27% 14 2% 245% 200% 4 5% 2 5% 177%  335%  (603%)
Per share information®
EPRA net asset value per share 967p ?15p 219p 82% 588p 5%p 5%95p 567p 204p 398p
Mernorandum
Dividends declared in the year 30.1p 29 2p 28 4p 277p 270p 26 4p 261p 26 Op 26 0p 29 8p
Dividends paid in the year 2%.6p 28 8p 28 0p 273p 267p 26 3p 26 0p 26 Op 273p 30 0p
Dituted earnings
Underiying EPRA earmings per share 37.4p 378p 34 1p 20 6p 29 4p 30 3p 2%7p 28 5p 28 4p 410p
IFRS earnings [loss] per share’ 48.5p 167%  N%7p  1673p 110 2p 315p 338p 95 2p 1326p  i6lalp)
S A -har e 3t o yonin neet o is
soprosontu ooy =t ko 1T PRANAY
N T B T TR ST N I T4 M I YUl o B N A B A VT
ol L et AL e splone ! cast PR A R AT PN
e rovene o and IO T T I S IR B TS SO NIt £ LAAL
A dreen o e e T e eab s e Mo e Ly
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Other information

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Financial calendar

2018/19

Fourth guarter ex-dividend date 28 June 2018
Fourth quarter dividend payment date 3 August 2018
First quarter ex-dividend date 4 October 2018
First quarter dividend payment date 9 November 2018
Half year results Novernber 2018
Second quarter ex-dividend date danuary 2019
Second quarter dividend payment date Fesruary 2019
Third quarter ex-dividend date March 2019
Third quarter dvidend payment date May 2019
Full year results May 2019
Fourth quarter ex-dividend date June 2019
Fourth quarter dividend payment date August 2019

If offered, the Board will announce the availability of a Scrip dividend alternative via the Regulatory News Service no later than four business
days before each ex-dividend date Scrip dividend alternatives will not be enhanced The split between PID and non-PID income for each
dividend will be announced at the same time

Analysis of shareholders — 31 March 2018

Nt
Range cfbalongs n

1-1.000 3,5% 34 28 2,434,883 024
1,001-5,000 3125 N 6,968 461 070
5.001-20,000 692 &M 6,654,277 067
20,001-50,000 249 242 7939791 080
50,001-Highest 647 428 %69,859,732 97359
Total i0,30¢ 100 60 993,857,125 100 00

Ll Baia: -2

Holder type -t~ IV Sk i

Individuals 6,134 5930 10,999,208 i

Nominee and institutional investors 4175 40 50 982857917 28 89

Total 10,30% 10600 993857125 100 00
_xenaing V265,245 sharea be e opreusary
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Registrars
British Land has appomted Equiniti Limited [Equiniti] to administer
1ts shareholder register Equiniti can be contacted at

Aspect House

Spencer Road

Lancing, West Sussex BN%% 6DA

Tel 0371384 2143 [UK callers]

Tel +44 (0127 415 7047 {Overseas callers)

Lines are open from 8 30am to 5 30pm Monday to Friday
excluding public holidays

Websaite www.shareview.co.uk

By registering with Shareview, shareholders can

- View your Bntish Land shareholding enline
- Update your detalls
- Elect to receive shareholder mailings electrorucally

Equiniti s alse the Remistrar for the BLD Property Holdings
Limited Stock

Share dealing facilities

By registering with Shareview, Equiniti also provides existing and
prospective UK sharehclders with a share deating facihity for buying
and selling British Land shares online or by phone

For more infermation, contact Equinti 3t www. shareview.co.uk/
dealing or call 0845 603 7037 (Monday to Friday excluding public
helidays from 8 30am to 4 30pmi Existing British Land shareholders
will need the reference number given on your share certificate

to register Similar share dealing faciities are provided by other
brokers, banks and financial services

Woebsite and shareholder communications

The British Land corporate website conlains a wealth of malerial
for shareholders, includmg the current share price, press releases
and information dividends The website can be accessed at
www.,britishland.com

British Land encourages its shareholders to receive shareholder
communications electronically This enables sharehelders to
receive nformation quickly and securely as well as ina more
environmentally friendly and cost-effective manner Further
information can be obtained from Shareview or the

Shareholder Helpline

ShareGift

Shareholders with a small number of shares, the value of which
rmakes it uneconomic to sell thern, may wish to consider donating
therr shares to charity ShareGift 1s a registered charily INo 1052686]
which collects and sells unwanted shares and uses the proceeds

to support a wide range of UK charities A ShareGift donation form
can be obtamed from Equintt:

Further information about ShareGift can be obtained from their
webDsite at www.sharegift org

Honarary President

inrecogrition of his work building British Land into the industry
leading company 1t1s today, 5ir John Ritblat was appointed as
Honorary President on hus retirement from the Board in
December 2006

Registered office

. The British Land Company PLC

York House

45 Seymour Street, London W1H 7LX
Telephone <44 (0120 7486 44466
Website www.britishland.com

Dwidends

As a REIT, British Land pays Property Income Distribution [PID]
and non-Property Income Distribution {nen-PID) dividends More
information on REITs and PIDs can be found in the Investors sectien

¢ of our website at www britishland.com/dividends

British Land dividends can be patd directly into your bank or building
society account instead of being despatched to you by cheque More
information about the benefits ot having dividends paid directly inte
your bank or building seciety account, and the mandate form to set
this up, can be found in the Investors sectien of our website at
www.britishland.com/investors/dividends/
dividends-direct-to-your-bank

Scrip Dividend Scheme

British Land may offer shareholders the opportunity tc participate

in the Scrip Dividend Scherne by offering a Scrip Alternative to
particular dividend from time to time The Scrip Dividend Scheme
allows participating shareholders to recewe additionat shares
instead of a cash diwdend For more information please visit the
Investors section of our website at www.britishland.com/dividends/
scrip-dividend-scheme

Unsolicited mail
British Land is required by law to make its share register available
on request to other organisations This may result in the receipt of

¢t unschicited mail To it this, shareholders may register with the

Mailing Preference Service For rore information. or to register,
visit www.mpsanline.org.uk

Shareholders are aiso advised to be vigilant of share fraud which
includes telephone calls offering free investrment advice or offers
to buy and sell shares at discounted or highly inflated prices

it sounds toe good to be true, it often s Further information
can be found on the Financial Conduct Authority s website
www.fca.org.uk/scams or by calling the FCA Consumer

Helpline on D800 111 6768

Tax

The Group elected for REIT status on 1 January 2007, paying a £308m
conversion charge to HMRC in the same year As a conseqguence of
the Group s REIT status, tax s not levied withun the corporate group
on the quatifying property rentat business but s instead deducted
from distributions of suchincome as Property Incorne Distributions
to shareholders Anyincome which does not fall within the REIT
regimne 1s subject to tax within the Group 1n the usual way This
mcludes profits on property trading actwvity, property retated fee

! income and interest income We continue to comfortably pass all

REIT tests ensuring that our REIT status 1s maintained

We work proactively and openly 1o maimntain a constructive
relaticnshup with HMRC We discuss matters in real-time with HMRC
and disclose all relevant facts and circumstances, particularly where
there may be tax uncertainty or the law is unclear HMRC assigns

- sk ratings to ali targe companies We have a low appetite for tax
" rizk and HMRC constders us to be Low Risk {a status we have held

cince 2007 when the rating was firstintroduced by HMRC]

Further information can be found in our Tax Strategy at
www.britishland.com/governance

British Land  Anneat Reporl and Accounts 2018 179



Forward-looking statements

This Annual Report contams cortan forword lookimg statements Such
staterents refled Loorment views on, ameng other thimgs, oun markets,
activilies, projections, ohpclives and prospects Such forward tooking
stalements tan sometimes, bul not always, beidentified by ther reference
to a date or point in the fultare or the use of lerward lookimg tetiminotogy,
including terms such as behieves, estupales’, anticipales’, expects’
torecasts’, intends, due, plans, projects, goat, vutlook | schedule
target, aim', may, likelyto, wil | would . coold | should or simirbarn
explessions of i eah cone theyr negative or other varniations or campar shle
termimology By then nature forward looking statements mvolve inher ent
11sks, assuimphions and uncertamties bec ause they relate to future events
and depend on drosmstances which may o may not ocour and oy be
beyond s ability 1o control or predict Forward-looking statements
should be fegarded with caution as ac tual resulls may differ inatenally
from those expressed mor implied by suth slatemenls

hinportant factors that could cause actual resulls, performance or
achievements ol British Land 1o ditter matenally from any oulcomes o
results expressed or imnplied by such forward tooking statements indlude,
among ather things {al general business and political, social and
goonomic canditions globally {b) Lhe consequences of the referendum

on Brain leaving the FU, k] mdustiy and market trends including
demand i the property mwvestment mar ket and property price volatilityl,
[d) competition &) the belaviour of other mar ket parbiapants, ([Fchanges
ingoverniment pobicies or faws and regulation whic b alfec t Brilish Land,
including i relation to the envirenment, health and salety and taxation

[ partscular, mrespect of Bohish Land < status as a Real F state
Investrrent Trust], {g) inflahon and consumet conbiden: e, [h) labout
relattons antd work stoppages, (1) natural disasters and adver<e weather
condtong, [ terronsm and acls ol war, [kl BrishLand s ovelall business,
stratedy, 115K appetite and ivestment choices inits portlolie manageinent,
M legal o other proceedings agamst or allechng Brtish Land
fldetenior ation of rebability and secarity of s Hhnfrastruciure,

n) changes m occuper demand and tenant delault, fol changes i hinan< ial
and egumty imarkets induding mleres! and exchange 1ate Huctuations,

[pl chianges i accounting prachices and the nterpretation of accountng
standasds and Iyl the avalabuliny and < oot of linance The Company <
prncipal 1isks ot o desonibed ingrealer detail v the section of this Annual
Report headed Managing nsk in delivening our stiategy and principal riske
Forward looking stateiments i tins Anmual Report, o the Hitish Land
websile 01 made subscequently, which are eltaibutable 1o Briish L and or
persons acting on Aa behalf should therelore be construed m light of «ll
suchfactors

Information comamed n Uns Annual Report retating to Batsh L and o ils
share price o the yield en its shares are pol guaraniees of, and should not
he relied upon as an mdicator of, future petformance, and nathing o this
Annual Report should be constiued as a prolit forecast or prold estimate
Any forward-looking statements made by of oh behalf of Brinsh L and
speak only as of the date they are made Such forward-looking statements
are expressly qualilied i thei entirety by the factors referred to above and
no fepresenialion assulance, gual anfee o7 Wl tanty s givenn relabon (o
then lwhether by Bratish Land on any of s assoniates, Direclors, offuers,
einployees or advicers), mcluding as o 1hen rompleleness, acouracy of
the basis onwhich they were prepat ed

Other than m accordance with oun legal and requlatory obligations

(nc luchng under the UK Dimanaal Conduct Authonty s isting Rules,
Disclosine and Transpalency Rules and the Market Abirse Requlationsl,
Britsh il and does nol nlend or undentake to update ar revise foi ward-
locking slatements la reflect any < hanges m Brtish Land s exped talions
with regard thereto or any changes inmlormation, events, conditions or
ciseumistances on wlhich any such statement s based This document shall
nol, under any ol ciinstand es, creale any imphcation that there has been
no change in the business ot atfars of Boibsh b and smee the date of ths
document or that the inforimaton contamed heremis correct as at any
time subsequent to this date
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Head office and registered office
York House
45 Seymour Street
London
WIH 78X
Telephone +44 [0]20 7486 4466
Fax 44 [0)20 7935 5552
www.britishland.com
infof@dbritishland.com
@BritishLandPLC
British Land PLC
@BritishLandPLC

@BritishLandPLC



